MULTIPLE ROLES OF ALIEN PLANTS IN AQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS: FROM PROCESSES TO MODELLING

EDITED BY: Rossano Bolpagni, Andreas Hussner, Giuseppe Brundu and Lorenzo Lastrucci PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Plant Science







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-083-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-083-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

MULTIPLE ROLES OF ALIEN PLANTS IN AQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS: FROM PROCESSES TO MODELLING

Topic Editors: **Rossano Bolpagni**, University of Parma, Italy **Andreas Hussner**, Förderverein Feldberg-Ückermärkische-Seenlandschaft e.V, Germany **Giuseppe Brundu**, University of Sassari, Italy **Lorenzo Lastrucci**, University of Florence, Italy

Citation: Bolpagni, R., Hussner, A., Brundu, G., Lastrucci, L., eds. (2020). Multiple Roles of Alien Plants in Aquatic Ecosystems: from Processes to Modelling. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-083-4

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Multiple Roles of Alien Plants in Aquatic Ecosystems: From Processes to Modelling

Rossano Bolpagni, Lorenzo Lastrucci, Giuseppe Brundu and Andreas Hussner

- 07 Competitive Effects Hinder the Recolonization of Native Species in Environments Densely Occupied by One Invasive Exotic Species Thaisa S. Michelan, Sidinei M. Thomaz, Fabielle M. Bando and Luis M. Bini
- 16 Invasive Aquatic Plants as Ecosystem Engineers in an Oligo-Mesotrophic Shallow Lake

Cristina Ribaudo, Juliette Tison-Rosebery, Damien Buquet, Gwilherm Jan, Aurélien Jamoneau, Gwenaël Abril, Pierre Anschutz and Vincent Bertrin

30 Aspects of Invasiveness of Ludwigia *and* Nelumbo *in Shallow Temperate Fluvial Lakes*

Viktor R. Tóth, Paolo Villa, Monica Pinardi and Mariano Bresciani

- **43** Does Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity Improve the Growth Performance and Intraspecific Competition of the Invasive Plant Myriophyllum aquaticum? Nan Shen, Hongwei Yu, Siqi Yu, Dan Yu and Chunhua Liu
- 50 Global Change Sharpens the Double-Edged Sword Effect of Aquatic Alien Plants in China and Beyond Hao Wu and Jianqing Ding
- 61 Mutual Facilitation Among Invading Nuttall's Waterweed and Quagga Mussels

Benjamin Wegner, Anna Lena Kronsbein, Mikael Gillefalk, Klaus van de Weyer, Jan Köhler, Elisabeth Funke, Michael T. Monaghan and Sabine Hilt

- 73 Allelopathic Effects of Native Versus Invasive Plants on One Major Invader Gabrielle Thiébaut, Michèle Tarayre and Héctor Rodríguez-Pérez
- 83 Modeling Top-Down and Bottom-Up Drivers of a Regime Shift in Invasive Aquatic Plant Stable States

Emily F. Strange, Pietro Landi, Jaclyn M. Hill and Julie A. Coetzee

- 92 The Ecophysiological Response of Two Invasive Submerged Plants to Light and Nitrogen
 Sándor Szabó, Edwin T. H. M. Peeters, Gábor Borics, Szilvia Veres, Péter Tamás Nagy and Balázs András Lukács
- 103 Evaluation of Habitat Preferences of Invasive Macrophyte Egeria densa in Different Channel Slopes Using Hydrogen Peroxide as an Indicator

Takashi Asaeda, M. D. H. Jayasanka Senavirathna and Lekkala Vamsi Krishna





Editorial: Multiple Roles of Alien Plants in Aquatic Ecosystems: From Processes to Modelling

Rossano Bolpagni^{1*}, Lorenzo Lastrucci², Giuseppe Brundu³ and Andreas Hussner⁴

¹ Department of Chemistry, Life Sciences and Environmental Sustainability, Parma University, Parma, Italy, ² Natural History Museum of the University of Florence – Botany, Florence, Italy, ³ Department of Agriculture, University of Sassari, Sassari, Italy, ⁴ Department of Ecosystem Research, Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Berlin, Germany

Keywords: non-native macrophytes, biological invasions, ecosystem processes, biotic-abiotic interactions, aquatic ecosystems

Editorial on the Research Topic

Multiple Roles of Alien Plants in Aquatic Ecosystems: From Processes to Modelling

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sergio Rossi, Université du Québec à Chicoutimi, Canada

Reviewed by:

Emily Frances Strange, Leiden University, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Rossano Bolpagni rossano.bolpagni@unipr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 27 April 2020 **Accepted:** 11 August 2020 **Published:** 21 August 2020

Citation:

Bolpagni R, Lastrucci L, Brundu G and Hussner A (2020) Editorial: Multiple Roles of Alien Plants in Aquatic Ecosystems: From Processes to Modelling. Front. Plant Sci. 11:1299. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2020.01299 BACKGROUND

Invasive alien species are one of the most significant contemporary challenges threating biodiversity, ecosystem functioning, and human wellbeing (Rai and Singh, 2020), resulting in major economic and environmental damages and losses (Pimentel et al., 2005). Biological invasions are favored by ecosystems' over-exploitation and climate change, and the progressive accumulation of invasive species strongly weakens the invaded communities by occupying empty phylogenetic and functional spaces or by excluding natives (Dalle Fratte et al., 2019). Among ecosystems, freshwaters seem to be particularly prone to invasions due to their high natural dynamism associated with a global hydrological and trophic alteration due to human activities (Dudgeon, 2019). This urgently calls for a better understanding of the multiple roles played by invasive aquatic alien plants (IAAPs). To this regard, the present Research Topic offers novel perspectives on IAAPs science and on the implications of their establishment.

ENVIRONMENTAL DRIVERS AND FUNCTIONAL TRAITS OF IAAPS

A key question is how IAAPs can progressively replace native counterparts. The invasive success of IAAPs depends in part on the characters of invaded ecosystems, as highlighted by Shen et al. Testing the role of sediments in enhancing the invasibility of aquatic ecosystems, they showed that the soil spatial heterogeneity might have a primary role in promoting the invasive success of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* by regulating morphological traits of individual clonal ramets. Wu and Ding reviewed the role of fundamental drivers such as global change, water pollution, and economic growth in IAAPs introduction and invasions in China, clarifying that "support to aquaculture" and "ecological restoration" are major introduction pathways. Furthermore, IAAPs invasion risk is expected to be

4

boosted by climate change, as well as by increased nutrient availability, and it seems to be under the total control of future economic trends.

Beside the invasibility of the ecosystems, the attributes of IAAPs play a major role for successful invasion. Szabó et al. explored the eco-physiology of two invasive elodeids (Elodea canadensis and E. nuttallii) as a key to understanding their relative invasiveness. Their investigation of the combined effects of nutrient and light environment demonstrated that relative growth rate, chlorophyll concentration, and efficiency of photosystem II provide E. nuttalli the ability to replace congeneric species in the invaded sites. Similarly, Toth et al. discussed the roles of physiological and ecological traits in explaining the differentiated performances of invasive macrophytes, obtaining evidence on the existence of key adaptive responses of IAAPs. Importantly, Ludwigia hexapetalaone of the most invasive IAAPs globally-showed exceptionally high photosynthetic efficiency, resulting in an elevated tolerance to high light intensities. Both papers reinforce the direct implication of plant traits for the invasiveness of IAAPs, suggesting the importance to gain knowledge on this topic. In this respect, Asaeda et al. have investigated habitat preference of Egeria densa, focusing on physiological stress proxies. Based on the tissue concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), it is possible to define critical thresholds for the species survival in terms of flow velocity and light intensity, with relevant implications for designing management solutions to counteract the spread of IAAPs.

IAAPS AND BIOLOGICAL INTERACTIONS

However, beyond the characteristics of habitats and IAAPs, biological interactions-including competition, facilitation, invasional meltdown, and novel weapons-are also crucial for enlightening the IAAPs success. The study by Michelan et al. outlined how the influence of IAAPs on the colonization performance of native species is density dependent, studying the alien Urochloa arrecta and the two native Pontederia cordata and Leersia hexandra performances in terms of biomass and plant length. In their manipulative experiment, they found that if U. arrecta density increases (as number of fragments), the biomass and length of native species decrease substantially. However, the responses of the native species to the invader is species-specific, with differentiated biomass allocation behaviours. Wegner et al. investigated the biological mechanisms underlying the boom-bust dynamics of E. nuttallii, by modelling the temporal changes in water quality, and abundances of E. nuttallii and of another critical invader, the quagga mussel, in a temperate shallow lake. They found that the dynamics of multi-invasion processes can be characterized by different, contrasting phases. After an initial mutual facilitation-as predicted by the invasional meltdown hypothesis-a strong space competition followed. This study offers a new mechanistic explanation of the typical boom-bust dynamics of invasive elodeids.

Likewise, Strange et al. modelled the key interactions involved in the replacing of a floating IAAP (*Pistia stratiotes*) by a submerged one (*E. densa*), evaluating the implications of topdown vs bottom-up processes mediated by biological control efforts and nutrient loading, respectively. Their main message highlighted the risks associated with the adoption of control and eradication actions without planning active recovery interventions, as this lack may create opportunity windows for secondary invasions. Moreover, Thiebaut et al. examined the allelopathic potential of four aquatic plants (including IAAPs) on *L. hexapetala*, monitoring its relative growth rate and physiological traits in response to the exposition to root and leaf leachates of *L. peploides*, *M. aquaticum*, and *Mentha aquatica*, finding complex allelopathic responses. Specifically, *L. hexapetala* exibits a positive autoallelopathy which explains its invasiveness. In addition, they highlighted the risk of occurrence of potential invasional meltdown phenomena, with huge consequences on the local success of *L. hexapetala*, and invasive *Ludwigia* species in general.

IAAPS AS ECOSYSTEM ENGINEERS

IAAPs can deeply alter the functioning of ecosystems. Ribaudo et al. stressed the biogeochemistry implications of *E. densa* and *Lagarosiphon major*, as they are capable to trigger huge stratification events for several key chemical parameters (O₂, C, N), as recurrent hypoxia events. They confirmed that the spread of IAAPs involved a change in the metabolism of ecosystems, resulting in a net nutrient release towards the water column, concurrently with a net increase in carbon emission towards the atmosphere.

PERSPECTIVES ON IAAPS SCIENCE

This Research Topic goes beyond the classical simplistic paradigm on the only negative impacts of IAAPs and increases the awareness on the multiple roles played by IAAPs in aquatic ecosystems. To date, available knowledge is not sufficient for an effective control and management of aquatic invaders (Hussner et al., 2017; Hofstra et al., 2020). Additional global efforts are needed to organize in a comprehensive and cross-cutting framework the processes of introduction, establishment, and spread, as well as the assessment of ecosystem changes and impacts mediated by IAAPs, keeping an eye on genetic and functional aspects (Lastrucci et al., 2018; Molina-Montenegro et al., 2018). In this frame, all the papers collected here will boost scientific interest in these issues, reaffirming the importance of tailored researches to get satisfactory answers to complex issues.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors conceived the idea for the special issue. RB coordinated the reviewing and editing of the papers included in the special issue and wrote the first version of the Editorial with major inputs from LL, GB and AH. All authors commented on the Editorial, read, and approved the final version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Our sincere gratitude goes to all the reviewers who took time from their commitments to provide valuable suggestions which substantially improved the papers hosted by this Special Issue.

REFERENCES

- Dalle Fratte, M., Bolpagni, R., Brusa, G., Caccianiga, M., Pierce, S., Zanzottera, M., et al. (2019). Alien plant species invade by occupying similar functional spaces to native species. *Flora* 257, 151419. doi: 10.1016/j.flora.2019.151419
- Dudgeon, D. (2019). Multiple threats imperil freshwater biodiversity in the Anthropocene. Curr. Biol. 29 (19), R960–R967. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.002
- Hofstra, D., Schoelynck, J., Ferrell, J., Coetzee, J., de Winton, M., Bickel, T. O., et al. (2020). On the move: New insights on the ecology and management of native and alien macrophytes. *Aquat. Bot.* 162, 103190. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2019.103190
- Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M. J. J. M., Bakker, E. S., Grutters, B. M. C., Haury, J., et al. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. Aquat. Bot. 136, 112–137. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2016.08.002
- Lastrucci, L., Lazzaro, L., Dell'Olmo, L., Foggi, B., and Cianferoni, F. (2018). Impacts of Myriophyllum aquaticum invasion in a Mediterranean wetland on plant and macro-arthropod communities. *Plant Biosyst.* 152 (3), 427–435. doi: 10.1080/11263504.2017.1303002
- Molina-Montenegro, M. A., Acuña-Rodríguez, I. S., Flores, T. S. M., Hereme, R., Lafon, A., Atala, C., et al. (2018). Is the Success of Plant Invasions the Result of

This achievement would not be possible without their support. We would also express our grateful thanks to the technical staff of FPS and the Associate Editor S. Rossi for the kind and helpful support in the preparation of this Research Topic and the present Editorial.

Rapid Adaptive Evolution in Seed Traits? Evidence from a Latitudinal Rainfall Gradient. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9, 208. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.00208

- Pimentel, D., Zuniga, A., and Morrison, D. (2005). Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. *Ecol. Econ.* 52 (3), 273–288. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.10.002
- Rai, P. K., and Singh, J. S. (2020). Invasive alien plant species: Their impact on environment, ecosystem services and human health. *Ecol. Ind.* 111, 106020. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.106020

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bolpagni, Lastrucci, Brundu and Hussner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Competitive Effects Hinder the Recolonization of Native Species in Environments Densely Occupied by One Invasive Exotic Species

Thaisa S. Michelan^{1,2*}, Sidinei M. Thomaz¹, Fabielle M. Bando¹ and Luis M. Bini³

¹ Departamento de Biologia, Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Nupelia, Maringá, Brazil, ² Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal do Pará, Belém, Brazil, ³ Departamento de Ecologia, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Goiás, Goiânia, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Istituto per il Rilevamento Elettromagnetico dell'ambiente (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

llias Travlos, Agricultural University of Athens, Greece Daniele Longhi, Università degli Studi di Parma, Italy

> *Correspondence: Thaisa S. Michelan tsmichelan@ufpa.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 05 August 2017 Accepted: 10 August 2018 Published: 04 September 2018

Citation:

Michelan TS, Thomaz SM, Bando FM and Bini LM (2018) Competitive Effects Hinder the Recolonization of Native Species in Environments Densely Occupied by One Invasive Exotic Species. Front. Plant Sci. 9:1261. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01261 The responses of native plants to competition with invasive plants depend mainly on the density of the invasive plants and on the ability of the native plants to compete for resources. In this study, we tested the influence of the invasive exotic Urochloa arrecta (Poaceae) on the early colonization of two native species (Pontederia cordata and Leersia hexandra) of aquatic macrophytes. Our hypotheses were (i) the competitive effects of U. arrecta on the native species P. cordata and L. hexandra are densitydependent and that (ii) these species respond differently to competitive interactions with the invasive species. We conducted the experiments in a greenhouse and in the field, in a tropical reservoir. The biomass of U. arrecta (ranging from 206.2 to 447.1 g) was manipulated in the greenhouse in trays with different densities. After the establishment of the invasive species, we added P. cordata and L. hexandra propagules to each tray. In the field, a propagule of P. cordata was planted in 36 sites with different densities of U. arrecta. The biomass and length of the natives and the biomass of the invasive species were measured in the greenhouse and in the field experiments. The biomass and length of the native plants decreased with increasing biomass of the exotic species in both experiments, showing that the competition between U. arrecta and native species depends on the density of the exotic species. The root:shoot ratio of L. hexandra decreased with increasing U. arrecta biomass, but the opposite occurred for P. cordata. These results indicate that native species exhibit different strategies of biomass allocation when interacting with U. arrecta. The strong competitive effects of U. arrecta and the different responses of the native species help to explain the reduced diversity of native macrophytes observed in sites colonized by U. arrecta. The results also suggest that in a scenario of dominance of exotic species, recolonization by native macrophytes is unlike to occur naturally and without human interventions that reduce the biomass of the exotic species.

Keywords: competition, non-native macrophytes, Poaceae, density-dependent effect, resource competition

INTRODUCTION

In general, only a small fraction of introduced species become successfully established and exhibit population growth to the point of becoming "invasive" (Levine, 2008; Davis, 2009). When they do become invasive, they can reduce the richness and abundance of native species (Madsen et al., 1991; Daehler and Strong, 1994; Roberts et al., 1999; Michelan et al., 2010b). In addition, they can even change the environmental conditions of the invaded sites (Pyšek et al., 2008; Strayer, 2010), causing ecological and economic damage (Richardson and Pyšek, 2008; Carey et al., 2016; Cuassolo et al., 2016). Invasion success depends on multiple factors, including species-specific traits (e.g., growth rate, competitiveness and dispersal ability; Rejmánek, 2011) and the characteristics of the invaded ecosystem (e.g., environmental conditions, disturbances and diversity; Fridley, 2011).

The impacts of invasive species on native species depend largely on the abilities of interacting species to compete for resources (Seabloom et al., 2003; Blindow et al., 2016). Competition is an important biological interaction that influences the structure and development of plant communities (Kiaer et al., 2013; Blindow et al., 2016). Additionally, species respond differently to competition depending on the abiotic conditions and on the density of each population (Gopal and Goel, 1993; Nunes and Camargo, 2017). As a direct result of competition with invasive species, one can predict changes in the structure of invaded communities and a decrease in biodiversity at local and regional scales (Michelan et al., 2010b; Powell et al., 2011, 2013; Amorim et al., 2015).

Competition among plants occurs predominantly by nutrient ("root competition") and/or light acquisition ("above-ground competition"). The roots and shoots of the plants acquire different resources from the environment, and some studies therefore try to separate the effects of the competition of each plant part (Wang et al., 2008; Kiaer et al., 2013; Richter and Gross, 2013). One of the methods to evaluate which organ is most involved in the competition is to use root:shoot biomass ratio (Robinson et al., 2010). High values of this ratio indicate that competition for nutrients and water (by root) is more important, while lower values indicate greater competition for light (Wang et al., 2008; Craine and Dybzinski, 2013; Kiaer et al., 2013; Richter and Gross, 2013; but see Cahill, 2003 for another point of view).

Coexistence between species under natural conditions can be facilitated by several mechanisms, such as disturbances and trade-offs between competitive and dispersal abilities (Grime, 1979; Connell, 1983). However, the competitive effects of invasive species occurring at high densities may be so intense that, at least at fine spatial scales, native species are excluded by competition (Madsen et al., 1991). Yet, little is known about the tolerable limits of the biomass of invasive macrophytes for the recolonization of native macrophyte species. Thus, it is important to evaluate the competitive interactions between native and invasive macrophyte species at different biomasses of the latter. Studies employing this approach would help to identify native species with higher potential for recolonizing environments dominated by invasive species and to identify thresholds of invasive biomass that allow native recolonization and survival.

Many species belonging to the family Poaceae are highly invasive in several aquatic ecosystems (Bunn et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2011; Mugwedi et al., 2015). In general, they have greater competitive effects than species of other groups, such as herbaceous and leguminous plants (Kiaer et al., 2013). This is also the case for Urochloa arrecta (Hack. ex T. Durand & Schinz) Morrone & Zuloaga, a species native to Africa, which has colonized tropical and subtropical aquatic ecosystems. In particular, this species is invading and causing ecological impacts in various Brazilian aquatic ecosystems (Pott et al., 2011; Fernandes et al., 2013; Amorim et al., 2015). U. arrecta forms large patches, accumulates large amounts of biomass in littoral zones (Michelan et al., 2010b; Fernandes et al., 2013; Amorim et al., 2015), regenerates rapidly after disturbances (Michelan et al., 2010a) and can thrive even in relatively oligotrophic environments with nutrient-poor sandy substrates (Fasoli et al., 2015). However, there is a paucity of experimental studies evaluating the competitive effects of U. arrecta on individual macrophyte species.

In this study, we investigated the biomass-dependent effects of U. arrecta on the recolonization of two native species of macrophytes (Pontederia cordata L. and Leersia hexandra Sw.) and tested whether the competitive effects on them differ. First, we developed a greenhouse experiment to test the effects of U. arrecta on the biomass and on the root:shoot ratio of the two native species. Then, we repeated the experiment in the field, using P. cordata as a focal species, to test the generality of our results obtained in the greenhouse. We tested the hypotheses that (i) the competitive effects of U. arrecta on P. cordata and L. hexandra depend on the invasive biomass and (ii) that native species respond differently to these effects. These hypotheses were postulated because previous studies in the field showed that the native macrophyte biomass decreases in the presence of U. arrecta (Michelan et al., 2010b) and that the frequencies of co-occurrence between native macrophytes and U. arrecta are species-specific, indicating that native species may respond differently to increasing invasive biomass (Thomaz and Michelan, 2011). We predicted that the effects of U. arrecta on L. hexandra would be higher than those on P. cordata because of the morphological similarity and phylogenetic relationship between the first pair of species. Consequently, they should use resources more similarly, which intensifies competition and reduces the chances of co-existence (Chesson and Kuang, 2008; Rejmánek, 2011). Finally, to place our results in a broader context, we compared our results with those obtained in a recent meta-analysis (Jauni and Ramula, 2015).

We believe that the use of *U. arrecta* as a model plant in our study contributes to a broader view regarding the impacts of exotic plants on native species because this species belongs to the family Poaceae, which is responsible for the greatest ecological impacts among invasive plants (Kiaer et al., 2013). In addition, by conducting experiments in a greenhouse and in the field, we believe that our outcomes can be useful to assess whether the former can be extrapolated to nature, an issue that has been questioned by some investigations that highlight the shortcomings of microcosm experiments (e.g., Wilson and Keddy, 1991).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed two experiments employing an additive design (Gibson et al., 1999) to assess the ability of native species to colonize and grow in sites with different biomasses of *U. arrecta*, one experiment in a greenhouse at the State University of Maringá (Paraná State, Brazil) and the other *in situ* in the Rosana Reservoir (Paraná/São Paulo, Brazil; 22° 39′ 26.19″ S 52° 46′ 52.35″ W; see **Supplementary Figure S1** for photos of the experiment in a greenhouse and *in situ*).

Greenhouse Experiment

Urochloa arrecta (exotic), P. cordata, and L. hexandra (natives) were used in our greenhouse experiment. The native species were selected based on different levels of co-occurrence with U. arrecta (details about this selection in Michelan et al., 2013). L. hexandra (Poaceae species often found to co-occur with U. arrecta) is a perennial species that can grow vigorously in aquatic ecosystems (Pott and Pott, 2000; Moreira et al., 2011). The Pontederiaceae P. cordata has low level of co-occurrence with U. arrecta and is a perennial herbaceous species that can also form dense stands (Pott and Pott, 2000). Both species reproduce sexually and asexually (by stems and rhizomes). P. cordata rhizomes can survive to fire or dry seasons (Pott and Pott, 2000). The macrophytes were collected in the Rosana Reservoir and taken to the greenhouse.

We used trays (0.30 m \times 0.37 m \times 0.14 \times m) that were filled halfway with sediment and maintained with a 3–5 cm water layer. The water was replaced with tap water whenever necessary. To create a gradient of *U. arrecta* biomass, we added fragments with two nodes each of *U. arrecta* from the apical stems, at densities of 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, and 30 fragments per tray, with five replicates for each treatment, amounting to 35 trays. Trays were randomized inside the greenhouse to offset any undetected environmental variation.

A clear gradient in biomass, a necessary condition to test our hypotheses, was formed by 200 days after planting U. arrecta $(0-450 \text{ g DW m}^{-2})$. Then, we added one propagule of *P. cordata* and one of L. hexandra at the opposite extremes of each tray (separated from each other by ca. 30 cm). These propagules of P. cordata and L. hexandra were collected in the Rosana Reservoir and brought to the greenhouse, where we removed their leaves and roots in order to allow all plants to start to grow at similar conditions. In addition, we selected propagules with similar weights. The distance between the native species in the microcosms (ca. 30 cm) was assumed to be enough to avoid interaction between them. Although we did not measure the survival rates of the propagules of the native species during the course of the experiment, all propagules survived in our experiment and even those planted in more dense microcosms formed small individuals.

The experiment was completed 3 months after the introduction of the native species. The length of *P. cordata* and the average length of shoots generated by *L. hexandra* were measured with a tape (cm). Afterward, the biomass of each species was washed to remove sediment and was separated into shoots and roots. After drying in an oven $(70^{\circ}C, until constant)$

weight), the dry mass of roots and shoots of each species was measured on a scale with a precision of 0.01 g. We emphasize that the experimental design of this study simulates a situation in which the recolonization by native aquatic macrophyte species occurs after the occupation of an invasive exotic species that is dominant in an ecosystem, a common situation in several Neotropical aquatic environments.

Field Experiment

The field experiment was conducted in one arm of the Rosana Reservoir (between $22^{\circ}39'19.29''$ S; $52^{\circ}46'58.93''$ W- $22^{\circ}40'27.19''$ S; $52^{\circ}47'10.32''$ W and $22^{\circ}39'32.42''$ S; $52^{\circ}46'36.52''$ W- $22^{\circ}40'26.18''$ S; $52^{\circ}46'47.43''$ W; Brazil), near the sites where the native macrophytes were collected for the greenhouse experiment. We first selected 50 sites (squares of $0.09 \text{ m}^2-0.3 \text{ m} \times 0.3 \text{ m}$) with different densities of *U. arrecta*. These sites were identified and demarcated with stakes, and a propagule of *P. cordata* was planted in each site. The *P. cordata* propagules were treated the same way as those used in the greenhouse (see details above for the greenhouse experiment). We monitored the field experiment at every week and observed that the propagules of *P. cordata* were consumed by herbivores in 14 sites. Thus, 3 months after the establishment of the native species, only 36 sites were used in this study.

At the end of the experiment (90 days), the individuals of *P. cordata* and the shoots of *U. arrecta* in an area of 0.09 m² (0.3 m × 0.3 m) around the native species were collected. For each site, the species were separated and washed, packed and placed in an oven at 70°C until reaching a constant weight. The dry shoot biomass of *U. arrecta* and the shoot and root biomass of *P. cordata* were obtained by using a precision scale with an accuracy of 0.01 g.

Data Analysis

Following Goldberg and Scheiner (2001), we used an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) for each response variable (i.e., total biomass, length and root:shoot ratio of native plants). In each ANCOVA model, the quantitative and categorical predictor variables were the shoot biomass of U. arrecta and the native species identity (L. hexandra and P. cordata), respectively. The response variables were standardized to the values of these variables expected in the absence of U. arrecta. Thus, we expressed them as log response ratios, $lnRR = ln(Y_u/Y_c)$, where $Y_{\rm c}$ was the value of a response variable without U. arrecta and $Y_{\rm u}$ was the value of this response variable under the influence of U. arrecta. To estimate Y_c, we used the mean values of the response variables in the control experimental units. Thus, *lnRR* is equal to 0.0 in the absence of competitive effects, and the more negative lnRR is, the higher the effect of U. arrecta in limiting the growth of the natives. As our objective was to analyze the competition between the invasive and native species and to evaluate whether they responded differently to the competition effect in a scenario of exotic dominance, we chose to remove the sites with the absence of the invasive species (but see the Supplementary Figure S2 for the results based on the entire gradient of U. arrecta biomass-with the addition of treatment 0-absence of competition).

In the field experiment, the effect of *U. arrecta* biomass on *P. cordata* biomass was tested using a second-order polynomial regression due to the non-linearity of the data. All statistical analyses were performed in R (R Development Core Team, 2014).

Comparison of the Results With Those Obtained in the Literature

To contrast our results with those obtained in the literature, we first transformed the Pearson correlation coefficient (r)between the total biomass of the invasive species and the total biomass of the native species into Cohen's d using: $d = 2r/\sqrt{1-r^2}$ (Borenstein et al., 2009). The variance of $d(V_d)$ is given by: $V_d = 4V_r / (1 - r^2)^3$, where V_r is the variance of r $\left(V_r = \left(1 - r^2\right)^2 / n - 1\right)$ and *n* is the sample size. Finally, *d* was transformed into Hedges' g after multiplying d by a correction factor *j* (see Eq. 4.22 in Borenstein et al., 2009). The variance of *g* was estimated by $V_{\varphi} = j^2 \times V_d$. Second, we compared the values of g estimated in our study with the results of a recent meta-analysis conducted by Jauni and Ramula (2015). This meta-analysis was based on 75 competition studies between exotic and native species. These studies (observational and experimental) evaluated "how exotic plant species influence the fitness components of native plants" (Jauni and Ramula, 2015) and were based on the following response variables: establishment (i.e., germination), growth rate, biomass, reproductive success and survival (or mortality). Fifty-eight exotic species were included, and it is important to note that no study with U. arrecta was used in this meta-analysis, ensuring independent results. We focused our comparison on results obtained for biomass, based on studies with 19 exotic species (mainly from the order Poales) and 36 native species (see Figure 1 of Jauni and Ramula, 2015). In general, the approach of quantitatively comparing the results obtained in an experiment with those obtained in a meta-analysis can be considered a type of cumulative meta-analysis (Leimu and Koricheva, 2004).

RESULTS

Greenhouse Experiment

We found that the total biomass of both native species significantly decreased with the increase in the biomass of *U. arrecta*. The slopes of the relationships did not differ significantly (test of parallelism: $F_{1,56} = 3.47$; P = 0.0676; **Figure 1A**). However, the coefficient of determination of the model for *L. hexandra* ($R^2 = 0.70$; P < 0.001) was substantially higher than that observed for *P. cordata* ($R^2 = 0.51$; P < 0.001).

Similar to what we found for biomass, the native species' length decreased significantly with the increase in the biomass of *U. arrecta* (**Figure 1B**). However, the slope of the relationship between the biomass of *U. arrecta* and length of *L. hexandra* $(b = -0.0032 \pm 0.0006 \text{ SE}; R^2 = 0.54; P < 0.001)$ was significantly steeper (test of parallelism: $F_{1,56} = 5.14; P = 0.0272$) than that for *P. cordata* $(b = -0.0017 \pm 0.0003 \text{ SE}; R^2 = 0.48; P < 0.001)$.

The effects of the *U. arrecta* biomass on the root:shoot ratio clearly differed between the two native species ($F_{1,56} = 60.58$;





P < 0.001; **Figure 1C**), being positive for *P. cordata* ($b = 0.0028 \pm 0.0005$ SE; $R^2 = 0.49$; P < 0.001) and negative for *L. hexandra* ($b = -0.0032 \pm 0.0006$ SE; $R^2 = 0.54$; P < 0.001). Despite the opposite effects, the magnitudes of the slopes were similar. These results indicate that *L. hexandra* invests more in shoots, while *P. cordata* invests more in belowground structures (roots), with an increasing degree of competition with *U. arrecta*.

Field Experiment

The results obtained in the field experiment with *P. cordata* followed the pattern found in the greenhouse. The biomass of *U. arrecta* negatively affected the biomass of *P. cordata* $(b = -0.0472 \pm 0.006 \text{ SE}; R^2 = 0.85; P < 0.001;$ **Figure 2A**). The root:shoot ratio of the biomass of this native species was positively and significantly affected by the biomass of the invasive species $(b = 0.003 \pm 0.0001 \text{ SE}; R^2 = 0.76; P < 0.001;$ **Figure 2B**).

Comparison of the Results With Those Obtained in the Literature

The effect of *U. arrecta* on native species was substantially larger than the effects reported in the meta-analysis of Jauni and Ramula (2015). The results of this comparison also indicate that the negative effect of *U. arrecta* on *L. hexandra* was greater than that estimated for *P. cordata* in the greenhouse experiment. However, the largest effect size was estimated for *P. cordata* when the experiment was carried out in the field, despite the high overlap between the confidence intervals (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

We found that the competitive effects of *U. arrecta* on *P. cordata* and *L. hexandra* are biomass-dependent, corroborating our first hypothesis. Most importantly, in accordance with our second hypothesis, we showed that the native species responded differently to the competitive interaction with the invader, at least in terms of plant height and root:shoot ratios. In addition, it is likely that the increase in *U. arrecta* biomass increases the competition for nutrient acquisition more in *P. cordata* than in *L. hexandra*, given that the former species invested more in root growth when in greater competitive interaction with *U. arrecta* than the latter. However, although these native species responded differently to the competitive interaction with the invader, *L. hexandra* was not the most negatively affected by *U. arrecta* (as suggested by similar responses in terms of biomass production), which contradicts our prediction in this regard.

The negative effects of U. arrecta on native species were even stronger in the field experiment, where the growth of P. cordata was nearly suppressed at high densities of U. arrecta (see **Figure 2A**). These results, along with those obtained in the greenhouse, indicate that high densities of the invasive species decrease recolonization success by native species, which may explain the pattern of reduced macrophyte diversity with the increase of U. arrecta biomass at small spatial scales (Michelan et al., 2010b; Amorim et al., 2015). Our findings agree with studies carried out with other invasive species that showed the importance of density in the establishment success of native species, mainly in controlled experiments (Doyle et al., 2003; Martin and Coetzee, 2014). Thus, in field conditions, the effects of exotic species on the growth of native species are likely to be much stronger than the effects measured in greenhouse experiments. For example, the biomass that *U. arrecta* may attain in the field (approx. 7000 g DW m⁻²; Carniatto et al., 2013) is much higher than the highest biomass in our experiment (approx. 2000 g DW m⁻²).







Macrophytes respond to competition (Burns and Winn, 2006) and other environmental factors, such as increase in water level (Gomaa and AbdElgawad, 2012), by shoot elongation. The elongation (or etiolation) of terrestrial and aquatic plants is, in general, a response to light limitation (e.g., Goldsborough and Kemp, 1988; Paciullo et al., 2008, 2011; Li et al., 2011). However, our results indicate a reduction in the length of native species with increased competition (and shading) by U. arrecta (see Figure 1B). Thus, our results agree with other studies showing that not all species are able to etiolate in the face of light competition. For example, Burns and Winn (2006) demonstrated that competition reduced the lengths of two grass species. A plausible explanation for the lack of etiolation in face of competition, applicable only to L. hexandra, is that the light limitation was offset by the increased investment in the biomass of the shoots, as shown by the results for the root:shoot

ratio (see below). By contrast, *P. cordata* has broader leaves than *L. hexandra*, and thus, increased light acquisition may be obtained by increases in leaf area instead of etiolation. These factors may also explain the steeper reduction in length for *L. hexandra* than for *P. cordata* along the invasive biomass gradient.

The native species responded differently to the increase in U. *arrecta* biomass in terms of investment in belowground

or aboveground structures (see Figure 1C), revealing different strategies to overcome competition with the invasive species. The increase in plant density exacerbates competition, which may occur for space, nutrients and/or light (Witkowski, 1991; Daehler, 2003; Doyle et al., 2003; Davis, 2009). Increased investment in shoots indicates a predominance of competition between aboveground plant structures, while high investment in roots indicates dominance of competition between belowground structures (e.g., Berendse and Möller, 2009; Janeček et al., 2014). Based on this premise, our results indicate that L. hexandra growth becomes increasingly limited by light availability over a gradient of U. arrecta biomass, while P. cordata growth becomes increasingly limited by nutrients and space over the same biomass gradient. The largest investment in shoots by L. hexandra at high densities of the invasive probably occurs because Poaceae are, in general, highly sensitive to shading conditions. Allocation to shoot biomass, relative to root biomass, is likely to be a response to light limitation under high competition, as observed for other herbaceous species (Gibson et al., 2004; Awan et al., 2015). On the other hand, increased allocation to roots in P. cordata indicates a response to root competition (for other examples, see Bakker and Wilson, 2001; Schiffers et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2015).

Despite the changes in biomass allocation of the native species over the competition gradient, there was a reduction

of approximately 90% of the native species biomass at high biomass of U. arrecta, and the reduction was even higher for P. cordata in the field. The significant reduction in the growth of native species when exotic species are dominant, as simulated in our experiments, supports the model of preemptive competition, as found in other studies (Grace, 1987; Seabloom and van der Valk, 2003; Moore and Franklin, 2012; Moore et al., 2014). In practical terms, our experimental results indicate that native species have low capacities to recolonize sites dominated by invasive species. In addition, along with results of "invasiveness" experiments (e.g., Xu et al., 2004; Michelan et al., 2013), our results suggest that pre-occupation is key to predicting competition effects. The negative effects on the native species derived from the pre-occupation of the exotic species are likely to be more pronounced in ecosystems subject to anthropogenic impacts, since anthropogenic impacts are more favorable to the success of invasive plants (Daehler, 2003; Havel et al., 2005; Engelhardt, 2011). In summary, we speculate that the natural recolonization by native species in environments dominated by U. arrecta is unlikely and that their success can only occur if the invasive species is manipulated, reducing its occupation.

Experiments in greenhouses and controlled conditions are criticized for using small spatial and temporal scales and for not replicating the complexity found in natural environments (Gibson et al., 1999). Experiments like ours could, for example, bias the effects of shoot competition because of limited soil volume, which reduces shoot growth, and because of edge effects, which allow more access to light than would occur in the field (Kiaer et al., 2013). However, the data obtained in the field for *P. cordata* demonstrate that at least the direction and intensity of the competitive effects exerted by *U. arrecta* were similar to those found in the greenhouse. This congruence suggests that the data obtained experimentally in the greenhouse can be extrapolated to field situations, as the results obtained in the latter also indicate the importance of density-dependent effects of an invasive species on native species.

Finally, we believe that the larger effect sizes in our experiment compared to those estimated by Jauni and Ramula (2015) may indicate that U. arrecta possesses higher competitive effects than other invasive species. The consistent negative effect of exotic plants on the biomass of native plants, according to Jauni and Ramula (2015), may be explained by considering three mechanisms that are not mutually exclusive. The first mechanism, and probably the most important, is related to competition for light and nutrients, which reduces biomass and may cause a decrease in the reproductive success and survival of native plant species, leading to population decline (Jauni and Ramula, 2015). The other two mechanisms are related to pollinators and survival of recruits, but these mechanisms cannot be used to explain our results because our experiments considered only one plant generation. Interestingly, the results obtained by Jauni and Ramula (2015) suggest that native plants can be established when associated with exotic plants. These authors suggest that the population dynamics of native plants may not be limited by the availability of micro-sites but by competition

with exotic species in later stages of the life cycle. Our results corroborate this expectation, since most of the native propagules established even in high biomass of the exotic species, but they attained extremely low growth and did not flower in this condition.

In short, our hypotheses that the effects of competition between U. arrecta and native macrophytes are density dependent and that P. cordata and L. hexandra respond differently to this competitive interaction were corroborated. Our results suggest that in a scenario of dominance of invasive Poaceae, recolonization by native macrophytes is unlike to occur naturally. Our results also indicate that the reduction of the diversity of native macrophytes observed in sites colonized by U. arrecta can be explained by the competitive effects of this invasive species. In practical terms, due to the density-dependent competitive effects, when it is not possible to eliminate the invasive species, a strategy to maintain it at low density would be required to allow recolonization by natives and to maintain local biodiversity. Also in this context, we believe that increasing the number of propagules to analyze the capacity of native species to recolonize environments densely colonized by exotic species would be an interesting avenue for further research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TM and ST conceived the ideas and designed the experiments. TM, ST, and FB conducted the greenhouse and field experiments. TM and LB analyzed and interpreted the data. TM led the writing of the manuscript. ST and LB gave major input into the first draft. All authors contributed critically to the final version of the manuscript and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

We acknowledge the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) for providing a scholarship to TM and FB, and for providing continuous funding to ST and LB through Productivity Grants. This study was also supported by the Brazilian Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES). This work was also developed in the context of the National Institutes for Science and Technology (INCT) in Ecology, Evolution and Biodiversity Conservation, supported by MCTIC/CNPq (proc. 465610/2014-5) and FAPEG.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank M.C. Teixeira for helping with the greenhouse experiment.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2018.01261/ full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Amorim, S. R., Umetsu, C. A., and Camargo, A. F. M. (2015). Effects of a nonnative species of Poaceae on aquatic macrophyte community composition: a comparison with a native species. J. Aquat. Plant Manag. 53, 191–196.
- Awan, T. H., Sta Cruz, P. C., and Chauhan, B. S. (2015). Ecological significance of rice (*Oryza sativa*) planting density and nitrogen rates in managing the growth and competitive ability of itchgrass (*Rottboellia cochinchinensis*) in direct-seeded rice systems. *J. Pest. Sci.* 88, 427–438. doi: 10.1007/s10340-014-0604-4
- Bakker, J., and Wilson, S. (2001). Competitive abilities of introduced and native grasses. *Plant Ecol.* 157, 117–125. doi: 10.1023/A:1013972403293
- Bell, K. L., Heard, T. A., and Van Klinken, R. D. (2011). Natural enemies of invasive *Hymenachne amplexicaulis* and its native congener in Australia and the potential for biological control. *Biol. Control* 57, 130–137. doi: 10.1016/j. biocontrol.2011.01.009
- Berendse, F., and Möller, F. (2009). Effects of competition on root–shoot allocation in *Plantago lanceolata* L.: adaptive plasticity or ontogenetic drift? *Plant Ecol.* 201, 567–573. doi: 10.1007/s11258-008-9485-z
- Blindow, I., Dahlke, S., Dewart, A., Flügge, S., Hendreschke, M., Kerkow, A., et al. (2016). Long-term and interannual changes of submerged macrophytes and their associated diaspore reservoir in a shallow southern Baltic Sea bay: influence of eutrophication and climate. *Hydrobiologia* 778, 121–136. doi: 10. 1007/s10750-016-2655-4
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T., and Rothstein, H. R. (2009). Introduction to Meta-Analysis. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. doi: 10.1002/ 9780470743386
- Bunn, S. E., Davies, P. M., Kellaway, D. M., and Prosser, I. P. (1998). Influence of invasive macrophytes on channel morphology and hydrology in an open tropical lowland stream, and potential control by riparian shading. *Freshw. Biol.* 39, 171–178. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2427.1998.00264.x
- Burns, J. H., and Winn, A. A. (2006). A comparison of plastic responses to competition by invasive and non-invasive congeners in the Commelinaceae. *Biol. Invasions* 8, 797–807. doi: 10.1007/s10530-005-3838-5
- Cahill, J. F. (2003). Lack of relationship between below-ground competition and allocation in 10 grassland species. *J. Ecol.* 91, 532–540. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745. 2003.00792.x
- Carey, M. P., Sethi, S. A., Larsen, S. J., and Rich, C. F. (2016). A primer on potential impacts, management priorities, and future directions for *Elodea* spp. in high latitude systems: learning from the Alaskan experience. *Hydrobiologia* 777, 1–19. doi: 10.1007/s10750-016-2767-x
- Carniatto, N., Thomaz, S. M., Cunha, E. R., Fugi, R., and Ota, R. R. (2013). Effects of an invasive alien Poaceae on aquatic macrophytes and fish communities in a neotropical reservoir. *Biotropica* 45, 747–754. doi: 10.1111/btp.12062
- Chesson, P., and Kuang, J. J. (2008). The interaction between predation and competition. *Nature* 456, 235–238. doi: 10.1038/nature07248
- Connell, J. H. (1983). On the prevalence and relative importance of interspecific competition: evidence from field experiments. *Am. Nat.* 122, 661–696. doi: 10.1086/284165
- Craine, J. M., and Dybzinski, R. (2013). Mechanisms of plant competition for nutrients, water and light. *Funct. Ecol.* 27, 833–840. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435. 12081
- Cuassolo, F., Navarro, M. B., Balseiro, E., and Modenutti, B. (2016). Effect of light on particulate and dissolved organic matter production of native and exotic macrophyte species in Patagonia. *Hydrobiologia* 766, 29–42. doi: 10.1007/ s10750-015-2434-7
- Daehler, C. C. (2003). Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for Conservation and Restoration. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 34, 183–211. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.011802. 132403
- Daehler, C. C., and Strong, D. R. (1994). "Native plant biodiversity vs. the introduced invaders: status of the conflict and future management options," in *Biological Diversity: Problems and Challenges*, eds S. K. Majumdar, F. J. Brenner, J. E. Lovich, J. F. Schalles, and E. W. Miller (Easton, PA: Pennsylvania Academy of Science), 92–113.

Davis, M. A. (2009). Invasion Biology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Doyle, R. D., Francis, M. D., and Smart, R. M. (2003). Interference competition between *Ludwigia repens* and *Hygrophila polysperma*: two morphologically similar aquatic plant species. Aquat. Bot. 77, 223-234. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3770(03)00104-9

- Engelhardt, K. A. M. (2011). "Aquatic eutrophication," in *Encyclopedia of Biological Invasions*, eds D. Simberloff and M. Rejmanek (London: University of California Press), 209–213.
- Fasoli, J. V. B., Michelan, T. S., and Thomaz, S. M. (2015). Sediment composition mediates the invasibility of aquatic ecosystems by a non-native Poaceae species. *Acta Limn. Bras.* 27, 165–170. doi: 10.1590/S2179-975X5214
- Fernandes, L. F. G., Teixeira, M. C., and Thomaz, S. M. (2013). Diversity and biomass of native macrophytes are negatively related to dominance of an invasive Poaceae in Brazilian sub-tropical streams. *Acta Limn. Bras.* 25, 202–209. doi: 10.1590/S2179-975X2013000200011
- Fridley, J. D. (2011). "Invasibility, of communities and ecosystems," in *Encyclopedia of Biological Invasions*, eds D. Simberloff and M. Rejmánek (London: University of California Press), 356–360.
- Gibson, D. J., Connolly, J., Hartnett, D. C., and Weidenhamer, J. D. (1999). Designs for greenhouse studies of interactions between plants. *J. Ecol.* 87, 1–16. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.1999.00321.x
- Gibson, K. D., Fischer, A. J., and Foin, T. C. (2004). Compensatory responses of late watergrass (*Echinochloa phyllopogon*) and rice to resource limitations. *Weed Sci.* 52, 271–280. doi: 10.1614/WS-03-103R
- Goldberg, D. E., and Scheiner, S. M. (2001). "ANOVA and ANCOVA: field competition experiments," in *Design and analysis of Ecological Experiments*, eds S. M. Scheiner and J. Gurevitch (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 69–93.
- Goldsborough, W. J., and Kemp, W. M. (1988). Light responses of a submersed macrophyte: implications for survival in turbid tidal waters. *Ecology* 69, 1775–1786. doi: 10.2307/1941156
- Gomaa, N. H., and AbdElgawad, H. R. (2012). Phytotoxic effects of *Echinochloa colona* (L.) Link. (Poaceae) extracts on the germination and seedling growth of weeds. *Span. J. Agric. Res.* 10, 492–501. doi: 10.5424/sjar/2012102-194-11
- Gopal, B., and Goel, U. (1993). Competition and allelopathy in aquatic plant communities. *Bot. Rev.* 59, 155–210. doi: 10.1007/BF02856599
- Grace, J. B. (1987). The impact of preemption on the zonation of two *Typha* species along lakeshores. *Ecol. Monog.* 57, 283–303. doi: 10.2307/2937088
- Grime, J. P. (1979). *Plant Strategies and Vegetation Processes*. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons.
- Havel, J. E., Lee, C. E., and Zanden, M. J. V. (2005). Do reservoirs facilitate invasions into landscapes? *Bioscience* 55, 518–525. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0518:DRFIIL]2.0.CO;2
- Janeček, S., Patáèová, E., and Klimešová, J. (2014). Effects of fertilization and competition on plant biomass allocation and internal resources: does *Plantago lanceolata* follow the rules of economic theory? *Folia Geobot.* 49, 49–64. doi: 10.1007/s12224-013-9161-5
- Jauni, M., and Ramula, S. (2015). Meta-analysis on the effects of exotic plants on the fitness of native plants. *Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst.* 17, 412–420. doi: 10.1016/j.ppees.2015.06.002
- Kiaer, L. P., Weisbach, A. N., and Weiner, J. (2013). Root and shoot competition: a meta-analysis. *J. Ecol.* 101, 1298–1312. doi: 10.1007/s00572-011-0398-7
- Leimu, R., and Koricheva, J. (2004). Cumulative meta-analysis: a new tool for detection of temporal trends and publication bias in ecology. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 271, 1961–1966. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2004.2828
- Levine, J. M. (2008). Species diversity and biological invasions relating local process to community pattern. *Science* 288, 852–854. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5467.852
- Li, F., Li, Y., Qin, H., and Xie, Y. (2011). Plant distribution can be reflected by the different growth and morphological responses to water level and shade in two emergent macrophyte seedlings in the Sanjiang Plain. *Aquat. Ecol.* 45, 89–97. doi: 10.1007/s10452-010-9334-8
- Madsen, J. D., Sutherland, J. W., Bloomfield, J. A., Eichler, L. W., and Boylen, C. W. (1991). The decline of native vegetation under dense Eurasian watermilfoil canopies. J. Aquat. Plant Manag. 29, 94–99.
- Martin, G. D., and Coetzee, J. A. (2014). Competition between two aquatic macrophytes, *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridley) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae) and *Myriophyllum spicatum* Linnaeus (Haloragaceae) as influenced by substrate sediment and nutrients. *Aquat. Bot.* 114, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2013. 11.001

- Michelan, T. S., Thomaz, S. M., and Bini, L. M. (2013). Native macrophyte density and richness affect the invasiveness of a tropical Poaceae species. *PLoS One* 8:e60004. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060004
- Michelan, T. S., Thomaz, S. M., Carvalho, P., Rodrigues, R. B., and Silveira, M. J. (2010a). Regeneration and colonization of an invasive macrophyte grass in response to desiccation. *Nat. Conserv.* 8, 133–139. doi: 10.4322/natcon. 00802005
- Michelan, T. S., Thomaz, S. M., Mormul, R. P., and Carvalho, P. (2010b). Effects of an exotic invasive macrophyte (tropical signalgrass) on native plant community composition, species richness and functional diversity. *Freshw. Biol.* 55, 1315–1326. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02355.x
- Moore, J. E., and Franklin, S. B. (2012). Water stress interacts with early arrival to influence interspecific and intraspecific priority competition: a test using a greenhouse study. *J. Veg. Sci.* 23, 647–656. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012. 01388.x
- Moore, J. E., Wolfe, J. D., and Franklin, S. B. (2014). Growth responses of different aged individuals of *Xanthium strumarium L.* in flooded conditions. J. Torrey Bot. Soc. 14, 72–79. doi: 10.3159/TORREY-D-13-00031.1
- Moreira, S. N., Pott, A., Pott, V. J., and Damasceno-Junior, G. A. (2011). Structure of pond vegetation of a vereda in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Rodriguésia* 62, 721–729. doi: 10.1590/S2175-78602011000400002
- Mugwedi, L. F., Goodall, J., Witkowski, E. T. F., and Byrne, M. J. (2015). The role of reproduction in *Glyceria maxima* invasion. *Afr. J. Range Forage Sci.* 32, 59–66. doi: 10.2989/10220119.2014.929177
- Nunes, L. S. C., and Camargo, A. F. M. (2017). Do interspecific competition and salinity explain plant zonation in a tropical estuary? *Hydrobiologia* 812, 67–77. doi: 10.1007/s10750-016-2821-8
- Paciullo, D. S. C., Campos, N. R., Gomide, C. A. M., Castro, C. R. T., Tavela, R. C., and Rossielo, R. O. P. (2008). Crescimento de capim-braquiária influenciado pelo grau de sombreamento e pela estação do ano. *Pesqui. Agropecu. Bras.* 43, 917–923. doi: 10.1590/S0100-204X2008000700017
- Paciullo, D. S. C., Fernandes, P. B., Gomide, C. A. M., Castro, C. R. T., Sobrinho, F. S., and Carvalho, C. A. B. (2011). The growth dynamics in *Brachiaria* species according to nitrogen dose and shade. *Rev. Bras. Zootecn.* 40, 270–276. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982011000200006
- Pott, V. J., and Pott, A. (2000). Plantas Aquáticas do Pantanal. Brasília: Embrapa.
- Pott, V. J., Pott, A., Lima, L. C. P., Moreira, S. N., and Oliveira, A. K. M. (2011). Aquatic macrophyte diversity of the Pantanal wetland and upper basin. *Braz. J. Biol.* 71, 255–263. doi: 10.1590/S1519-69842011000200004
- Powell, K. I., Chase, J. M., and Knight, T. M. (2011). A synthesis of plant invasion effects on biodiversity across spatial scales. *Am. J. Bot.* 98, 539–548. doi: 10.3732/ ajb.1000402
- Powell, K. I., Chase, J. M., and Knight, T. M. (2013). Invasive plants have scaledependent effects on diversity by altering species-area relationships. *Science* 339, 316–318. doi: 10.1126/science.1226817
- Pyšek, P., Richardson, D. M., Pergl, J., Jarošík, V., Sixtová, Z., and Weber, E. (2008). Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 23, 237–244. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2008.02.002
- R Development Core Team (2014). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rejmánek, M. (2011). "Invasiveness," in *Encyclopedia of Biological Invasions*, eds D. Simberloff and M. Rejmánek (London: University of California Press), 379–385.
- Richardson, J. D. M., and Pyšek, P. (2008). Fifty years of invasion ecology the legacy of Charles Elton. *Divers. Distrib.* 14, 161–168. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4642. 2007.00464.x

- Richter, D., and Gross, E. M. (2013). Chara can out compete Myriophyllum under low phosphorus supply. Aquat. Sci. 75, 457–467. doi: 10.1007/s00027-013-0292-9
- Roberts, D. E., Church, A. G., and Cummins, S. P. (1999). Invasion of Egeria into the Hawkesbury-Nepean River, Australia. J. Aquat. Plant Manag. 37, 31–34.
- Robinson, D., Davidson, H., Trinder, C., and Brooker, R. (2010). Root shoot growth responses during inter specific competition quantified using allometric modelling. *Ann. Bot.* 106, 921–926. doi: 10.1093/aob/ mcq186
- Schiffers, K., Tielborger, K., Tietjen, B., and Jeltsch, F. (2011). Root plasticity buffers competition among plants: theory meets experimental data. *Ecology* 92, 610–620. doi: 10.1890/10-1086.1
- Seabloom, E. W., Harpole, W. S., Reichman, O. J., and Tilman, D. (2003). Invasion Competitive dominance, and resource use by exotic and native California grassland species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 13384–13389. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1835728100
- Seabloom, E. W., and van der Valk, A. G. (2003). Plant diversity, composition, and invasion of restored and natural prairie pothole wetlands: implications for restoration. *Wetlands* 23, 1–12. doi: 10.1672/0277-5212(2003)023[0001: PDCAIO]2.0.CO;2
- Strayer, D. L. (2010). Alien species in fresh waters: ecological effects, interactions with other stressors, and prospects for the future. *Freshw. Biol.* 55, 152–174. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02380.x
- Thomaz, S. M., and Michelan, T. S. (2011). Associations between a highly invasive species and native macrophytes differ across spatial scales. *Biol. Invasions* 13, 1881–1891. doi: 10.1007/s10530-011-0008-9
- Wang, J. W., Yu, D., Xiong, W., and Han, Y. Q. (2008). Above and belowground competition between two submersed macrophytes. *Hydrobiologia* 607, 113–122. doi: 10.1007/s10750-008-9371-7
- Wilson, S. D., and Keddy, P. A. (1991). Competition, survivorship and growth in macrophyte communities. *Freshw. Biol.* 25, 331–337. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427. 1991.tb00495.x
- Witkowski, E. T. F. (1991). Growth and competition between seedlings of Protea repens (L.) L. and the alien invasive, Acacia saligna (Labill.) Wendl. in relation to nutrient availability. Funct. Ecol. 5, 101–110. doi: 10.2307/238 9560
- Xu, K., Ye, W., Cao, H., Deng, X., Yang, Q., and Zhang, Y. (2004). The role of diversity and functional traits of species in community invasibility. *Bot. Bull. Acad. Sin.* 45, 149–157.
- Zhu, J., Jiang, L., Zhang, Y., Jiang, Y., Tao, J., Tian, L., et al. (2015). Below ground competition drives the self-thinning process of *Stipa purpurea* populations in northern Tibet. J. Veg. Sci. 26, 166–174. doi: 10.1111/jvs.12207

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Michelan, Thomaz, Bando and Bini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Invasive Aquatic Plants as Ecosystem Engineers in an Oligo-Mesotrophic Shallow Lake

Cristina Ribaudo^{1,2*}, Juliette Tison-Rosebery², Damien Buquet³, Gwilherm Jan², Aurélien Jamoneau², Gwenaël Abril^{3,4,5}, Pierre Anschutz³ and Vincent Bertrin²

¹ EA 4592 Géoressources et Environnement, ENSEGID, Pessac, France, ² Irstea, UR EABX, Centre de Bordeaux, Cestas, France, ³ CNRS UMR 5805 Environnements et Paléoenvironnements Océaniques et Continentaux, Université de Bordeaux, Pessac, France, ⁴ Biologie des Organismes et Ecosystèmes Aquatiques, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, France, ⁵ Programa de Geoquímica, Universidade Federal Fluminense, Niterói, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Istituto per il Rilevamento Elettromagnetico dell'Ambiente (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

Mattia Martin Azzella, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Thaísa Sala Michelan, Universidade Federal do Pará, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Cristina Ribaudo cristina.ribaudo@ensegid.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 27 July 2018 Accepted: 15 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Ribaudo C, Tison-Rosebery J, Buquet D, Jan G, Jamoneau A, Abril G, Anschutz P and Bertrin V (2018) Invasive Aquatic Plants as Ecosystem Engineers in an Oligo-Mesotrophic Shallow Lake. Front. Plant Sci. 9:1781. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01781 Exotic hydrophytes are often considered as aquatic weeds, especially when forming dense mats on an originally poorly colonized environment. While management efforts and research are focused on the control and on the impacts of aquatic weeds on biodiversity, their influence on shallow lakes' biogeochemical cycles is still unwell explored. The aim of the present study is to understand whether invasive aquatic plants may affect the biogeochemistry of shallow lakes and act as ecosystem engineers. We performed a multi-year investigation (2013-2015) of dissolved biogeochemical parameters in an oligo-mesotrophic shallow lake of south-west of France (Lacanau Lake), where wind-sheltered bays are colonized by dense mats of exotic Egeria densa Planch. and Lagarosiphon major (Ridl.) Moss. We collected seasonal samples at densely vegetated and plant-free areas, in order to extrapolate and quantify the role of the presence of invasive plants on the biogeochemistry, at the macrophyte stand scale and at the lake scale. Results revealed that elevated plant biomass triggers oxygen (O₂), dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) and nitrogen (DIN) stratification, with hypoxia events frequently occurring at the bottom of the water column. Within plants bed, elevated respiration rates generated important amounts of carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH_4) and ammonium (NH_4^+) . The balance between benthic nutrients regeneration and fixation into biomass results strictly connected to the seasonal lifecycle of the plants. Indeed, during summer, DIC and DIN regenerated from the sediment are quickly fixed into plant biomass and sustain elevated growth rates. On the opposite, in spring and autumn, bacterial and plant respiration overcome nutrients fixation, resulting in an excess of nutrients in the water and in the increase of carbon emission toward the atmosphere. Our study suggests that aquatic weeds may perform as ecosystem engineers, by negatively affecting local oxygenation and by stimulating nutrients regeneration.

Keywords: carbon emission, methane, hypoxia, water stratification, nutrients regeneration, seasonal, primary production, exotic plants

INTRODUCTION

Global changes, such as the increase of water temperature, the modifications of lakeshore for anthropic activities and the unintentional introduction of plant fragments may favor the spread of exotic aquatic plants (Gillard et al., 2017; Bertrin et al., 2018). The settlement of invasive species, and the massive developed biomass, has been recently recognized to strongly influence biodiversity (Hussner et al., 2009; Strayer, 2010). However, the effect of invasive species on ecosystem functioning is little known and could be either neutral or positive, by triggering significant changes on the basic processes of the ecosystem (Crooks, 2002; Havel et al., 2015).

The presence of invasive macrophytes can strongly modify aquatic local conditions, and particularly the water temperature, the sediment chemistry and the nutrients cycling of the colonized area, especially in the case of rootless or floating-leaved hydrophytes (Urban et al., 2006; Pierobon et al., 2010; Andersen et al., 2017; Vilas et al., 2017). Indeed, the massive plant coverage at the air-water interface is recognized to generate thermal and chemical stratification, even within very shallow waters (Andersen et al., 2017). While submerged rooted macrophytes at moderate biomass are known to increase sedimentary redox potential thanks to radial oxygen loss (Racchetti et al., 2010; Ribaudo et al., 2011), extremely dense submerged canopies may lead to decreased redox potentials and increased benthic nutrients fluxes, as a result of limited water mixing (Boros et al., 2011). As in the case of floating hydrophytes, the oxygen consumption from mineralization of plant detritus may favor the production of anaerobic end-products and nutrients regeneration such as methane and ammonium (Bianchini et al., 2008; Pierobon et al., 2010; Oliveira-Junior et al., 2018).

Benthic nutrients release from densely vegetated sediments is favored by particles trapping by submerged shoots and sediment accretion, and may therefore constitute a functional advantage for plant development (Madsen et al., 2001). Macrophytes will use nutrients regenerated from the sediment for their growth and deplete them, especially in nutrients-poor contexts (Bini et al., 2010). In oligotrophic systems, characterized by a low productivity, the settlement of fast growing primary producers can thus accelerate nutrients cycling and boost organic matter degradation, especially in summer, in correspondence with the maximum growth rates and elevated temperatures. On the opposite, during the senescence of the plants in autumn, respiration processes will be prevailing over nutrients fixation and regenerate nutrients toward the water column (Bowes et al., 1979; Pierobon et al., 2010; Ribaudo et al., 2011, 2012).

The balance between nutrients regeneration from sediments and uptake by plants is a key concept for investigating the net effect of the presence of large macrophytes stands within nutrient-poor shallow lake (Bowes et al., 1979). Indeed, at the lake scale, vegetated littoral zones are recognized as hotspots of primary production that take advantage from watershed nutrients incomes, while nutrients and organic matter outputs to the pelagic zone depend on water currents and wind velocity (Wetzel, 1992). Abundant plant biomass can self-sustain thanks to organic matter accretion and nutrients regeneration even when the input from the watershed is low (Marion and Paillisson, 2003).

In this study, several sampling campaigns were carried out in aquatic weed dense meadows of a shallow oligo-mesotrophic lake, with the aim of understanding whether two invasive aquatic plants can act as ecosystem engineers in a nutrient-poor system (Crooks, 2002). More precisely, we hypothesized that dense invasive macrophytes stands will (i) induce thermal and nutrients stratification in the water column, and (ii) contribute to the regeneration of nutrients from the sediments according to a lifecycle seasonal pattern. To test those hypotheses, we worked at two different spatial scales: (1) at the vegetated stand scale for understanding the role of the two invasive hydrophytes in enhancing nutrients regeneration and (2) at the lake scale, to contextualize the role of massive stands in shallow lakes concerning nutrients and carbon budgets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Area

Lacanau Lake is one of the oligo-mesotrophic shallow lakes of the French Atlantic Lakes chain, located between the Gironde and the Adour estuaries in South-West of France, together with Carcans-Hourtin, Cazaux-Sanguinet, and Parentis-Biscarrosse lakes (Cellamare et al., 2012; Moreira et al., 2015). French Atlantic Lakes are Lobelia shallow lakes, known for being colonized by a few macrophyte species, which are typically distributed along the first meter of the water column. Macrophyte community is here mainly composed by isoetids (Lobelia dortmanna L., Littorella uniflora (L.) Asch. and Isoetes boryana Durieu) together with some species of charophytes (Bertrin et al., 2018). This community is recognized to reduce carbon benthic fluxes and to contribute to sediment oxygenation through radial oxygen loss. Their slow metabolism and low growth rates do not affect biochemical cycles on the short term nor water stratification (Ribaudo et al., 2017). Within those lakes, the nutrients budget is mainly driven by benthic fluxes and input from the small watershed and rainfalls (Buquet et al., 2017).

In French Atlantic Lakes, the strong wind and the oligotrophic conditions do not allow the settlement of large canopy-forming hydrophytes, which typically require still waters, nutrients availability and organic-rich sediments. Nevertheless, since about 40 years, large submerged stands of two caulescent aquatic plants [Egeria densa Planch and Lagarosiphon major (Ridl.) Moss] have been found in some areas of those lakes. E. densa and L. major are two non-native hydrophytes belonging to the Hydrocharitaceae family, characterized by long erected stems with alternate or opposed whorled leaves. They preferentially settle and develop in sheltered creeks and ports of the lake, between -0.5 and -3.5 m; sparse shoots could be present until 6 m deep. Within French Atlantic Lakes, those hydrophytes develop a total biomass up to 4000 g_{DW} m⁻² (Bertrin et al., 2017). They present elevated growth rates, giving them a selective advantage over other hydrophytes species, notably thanks to the presence of adventitious roots allowing vegetative multiplication and large

dispersion capacities (Haramoto and Ikusima, 1988). According to available past reports (François, 1948), the two species have not replaced other hydrophytes in French Atlantic Lakes. Indeed, *Myriophyllum* spp. were present in 1940's with sparse shoots, but never developed such biomass and meadow extent.

Lacanau Lake's surface is 16.2 km² and the mean depth is 2.6 m, Secchi disk is 3.5 m (Moreira et al., 2015). Within the lake, *E. densa* and *L. major* form dense stands, with total biomass > 50 gp_W m⁻² occupying 1.19 km² (about 7% of the lake surface, according to Bertrin et al., 2017). The substrate on which plants develop is composed of a sandy substrate covered by a thick layer of labile organic matter-rich sediment presenting 35 ± 21% (n = 59) as loss of ignition (Bertrin et al., 2017).

Seasonal Vertical Stratification

In dense vegetated stands, water sampling was performed at 15 sites between June 2013 and November 2015 (Figure 1 and Appendix 1). For each site, measurements were carried out in duplicates, twice during the day (in the morning, at around 11 a.m. and in the early afternoon, before 3 p.m.) and repeated during the growing seasons in this temperate region of France: spring (March to June), summer (June to September),





and autumn (September to November). Water samplings were performed from a boat using a silicone pipe connected to a peristaltic pump. One pipe's extremity was inserted into the plants stand deep to about 40 cm above the sediment; the other end was connected to a syringe on the boat. Samples within the plants (*Vegetated – Bottom* samples) were collected at depths ranging from 100 to 330 cm, with an average of 249 ± 72 cm. Samples taken just below the water column surface (*Vegetated – Surface* samples) were collected directly from the boat without the use of the pump. During each sampling cycle, the vegetated stand height was systematically measured using a graduated pole.

In unvegetated areas, water sampling was carried out during the day (n = 1-6, collected between 10 a.m. and 5 p.m.) between May 2013 and November 2015, at 14 sites where aquatic weeds were totally absent, within parallel studies (Buquet et al., 2017; Ribaudo et al., 2017; Jamoneau, unpublished; **Figure 1** and **Appendix 1**). Samples were collected at the top of the water column (hereafter *Plant-free – Surface* samples) and, where the depth allowed it, samples were also collected at -3 m by using a 2L Niskin bottle, hereafter referred as *Plant-free – Bottom* samples (Buquet et al., 2017).

For each sampling, an aliquot was immediately transferred to a beaker, in which water temperature and pH were measured with a YSI Multiple Probe (model 556). Separated aliquots were sampled in borosilicate vials and then analyzed in the laboratory for dissolved oxygen (O2 - by Winkler method), alkalinity (TAlk - by titration with HCl 0.1 M), carbon dioxide [CO₂ by retrocalculation starting from TAlk and in situ pH, validated by measures of dissolved inorganic carbon, DIC, to verify that organic alkalinity was negligible (Abril et al., 2015)] and methane (CH₄ - by headspace GC-FID method) analyses, following the methods reported in Ribaudo et al. (2017). A separate aliquot was filtered (Whatman GF/F filters) and transferred to a 50 ml plastic vial for subsequent dissolved inorganic nitrogen (NO3and NH4⁺) analyses by ionic chromatography (METROHM 881 - compact). An aliquot of 50 ml was filtered by GF/F filters and transferred to a borosilicate glass flask for measurement of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) by COTmeter. An aliquot of 500 ml was transferred to a PE-HD flask for total phosphorus (TP) measurement by spectrophotometric assay after NF acid mineralization T90-023, and total nitrogen (TN) after selenium mineralization NF EN 25663. TP and TN were measured only at vegetated sites and at the surface of some of plant-free sites (see Appendix 1).

For vegetated stands, we calculated excess dissolved inorganic carbon (eDIC, μ M), as the difference between the *in situ* DIC and a theoretical DIC at atmospheric equilibrium (for CO₂ = 400 ppmv), according to Abril et al. (2000). The apparent oxygen utilization (AOU, μ M) was calculated for vegetated stands according to Dinauer and Mucci (2017), as the deviation of oxygen from an O₂ concentration in equilibrium with the atmosphere.

Seasonal Nutrients and Carbon Budget

Together with seasonal samplings, plant harvesting was carried out for biomass measurements. An additional winter sample was



taken in February 2014 (n = 7), in order to obtain a winter value for growth rate calculations. Samples were always collected by the same operator to minimize the sources of error (Johnson and Newman, 2011), using a telescopic rake (ground sampling area = 0.28 m²). The plants were kept cold, transported fresh to the laboratory in opaque bags and transferred to waterfilled containers until the moment of measurement, in order to facilitate their handling. In laboratory, the dry weight (g_{DW}) was determined after 72 h at 70°C and expressed as total biomass (below + aboveground biomass, g_{DW} m⁻²). Number of shoots was counted for obtaining a shoot density (shoots m⁻²).

The gross growth rate (GGR, expressed as $g_{DW} g_{DW}^{-1} d^{-1}$) was calculated as follows:

GGR = NGR + abs(DR)

where NGR is the net growth rate $(g_{DW} g_{DW}^{-1} d^{-1})$, measured at different temperatures for *Egeria* spp. by Haramoto and Ikusima (1988) and Tavechio and Thomaz (2003) corresponding to a value of 0.020, 0.050, 0.030, and 0.005 $g_{DW} g_{DW}^{-1} d^{-1}$, for spring, summer, autumn, and winter, respectively. DR is the biomass decay rate $(g_{DW} g_{DW}^{-1} d^{-1})$, measured at different seasons for *Egeria* spp. by Carvalho et al. (2005), Carrillo et al. (2006), and Suzuki et al. (2015), corresponding to a value of 0.016, 0.045, 0.036, and 0.014 $g_{DW} g_{DW}^{-1} d^{-1}$, for spring, summer, autumn, and winter, respectively.

The GGR, NGR, and DR obtained for each sampling site and season were multiplied by the biomass measured in the same site and season, in order to obtain a daily gross primary production (GPP, $g_{DW} m^{-2}d^{-1}$), a daily net primary production (NPP, $g_{DW} m^{-2}d^{-1}$) and a daily decomposition (DD, $g_{DW} m^{-2}d^{-1}$). Each seasonal value (averaged from n = 15sites) was then multiplied by 90 days (corresponding to one season of 3 months) and then summed in order to obtain an annual estimation. Further, weight production/decomposition was converted into nutrients uptake/loss rates, by using an average content of 0.360 g C g_{DW}^{-1} , 0.015 g N g_{DW}^{-1} and 0.003 g P g_{DW}^{-1} in the plant tissue (Carvalho et al., 2005; Yarrow et al., 2009; Suzuki et al., 2015). In this way, we obtained an estimation of the amount of carbon and nutrients fixed/loss annually into/from biomass at the local and at the lake scale by considering a total surface covered by plants of 1.19 km².

Starting from the surface gas concentrations and local wind speed, CO_2 and CH_4 diffusive fluxes at the water–air interface were calculated, following the two-layer model proposed by Liss and Slater (1974). Diffusive fluxes at the water–air interface (*F*) were calculated as follows:

$$F = k \times (C_{\text{meas}} - C_{\text{eq}})$$

where C_{meas} is the gas concentration measured in the surface sample expressed as mg C L⁻¹, C_{eq} is the gas concentration in surface sample in equilibrium with the atmosphere (calculated in function of the temperature from Henry's law – Sander, 1999) and k is the gas transfer velocity constant (cm h⁻¹). Gas transfer velocity varies in function of turbulence at the waterair interface, which is mostly generated by winds in lakes (Repo et al., 2007; Cole et al., 2010). Gas transfer velocity was calculated using the average wind speed of 3.5 m s⁻¹ measured over Plant × Season ×

Depth

1, 56

	рН		Temperature		0 ₂		CO2		CH ₄	
Source	df, residuals	p	df, residuals	p	df, residuals	р	df, residuals	p	df, residuals	p
Plant presence	1, 31	0.0596	1, 31	0.0018	1, 31	<0.001	1, 28	<0.001	1, 26	0.0847
Sampling depth	1, 305	< 0.001	1,305	0.6804	1, 478	< 0.001	1, 437	< 0.001	1, 471	< 0.001
Season	1, 305	< 0.001	1,305	< 0.001	1, 478	< 0.001	1, 437	< 0.001	1, 471	0.0550
Plant \times Depth	1, 305	< 0.001	1,305	0.4911	1, 478	< 0.001	1, 437	< 0.001	1,471	0.0130
Season × Depth	1, 305	< 0.001	1,305	< 0.001	1, 478	0.1675	1, 437	0.9790	1,471	0.3187
$Plant \times Season$	1, 305	< 0.001	1,305	0.1870	1, 478	< 0.001	1, 437	0.0312	1,471	0.6093
Plant × Season × Depth	1, 305	<0.001	1, 305	0.2377	1, 478	0.9595	1, 437	0.9122	1, 471	0.7920
	NH ₄ +		NO ₃ -		DOC		TN		ТР	
	df, residuals	p	df, residuals	p	df, residuals	р	df, residuals	p	df, residuals	p
Plant presence	1, 31	0.4659	1, 31	0.0082	1, 26	<0.001	1,12	-	1, 12	_
Sampling depth	1, 538	< 0.001	1,519	0.0052	1, 216	0.0667	1, 56	0.0497	1, 56	0.4002
Season	1, 538	< 0.001	1,519	< 0.001	1, 216	0.0045	1,56	< 0.001	1, 56	0.0141
Plant \times Depth	1, 538	0.0046	1,519	0.9777	1, 216	0.1326	1, 56	-	1, 56	-
Season × Depth	1, 538	0.0287	1,519	< 0.001	1, 216	0.9738	1, 56	0.4862	1, 56	0.6519
Plant × Season	1, 538	0.0220	1, 519	< 0.001	1, 216	< 0.001	1, 56	_	1, 56	_

1,216

0.8363

TABLE 1 | Summarized results of the three-way ANOVA on physicochemical parameters (plant presence, season, and sampling depth as fixed factors; sampling site as random factor). For TN and TP only, a two-way ANOVA was performed (season and sampling depth as fixed factors; sampling site as random factor).

the lake at all seasons (Bertrin et al., 2017) and the equation of Crusius and Wanninkhof (2003). Fluxes were calculated for CO_2 and CH_4 and then summed for obtaining a total carbon flux: *F* was then expressed as mg C m⁻²h⁻¹. Calculated fluxes were thus diffusive and did not account for ebullition processes; in our study, CO_2 and CH_4 diffusive fluxes merely served to

0.0871

1,519

0.1509

1,538

compare the dynamics of C with and without plants. Hourly fluxes were averaged and upscaled for each sampling season (90 days each), and then summed to obtain a budget for the growing season of the plants (March to November). Finally, fluxes calculated for vegetated stands were upscaled to the lake's surface covered by invasive plants (1.19 km²), while fluxes calculated in

1,56





plant-free areas were upscaled to the unvegetated lake's surface (15.01 $\rm km^2).$

Statistical Analyses

We tested the influence of the presence/absence of dense vegetated stands on the biogeochemistry of the water column

by a three-way ANOVA. The presence/absence of vegetated stands (*Plant presence*, two levels: vegetated vs. plant-free areas), season (*Season*, three levels: spring vs. summer vs. autumn) and sampling depth (*Depth*, two levels: surface vs. bottom) were considered as fixed factors, while sampling site (*Site*, 29 levels) was considered as a random factor. When checking



for analysis of variance assumptions, we found that almost every physicochemical parameter was not normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk test for normality assumption). Nevertheless, considered the width of the dataset and that homogeneity of variances was always attained (Levene's test for homoscedasticity assumption), we decided not to apply any data transformation. *Post hoc* analyses were performed by Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test.

In order to test the correlation between physicochemical parameters, linear regressions and Pearson correlation coefficients were performed. Statistical analyses were performed with R Program (R – Development Core Team 2018). Mean values are reported with their standard deviation.

RESULTS

Seasonal Vertical Stratification

Water temperature measured in vegetated stands was significantly lower than that measured in plant-free areas irrespective of the season (annual mean 18.7 \pm 4.4 and 20.0 \pm 4.3°C, for vegetated and plant-free areas, respectively). At both vegetated and plant-free areas, water temperature varied seasonally (summer higher than spring and autumn; HSD test, p < 0.001) (**Figure 2** and **Table 1**). The vegetated stands were thermally stratified in summer (surface warmer than bottom;

HSD test, p < 0.001), contrary to plant-free sites, which were never stratified. pH differences between vegetated and plant-free sites depended upon the season and the depth (**Figure 2**). At plant-free areas, differences between surface and bottom were significant only during summer (HSD test, p < 0.001), unlike vegetated stands, where the water column was stratified all year around.

Dissolved oxygen and carbon dioxide significantly varied according to the sampling depth and the season at vegetated sites (Table 1; HSD test, p < 0.001), whereas in plant-free areas values were constant along the year and homogenous in the water column (Figures 3, 4; HSD test, p < 0.001). At plant-free sites, O_2 averaged 97 \pm 17% and CO_2 averaged 945 \pm 65 ppmv. At vegetated sites, CO₂ was generally much above 400 ppmv and presented significantly higher values than plant-free sites (**Figures 3**, **4**; HSD test, p < 0.001). The bottom of the vegetated stands was generally undersaturated: often hypoxic (<50%) and frequently below <20%. Average O₂ values measured at the surface of vegetated stands were <100% in spring and autumn, while in summer they were >100%. In this season, CO₂ values measured at the surface of vegetated stands averaged 228 \pm 39 ppmv and reached very low values (down to 8 ppmv). At vegetated stands, DIC mean values were of 0.8 \pm 0.4, 0.6 \pm 0.4, and 0.8 \pm 0.3 mM (surface+bottom pooled data) for spring, summer, and autumn, respectively. At plant-free areas, DIC mean values were of 0.4 \pm 0.3,



FIGURE 6 Scatter plots of O₂ and CO₂ (Left), CH₄ (Middle), and NH₄⁺ (Right) measured at the bottom of the vegetated and plant-free areas (seasonal data pooled). Regressions are calculated through a linear model for CO₂, and through an exponential model for CH₄ and NH₄⁺. *n.s.* indicates a not significant relationship.



reflected in negative values. The graphical representation takes inspiration on Dinauer and Mucci (2017).

0.5 \pm 0.1, and 0.4 \pm 0.1 mM for spring, summer, and autumn, respectively.

CH₄ values did not vary seasonally at vegetated neither at plant-free areas (**Figures 3**, **4** and **Table 1**); at vegetated stands, the water column was significantly stratified for CH₄, with mean values of 1.92 \pm 0.91 μ M (from 0.05 to 38.7 μ M) and 13.71 \pm 31.97 μ M (from 0.05 to 227 μ M), measured at the surface and at the bottom, respectively (HSD test, *p* < 0.001). At the bottom of vegetated stands, values were significantly higher values than at the bottom of plant-free sites (HSD test, *p* < 0.001), where CH₄ averaged 0.20 \pm 0.06 μ M and 0.19 \pm 0.05 μ M, for the surface and the bottom, respectively. Overall, values at plant-free sites were comprised between 0.05 and 0.67 μ M.

Dissolved inorganic nitrogen varied seasonally, with NO_3^- declining from spring to autumn, at both vegetated and plantfree areas. Values were significantly higher at vegetated sites; nevertheless, no stratification of the water column was detected (Figures 3, 5 and Table 1). At vegetated stands, NO₃⁻ values averaged 78.1 \pm 51.1, 19.5 \pm 14.0, and 2.5 \pm 1.7 μM (surface + bottom pooled data) for spring, summer, and autumn, respectively. At plant-free sites, NO₃⁻ values averaged 20.0 \pm 17.8, 16.4 \pm 20.0, and 0.8 \pm 1.2 μM (surface + bottom pooled data) for spring, summer, and autumn, respectively. NH4⁺ values varied seasonally at both vegetated and plantfree sites, with a marked stratification in the vegetated water column (Figures 3, 5 and Table 1). Here, surface values were comprised between 0.01 and 12.7 μ M (mean 2.7 \pm 0.6 μ M), while bottom values were comprised between 0.01 and 86.9 μ M (mean 7.0 \pm 4.3 μ M). At plant-free sites, values ranged from 0.1 to 11.5 μ M (mean 3.4 \pm 0.5 μ M) and from 0.1 to 12.0 μ M (mean 3.2 \pm 0.4 μ M), at the surface and at the bottom, respectively.

TABLE 2 | Dissolved organic carbon (DOC), total nitrogen (TN), and total phosphorus (TP) measured along different seasons in vegetated stands and plant-free areas at the surface and at the bottom of the water column (mean \pm SD).

		Vege	tated	Plant-free			
		Surface	Bottom	Surface	Bottom		
DOC (mg L ⁻¹)	Spring	12.3 ± 0.3	12.4 ± 0.5	14.2 ± 1.6	14.9 ± 0.9		
	Summer	13.2 ± 0.4	13.1 ± 0.4	13.9 ± 0.9	14.4 ± 0.9		
	Autumn	13.5 ± 0.5	13.6 ± 0.7	13.4 ± 0.8	13.8 ± 1.2		
TN (mg L^{-1})	Spring	0.7 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2	0.6 ± 0.2	-		
	Summer	0.5 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.3	0.6 ± 0.1	-		
	Autumn	1.1 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.5	1.2 ± 0.4	-		
TP (mg L^{-1})	Spring	0.06 ± 0.07	0.06 ± 0.06	0.02 ± 0.01	-		
	Summer	0.06 ± 0.04	0.07 ± 0.03	0.02 ± 0.01	-		
	Autumn	0.08 ± 0.09	0.12 ± 0.06	0.06 ± 0.04	-		

In general, CO₂, CH₄, and NH₄⁺ concentrations at the bottom layer of the water column were inversely dependent on O₂ values for vegetated stands (Figure 6), whereas their relationship was never significant for values measured at the surface. In vegetated stands, AOU at the surface ranged from -0.10 (summer) to 0.20 mM (autumn), with mean values comprised between -0.01 ± 0.03 and 0.5 ± 0.5 mM, measured in summer and autumn, respectively. At the bottom, values were comprised between -0.13 (summer) and 0.33 mM (spring), with mean values ranging from 0.02 \pm 0.09 to 0.11 \pm 0.09 mM, measured in summer and spring, respectively. eDIC at the surface ranged from -0.01 (summer and spring) to 0.52 mM (autumn), with mean values comprised between 0.00 ± 0.02 and 0.17 ± 0.17 mM, measured in summer and spring, respectively. At the bottom, eDIC values ranged between -0.01 (summer and autumn) to 1.78 mM (spring), with mean values ranging from 0.19 \pm 0.23 and 0.38 \pm 0.35 mM, measured in summer and spring, respectively. The relationship between AOU and eDIC in vegetated stands (Figure 7), evidenced a prevalence of respiration processes at the bottom all year round, while photosynthesis was prevailing during summer at the surface of colonized areas.

For DOC, TN, and TP, values varied seasonally, with no significant differences between surface and bottom values (**Tables 1, 2**). At vegetated stands, DOC values were significantly lower than those measured at plant-free sites at all seasons except in autumn (HSD test, p < 0.001).

Seasonal Nutrients and Carbon Budget

In vegetated stands, the height of the vegetation and the relative proportion of occupation in the water column varied according to the season (one-way ANOVA, p < 0.001, $F_{2,22}$), with relatively short stems in winter and spring, when plants occupied about 44% of the water depth (**Figure 3**), which turned longer and thicker in summer and autumn (56 and 52% of the water depth). In some cases, the vegetated stands occupied 80% of the water column height; shoot density varied between 22 ± 17 to 407 ± 475 shoots m⁻², measured in winter and summer, respectively.

Vegetated stands were mainly constituted by *Egeria densa* (at least 80% of the biomass at each station), whereas *Lagarosiphon major* occurred only in few stations with a much lower biomass. Biomass values, as well as GPP, DD, and NPP, varied seasonally at all stations, with a marked increase in summer and autumn compared to spring and winter (**Table 3A**). Biomass ranged from 46 to 1339 g_{DW} m⁻², measured in winter and summer, respectively. When transforming GPP, DD, and NPP in nutrients uptake, loss, and fixation, respectively, we can estimate that dense vegetated stands fix a positive amount of nutrients, on an annual scale (**Table 3B**). When upscaling those values to the vegetated areas within the lake, on an annual basis, we can estimate that vegetated stands fix 2319 ± 1196 tons C year⁻¹, 97 ± 50 tons N year⁻¹ and 19 ± 10 tons P year⁻¹ during their growth.

Coherently with concentrations measured at the surface of the water column, diffusive carbon fluxes calculated at the waterair interface followed a seasonal pattern (Figure 8). At vegetated stands, the highest values were recorded in spring (2.3 \pm 2.4 mg $C m^{-2} d^{-1}$) and the lowest in summer ($0.2 \pm 0.8 mg C m^{-2} d^{-1}$); at plant-free sites, the highest value was recorded in spring $(0.6 \pm 0.7 \text{ mg C m}^{-2} \text{d}^{-1})$ and the lowest in autumn $(0.2 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg})$ $C m^{-2} d^{-1}$). During 1 year, at the scale of the growing season of the plants (March to November) we can estimate that vegetated stands release 332 ± 417 mg C m⁻², while plant-free areas release 108 ± 94 mg C m⁻². At both vegetated and plant-free sites, the major contribution to diffusive fluxes carbon is given by CO₂ and, only in a minor part, by CH₄. When upscaling to the lake scale, we can estimate that dense vegetated stands emit 396 \pm 489 kg C per growing season, whereas plant-free areas emit, in the same period, an estimated amount of 1622 ± 1403 kg C.

DISCUSSION

Biogeochemical Functioning in Invasive Macrophyte Stands

The first evidence of our study is that the presence of a massive biomass development of invasive plants generates the stratification of the water column. The thermal and chemical stratification of the water column has been reported in a few studies concerning other submerged aquatic vegetation (Mazzeo et al., 2003; Andersen et al., 2017). Vilas et al. (2017) found that water stratification due to extensive colonization of Potamogeton crispus started when plants occupied more than 50% of the water column, which is a value that is overpassed in most of our samplings. Nevertheless, the variability measured within our dataset could be given by episodic wind events disturbance on sediment resuspension and water mixing. Conversely, water stagnation and related extreme values can be attributable to prolonged and extremely calm weather conditions (Søndergaard et al., 1992; Gale et al., 2006). Water stratification/mixing is also dependent on the biomass degree and stand ages of the sites, which can present a variable quantity of organic matter buildup in the sediment and thus influence the degree of respiration and consumption of oxygen (Boros et al., 2011).

The stratification of dissolved oxygen has important cascade effects on the local biogeochemistry, and in particular on

TABLE 3 | (A) Total biomass (measured), gross primary production, decomposition, and net primary production (estimated) for vegetated stands of *E. densa* and *L. major* at different seasons. (B) Nutrients mobilization (uptake, calculated from GPP; loss, calculated from DD; fixation, calculated from NPP) within dense mats of *E. densa* and *L. major* at stand and lake scales.

(A)	Total biomass	GPP	DD	NPP g _{DW} m ⁻² d ⁻¹	
	g _{DW} m ⁻²	$g_{DW} m^{-2} d^{-1}$	$g_{DW} m^{-2} d^{-1}$		
Spring	319 ± 245	11.7 ± 5.2	-5.2 ± 2.3	6.5 ± 2.9	
Summer	668 ± 414	76.5 ± 38.7	-32.8 ± 16.6	36.4 ± 18.4	
Autumn	567 ± 537	36.9 ± 26.2	-20.1 ± 14.3	16.8 ± 11.9	
Winter	87 ± 50	1.6 ± 1.0	-1.2 ± 0.7	0.4 ± 0.3	
(B)		Carbon	Nitrogen	Phosphorus	
		g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	g N m ⁻² year ⁻¹	g P m ⁻² year ⁻¹	
Stand scale	Uptake	4105 ± 2125	171 ± 89	34 ± 18	
	Loss	-1920 ± 1007	-80 ± 42	-16 ± 8	
	Fixation	1949 ± 1005	81 ± 42	16 ± 8	
		tons C year ⁻¹	tons N year ⁻¹	tons P year ⁻¹	
Lake scale	Uptake	4885 ± 2528	204 ± 105	41 ± 21	
	Loss	-2285 ± 1198	-95 ± 50	-19 ± 10	
	Fixation	2319 ± 1196	97 ± 50	19 ± 10	

the dynamics of carbon and nitrogen. In the dark bottom of the water column, under a thick layer of stems, plants respiration is not compensated by an equivalent oxygen release (Tavechio and Thomaz, 2003). The elevated heterotrophic respiration rates, filled up by the availability of labile dead biomass, generate here important amounts of DIC. This carbon is diffused to the water column surface, where it can be emitted toward the atmosphere as CO₂. This process appears to be connected to the seasonal variations in net primary production and biomass decomposition of the plants. Indeed, unlike the plant-free areas, carbon emissions from vegetated stands are accentuated in spring and autumn, and much lower



and plant-free areas.

in summer. Coherently, the negative eDIC values measured in summer in the euphotic layer above the canopy indicate that this carbon is likely re-utilized by photosynthesis and only partially diffused toward the surface and then toward the atmosphere. In summer, the CO_2 undersaturation measured at the surface indicates indeed a complete sequestration of CO_2 in the water column. This is typical of freshwater systems where the biogeochemical functioning is seasonally determined by the ecophysiology of dense macrophyte mats (Bowes et al., 1979; Wang et al., 2006; Pierobon et al., 2010).

The quantity of DIC present in the whole water column is just satisfactory to support the daily primary production of the plants. Indeed, in summer, plants present a NPP of $36.4 \pm 18.4 \text{ g}_{DW} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{d}^{-1}$, which corresponds to a fixation of 13.1 \pm 6.6 g C m⁻²d⁻¹. If we consider the mean value of 0.6 \pm 0.4 mM DIC measured in summer for the whole water column, for a fixed volume of water having a base of 1 m² and an average height of 2.8 \pm 0.4 m, we can estimate that the water column contains about 20 g C. This quantity is likely entirely consumed in a day by the plants in summer, as the carbon loop constituted by respiration-uptake is very fast and relates of an efficient coupling between bacterial nutrients regeneration and assimilation by plant shoots. Thus, the bottom part of the water column acts as a source of carbon, whereas the canopy of plants at the surface acts as a sink. In spring and autumn, the lower NPP do not allow the sequestration of the whole DIC generated from the organic matter degradation. This approximation is confirmed by the eDIC values, indicating the prevalence of respiration processes in the bottom of the vegetated water column all over the year, and in spring and autumn also at the surface.

The oxygen consumption and the settlement of hypoxic/anoxic conditions favor the production and buildup of methane and ammonium. Methanogenic bacteria develop thanks to the availability of dissolved organic matter (DOM) derived from the decomposition of decaying biomass (Zhang et al., 2018). A part of this methane is possibly consumed by aerobic methanotrophy within the canopy of the plants near the surface (Yoshida et al., 2014). However, a large amount of CH₄ is diffused toward the surface of the water column, that contributing to carbon emissions from the vegetated stands. Nevertheless, calculated carbon diffusive fluxes are much lower than those measured in other systems colonized by floating-leaved invasive plants (Pierobon et al., 2010; Ribaudo et al., 2012; Oliveira-Junior et al., 2018). That confirms that, despite the elevated concentrations measured at the bottom of the water column, the CH₄ oxidation and the CO₂ uptake within submerged-leaved plants can significantly reduce the net effect on carbon emissions. Under hypoxic and anoxic conditions, the nitrification process is limited (Seitzinger, 1988), so that NH_4^+ accumulates in the lower layer of water column. As in the case of CO₂, during summer, NH₄⁺ can be efficiently taken up by dense vegetation. Indeed, a mean value of 6 \pm 13 μM $NH_4{}^+$ measured for the whole water column, corresponds to a quantity of about 0.22 g N for a water column of 2.8 \pm 0.4 m high. This quantity is completely

depleted by primary production, as the corresponding NPP in summer is of $36.4 \pm 18.4 \text{ g}_{\text{DW}} \text{ m}^{-2}\text{d}^{-1}$, and thus is equivalent to a fixation of $0.5 \pm 0.3 \text{ g} \text{ N} \text{ m}^{-2}\text{d}^{-1}$. Inversely, in spring and autumn, the dissolved nitrogen regenerated from decomposition cannot be wholly exhausted by fixation into biomass.

Biogeochemical Processes From Local to Lake Scale

Invasive species are known to colonize new areas thanks to peculiar ecophysiological adaptations, such as fast growth rates and phenotypic plasticity, and to the availability of resources and space (Riis et al., 2010; Gillard et al., 2017). As pristine conditions, the lake investigated in this study is characterized by low concentrations of phosphorus and nitrogen (Cellamare et al., 2012): furthermore, the total nutrients discharge from the watershed has been reduced during the past decades thanks to the management of rural activities (Buquet et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the extended photoperiod and mild temperatures characterizing the region, coupled to the availability of space and the absence of other canopy-forming hydrophytes, constitute a very favorable unsaturated ecological niche for aquatic weeds to spread. The settlement of invasive hydrophytes in originally oligo-mesotrophic systems is reported elsewhere (Nagasaka, 2004; Mjelde et al., 2012; Bolpagni et al., 2015), that contrasting with the general tendency of the establishment of invasive plants in meso-eutrophic freshwaters (Kelly and Hawes, 2005; Hussner et al., 2009). Our study shows that the presence of such a massive area of primary production and biomass decomposition affects the carbon budget of the whole lake. Indeed, if we extend the carbon diffusive fluxes calculated for vegetated and plant-free areas to their correspondent surface area (1.19 and 15.01 km², respectively), it results that, during their vegetative growth, plant stands release three fold more C per surface area than plant-free sites. Although they cover only 7% of the lake area, plant stands contribute to 20% of the lake carbon emissions and constitute a hotspot of carbon release (Wang et al., 2006). On the opposite, in Lacanau Lake, dense beds formed by aquatic weeds could be responsible for the storage of a part of the nutrients incoming the lake from the catchment area (Reddy et al., 1987; Søndergaard et al., 2003). During the year 2014, the total mass balance of the lake (including inputs from the watershed and the unvegetated sediments) results in a net storage of 67 tons N year⁻¹ and 0.16 tons P year⁻¹ within the lake (Buquet et al., 2017). We here estimate that invasive vegetated stands require more than 200 tons N year⁻¹ and 40 tons P year⁻¹ for their gross primary production, but this quantity is not available in the lake, neither coming from the watershed, neither originating from benthic fluxes in unvegetated areas (Buquet et al., 2017). Concomitantly, the fast renewal (NPP) and decay (DD) of biomass result in the almost total reutilization of the nutrients regenerated from the sediment, and in a small part of nutrients stocked in the sediment, through sediment accretion. In correspondence with vegetated stands, we observe indeed an accumulation of low-density, highly organic fluffy sediments

(Bertrin et al., 2017). The predominance of recycled sedimentary N and P is well known in marine systems for seagrasses growth (Bartoli et al., 1996; Deborde et al., 2008). Carvalho et al. (2005) suggest that due to the rapid decomposition of *Egeria* spp. at high temperatures, a very small exportation of nutrients is expected from its stands to distant regions of the lake. Effectively, DOC measured in vegetated stands being lower than those of plantfree areas, we can expect that a process of priming effect boosts benthic bacterial communities, fueled by the continuous supply of fresh labile plant material, and rapidly degrading organic matter to inorganic compounds (Findlay et al., 1986; Marion and Paillisson, 2003). Bini et al. (2010) also commented that, in dense Egeria spp. vegetated stands, the nutrients regeneration is ephemeral, temporally limited to the vegetative growth of the plants, and spatially restricted to the areas of the lake that are colonized. Our results show that effectively, in summer, this could be the case. Nevertheless, the seasonal investigation performed on water chemistry shows an excess of nutrients during the seasons of slow plant growth. Especially in spring, when nutrients regeneration is elevated and not fully compensated by fixation into biomass, the nutrients export from vegetated to plant-free areas could be possible thanks to a low shoot density allowing the water circulation during strong wind events (Losee and Wetzel, 1993; James and Barko, 1994; Bertrin et al., 2017). In addition, according to the elevated concentrations of TN and TP measured in autumn, fresh organic matter deposition, reduced light and dynamic redox conditions in plant stands would make these areas potential temporary sources of available P for phytoplankton in plant-free areas (Buquet et al., 2017). Unfortunately, the sampling strategy adopted in this study was not designed for, from a spatial and a temporal point of view, detecting any diffusive gradient of nutrients between the vegetated stands and unvegetated areas. Moreover, investigations focusing on the sediments underlying the plants are needed to complete the current knowledge.

CONCLUSION

In this study, we show that, once settled, *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major* are able to act as ecological engineers and modify the sites they colonize, by keeping a not-limiting nutrients level along the year, thanks to the formation of dense stands where a constant production of labile organic matter stimulates the microbial loop. We here show that in vegetated areas of the

REFERENCES

- Abril, G., Bouillon, S., Darchambeau, F., Teodoru, C. R., Marwick, T. R., Tamooh, F., et al. (2015). Technical note: large overestimation of pCO2 calculated from pH and alkalinity in acidic, organic-rich freshwaters. *Biogeosciences* 12, 67–78. doi: 10.5194/bg-12-67-2015
- Abril, G., Etcheber, H., Borges, A. V., and Frankignoulle, M. (2000). Excess atmospheric carbon dioxide transported by rivers into the scheldt estuary. C. R. Acad. Sci. IIa. Earth Planet. Sci. 330, 761–768. doi: 10.1016/S1251-8050(00) 00231-7
- Andersen, M. R., Kragh, T., and Sand-Jensen, K. (2017). Extreme diel dissolved oxygen and carbon cycles in shallow vegetated lakes. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 284:20171427. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.1427

lake, the whole nutrients level is generally higher than in the rest of the lake, that seasonal fluctuations of oxygen and carbon are intensified and that an impact on the whole-lake ecosystem functioning is possible.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CR, VB, GA, PA, and JT-R conceived and designed the research project. CR, GJ, AJ, and DB collected the field data. All the co-authors commented on and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was funded by AEAG (Agence de l'Eau Adour-Garonne), within the conventions #310330122, #310330085, and #310330109, by Irstea (Institut National de Recherche en Sciences et Technologies pour l'Environnement et l'Agriculture), by the Regional Council Nouvelle-Aquitaine (CCRRDT) and by the Regional Research and Development Program (PSDR) within the project AquaVIT and by Université de Bordeaux – CNRS UMR 5805.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank A. Dutartre for supporting this study. We are also grateful to M. Eon, B. Delest, A. Moreira, and K. Madarassou for nutrients analyses. D. Poirier, J.-L. Keller, S. Moreira, T. Huguet, G. Ducasse, H. Guerreiro, J. Chabanne, J. Vedrenne, I. Halgand, R. Le Barh, J. Gueguen, N. Dagens, Y. Bourguignon, T. Leboucher, C. Assailly, and L. Percaille considerably helped during field and laboratory activities and we sincerely acknowledge them.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2018.01781/ full#supplementary-material

APPENDIX 1 Dates and hours of sampling at different sites of the Lacanau Lake. The complete physicochemical database is reported.

- Bartoli, M., Cattadori, M., Giordani, G., and Viaroli, P. (1996). Benthic oxygen respiration, ammonium and phosphorus regeneration in surficial sediments of the sacca di goro (Northern Italy) and two French coastal lagoons: a comparative study. *Hydrobiologia* 329, 143–159. doi: 10.1007/ BF00034554
- Bertrin, V., Boutry, S., Alard, D., Haury, J., Jan, G., Moreira, S., et al. (2018). Prediction of macrophyte distribution: the role of natural versus anthropogenic physical disturbances. *Appl. Veg. Sci.* 21, 395–410. doi: 10.1111/ avsc.12378
- Bertrin, V., Boutry, S., Jan, G., Ducasse, G., Grigoletto, F., and Ribaudo, C. (2017). Effects of wind-induced sediment resuspension on distribution and morphological traits of aquatic weeds in shallow lakes. *J. Limnol.* 76, 84–96. doi: 10.4081/jlimnol.2017.1678

- Bianchini, I. Jr., Cunha-Santino, M. B., and Peret, A. M. (2008). Oxygen demand during mineralization of aquatic macrophytes from an oxbow lake. *Braz. J. Biol.* 68, 61–67. doi: 10.1590/S1519-69842008000100009
- Bini, L. M., Thomaz, S. M., and Carvalho, P. (2010). Limnological effects of *Egeria* najas planchon (Hydrocharitaceae) in the arms of Itaipu Reservoir (Brazil, Paraguay). *Limnology* 11, 39–47. doi: 10.1007/s10201-009-0286-4
- Bolpagni, R., Laini, A., Soana, E., Tomaselli, M., and Nascimbene, J. (2015). Growth performance of *Vallisneria spiralis* under oligotrophic conditions supports its potential invasiveness in mid-elevation freshwaters. *Weed Res.* 55, 185–194. doi: 10.1111/wre.12128
- Boros, G., Søndergaard, M., Takács, P., Vári, Á., and Tátrai, I. (2011). Influence of submerged macrophytes, temperature, and nutrient loading on the development of redox potential around the sediment–water interface in lakes. *Hydrobiology* 665, 117–127. doi: 10.1007/s10750-011-0609-4
- Bowes, G., Holaday, A. S., and Haller, W. T. (1979). Seasonal variation in the biomass, tuber density and photosynthetic metabolism of hydrilla in three Florida lakes. J. Aquat. Plant Manag. 17, 61–65.
- Buquet, D., Anschutz, P., Charbonnier, C., Rapin, A., Sinays, R., Canredon, A., et al. (2017). Nutrient sequestration in Aquitaine lakes (SW France) limits nutrient flux to the coastal zone. *J. Sea Res.* 130, 24–35. doi: 10.1016/j.seares. 2017.04.006
- Carrillo, Y., Guarín, A., and Guillot, G. (2006). Biomass distribution, growth and decay of *Egeria densa* in a tropical high-mountain reservoir (NEUSA, Colombia). *Aquat. Bot.* 85, 7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2006.01.006
- Carvalho, P., Thomaz, S. M., and Bini, L. M. (2005). Effects of temperature on decomposition of a potential nuisance species: the submerged aquatic macrophyte *Egeria najas* planchom (Hydrocharitaceae). *Braz. J. Biol.* 65, 51–60. doi: 10.1590/S1519-69842005000100008
- Cellamare, M., Morin, S., Coste, M., and Haury, J. (2012). Ecological assessment of French Atlantic lakes based on phytoplankton, phytobenthos and macrophytes. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 184, 685–708. doi: 10.1007/s10661-011-2295-0
- Cole, J. J., Bade, D. L., Bastviken, D., Pace, M. L., and Van de Bogert, M. (2010). Multiple approaches to estimating air-water gas exchange in small lakes. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Meth.* 8, 285–293. doi: 10.4319/lom.2010.8.285
- Crooks, J. A. (2002). Characterizing ecosystem-level consequences of biological invasions: the role of ecosystem engineers. *Oikos* 97, 153–166. doi: 10.1034/j. 1600-0706.2002.970201.x
- Crusius, J., and Wanninkhof, R. (2003). Gas transfer velocities measured at low wind speed over a lake. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 48, 1010–1017. doi: 10.4319/lo.2003. 48.3.1010
- Deborde, J., Abril, G., Mouret, A., Jézéquel, D., Thouzeau, G., Clavier, J., et al. (2008). Effects of seasonal dynamics in a *Zostera noltii* meadow on phosphorus and iron cycles in a tidal mudflat (Arcachon Bay, France). *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 355, 59–71. doi: 10.3354/meps07254
- Dinauer, A., and Mucci, A. (2017). Spatial variability in surface-water pCO2 and gas exchange in the world's largest semi-enclosed estuarine system: st. Lawrence Estuary (Canada). *Biogeosciences* 14, 3221–3237. doi: 10.5194/bg-14-3221-2017
- Findlay, S., Carlough, L., Crocker, M. T., Gill, H. K., Meyer, J. L., and Smith, P. J. (1986). Bacterial growth on macrophyte leachate and fate of bacterial production. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 31, 1335–1341. doi: 10.4319/lo. 1986.31.6.1335
- François, Y. (1948). Recherches sur l'hydrobiologie piscicole des étangs des landes -L'étang de lacanau. Annales de la Station Centrale d'Hydrobiologie Appliquée 160, 129–142.
- Gale, E., Pattiaratchi, C., and Ranasinghe, R. (2006). Vertical mixing processes in intermittently closed and open lakes and lagoons, and the dissolved oxygen response. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 69, 205–216. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2006.04.013
- Gillard, M., Thiébaut, G., Deleu, C., and Leroy, B. (2017). Present and future distribution of three aquatic plants taxa across the world: decrease in native and increase in invasive ranges. *Biol. Invasions* 19, 2159–2170. doi: 10.1007/s10530-017-1428-y
- Haramoto, T., and Ikusima, I. (1988). Life cycle of *Egeria densa* planch., an aquatic plant naturalized in Japan. *Aquat. Bot.* 30, 389–403. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(88) 90070-8
- Havel, J. E., Kovalenko, K. E., Thomaz, S. M., Amalfitano, S., and Kats, L. B. (2015). Aquatic invasive species: challenges for the future. *Hydrobiology* 750, 147–170. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-2166-0

- Hussner, A., Van de Weyer, K., Gross, E., and Hilt, S. (2009). Comments on increasing number and abundance of non-indigenous aquatic macrophyte species in Germany. *Weed Res.* 50, 519–526. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2010. 00812.x
- James, W. F., and Barko, J. W. (1994). Macrophyte influences on sediment resuspension and export in a shallow impoundment. *Lake Res. Manag.* 10, 95–102. doi: 10.1080/07438149409354180
- Johnson, J. A., and Newman, R. M. (2011). Comparison of two methods for sampling biomass of aquatic plants. J. Aquat. Plant Manage. 49, 1–8.
- Kelly, D. J., and Hawes, I. (2005). Effects of invasive macrophytes on littoral-zone productivity and foodweb dynamics in a New Zealand high-country lake. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 24, 300–320. doi: 10.1899/03-097.1
- Liss, P. S., and Slater, P. G. (1974). Flux of gases across the air-sea interface. *Nature* 247, 181–184. doi: 10.1038/247181a0
- Losee, R. F., and Wetzel, R. C. (1993). Littoral flow rates within and around submersed macrophyte communities. *Freshw. Biol.* 29, 7–17. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-2427.1993.tb00739.x
- Madsen, J. D., Chambers, P. A., James, W. F., Koch, E. W., and Westlake, D. F. (2001). The interaction between water movement, sediment dynamics and submersed macrophytes. *Hydrobiology* 444, 71–84. doi: 10.1023/A: 1017520800568
- Marion, L., and Paillisson, J. M. (2003). A mass balance assessment of the contribution of floating-leaved macrophytes in nutrient stocks in an eutrophic macrophyte-dominated lake. *Aqut. Bot.* 75, 249–260. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3770(02)00177-8
- Mazzeo, N., Rodríguez-Gallego, L., Kruk, C., Meerhoff, M., Gorga, J., Lacerot, G., et al. (2003). Effects of *Egeria densa* Planch. beds on a shallow lake without piscivorous fish. *Hydrobiology* 506, 591–602. doi: 10.1023/B:HYDR. 0000008571.40893.77
- Mjelde, M., Lombardo, P., Berge, D., and Johansen, S. W. (2012). Mass invasion of non-native *Elodea canadensis* michx. in a large, clear-water, species-rich Norwegian lake – impact on macrophyte biodiversity. *Ann. Limnol. Int. J. Lim.* 48, 225–240. doi: 10.1051/limn/2012016
- Moreira, S., Laplace-Treyture, C., Eon, M., and Jan, G. (2015). Rapport D'activité du Suivi Scientifique des Plans D'eau de Carcans-Hourtin, Lacanau, Cazaux-Sanguinet et Parentis-Biscarrosse : Année 2015. Atibaia: CemOA, 106.
- Nagasaka, M. (2004). Changes in biomass and spatial distribution of *Elodea nuttalii* (Planch.) St. John, an invasive submerged plant, in oligomesotrophic Lake Kizaki from 1999 to 2002. *Limnology* 5, 129–139. doi: 10.1007/s10201-004-0129-2
- Oliveira-Junior, E. S., Tanga, Y., van den Berg, S. J. P., Cardoso, S. J., Lamers, L. P. M., and Kosten, S. (2018). The impact of water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) on greenhouse gas emission and nutrient mobilization depends on rooting and plant coverage. *Aquat. Bot.* 145, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2017. 11.005
- Pierobon, E., Bolpagni, R., Bartoli, M., and Viaroli, P. (2010). Net primary production and seasonal CO2 and CH4 fluxes in a *Trapa natans* L. meadow. *J. Limnol.* 69, 225–234. doi: 10.4081/jlimnol. 2010.225
- Racchetti, E., Bartoli, M., Ribaudo, C., Longhi, D., Brito, L. E. Q., Naldi, M., et al. (2010). Short term changes in pore water chemistry in river sediments during the early colonization by *Vallisneria spiralis*. *Hydrobiologia* 652, 127–137. doi: 10.1007/s10750-010-0324-6
- Reddy, K. R., Tucker, J. C., and DeBusk, W. F. (1987). The role of Egeria in removing nitrogen and phosphorus from nutrient enriched waters. *J. Aquat. Plant Manag.* 25, 14–19.
- Repo, E., Huttunen, J. T., Naumov, A. V., Chichulin, A. V., Lapshina, E. D., Bleuten, W., et al. (2007). Release of CO₂ and CH₄ from small wetland lakes in western Siberia. *Tellus B Chem. Phys. Meteorol.* 59, 788–796. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0889. 2007.00301.x
- Ribaudo, C., Bartoli, M., Longhi, D., Castaldi, S., Neubauer, S. C., and Viaroli, P. (2012). CO₂ and CH₂ fluxes across a *Nuphar lutea* (L.) Sm. stand. *J. Limnol.* 71, 200–210. doi: 10.4081/mnol.2012.e21
- Ribaudo, C., Bartoli, M., Racchetti, E., Longhi, D., and Viaroli, P. (2011). Seasonal fluxes of O2, DIC and CH4 in sediments with *Vallisneria spiralis*: indications for radial oxygen loss. *Aquat. Bot.* 94, 134–142. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot. 2011.01.003

- Ribaudo, C., Bertrin, V., Jan, G., Anschutz, P., and Abril, G. (2017). Benthic production, respiration and methane oxidation in *Lobelia dortmanna* lawns. *Hydrobiologia* 784, 21–34. doi: 10.1007/s10750-016-2 848-x
- Riis, T., Lambertini, C., Olesen, B., Clayton, J. S., Brix, H., and Sorrell, B. K. (2010). Invasion strategies in clonal aquatic plants: are phenotypic differences caused by phenotypic plasticity or local adaptation? *Ann. Bot.* 106, 813–822. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcq176
- Sander, R. (1999). Compilation of Henry's Law Constants for Inorganic and Organic Species of Potential Importance in Environmental Chemistry. Available at: http:// www.henrys-law.org/henry.pdf
- Seitzinger, S. P. (1988). Denitrification in freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems: ecological and geochemical significance. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 33, 702–724. doi: 10.4319/lo.1988.33.4part2.0702
- Søndergaard, M., Jensen, J. P., and Jeppesen, E. (2003). Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. *Hydrobiologia* 506, 135–145. doi: 10.1023/B:HYDR.0000008611.12704.dd
- Søndergaard, M., Kristensen, P., and Jeppesen, E. (1992). Phosphorus release from resuspended sediment in the shallow and wind-exposed Lake Arreso, Denmark. *Hydrobiologia* 228, 91–99. doi: 10.1007/ BF00006480
- Strayer, D. L. (2010). Alien species in fresh waters: ecological effects, interactions with other stressors, and prospects for the future. *Freshw. Biol.* 55, 152–174. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02380.x
- Suzuki, M. S., Fonseca, M. N., Esteves, B. S., and Chagas, G. G. (2015). Decomposition of *Egeria densa* planchon (Hydrocharitaceae) in a well oxygenated tropical aquatic ecosystem. *J. Limnol.* 74, 278–285.
- Tavechio, W. L. G., and Thomaz, S. M. (2003). Effects of light on the growth and photosynthesis of *Egeria najas* planchon. Braz. arch. *Biol. Technol.* 46, 203–209. doi: 10.1590/S1516-89132003000200011
- Urban, R. A., Titus, J. E., and Zhu, W.-X. (2006). An invasive macrophyte alters sediment chemistry due to suppression of a native isoetid. *Oecologia* 148, 455–463. doi: 10.1007/s00442-006-0393-4

- Vilas, M. P., Marti, C. L., Adams, M. P., Oldham, C. E., and Hipsey, M. R. (2017). Invasive macrophytes control the spatial and temporal patterns of temperature and dissolved oxygen in a shallow lake: a proposed feedback mechanism of macrophyte loss. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:2097. doi: 10.3389/fpls. 2017.02097
- Wang, H., Lu, J., Wang, W., Yang, L., and Yin, C. (2006). Methane fluxes from the littoral zone of hypereutrophic Taihu Lake, China. J. Geophys. Res. 111:D17109. doi: 10.1029/2005JD006864
- Wetzel, R. G. (1992). Wetlands as metabolic gates. J. Great Lakes Res. 18, 529–532. doi: 10.1016/S0380-1330(92)71320-3
- Yarrow, M., Marin, V. H., Finlayson, M., Tironi, A., Delgado, L. E., and Fischer, F. (2009). The ecology of *Egeria densa* planchon (Liliopsida: Alismatales): a wetland ecosystem engineer? revista chilena de historia natural. 82, 299–313.
- Yoshida, N., Iguchi, H., Yurimoto, H., Murakami, A., and Sakai, Y. (2014). Aquatic plant surface as a niche for methanotrophs. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:30. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2014.00030
- Zhang, L., Zhang, S., Lv, X., Qiu, Z., Zhang, Z., and Yan, L. (2018). Dissolved organic matter release in overlying water and bacterial community shifts in biofilm during the decomposition of *Myriophyllum verticillatum. Sci. Total Environ.* 633, 929–937. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.275

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Ribaudo, Tison-Rosebery, Buquet, Jan, Jamoneau, Abril, Anschutz and Bertrin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Aspects of Invasiveness of *Ludwigia* and *Nelumbo* in Shallow Temperate Fluvial Lakes

Viktor R. Tóth1*, Paolo Villa2*, Monica Pinardi2 and Mariano Bresciani2

¹ Balaton Limnological Institute, MTA Centre for Ecological Research, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Tihany, Hungary, ² Institute for Electromagnetic Sensing of the Environment, National Research Council, Milan, Italy

The relationship between invasive plant functional traits and their invasiveness is still the subject of scientific investigation, and the backgrounds of transition from non-native to invasive species in ecosystems are therefore poorly understood. Furthermore, our current knowledge on species invasiveness is heavily biased toward terrestrial species; we know much less about the influence of allochthonous plant traits on their invasiveness in aquatic ecosystems. In this paper, we present the results of a study on physiological and ecological traits of two introduced and three native macrophyte species in the Mantua lakes system (northern Italy). We compared their photophysiology, pigment content, leaf reflectance, and phenology in order to assess how the invasive Nelumbo nucifera and Ludwigia hexapetala perform compared to native species, Nuphar lutea, Nymphaea alba, and Trapa natans. We found L. hexapetala to have higher photosynthetic efficiency and to tolerate higher light intensities than N. nucifera and the native species especially at extreme weather conditions (prolonged exposure to high light and higher temperatures). Chlorophyll a and b, and carotenoids content of both allochthonous species were substantially higher than those of native plants, suggesting adaptive response to the ecosystem of Mantua lakes system. Higher variability of recorded data in invasive species was also observed. These observations suggest advanced photosynthetic efficiency of the invasive species, especially L. hexapetala, resulting in faster growth rates and higher productivity. This was supported by the evaluation of seasonal dynamics mapped from satellite remote sensing data. This study provides empirical evidence for the relationship between specific plant physiological traits and invasiveness of aquatic plant species, highlighting the importance of trait studies in predicting ecosystem-level impacts of invasive plant species.

Keywords: macrophytes, photophysiology, leaf reflectance, leaf pigments, phenology, Trapa, Nuphar, Nymphaea

INTRODUCTION

Introduced species pose an imminent threat to biodiversity, species composition and structure, as well as general functioning of their new ecosystems (Vitousek, 1990; D'Antonio and Kark, 2002; Vilà et al., 2011). This is especially the case in aquatic environments and for aquatic plants (Gallardo et al., 2016). Invasive species are responsible for displacing large numbers of native species throughout the world (Musil, 1993; Meyer and Florence, 1996; Holmes and Cowling, 1997).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lorenzo Lastrucci, University of Florence, Italy

Reviewed by:

Adriano Stinca, Università degli Studi della Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Jacques Haury, Agrocampus Ouest, France

*Correspondence:

Viktor R. Tóth toth.viktor@okologia.mta.hu Paolo Villa villa.p@irea.cnr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 20 December 2018 Accepted: 29 April 2019 Published: 16 May 2019

Citation:

Tóth VR, Villa P, Pinardi M and Bresciani M (2019) Aspects of Invasiveness of Ludwigia and Nelumbo in Shallow Temperate Fluvial Lakes. Front. Plant Sci. 10:647. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00647

30

Although the introduction of species to new environments can result from natural processes, the vast majority in recent decades has occurred as either a direct (i.e., purposeful transport) or indirect (i.e., without human awareness) consequence of the anthropogenic collapse of biogeographic barriers (McKinney and Lockwood, 1999). In addition, anthropogenic pressure on ecosystems (e.g., altered land-use patterns, changes in climate regimes, increase in atmospheric CO_2), and especially on aquatic ecosystems, foster favorable conditions for the establishment of introduced species (Dukes and Mooney, 1999; Hussner et al., 2014; Fasoli et al., 2018).

Multiple differences between native and alien species have been observed, and can be summarized as being associated with either more efficient resource use by the invasive plants (Vitousek, 1986; Baruch and Goldstein, 1999), or with invasive species' lack of natural enemies in their new habitats (Callaway and Aschehoug, 2000; Mitchell and Power, 2003). In general, from one side the invasive plants could outperform their native counterparts due to their higher phenotypic variability or phenological plasticity, i.e., the introduced plants are able to better acclimate and find unoccupied spatial and temporal niches where they can prevail (Pyšek and Richardson, 2007; Davidson et al., 2011). The higher phenological plasticity of an alien plant, reflecting into its seasonal dynamics, could affect its invasive success, since the possibility of extending its lifecycle beyond the lifecycles of native species can determine its ability to capture and utilize resources (Wolkovich and Cleland, 2011). From the other side, species could be successful in their new environment in the absence of enemies, pathogens or predators, from their former habitats, consequently freeing vital resources for production and development of the introduced species (Keane and Crawley, 2002; Colautti et al., 2004). Despite the advantages the introduced species have, this does not always correspond to biomass dominance; indeed, the background processes of how these advantages are translated into better performance in their new environments are still not fully understood (Davis et al., 2001; Funk and Vitousek, 2007). Moreover, in invasive plants sometimes even the certain disadvantages (for example in C assimilation) are converted into higher production and fitness (Hussner and Jahns, 2015). Even though invasive plants seem to have higher plasticity and enhanced functional traits in many instances (Pyšek and Richardson, 2007; Davidson et al., 2011), scientific literature still has to reach consensus as to whether the carbon acquisition and distribution of native and invasive plants differ across groups and ecosystems (Daehler, 2003; Van Kleunen et al., 2010; Leffler et al., 2014; Hussner and Jahns, 2015).

Within this context, macrophytes (i.e., aquatic plants) emerge as particularly interesting targets, for several reasons. Macrophytes tend to display higher diversity in temperate areas (Alahuhta et al., 2017), where human impacts are stronger, to show highly cosmopolitan features (Zhou and Zhou, 2009), and to occupy the extremes of the global spectrum of vegetation forms (Díaz et al., 2016). As such, macrophytes are more sensitive to ecosystem degradation and invasion processes, but also provide insight into the functional adaptation potential of plants to environmental conditions different from those of their native range.

The main aim of this study was to investigate and compare selected traits (physiological, spectral, and phenological) of two invasive floating-emergent aquatic plants and native macrophyte species found in a shallow temperate freshwater system. Toward this, we hypothesized that: (i) photophysiological performance (i.e., chlorophyll fluorescence, related to C acquisition) of invasive species is superior to that of native plants; (ii) leaf pigment pools of invasive plants are different in size and composition from native ones; (iii) photophysiological performance and pigment content show higher plasticity in invasive than in native species; (iv) invasive macrophytes can effectively exploit temporal niches left unoccupied by the seasonal dynamics of native species; and that (v) leaf spectroscopy can provide information about physiological traits of both invasive and native macrophytes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Sites

The Mantua lakes system (Laghi di Mantova), consisting of the Superior, Middle, and Inferior lakes, are three shallow (mean depth: 3.5 m) fluvial lakes adjacent to the city of Mantua, Italy (**Figure 1**). The lakes are surrounded by urban areas, both residential and industrial, and the upstream basin is characterized by intensive agriculture. The Mantua lakes system is therefore exposed to diffuse sources of nutrients (N and P) and other pollutants. As a result, the lakes system is characterized by high turbidity (Secchi disk depth < 1 m in summer), high trophic level (Chl-a up to 200 mg m⁻³), and the coexistence of phytoplankton and macrophytes, comprising emergent, submerged, floating-leaved and free-floating species (Pinardi et al., 2011; Bresciani et al., 2013; Bolpagni et al., 2014; Villa et al., 2015).

The sacred lotus (*Nelumbo nucifera* Gaertn. Nelumbonaceae), an allochthonous species originating from Southeast Asia, colonizes Superior Lake, forming two large macrophyte islands. The plant is rooted in the sediment and can grow in waters up to 3 m deep. The large, shield-shaped leaves ascend from the rhizomes on waxy, prickly stems and can rise 1–2 m above the water level. Various parts of the plant can be used for different purposes, including food, silk production, and medicine, as well as for esthetical reasons, mainly due to its large, beautiful flowers. *Nelumbo* was originally introduced to the Mantua lakes system in the 1920s, with its rhizomes proposed as an alternative food source. In the subsequent decades, it has been mainly been used for floral collection, and has spread throughout the lakes over the past five decades.

The water primrose [*Ludwigia hexapetala* (Hook. and Arn.) Zardini, H. Y. Gu and P. H. Raven Onagraceae], native to South America, is the other allochthonous species that has spread in the lakes over the past decade, first colonizing calm water bays in the Middle Lake and more recently the riparian zones of Superior and Inferior lakes. In its native range, *Ludwigia* can be found in wet grasslands and wetlands, whereas in areas where it has been introduced it is able to invade lakes, slow fluvial plumes, and wetlands, and is one of the most invasive plant genera in Europe



FIGURE 1 | The Mantua lakes system, with the location of the study area in Italy (upper right box), and the different subsystems (lakes and wetlands) indicated. Background image is a Sentinel-2A satellite-acquired true color composite from 28 July 2016.

(EPPO, 2004a,b). *Ludwigia* has large (2–5 cm), yellow flowers, and 8–10 cm long, spear-shaped, pilose leaves. The stem of the plant grows from 2 to 3 meter-deep water to the water surface, and can emerge above the water level.

Water chestnut (*Trapa natans* L. Trapanaceae) is the most widespread native species, present in all three lakes and dominant in Middle and Inferior lakes. Nymphaeids, mainly *Nuphar lutea* (L.) Sm *Nymphaea alba* L., are present in the upstream portion of Superior Lake, as well as in small patches in Middle and Inferior lakes. Submersed species (e.g., *Ceratophyllum demersum* L., *Vallisneria spiralis* L., and *Najas major All.*), predominantly *C. demersum*, are especially present in Superior Lake.

The lakes system is part of the protected Mincio Regional Park, which manages water and macrophytes. The system is characterized by high nutrient and organic matter loads and low water flow rates, resulting in its tendency toward infilling and heightened risk of hypoxia (Pinardi et al., 2011; Bolpagni et al., 2014). For this reason, since 2004, *N. nucifera* and *T. natans* macrophyte stands are controlled by cutting and occasionally harvesting (Pinardi et al., 2011; Villa et al., 2017).

We gathered limnological seasonal data (6 dates per year, ranging from February to November) and meteorological daily data (air temperature, solar radiation, precipitation, and wind velocity), collected in Mantua lakes system by the Environmental Protection Agency of Lombardy region (ARPA Lombardia) during 2016 and 2017. No significant differences in limnological parameters (pH, water temperature, dissolved O₂, total N, and total P) across the three lakes were observed for the two seasons (data not shown).

Photophysiological Measurements

Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters were measured using a chlorophyll fluorometer (PAM-2500, Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany) between 9 and 15 h. Light response curves, i.e., the electron transport rate (ETR) of the photosystem II (PSII), as a function of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) were measured from mature, healthy-looking leaves after a dark-adapting period of 20 min. After dark adaptation, emitted initial fluorescence yield (Fo) and maximal fluorescence yield (Fm) resulting from a pulse of a saturated light (630 nm, intensity 3000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) were determined. From these, the photochemical PSII efficiency (F_v/F_m), coefficient of photochemical quenching (qP), and coefficient of non-photochemical quenching (qN) were calculated. The measured leaves were exposed to 11 actinic lights (630 nm) for a duration of 15 s, with an intensities between 5 and 787 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, and the ETR values were measured after each illumination step with a new pulse of saturated (3000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) light. Exponentially saturating curves (Eilers and Peeters, 1988) were fit to the light response data, and the maximum ETR (ETR_{max}), theoretical saturation light intensity (Ik), and maximum quantum yield for whole chain electron transport (α) were retrieved (Genty et al., 1989).

Pigment Analysis

Leaf discs of 0.6 cm in diameter were collected from intact leaves close to where chlorophyll fluorescence was measured, and stored in aluminum foil in sub 0 temperature until their transfer to a -20° C freezer. Frozen leaf discs samples were homogenized in liquid N₂, then extracted in 80% acetone. The extracts were centrifuged and the supernatant collected and stored at -20° C until analyses. The absorbance spectra (400–750 nm) of extracts were measured using a spectrophotometer (Shimadzu UV-2401PC, dual-beam), and

pigment concentrations, i.e., chlorophyll-a (Chl-a), chlorophyll-b (Chl-b), and total carotenoids (Car) were calculated using empirical formulae (Wellburn, 1994) and reported as fresh weight concentrations ($\mu g g_{fw}^{-1}$).

Spectroradiometric Measurements

Leaf reflectance of the same leaves sampled for photophysiological measurements was measured over the visible to shortwave infrared spectral range (350-2500 nm) using a portable SR-3500 Full Range spectroradiometer (Spectral Evolution, Lawrence, United States). Following a 20-min dark adaptation period, leaf-reflected radiance under near-steady state conditions (60 s after leaf de-shadowing) was measured using a Reflectance Contact Probe (Spectral Evolution, Lawrence, United States). The probe was equipped with a light source (5-watt tungsten halogen bulb) and spectra were calibrated to leaf reflectance using measurements of a 99% Spectralon panel (Labsphere, North Sutton, United States). During measurements, macrophyte leaves were placed over a flat neoprene plate (absorbance > 95%) in order to minimize background reflection of light transmitted through the leaves. This approach was chosen because it is easier and faster under challenging field conditions (e.g., boat-based surveys) compared with using an integrating sphere to fully determine reflectance and transmittance, and only introduces minimal distortion in leaf reflectance measurements (Sims and Gamon, 2002; Potůčková et al., 2016).

Leaf reflectance spectra were used to calculate a set of spectral indices (SIs), belonging to three different groups: (1) SIs sensitive to photosynthetic pigments (Gitelson et al., 2001, 2003; Sims and Gamon, 2002); (2) SIs connected to radiation use efficiency (RUE) and the state of the xanthophyll cycle pigments (Gamon et al., 1992; Wu et al., 2010; Garrity et al., 2011; Hernández-Clemente et al., 2011); and (3) SIs correlated to macrophyte, *Phragmites australis* (common reed), physiological parameters (Stratoulias et al., 2015). The SIs tested in this study, with their formulas and relevant references are provided in **Supplementary Table S1**.

In order to focus on the most relevant leaf spectral features, the collinearity of all SIs tested was assessed by computing the correlation coefficient (Pearson's r) of each SI pair (**Supplementary Figure S1**). Only the SIs carrying the most information were retained for further analysis and discussion, by excluding the ones with r > 0.9.

Summary of in situ Measurements

Leaf samples were measured in the Mantua lakes system in late July, 2016 – photophysiological (n = 51) and spectroradiometric measurements (n = 45) – late May, 2017 – photophysiological (n = 67), pigments (n = 45) and spectroradiometric measurements (n = 42) – and late July, 2017 – photophysiological (n = 71), pigment (n = 71) and spectroradiometric measurements (n = 68) – covering different years and growing stages. For each period, slightly different sets of sampling sites were visited, due to logistic and technical constraints. A summary of sampled sites and number of samples collected is provided in **Supplementary Table S2**. Leaves were collected from plants located within 2–3 m of the water edge of homogenous, dense, intact macrophyte stands. For *in situ* measurements, from each plant the youngest, mature, intact leaf was chosen. At each sampling site, 3 to 12 plants per species were selected (**Supplementary Table S2**). Following dark adaptation, whole leaves (for *Ludwigia* and *Trapa*) or leaf parts (for *Nelumbo*, *Nuphar*, and *Nymphaea*) were removed from the plants and subjected to measurements. Chlorophyll fluorescence measurements were performed on the dark-adapted part of the leaves, with leaf spectroradiometric reflectance recorded in its close vicinity. In order to avoid possible bias due to light environment differences, only leaves exposed directly to sunlight were measured.

Seasonal Dynamics

highlighting Additional information key macrophyte phenological characteristics were extracted from macrophyte leaf area index (LAI) seasonal dynamics maps. Time series of LAI for floating and emergent macrophytes in the Mantua lakes system were derived from medium resolution satellite data (Landsat 8, SPOT5, and Sentinel-2) for the 2015 growing season (Villa et al., 2018). From these time series, seasonal dynamics metrics were computed, namely: the day of the start of season (SoS), the day of the peak of season (PoS), the day of the end of season (EoS), the duration of the growing season (Length), the maximum LAI value (LAImax), the rate of increase of LAI during the early growth (Growth rate), and the rate of decrease of LAI during the senescence (Senescence rate).

We calculated the mean and standard deviation scores of these seasonality metrics of all pixels dominated by each macrophyte species considered in this work, as well as the area covered by each species and the corresponding percentage of total macrophyte cover. *Nymphaea* pixels are grouped together with *Nuphar* pixels, because they only cover a very small area (< 1 ha).

Statistical Analyses

Graphing, curve fitting, and statistics were performed in Past (Hammer et al., 2001) and various packages in R v.3.4.4, i.e., stats 3.5.2, ggplot2 3.1.0, psych 1.8.12 (R Development Core Team, 2012). Due to non-normality of sample distributions, differences among species in terms of investigated parameters were tested using Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks, followed by pairwise multiple comparison procedures (Dunn's Method). For each species, Mann–Whitney *U* test was used for testing the differences of investigated parameters between July 2016 and July 2017, as well as between May 2017 and July 2017 conditions. Only relevant information, i.e., rejecting the hypothesis of equal distribution among compared samples at confidence level higher than 5% (P < 0.05), is reported in the following section, describing the main results.

RESULTS

Photophysiological Measurements

Clear differences in the photophysiological properties of the studied plants and in the photosynthetic activity of *Ludwigia* were observed (**Supplementary Figure S2**; **Figures 2B,C**). Not only did the extent of ETR_{max} and I_k differ significantly for



Ludwigia with respect to the rest of the species (Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks; H = 57.2; P < 0.001; n = 182), but their distributions were bimodal, suggesting the presence of two subgroups (**Figure 2**). These separate *Ludwigia* subgroups can partially be explained by the marked differences between 2016 and 2017 samples: ETR_{max} scores for *Ludwigia* are in fact significantly lower in July 2016 than in July 2017, 162.2 \pm 15.9 and 743.4 \pm 290.2 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ respectively (Mann–Whitney *U* test; U = 0; P < 0.001; $n_1 = n_2 = 9$). Due to this difference in ETR_{max} and in I_k, the position of *Ludwigia* in the photophysiological PCA was well defined (**Figure 3**).

The photophysiological properties of *Nelumbo* did not differ from those of the local macrophytes, therefore *Nelumbo* aligned with the rest of the species present within the PCA. Further analysis of the photophysiological parameters of the studied macrophytes demonstrated the higher plasticity of *Ludwigia, Trapa,* and *Nuphar* compared with *Nymphaea* and *Nelumbo* (Table 1).

Pigment Analysis

Chl-a, Chl-b, and Car content of *Nelumbo* and *Ludwigia* on weight basis were significantly higher than those of other species (**Figures 4A–C**; Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks; P < 0.001). *Ludwigia* Chl-a content was higher in May than in July, 2001 ± 258 compared with 1591 ± 313 µg g_{fw}^{-1} (Mann–Whitney U test; U = 11; P = 0.01; $n_1 = n_2 = 9$).

Nevertheless, despite the higher pigment content - Ludwigia and Nelumbo had, on average, 2.8, 2.7, and 2.4 times higher Chl-a, Chl-b, and Car content than Nymphaea, Nuphar, and Trapa, respectively, the Chl-a/ Chl-b ratio (a/b) of Ludwigia alone differed significantly (P < 0.05) from that of Nelumbo, Nuphar, and Nymphaea, and was similar to that of Trapa (Figure 4D). The total chlorophyll (Chl-a + Chl-b) to Car ratio (chl/car) of Nymphaea was significantly lower (2.18 ± 0.05) than the rest of the species (3.56 ± 0.05). Due to the significant difference of Ludwigia and Nelumbo from native species in leaf pigments content, their discrimination was clearly defined through PCA (Figure 5). Further analysis of pigment content results showed high phenotypic plasticity of Chl-a, Chl-b, and Car content for both Ludwigia and Nelumbo, although pigment stoichiometry was also variable for Nuphar and Trapa (Table 1).

Spectroradiometric Measurements

After assessing the cross-correlation of tested SIs for the sampled species (**Supplementary Figure S1**), some indices were excluded from further analyses. The list of SIs tested, with their full names and relevant references are included in **Supplementary Table S1**. Revised Photochemical Reflectance Index 2 (PRI_{r2}) and Photochemical Reflectance Index combination with Chlorophyll Index (PRI*CI) were excluded because of their high correlation with Photochemical Reflectance Index (PRI; r = 0.94 and r = 0.95, respectively, **Figures 6**, 7). Normalized Difference



FIGURE 3 | Principal component analysis (PCA) of photophysiological parameters measured from macrophytes of the Mantua lakes system. α , maximum quantum yield for whole chain electron transport; ETR_{max}, maximal electron transport rate; I_k, theoretical saturation light intensity; F_v/F_m, PSII photochemical efficiency; qP, coefficient of photochemical quenching; and qN, coefficient of non-photochemical quenching.

Species	chl-a	chl-b	car	a/b	chl/car	α	ETR _{max}	I _k	F _v /F _m	qN	qP
Ludwigia	0.26	0.46	0.18	0.84	0.35	1.14	3.11	1.41	0.75	0.83	0.36
Nelumbo	0.41	0.40	0.33	0.31	0.24	0.34	0.04	0.15	0.53	0.70	0.35
Nuphar	0.05	0.09	0.08	1.08	0.22	1.66	0.05	0.20	1.03	0.57	1.10
Nymphaea	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.41	0.08	0.38	0.01	0.12	0.78	0.40	0.37
Trapa	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.75	0.56	0.93	0.05	0.21	1.35	1.11	1.28

TABLE 1 | Coefficient of variation of the standardized pigment and photophysiological data of Mantua lakes system macrophytes.

chl-a, chlorophyll a content; chl-b, chlorophyll b content; car, total carotenoids content; a/b, chlorophyll a to chlorophyll b ratio; chl/car, chlorophylls to carotenoids ratio; α, maximum quantum yield for whole chain electron transport; ETR_{max}, maximal electron transport rate; I_k, theoretical saturation light intensity; F_v/F_m, PSII photochemical efficiency; qN, coefficient of non-photochemical quenching; and qP, coefficient of photochemical quenching.

Spectral Index 539,560 (ND_{539,560}) was also not considered further due to its high correlation with PRI (r = 0.92). Within the macrophyte eco-physiology sensitive SIs, Normalized Difference Spectral Index 659,687 (ND_{659,687}) and Normalized Difference Spectral Index 621,692 (ND_{621,692}) were found to be highly correlated (r = 0.91), so we therefore only retained the latter for further analysis. Finally, we excluded Normalized Difference 750/705 (ND₇₀₅) due to its high correlation with modified Normalized Difference 750/705 (mND₇₀₅; r = 0.84), and Chlorophyll Index (CI) due to its lower sensitivity to leaf chlorophyll content compared to mND₇₀₅ (r = 0.41-0.42 and r = 0.77-0.78 respectively).

Within our dataset, there is a significant difference in PRI between the species (Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks; H = 45.8; P < 0.001; n = 152). PRI of *Nelumbo* samples was higher (Dunn's Multiple Comparison test, P < 0.05) than that of *Trapa*, *Nuphar*, and *Nymphaea*, while *Ludwigia* was not found to be significantly different, although on average PRI was lower. Photochemical Reflectance Index 515 (PRI₅₁₅) differs from PRI especially for the allochthonous species, and in

particular for *Nelumbo*, which shows significantly lower PRI₅₁₅ scores compared to the autochthonous species (Dunn's Multiple Comparison test, P < 0.05).

Nelumbo is statistically different from all the other species (Dunn's Multiple Comparison test; P < 0.05) in terms of Normalized Difference Spectral Index 546,551 (ND_{546,551}), and is different from the autochthonous species (Dunn's Multiple Comparison test; P < 0.05) in terms of ND_{621,692}. Even though not statistically significant, ND_{621,692} scores for *Ludwigia* are also slightly lower than those of the autochthonous species (0.055 \pm 0.021 and 0.076 \pm 0.034, respectively, in July 2017).

Anthocyanin reflectance index 2 (ARI₂), which is related to secondary pigment contents, showed no difference between the species (Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks; H = 6.748; P = 0.150; n = 152). Rather, significant differences between the species are observed for mND₇₀₅, related to total chlorophyll content (Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks; H = 31.5; P < 0.001; n = 152), with *Nelumbo* showing higher values compared to any other species (Dunn's Multiple Comparison test, P < 0.05).


to carotenoids ratio (chl/car).



b content; car, total carotenoids content; chl-a/chl-b, chlorophyll a to chlorophyll b ratio; and chl/car, chlorophylls to carotenoids ratio.





FIGURE 7 | Principal component analysis (PCA) of selected SIs calculated from Mantua lakes system macrophyte leaf reflectance data. PRI, photochemical reflectance index; $ND_{546,551}$, normalized difference spectral index 546,551; ARI_2 , anthocyanin reflectance index 2; PRI_{515} , photochemical reflectance index 515; Normalized $ND_{621,692}$, difference spectral index 621,692; and mND_{705} , modified normalized difference 750/705.

Seasonal Dynamics Features

Differences between allochthonous and autochthonous species, in terms of their seasonal dynamics, or phenology metrics – i.e., day of the start (SoS), peak (PoS), and end of season (EoS), as well as the length of growing season – are highlighted in **Table 2**, referring to 2015 growing season. Peak LAI values (LAI_{max}) and LAI growth and senescence rates (LAI_{growth}, LAI_{senescence}) were also calculated.

The growing season of allochthonous species was found to be significantly longer than that of native species: 192 \pm 15 days for *Ludwigia* (Mann–Whitney *U* test; U = 12853; P < 0.001; $n_1 = 58$, $n_2 = 2249$), and 172 \pm 5 days for *Nelumbo* (Mann-Whitney U test; U = 128812; P < 0.001; $n_1 = 2024$, $n_2 = 2249$). Such differences in season length is mainly driven by prolonged viability of allochthonous macrophytes during autumn months, lasting over water until late October to mid-November. Nelumbo also shows morphological advantages, with maximal leaf area index (LAI_{max}) reaching 1.7 m² m⁻² at PoS, significantly higher that of all the other species, reaching $1.0-1.2 \text{ m}^2 \text{ m}^{-2}$ (Mann–Whitney U test; U = 280047; P < 0.001; $n_1 = 2024$, $n_2 = 2307$), as well as fast early season growth, with LAI_{growth} – i.e., the rate of LAI growth from SoS to PoS - higher by 2-3 times compare to that of the other species (Mann-Whitney U test; U = 438004; P < 0.001; $n_1 = 2024$, $n_2 = 2307$).

DISCUSSION

The background and dynamics of invasion processes are still a matter of debate. Nevertheless, studies focusing on morphological and physiological characteristics of native and invasive plants can elucidate the success of the latter (Baruch and Goldstein, 1999; Hufbauer and Torchin, 2008; Van Kleunen et al., 2010). While a given explanation of how morphological and physiological parameters can promote the spread of non-native species might only be applicable to the ecosystem in question, some of the observations could be considered to be more generally valid. For example, higher photosynthetic rates of invasive plants could result in higher biomass accumulation, consequently exhausting resources available for native species and/or shading out native competitors (Baruch and Goldstein, 1999; Hufbauer and Torchin, 2008). To our first hypothesis, we have a partial answer: of all the species investigated, Ludwigia had the highest photosynthetic parameters (ETR_{max}, I_k), which is in line with its C₄ nature and high photosynthesis rates (Dandelot et al., 2005; Hussner, 2009), although this does not always translate into higher biomass (Hussner, 2009). It is worth noting that in the Mantua lakes system, Ludwigia samples showed a strong response to environmental changes. One of the explanations of the outstanding bimodality of ETR_{max} and Ik for this species could be the inter-seasonal differences between 2016 and 2017, linked to differences in meteorological conditions accumulated up to late July for the 2 years. When compared to 2016, 2017 was much drier (total precipitation 52% lower), hotter (average max temperature higher by 0.9°C, or 4.6%), and with higher incoming radiation (by 5.9%), as shown in Supplementary Figure S3. Nevertheless, intra-seasonal differences also reveal that other factors (e.g., water and sediment conditions, prevalence of growth form) should be taken into account to explain Ludwigia ecotype specialization (Thouvenot et al., 2013; Gérard et al., 2014). Interestingly, other *Ludwigia* photophysiological parameters (α , F_v/F_m, and qP) did not differ significantly from those of other species; only its qN was slightly lower than the other macrophytes, highlighting the higher efficiency of Ludwigia in dissipating excitation energy through photosynthesis.

The photophysiological response of *Ludwigia* to the anomalous meteorological conditions of 2017 can be compared to those of the most-abundant native species in Mantua lakes system: *Trapa*. Both species showed consistent responses to such environmental conditions, in terms of F_v/F_m and qP, with a tendency toward slightly lower scores in 2017 than in 2016. Inversely, the two species reacted differently to the dry and hot weather of 2017, in terms of non-photochemical quenching (qN). Compared to July 2016, *Trapa* samples measured in July 2017 tend to have higher qN, while *Ludwigia* had lower levels of non-photochemical quenching in 2017 than in 2016. The reaction of *Ludwigia* to anomalously dry and hot conditions could in part explain the competitive success and invasiveness of water primrose in temperate areas of Europe.

On the other hand, absolute photosynthesis and biomass accumulation values are not the only features underlying the

	Ludwigia	Nelumbo	Nuphar-Nymphaea	Trapa
SoS (DOY – Julian day)	122.5 ± 6.4	132.4 ± 3.9	115.1 ± 8.0	155.2 ± 16.6
PoS (DOY – Julian day)	222.3 ± 6.9	218.6 ± 4.0	200.6 ± 13.3	215.8 ± 13.0
EoS (DOY – Julian day)	314.8 ± 13.2	304.4 ± 3.9	263.1 ± 20.4	256.7 ± 13.2
Length (days)	192.3 ± 14.8	172.0 ± 5.2	147.9 ± 28.1	101.5 ± 9.7
LAI_{max} (m ² m ⁻²)	1.15 ± 0.28	1.69 ± 0.05	1.06 ± 0.18	1.28 ± 0.13
Growth rate (m ² m ^{-2} d ^{-1})	0.018 ± 0.007	0.047 ± 0.008	0.015 ± 0.005	0.023 ± 0.004
Senescence rate (m ² m ⁻² d ⁻¹)	0.013 ± 0.004	0.026 ± 0.004	0.018 ± 0.006	0.045 ± 0.018
Area (ha)	2	69	9	74
% cover of total macrophytes	1.3	44.8	5.8	48.1

TABLE 2 Synoptic metrics of seasonal dynamics (phenology and LAI growth) for Mantua lakes system macrophytes for 2015, derived from Villa et al. (2018).

SoS, day of the start of season; PoS, day of the peak of season; EoS, day of the end of season; length, duration of the growing season (EoS-SoS); LAI_{max}, maximum LAI value; growth rate, rate of increase of LAI during the early growth; and senescence rate, rate of decrease of LAI during the senescence.

success of invasive species. The ability to survive, and even to thrive, in very different environmental conditions could be part of invasive species' advantage, allowing their spread in areas where they have been introduced. We also hypothesized that invasive plant will have higher phenotypic plasticity. Again, when we consider the variability of Ludwigia, we found this species to be distinctive, in that its coefficients of variation for ETR_{max} and Ik were at least 62 and 7 times higher than any other species, respectively (Table 1). This extreme plasticity could help Ludwigia to survive in highly variable conditions encountered in both its native range and in areas to which it is introduced. The other species showing high photophysiological variability was Trapa (in terms of F_v/F_m, qP, qN), showing its ecological advantage in the Mantua lakes system and explaining its spread in the study area (i.e., nearly half of the total macrophyte-covered surface). The combination of the above make it evident that, in the end, these traits of Ludwigia or Trapa would largely determine the structure and diversity of the Mantua lakes system macrophyte communities. The results also showed that higher plasticity in a community could be an important determinant of the diversity of a given species. This plasticity helps the species to overcome environmental factors that might otherwise limit its spread in the given environment (Lankau, 2011; Andersen et al., 2012). Not only does the lower mortality at population level undoubtedly result in either higher density and coverage or spatial spreading, but the high variability of functional traits is considered to be an advantage for species establishment and survival (Levine and HilleRisLambers, 2009; Lankau, 2011).

We also hypothesized that leaf pigment pools of invasive plants are different in size and composition from native ones. Another key feature facilitating invasive plants in their new environments is the lack of top-down pressure (specific herbivores), and thus the absence of structural defense biomass (Feng et al., 2009; Rout and Callaway, 2009). This results in the preferential allocation of N from structural biomass into leaf tissues and photosystems in invasive plants, consequently increasing the non-structural, photosynthetically active biomass. Our results support this theory, since both Ludwigia and Nelumbo had significantly higher pigment content on weight basis (by at least 2-3 times) compared to the native species. The intensification of photosynthetically active biomass helped the plants to further increase the resources available to them, and consequently to extend their presence in their new areas. Besides having the highest absolute values, Nelumbo and Ludwigia also showed the most variable pigment content, suggesting that these invasive species could adapt to very different environmental conditions. The high pigment content (especially total chlorophyll) of the leaf tissues also affected the specific reflectance of the invasive species and thus the SIs.

PRI was developed and its effectiveness as a proxy for RUE (Gamon et al., 1992; Garbulsky et al., 2011) was demonstrated. Recent works and meta-analysis have shown that PRI also correlates to the seasonal dynamics of pigments pools, and in particular to the ratio of chlorophylls to carotenoids (Filella et al., 2009; Gitelson et al., 2017), and to the daily variability of photosynthetic rates (Filella et al., 2009; Gamon et al., 2015). The PRI literature mainly focuses on terrestrial plants and crops

(Garbulsky et al., 2011), and not much is known on its ranges and sensitivity for aquatic plants. Our results suggest that, among the macrophyte species considered, the invasive *Nelumbo* might have a higher RUE compared to the native species considered (**Figure 6A**). This is possibly due to its higher chl/car ratio (**Figure 4E**). PRI₅₁₅, a modification of the original PRI concept that is inversely related to total carotenoid content in terrestrial plants (Hernández-Clemente et al., 2011), shows some notable differences from PRI for allochthonous macrophytes. *Nelumbo* in particular has significantly lower PRI₅₁₅ scores, as well as higher pigment (chlorophylls and total carotenoids; **Figures 4A–C**) contents, compared to other species.

Although originally developed for common reed, SIs sensitive to physiological parameters of aquatic plants (Stratoulias et al., 2015) confirm the uniqueness of Nelumbo compared to the other species, reinforcing what was already observed for PRI. This species is statistically different from all the others in terms of ND_{546,551}, indicating higher chlorophyll fluorescence levels in light-adapted state, and from all the native species in terms of ND_{621,692}, which can be attributed to lower values of instantaneous ETR. Even if not statistically significant at the 95% confidence level, Ludwigia ND_{621,692} scores are on average slightly lower than those of native species. Additionally, Nelumbo mND705 scores, related to leaf chlorophyll content in terrestrial plants (Sims and Gamon, 2002), but not yet tested on aquatic vegetation, are significantly higher than any of the other macrophytes. This is similar to the leaf pigment measurements made on our samples (Figures 4A-C).

Our results suggest that mND₇₀₅ could be effectively used as a proxy for total chlorophyll content for macrophytes ($R^2 = 0.59$), but estimation error might vary depending on species. In fact, the relationship between mND₇₀₅ and pigment contents for sampled macrophytes seems to be different for autochthonous and allochthonous species (**Supplementary Figures S4, S5**).

It was hypothesized that invasive macrophytes can effectively exploit temporal niches left unoccupied by the seasonal dynamics of native species. Overall, the observed photophysiological and spectral reflectance parameter features point to some notable difference in photosynthetic performance of autochthonous and allochthonous species, either in terms of adaptation to anomalous environmental conditions and maximum photosynthetic rates, in the case of *Ludwigia*, or pigment pool size and higher RUE for *Nelumbo*. In addition, seasonal dynamic features (**Table 2**) show that both *Nelumbo* and *Ludwigia* have marked differences in season length with respect to *Trapa* and Nymphaeids, with the end of season delayed by approximately 40–60 days (i.e., until November), which arguably constitutes an advantage in terms of productivity.

For *Nelumbo*, this might be related to peculiarities in circadian clock family genes, making it easy for this species to adapt to a wide range of climates and day length regimes, with prolonged flowering times (Ming et al., 2013). In addition, morphological and structural traits (bigger leaves, emerging above water in overlapping layers; average LAI_{max} = 1.69 m² m⁻²) and fast dynamics during the early vegetative phase (May–June) – with LAI_{growth} = 0.047 m² m⁻² dd⁻¹ – provide an advantage for *Nelumbo* in the environmental conditions of the Mantua lakes

system, and contribute to the success of this species, now established here for approximately a century.

The notion that invasive species tend to show higher scores of functional traits, which emerged in a recent meta-analysis (Van Kleunen et al., 2010), was generally confirmed by our results for the macrophyte species investigated, especially when dealing with traits related to physiology (e.g., leaf pigment contents, ETR_{max} , RUE), size (LAI_{max}), growth rate (LAI_{growth}), and fitness (phenology timing, growing season length). *Ludwigia* and *Nelumbo*, though, have been shown to outperform autochthonous plants in different group of traits, with the former having a greater advantage in terms of physiology-related traits, and the latter in terms of size and growth rate-related traits.

In summary, marked differences of Ludwigia and Nelumbo compared to native macrophytes, in terms of pigment contents (Chl-a, Chl-b, Car), growing season length, and end of season timing were observed. Parallel to this, compared to all other species, Ludwigia had the highest photophysiological parameters (ETR_{max}, I_k). Differences were detected in Nelumbo compared to all other species, in terms of spectral reflectance features (i.e., PRI, PRI515, ND546,551, and mND705, connected to higher RUE and pigment pool size), as well as morphological and growth rate features. During the anomalously hot and dry 2017 season, invasive species were found to react differently from native species, as well as between themselves. Ludwigia performs differently in terms of α , qN, and ND_{546,551}, linked to the variability in photosynthetic efficiency, while Nelumbo performs differently in terms of PRI515 and mND705, mainly related to pigment contents and composition. As these parameters are good indicators of enhanced productivity, such an outcome suggests that an increase in temperature, as for current climate change projections, may further favor the spread of invasive species in temperate areas.

CONCLUSION

Solar radiation is an essential resource for plants, and whichever species gain ascendancy over its competitors could be dominant. We found that the success of an invasive macrophyte, in terms of persisting and propagating in its new ecosystem, may be the result of multiple ecological strategies employed. The specificities of the new host areas (such as the lack of top-down pressure, lack of pathogens, etc.,) reduce defense costs, thus liberating resources to extend and intensify photosynthesis. This, coupled with their better ability to compete for resources and to tolerate

REFERENCES

- Alahuhta, J., Kosten, S., Akasaka, M., Auderset, D., Azzella, M. M., Bolpagni, R., et al. (2017). Global variation in the beta diversity of lake macrophytes is driven by environmental heterogeneity rather than latitude. *J. Biogeogr.* 44, 1758–1769.
- Andersen, K. M., Endara, M. J., Turner, B. L., and Dalling, J. W. (2012). Trait-based community assembly of understory palms along a soil nutrient gradient in a lower montane tropical forest. *Oecologia* 168, 519–531. doi: 10.1007/s00442-011-2112-z

harsh conditions, consequently improves the chances of survival of non-native species. *Ludwigia hexapetala* and *Nelumbo nucifera* have been documented to establish, spread, and alter the Mantua lakes system. Our data show that specific performance-based traits of the invasive macrophytes, photophysiological efficiency, pigment pool size and balance, and leaf spectral reflectance specifically, can describe and explain the success of these species over native ones in the same environment, in terms of both resource competitiveness and tolerance to variability in environmental conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VT and PV designed the concept of the study, organized the databases, performed the visualization of data and statistical analysis, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors performed the measurements shown in the study, wrote parts of the manuscript, and contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by grants from the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office the NKFIH K-116666 and NKFIH KH-129505, and MTA-CNR bilateral grants and agreement on scientific cooperation between the Hungarian Academy of Sciences and the Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (MacroSense project). Part of the work was carried out in the context of the EU FP7 INFORM project (Grant No. 606865). Publication costs were partly covered using residual funds ("residui") from CNR project DTA.AD004.112 (Space-O).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Parco del Mincio authority and voluntary ecological guards for support given during fieldwork on the Mantua lakes system. We are grateful to Stephanie C. J. Palmer for her help with the English of the text.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2019.00647/ full#supplementary-material

- Baruch, Z., and Goldstein, G. (1999). Leaf construction cost, nutrient concentration, and net CO 2 assimilation of native and invasive species in Hawaii. *Oecologia* 121, 183–192. doi: 10.1007/s00442005 0920
- Bolpagni, R., Bresciani, M., Laini, A., Pinardi, M., Matta, E., Ampe, E. M., et al. (2014). Remote sensing of phytoplankton-macrophyte coexistence in shallow hypereutrophic fluvial lakes. *Hydrobiologia* 737, 67–76.
- Bresciani, M., Rossini, M., Morabito, G., Matta, E., Pinardi, M., Cogliati, S., et al. (2013). Analysis of within-and between-day chlorophyll-a dynamics in

mantua superior lake, with a continuous spectroradiometric measurement. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 64, 303–316.

- Callaway, R. M., and Aschehoug, E. T. (2000). Invasive plants versus their new and old neighbors: a mechanism for exotic invasion. *Science* 290, 521–523.
- Colautti, R. I., Ricciardi, A., Grigorovich, I. A., and MacIsaac, H. J. (2004). Is invasion success explained by the enemy release hypothesis? *Ecol. Lett.* 7, 721–733. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00616.x
- Daehler, C. C. (2003). Performance comparisons of Co-Occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for conservation and restoration. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 34, 183–211. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.011802.132403
- Dandelot, S., Verlaque, R., Dutartre, A., and Cazaubon, A. (2005). Ecological, dynamic and taxonomic problems due to *Ludwigia* (Onagraceae) in France. *Hydrobiologia* 551, 131–136.
- D'Antonio, C. M., and Kark, S. (2002). Impacts and extent of biotic invasions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 17, 202–204. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02454-0
- Davidson, A. M., Jennions, M., and Nicotra, A. B. (2011). Do invasive species show higher phenotypic plasticity than native species and, if so, is it adaptive? A meta-analysis. *Ecol. Lett.* 14, 419–431. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01596.x
- Davis, M. A., Grime, J. P., and Thompson, K. (2001). Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. J. Ecol. 88, 528–534. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.2000.00473.x
- Díaz, S., Kattge, J., Cornelissen, J. H., Wright, I. J., Lavorel, S., Dray, S., et al. (2016). The global spectrum of plant form and function. *Nature* 529, 167–171. doi: 10.1038/nature16489
- Dukes, J. S., and Mooney, H. A. (1999). Does global change increase the success of biological invaders? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 14, 135–139. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(98)01554-7
- Eilers, P. H. C., and Peeters, J. C. H. (1988). A model for the relationship between light intensity and the rate of photosynthesis in phytoplankton. *Ecol. Model.* 42, 199–215.
- EPPO (2004a). Data Sheet on Ludwigia peploides and L. uruguayensis (L. grandiflora). Available at: http://www.eppo.org/QUARANTINE/plants/ Ludwigia/LUDSS.html (accessed December 21, 2018).
- EPPO (2004b). Nvasive Plants: Addition of Senecio Inaequidens and Two Ludwigia Species to the Eppo Alert List. Available at: https://gd.eppo.int/taxon/SENIQ/ reporting (accessed December 21, 2018).
- Fasoli, J. V. B., Mormul, R. P., Cunha, E. R., and Thomaz, S. M. (2018). Plasticity responses of an invasive macrophyte species to inorganic carbon availability and to the interaction with a native species. *Hydrobiologia* 817, 227–237. doi: 10.1007/s10750-018-3543-x
- Feng, Y.-L., Lei, Y.-B., Wang, R.-F., Callaway, R. M., Valiente-Banuet, A., Li, Y.-P., et al. (2009). Evolutionary tradeoffs for nitrogen allocation to photosynthesis versus cell walls in an invasive plant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 1853–1856. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808434106
- Filella, I., Porcar-Castell, A., Munné-Bosch, S., Bäck, J., Garbulsky, M., and Peñuelas, J. (2009). PRI assessment of long-term changes in carotenoids/chlorophyll ratio and short-term changes in de-epoxidation state of the xanthophyll cycle. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 30, 4443–4455.
- Funk, J. L., and Vitousek, P. M. (2007). Resource-use efficiency and plant invasion in low-resource systems. *Nature* 446, 1079–1081.
- Gallardo, B., Clavero, M., Sánchez, M. I., and Vilà, M. (2016). Global ecological impacts of invasive species in aquatic ecosystems. *Glob. Change Biol.* 22, 151–163. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13004
- Gamon, J., Kovalchuck, O., Wong, C., Harris, A., and Garrity, S. (2015). Monitoring seasonal and diurnal changes in photosynthetic pigments with automated PRI and NDVI sensors. *Biogeosciences* 12, 4149–4159.
- Gamon, J. A., Peòuelas, J., and Field, C. B. (1992). A narrow-waveband spectral index that tracks diurnal changes in photosynthetic efficiency. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 41, 35–44.
- Garbulsky, M. F., Peñuelas, J., Gamon, J., Inoue, Y., and Filella, I. (2011). The photochemical reflectance index (PRI) and the remote sensing of leaf, canopy and ecosystem radiation use efficiencies: a review and meta-analysis. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 115, 281–297.
- Garrity, S. R., Eitel, J. U., and Vierling, L. A. (2011). Disentangling the relationships between plant pigments and the photochemical reflectance index reveals a new approach for remote estimation of carotenoid content. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 115, 628–635.

- Genty, B., Briantais, J.-M., and Baker, N. R. (1989). The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* 990, 87–92.
- Gérard, J., Brion, N., and Triest, L. (2014). Effect of water column phosphorus reduction on competitive outcome and traits of *Ludwigia grandiflora* and *L. peploides*, invasive species in Europe. *Aquat. Invasions* 9, 157–166.
- Gitelson, A. A., Gamon, J. A., and Solovchenko, A. (2017). Multiple drivers of seasonal change in PRI: implications for photosynthesis 1. Leaf level. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 191, 110–116.
- Gitelson, A. A., Gritz, Y., and Merzlyak, M. N. (2003). Relationships between leaf chlorophyll content and spectral reflectance and algorithms for non-destructive chlorophyll assessment in higher plant leaves. J. Plant Physiol. 160, 271–282.
- Gitelson, A. A., Merzlyak, M. N., and Chivkunova, O. B. (2001). Optical properties and nondestructive estimation of anthocyanin content in plant leaves. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 74, 38–45.
- Hammer, Ø, Harper, D. A. T., and Ryan, P. D. (2001). Past: paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. *Paleontol. Electrón.* 4, 1–9.
- Hernández-Clemente, R., Navarro-Cerrillo, R. M., Suárez, L., Morales, F., and Zarco-Tejada, P. J. (2011). Assessing structural effects on PRI for stress detection in conifer forests. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 115, 2360–2375.
- Holmes, P. M., and Cowling, R. M. (1997). The effects of invasion by acacia saligna on the guild structure and regeneration capabilities of south african fynbos shrublands. J. Appl. Ecol. 34, 317–332.
- Hufbauer, R. A., and Torchin, M. E. (2008). Integrating ecological and evolutionary theory of biological invasions. *Biol. Invasions* 193, 79–96. doi: 10.1086/658149
- Hussner, A. (2009). Growth and photosynthesis of four invasive aquatic plant species in Europe. *Weed Res.* 49, 506–515.
- Hussner, A., and Jahns, P. (2015). European native *Myriophyllum spicatum* showed a higher [Formula: see text] use capacity than alien invasive *Myriophyllum* heterophyllum. *Hydrobiologia* 746, 171–182. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-1976-4
- Hussner, A., van Dam, H., Vermaat, J. E., and Hilt, S. (2014). Comparison of native and neophytic aquatic macrophyte developments in a geothermally warmed river and thermally normal channels. *Fundam. Appl. Limnol.* 185, 155–165. doi: 10.1127/fal/2014/0629
- Keane, R. M., and Crawley, M. J. (2002). Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 17, 164–170. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(02) 02499-0
- Lankau, R. A. (2011). Rapid evolutionary change and the coexistence of species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 42, 335–354.
- Leffler, A. J., James, J. J., Monaco, T. A., and Sheley, R. L. (2014). A new perspective on trait differences between native and invasive exotic plants. *Ecology* 95, 298–305.
- Levine, J. M., and HilleRisLambers, J. (2009). The importance of niches for the maintenance of species diversity. *Nature* 461, 254–257. doi: 10.1038/ nature08251
- McKinney, M. L., and Lockwood, J. L. (1999). Biotic homogenization: a few winners replacing many losers in the next mass extinction. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 14, 450–453.
- Meyer, J.-Y., and Florence, J. (1996). Tahiti's native flora endangered by the invasion of *Miconia calvescens* DC.(*Melastomataceae*). J. Biogeogr. 23, 775–781.
- Ming, R., VanBuren, R., Liu, Y., Yang, M., Han, Y., Li, L.-T., et al. (2013). Genome of the long-living sacred lotus (*Nelumbo nucifera* Gaertn.). *Genome Biol.* 14:R41. doi: 10.1186/gb-2013-14-5-r41
- Mitchell, C. E., and Power, A. G. (2003). Release of invasive plants from fungal and viral pathogens. *Nature* 421, 625–627.
- Musil, C. F. (1993). Effect of invasive Australian acacias on the regeneration, growth and nutrient chemistry of South African lowland fynbos. J. Appl. Ecol. 30, 361–372.
- Pinardi, M., Bartoli, M., Longhi, D., and Viaroli, P. (2011). Net autotrophy in a fluvial lake: the relative role of phytoplankton and floating-leaved macrophytes. *Aquat. Sci.* 73, 389–403.
- Potůčková, M., Červená, L., Kupková, L., Lhotáková, Z., Lukeš, P., Hanuš, J., et al. (2016). Comparison of reflectance measurements acquired with a contact probe and an integration sphere: implications for the spectral properties of vegetation at a leaf level. Sensors 16:E1801.
- Pyšek, P., and Richardson, D. M. (2007). "Traits associated with invasiveness in alien plants: where do we stand?," in *Biological Invasions*, ed. W. Nentwig (Berlin: Springer), 97–125. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-36920-2_7

- R Development Core Team (2012). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rout, M. E., and Callaway, R. M. (2009). An invasive plant paradox. *Science* 324, 734–735.
- Sims, D. A., and Gamon, J. A. (2002). Relationships between leaf pigment content and spectral reflectance across a wide range of species, leaf structures and developmental stages. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 81, 337–354.
- Stratoulias, D., Balzter, H., Zlinszky, A., and Tóth, V. R. (2015). Assessment of ecophysiology of lake shore reed vegetation based on chlorophyll fluorescence, field spectroscopy and hyperspectral airborne imagery. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 157, 72–84. doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2014.05.021
- Thouvenot, L., Haury, J., and Thiébaut, G. (2013). Seasonal plasticity of Ludwigia grandiflora under light and water depth gradients: an outdoor mesocosm experiment. Flora Morphol. Distrib. Funct. Ecol. Plants 208, 430–437.
- Van Kleunen, M., Weber, E., and Fischer, M. (2010). A meta-analysis of trait differences between invasive and non-invasive plant species. *Ecol. Lett.* 13, 235–245.
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J. L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P. E., Jarošík, V., Maron, J. L., et al. (2011). Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecol. Lett.* 14, 702–708. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01628.x
- Villa, P., Bresciani, M., Bolpagni, R., Pinardi, M., and Giardino, C. (2015). A rulebased approach for mapping macrophyte communities using multi-temporal aquatic vegetation indices. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 171, 218–233.
- Villa, P., Pinardi, M., Bolpagni, R., Gillier, J.-M., Zinke, P., Nedelcut, F., et al. (2018). Assessing macrophyte seasonal dynamics using dense time series of medium resolution satellite data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 216, 230–244.
- Villa, P., Pinardi, M., Tóth, V. R., Hunter, P. D., Bolpagni, R., and Bresciani, M. (2017). Remote sensing of macrophyte morphological traits: implications for

the management of shallow lakes. J. Limnol. 76, 109-126. doi: 10.4081/jlimnol. 2017.1629

- Vitousek, P. M. (1986). "Biological invasions and ecosystem properties: can species make a difference," in *Ecology of Biological Invasions of North America and Hawaii.* eds H. A. Mooney and D. A. James (New York, NY: Springer).
- Vitousek, P. M. (1990). Biological invasions and ecosystem processes: towards an integration of population biology and ecosystem studies. *Oikos* 57, 7–13. doi: 10.2307/3565731
- Wellburn, A. R. (1994). The spectral determination of chlorophylls a and b, as well as total carotenoids, using various solvents with spectrophotometers of different resolution. *J. Plant Physiol.* 144, 307–313.
- Wolkovich, E. M., and Cleland, E. E. (2011). The phenology of plant invasions: a community ecology perspective. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 9, 287–294.
- Wu, C., Niu, Z., Tang, Q., and Huang, W. (2010). Revised photochemical reflectance index (PRI) for predicting light use efficiency of wheat in a growth cycle: validation and comparison. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 31, 2911–2924.
- Zhou, L., and Zhou, G. (2009). Measurement and modelling of evapotranspiration over a reed (*Phragmites australis*) marsh in Northeast China. J. Hydrol. 372, 41–47.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tóth, Villa, Pinardi and Bresciani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Does Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity Improve the Growth Performance and Intraspecific Competition of the Invasive Plant *Myriophyllum aquaticum*?

Nan Shen¹, Hongwei Yu^{1,2}, Siqi Yu¹, Dan Yu¹ and Chunhua Liu^{1*}

¹ The National Field Station of Freshwater Ecosystem of Liangzi Lake, Department of Ecology, College of Life Sciences, Wuhan University, Wuhan, China, ² Center for Water and Ecology, State Key Joint Laboratory of Environment Simulation and Pollution Control, School of Environment, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Institute for the Electromagnetic Detection of the Environment (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

Mateja Germ, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Sara Benelli, University of Parma, Italy

> *Correspondence: Chunhua Liu liuchh@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 21 March 2019 Accepted: 16 May 2019 Published: 30 May 2019

Citation:

Shen N, Yu H, Yu S, Yu D and Liu C (2019) Does Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity Improve the Growth Performance and Intraspecific Competition of the Invasive Plant Myriophyllum aquaticum? Front. Plant Sci. 10:723. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00723 Spatial heterogeneity in soil nutrient availability is considered to play an important role in promoting plant invasion success and can affect interspecific competition. Although some clonal plants have been demonstrated to be correlated with resource heterogeneity in terrestrial systems, little is known about how soil nutrient heterogeneity affects the growth of invasive aquatic plants or their population structure. A greenhouse experiment was therefore conducted to study the response of the invasive aquatic plant *Myriophyllum aquaticum* to the spatial heterogeneity of soil nutrients under three plant densities (one, four, or twelve plants 0.28 m²) with a constant amount of soil nutrients. The results showed that soil nutrient heterogeneity significantly increased the number of shoots in the single-plant density treatment. However, heterogeneous soil nutrient treatment significantly increased the number of shoots at the expense of total biomass and aboveground biomass in the twelve-plant density treatment. The heterogeneous soil nutrient treatment had low effects on other growth traits and intraspecific competition under different plant density treatments. These results indicate that spatial heterogeneity in soil nutrient availability may facilitate the spread of *M. aquaticum*.

Keywords: soil nutrient heterogeneity, competition, invasive, aquatic plants, Myriophyllum aquaticum

INTRODUCTION

Spatial soil heterogeneity is common in natural habitats (Farley and Fitter, 1999; James et al., 2010) and has positive effects on the performance of clonal plants (Day et al., 2003a; Wacker et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2012; You et al., 2014). Clonal plants respond to resource heterogeneity by concentrating more nutrient-absorbing organs (e.g., roots or ramets) where nutrient levels are relatively high (Wijesinghe et al., 2001; Hodge, 2004; Kroon et al., 2010; Gao et al., 2012). Some studies have shown that soil nutrient heterogeneity increases the growth performance of individual plants or plant populations (Wacker et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2012; Xue et al., 2016). For example, plant yield can be enhanced through physiological integration in heterogeneous conditions (Wijesinghe and Hutchings, 1997; Hutchings and Wijesinghe, 2008). However, soil nutrient heterogeneity does not always play a positive role in plant growth, and any positive effect

may be eliminated if resources become limited (Roiloa and Retuerto, 2006; Zhang and He, 2009; Dong et al., 2015).

Intraspecific competition can affect the growth performance and reproductive values of plant individuals in a population and, as a consequence, the effective structure and size of the population (Heywood, 1986; Hartl and Clark, 1989; Kleunen et al., 2001). For example, intraspecific competition significantly affects the number and size of ramets of *Ranunculus reptans* (Kleunen et al., 2001) and significantly affects the stolon length and dry mass of *Alternanthera philoxeroides* (Zhou et al., 2012).

Soil nutrient heterogeneity can affect the competitive relationship between plants (Ritchie and Olff, 1999; Hutchings et al., 2003; Van et al., 2011; Mommer et al., 2012). The relationship between the degree of nutrient heterogeneity and the intensity of competition changes dynamically (Kume et al., 2006; Maestre and Reynolds, 2007; Van et al., 2011). For example, soil nutrient heterogeneity can increase the intensity of competition (Fransen et al., 2001; Day et al., 2003b) because the nutrient-absorbing organs of neighboring plants would be concentrated in a smaller area of high quality in heterogeneous environments. However, Zhou et al. (2012) and Yu et al. (2018) found that soil nutrient heterogeneity does not increase competition when plants are genetically identical. Another theory is that a significant effect of soil heterogeneity on intraspecific or interspecific competition may be caused by the differences between plants in their ability to concentrate their nutrient-absorbing organs where resource levels are high (Fransen et al., 2001; Bliss et al., 2002; Dong et al., 2015).

Many alien invasive plants have the capacity for clonal growth (Liu et al., 2006). However, the understanding of the responses of invasive clonal plants to soil nutrient heterogeneity remains limited. Thus, to investigate how soil nutrient heterogeneity affects the growth performance and intraspecific competition of invasive clonal plants, we conducted an experiment with the stoloniferous, invasive clonal plant *Myriophyllum aquaticum*. We hypothesized that soil nutrient heterogeneity will significantly increase the growth performance and influence the intraspecific competition intensity of *M. aquaticum*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Species

Myriophyllum aquaticum (Vell.) Verdc., a perennial aquatic clonal plant is widely distributed in tropical and temperate regions such as South America (Sutton, 1985). This species can grow in a broad range of habitats, from semi-moist to semi-submersed conditions (Hussner et al., 2010) and forms dense floating mats by producing creeping stolons over the water surface (Wersal and Madsen, 2011). *M. aquaticum* produces flowers and fruits from April to September (Sutton, 1985). It is increasingly becoming a harmful weed in shallow streams and shallow lakes of North America (Sutton, 1985; Wersal and Madsen, 2011). The *M. aquaticum* plants used in this experiment were collected from natural plant populations at the National Field Station of Freshwater Ecosystem of Liangzi Lake (N $30^{\circ}05' - 30^{\circ}18'$, E $114^{\circ}21'-114^{\circ}39'$) in Hubei Province, China. All of the

collected plant materials were planted in containers (100 cm long × 50 cm wide × 50 cm deep). The containers were filled with clay (TN: 2.77 ± 0.54 mg.g⁻¹, TP: 0.79 ± 0.19 mg.g⁻¹) and to maintain a moist habitat, 1-cm-deep lake water (TN: 0.6 ± 0.2 mg. L⁻¹; TP: 0.04 ± 0.01 mg. L⁻¹) was maintained above the substrate surface throughout the pre-cultivated period. The plant materials were pre-cultivated in the greenhouse for approximately 2 months before the experiment was set up. On June 20, 2017, we selected 220 morphologically identical plants without shoots. Sixteen plants were randomly selected and dried to determine their initial biomass. The 204 remaining plants (height: approximately 25 cm; initial biomass: mean ± SE, 5.66 ± 0.58 g) were selected for the experiment.

Experimental Design

The experiments used a two-factorial design of plant density treatments and soil treatments. Plants were subjected to three density treatments (one, four, or twelve plants per container) and two soil treatments (homogeneous or heterogeneous; **Figure 1**). Each experimental container was 60 cm in height \times 60 cm in diameter. There were six container replicates for each of the six treatments and thus 36 containers in total. The heterogeneous soil treatment was composed of two contrasting patches of equal volumes of clay (total nitrogen content: 2.98 \pm 0.64 mg.g⁻¹, total phosphorus content: 0.83 \pm 0.21 mg.g⁻¹, organic material content: 45.11 \pm 2.67 mg.g⁻¹, mean \pm SE) and pure sand. For the homogeneous soil treatment, each container was a mixture of the same total amounts of clay and sand as in the heterogeneous treatments. The total amount of soil nutrients was the same in all treatments.

During the experiment, the experimental units were randomly repositioned every week to avoid the potential effects of environmental heterogeneity (such as light) and 1-cm-deep lake water (TN: 0.6 ± 0.2 mg. L⁻¹; TP: 0.04 ± 0.01 mg. L⁻¹) was



FIGURE 1 Schematic representation of the experimental design. Soil heterogeneity treatment design: light gray and lightly stippled areas represent high (clay) and low (sand) soil nutrient patches, respectively. Soil homogeneity treatment design: the area in dark gray was filled with an even mixture of the same volume of clay and sand. The total amounts of soil nutrients were thus the same in both treatments. Black dots represent where *M. aquaticum* was planted in three density-level treatments: one, four, or twelve plants per pot. maintained above the substrate surface. The diurnal variation in temperature, humidity and illumination was recorded each day by a hygrothermograph and an illuminometer in the greenhouse. The mean values of temperature, humidity, and illumination in the greenhouse were 27.58 \pm 0.62°C, 64.52 \pm 1.22% and 2892.06 \pm 321.93 μ mol. m⁻².s⁻¹ (mean \pm SE), respectively.

After approximately 90 days of growth, on September 23, 2017, the total number of shoots was recorded, and the total length of shoots and plant height of each plant were measured. Each plant was then divided into aboveground (leaves and stem) and belowground (roots) parts, dried at 70°C for 72 h and weighed. The relative competition intensity (RCI) and log response ratio of biomass (LnRR) were calculated as follows:

Relative competition intensity (RCI) =
$$\frac{(B_{\text{mono}} - B_{\text{mix}})}{Bmix}$$

Log response ratio of biomass (LnRR) = Ln $\left(\frac{B_{\text{mono}}}{B_{\text{mix}}}\right)$

where B_{mono} is the total biomass in the absence of competition (i.e., one-plant density treatment), and B_{mix} is the average biomass of a plant in each container in the presence of competition (i.e., the four-plant and twelve-plant treatments) (Grace, 1995; Armas et al., 2004).

Statistical Analyses

In this experiment, six experimental treatment groups were analyzed, with six samples in each treatment group. The total biomass, aboveground biomass and belowground biomass were transformed using the $log_{10}(x)$ function. Thus, all experimental data met the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance prior to analysis. Two-way ANOVAs were used to test the effects of plant density and soil treatments on the growth traits and intensity of intraspecific competition of *M. aquaticum*. Duncan's test was used to examine the differences in trait values among the treatments. All data analyses were conducted using SPSS 22.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, United States).

RESULTS

Effects of Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity and Density Treatments on the Growth of *M. aquaticum*

The soil substrate type had a significant effect on the total biomass, aboveground biomass and number of shoots (**Table 1**). However, it had no significant effects on belowground biomass, shoot length or plant height (**Figures 2C,E,F** and **Table 1**). For example, in the twelve-plant density treatment, soil nutrient heterogeneity significantly reduced total biomass by 38.94% and aboveground biomass by 35.46% but significantly increased the 1.46-fold number of shoots compared to plants grown in homogeneous soil (**Figures 2A,B,D**). Density treatments had a significant influence on the growth performance of *M. aquaticum*, and the growth traits of the low-density treatment were significantly greater than those of the high-density treatment (**Figures 2A-F** and **Table 1**). For example, soil nutrient

TABLE 1 | *F*-value and significance of two-way ANOVA results for effects of soil substrate type (S) and plant density (D) on measures of biomass, morphological traits, and intraspecific competition of *M. aquaticum*.

	Substrate type (S)		Plant density (D)		S × D	
	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Total biomass ^a (g)	7.394	0.010	63.187	<0.001	1.076	0.352
Aboveground biomassa (g)	7.844	0.008	55.947	<0.001	1.515	0.234
Belowground biomass ^a (g)	2.410	0.129	96.868	<0.001	1.472	0.243
Number of shoots	33.340	<0.001	29.253	<0.001	4.007	0.027
Shoot length (cm)	2.266	0.141	22.618	<0.001	3.295	0.049
Plant height (cm)	0.001	0.982	14.272	<0.001	0.038	0.963
LnRR	1.554	0.225	27.758	<0.001	1.754	0.198
RCI	0.162	0.691	20.750	<0.001	0.910	0.350

*Significant P-values are shown in bold. *That little "a" shown that data were transformed using the $log_{10}(x)$ function.

heterogeneity significantly increased shoot number by 70.37% in single-plant treatments and shoot length by 87.17% in four-plant treatments compared to plants grown in homogeneous soil.

Except for the number and length of shoots, the effect of density treatments on the growth performance of *M. aquaticum* showed the same trends in the soil heterogeneity or homogeneity treatments (**Figures 2A–F** and **Table 1**). The interaction effect of soil and density treatment had significant effects on the shoot number and shoot length of *M. aquaticum* (**Table 1**).

Effects of Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity Treatments on the Intraspecific Competition Intensity of *M. aquaticum*

With the increase in plant density, the intraspecific competition intensity increased gradually. For example, the log response ratio of biomass (LnRR) significantly increased, by approximately $51.73\% \sim 87.38\%$, both when soil nutrients were homogeneous and when they were heterogeneous (**Figures 3A,B** and **Table 1**). These results show that the intraspecific competition of *M. aquaticum* gradually intensified with increasing plant density. Although the intraspecific competition intensity of the high-density treatment was very high, soil nutrient heterogeneity did not aggravate intraspecific competition in *M. aquaticum* (**Figures 3A,B** and **Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity May Be a Promoter of Invasion and Spread in *M. aquaticum*

Heterogeneous soil had no effects on most growth traits except shoot numbers in the one-plant density treatment (Figure 2). In addition, plants accumulated less biomass when soil nutrient availability was heterogeneous at high density (Figure 2). Few studies have found that clonal plants grew more biomass in the heterogeneous than in the homogeneous



soil treatment (Hutchings and Wijesinghe, 2008; Zhou et al., 2012; You et al., 2014). However, the positive effect of soil nutrient heterogeneity on the growth performance of plants may gradually decrease because the soil nutrients become limited in high-density populations (Day et al., 2003a; Dong et al., 2015). For example, soil nutrient heterogeneity has a short-term effect on the growth cycle of *Cardamine hirsuta*, and it does not have a long-term impact (Day et al., 2003a,b). Furthermore, the long-term response of *Holcus lanatus* was to produce far less shoot biomass in the heterogeneous treatment than expected under the homogeneity treatment (Fransen and Kroon, 2001). In addition, the growth performance of clonal plants in heterogeneous soil conditions may be correlated with the spatial scale of heterogeneity (Wijesinghe and Hutchings, 1997; Wang et al., 2016). For example,

the growth of *Glechoma hederacea* was dependent on the spatial scale of soil nutrient heterogeneity (Wijesinghe and Hutchings, 1997), but *Alternanthera philoxeroides* displayed generally similar, scale-independent performance in most traits under different scales of soil nutrient heterogeneity (Wang et al., 2016). We speculate that the benefits of environmental heterogeneity to clonal plants may be correlated with spatial or temporal scale.

However, our study found that *M. aquaticum* produced significantly more and longer shoots in the heterogeneous soil than in the homogenous soil treatment. Morphological plasticity enables the adaptation of clonal plants to heterogeneous environments, which probably benefits clonal plants through the optimization of plant performance (Kroon and Hutchings, 1995). Clonal integration may help *M. aquaticum* adapt to the



heterogeneous distribution of resources. For example, clonal integration can boost the growth of *M. aquaticum* when subjected to heterogeneity in resource supply in changing environments (You et al., 2013). Clonal plants can share photosynthates, mineral nutrients, or water among individual subunits through clonal integration, which increases the survival of clonal plants when they experience heterogeneous distribution of resources (Xiao et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2019). Thus, we predict that the positive response of clonal plants to environmental heterogeneity may be correlated with clonal integration and morphological plasticity.

Except for a higher number of shoots, slight effects and even lower biomass of M. aquaticum were found in heterogeneous nutrient treatments. This result is not completely in agreement with the prediction of our hypothesis but is consistent with previous studies, for example, nutrient heterogeneity does not affect the growth of a species of the same genera, Myriophyllum spicatum (Li et al., 2016). Vallisneria natans and Prosopis glandulosa did not show any significant changes in growth performance under spatially heterogeneous conditions (Maestre and Reynolds, 2007; Xie et al., 2007). On the other hand, M. aquaticum survival and spread depends solely on vegetative reproduction via fragmentation (Sutton, 1985). The higher number of shoots may aid in the spread of this species. Thus, soil nutrient heterogeneity can have a positive effect on invasive success in *M. aquaticum*, especially through occupying space and spreading.

Soil Nutrient Heterogeneity Could Not Change the Competitive Relationship Among Individuals in the Population of *M. aquaticum*

Spatial heterogeneity in soil nutrient availability can influence interspecific or intraspecific competition (Day et al., 2003b; Van et al., 2011; Mommer et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2012). Plants can proliferate roots and ramets in nutrient-rich substrate patches to improve nutrient absorption efficiency in heterogeneous environments (Fransen et al., 2001; Day et al., 2003b; Dong et al., 2015). This may lead to fierce competition between plant species in heterogeneous conditions because the foraging organs of neighboring plants would be concentrated in a smaller patch of the soil. A previous study showed that soil nutrient heterogeneity, acting through its effect on competition, is likely to be an important influence on community structure and composition (Day et al., 2003b).

However, in this study, we found that soil nutrient heterogeneity could not alter the intraspecific competition of M. aquaticum. This was not due to an absence of competition, as plants grew less at high than at low density treatments both when soil nutrients were homogeneous and when they were heterogeneous. The reasons for these results may be as follows: First, clonal plants can share resources among individual subunits by physiological integration (Hutchings and Wijesinghe, 1997; Hellstrom et al., 2006), which may alleviate the severe competition between individual subunits in nutrientpatches (Novoplansky, 2009; Dong et al., 2015). Second, resource heterogeneity can significantly affect plant competition when individuals are not genetically identical (Day et al., 2003b; Zhou et al., 2012) or may be due to the differences in plant ability to place foraging organs in areas where available resources are high (Wijesinghe et al., 2001; Bliss et al., 2002).

In heterogeneous environments, local adaptation to particular environmental conditions may also occur within plant populations on a much smaller geographical scale (Hangelbroek et al., 2004). Substrate characteristics can determine macrophyte community structure within lakes from a combination of both regional-scale multi-lake studies and smaller-scale studies (Johnson and Ostrofsky, 2004). Thus, our study showed that soil nutrient heterogeneity, especially for fine-scale heterogeneity, does not increase competition between individuals of *M. aquaticum*.

CONCLUSION

We conclude that spatial heterogeneity in soil nutrient availability is likely to be a primary promoter of invasive success in *M. aquaticum.* In the case of *M. aquaticum*, the positive effects of soil nutrient heterogeneity are shown mainly in the morphological characteristics of individual clonal shoots and cannot change the competitive relationship of clonal plants such as *M. aquaticum.* Therefore, spatial heterogeneity in soil nutrient availability may have a positive effect on the invasive spread of *M. aquaticum.* In the future, a more intimate knowledge of how diversified environmental heterogeneity due to various ecological factors at different scales affects the invasive performance of alien species is needed. This will enable a better understanding of the dynamic changes in invasive species composition and richness in aquatic ecosystems.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Armas, C., Ordiales, R., and Pugnaire, F. I. (2004). Measuring plant interactions: a new comparative index. *Ecology* 85, 2682–2686. doi: 10.1890/03-0650
- Bliss, K. M., Jones, R. H., Mitchell, R. J., and Mou, P. P. (2002). Are competitive interactions influenced by spatial nutrient heterogeneity and root foraging behavior? *New Phytol.* 154, 409–417. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00389.x
- Day, K. J., Hutchings, M. J., and John, E. A. (2003a). The effects of spatial pattern of nutrient supply on the early stages of growth in plant populations. *J. Ecol.* 91, 305–315. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.2003.00763.x
- Day, K. J., John, E. A., and Hutchings, M. J. (2003b). The effects of spatially heterogeneous nutrient supply on yield, intensity of competition and root placement patterns in *Briza media* and *Festuca ovina*. *Funct. Ecol.* 17, 454–463. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2435.2003.00758.x
- Dong, B. C., Wang, J. Z., Liu, R. H., Zhang, M. X., Luo, F. L., and Yu, F. H. (2015). Soil heterogeneity affects ramet placement of *Hydrocotyle vulgaris*. J. Plant Ecol. 8, 91–100. doi: 10.1093/jpe/rtu003
- Farley, R. A., and Fitter, A. H. (1999). Temporal and spatial variation in soil resources in a deciduous woodland. J. Ecol. 87, 688–696. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.1999.00390.x
- Fransen, B., and Kroon, H. D. (2001). Long-term disadvantages of selective root placement: root proliferation and shoot biomass of two perennial grass species in a 2-year experiment. *J. Ecol.* 89, 711–722. doi: 10.1046/j.0022-0477.2001. 00589.x
- Fransen, B., Kroon, H. D., and Berendse, F. (2001). Soil nutrient heterogeneity alters competition between two perennial grass species. *Ecology* 82, 2534–2546.
- Gao, Y., Xing, F., Jin, Y. J., Nie, D. D., and Wang, Y. (2012). Foraging responses of clonal plants to multi-patch environmental heterogeneity: spatial preference and temporal reversibility. *Plant Soil* 359, 137–147. doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1148-0
- Grace, J. B. (1995). On the measurement of plant competition intensity. *Ecology* 76, 305–308. doi: 10.2307/1940651
- Hangelbroek, H. H., Santamaría, L., and Boer, T. D. (2004). Local adaptation of the pondweed *Potamogeton pectinatus* to contrasting substrate types mediated by changes in propagule provisioning. *J. Ecol.* 91, 1081–1092. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.2003.00835.x
- Hartl, D. L., and Clark, A. G. (1989). *Principles of Population Genetics*, 2nd Edn. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Hellstrom, K., Kytoviita, M. M., Tuomi, J., and Rautio, P. (2006). Plasticity of clonal integration in the perennial herb *Linaria vulgaris* after damage. *Funct. Ecol.* 20, 413–420. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2006. 01115.x

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CL and DY designed the experiment and edited the manuscript text. HY and NS performed the experiment. NS and SY wrote the manuscript text and executed statistical analysis.

FUNDING

The authors gratefully acknowledge funding support from the Special Foundation of National Science and Technology Basic Research (2013FY112300) and Major Science and Technology Programme for Water Pollution Control and Treatment (2015ZX07503-005).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Li-Gong Wang and Li-Fu Cui for assistance with the research.

- Heywood, J. S. (1986). The effect of plant size variation on genetic drift in populations of annuals. Am. Nat. 127, 851–861. doi: 10.1086/284529
- Hodge, A. (2004). The plastic plant: root responses to heterogeneous supplies of nutrients. New Phytol. 162, 9–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01015.x
- Hussner, A., Meyer, C., and Busch, J. (2010). The influence of water level and nutrient availability on growth and root system development of *Myriophyllum aquaticum*. Weed Res. 49, 73–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2008.00667.x
- Hutchings, M. J., John, E. A., and Wijesinghe, D. K. (2003). Toward understanding the consequences of soil heterogeneity for plant populations and communities. *Ecology* 84, 2322–2334. doi: 10.1890/02-0290
- Hutchings, M. J., and Wijesinghe, D. K. (1997). Patchy habitats, division of labour and growth dividends in clonal plants. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 12, 390–394. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(97)87382-X
- Hutchings, M. J., and Wijesinghe, D. K. (2008). Performance of a clonal species in patchy environments: effects of environmental context on yield at local and whole-plant scales. *Evol. Ecol.* 22, 313–324. doi: 10.1007/s10682-007-9178-4
- James, S. E., Pärtel, M., Wilson, S. D., and Peltzer, D. A. (2010). Temporal heterogeneity of soil moisture in grassland and forest. J. Ecol. 91, 234–239. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.2003.00758.x
- Johnson, R. K., and Ostrofsky, M. L. (2004). Effects of sediment nutrients and depth on small-scale spatial heterogeneity of submersed macrophyte communities in lake pleasant, pennsylvania. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 61, 1493–1502. doi: 10.1139/f04-081
- Kleunen, M. V., Fischer, M., and Schmid, B. (2001). Effects of intraspecific competition on size variation and reproductive allocation in a clonal plant. *Oikos* 94, 515–524. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2001.940313.x
- Kroon, H. D., Huber, H., Stuefer, J. F., and Groenendael, J. M. V. (2010). A modular concept of phenotypic plasticity in plants. *New Phytol.* 166, 73–82. doi: 10.1111/ j.1469-8137.2004.01310.x
- Kroon, H. D., and Hutchings, M. J. (1995). Morphological plasticity in clonal plants: the foraging concept reconsidered. J. Ecol. 83, 143–152. doi: 10.2307/ 2261158
- Kume, T., Sekiya, N., and Yano, K. (2006). Heterogeneity in spatial P-distribution and foraging capability by *Zea mays*: effects of patch size and barriers to restrict root proliferation within a patch. *Ann. Bot.* 98, 1271–1277. doi: 10.1093/aob/ mcl216
- Li, F., Qin, Y., Zhu, L., Xie, Y., Liang, S., Hu, C., et al. (2016). Effects of fragment size and sediment heterogeneity on the colonization and growth of *Myriophyllum spicatum. Ecol. Eng.* 95, 457–462. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2016.06.097
- Liu, J., Dong, M., Miao, S. L., Li, Z. Y., Song, M. H., and Wang, R. Q. (2006). Invasive alien plants in China: role of clonality and geographical origin. *Biol. Invasion.* 8, 1461–1470. doi: 10.1007/s10530-005-5838-x

- Maestre, F. T., and Reynolds, J. F. (2007). Amount or pattern? Grassland responses to the heterogeneity and availability of two key resources. *Ecology* 88, 501–511. doi: 10.2307/27651122
- Mommer, L., Ruijven, J. V., Jansen, C., Steeg, H. M. V. D., and Kroon, H. D. (2012). Interactive effects of nutrient heterogeneity and competition: implications for root foraging theory? *Funct. Ecol.* 26, 66–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2011. 01916.x
- Novoplansky, A. (2009). Picking battles wisely: plant behaviour under competition. *Plant Cell Environ.* 32, 726–741. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01979.x
- Ritchie, M. E., and Olff, H. (1999). Spatial scaling laws yield a synthetic theory of biodiversity. *Nature* 400, 557–560. doi: 10.1038/ 23010
- Roiloa, S. R., and Retuerto, R. (2006). Small-scale heterogeneity in soil quality influences photosynthetic efficiency and habitat selection in a clonal plant. Ann. Bot. 98, 1043–1052. doi: 10.1093/aob/ mcl185
- Sutton, D. L. (1985). "Biology and ecology of Myriophyllum aquaticum," in Proceeding of the 1st International Symposium on Watermilfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum) and Related Haloragaceae Species, Vancouver, BC, 59–71.
- Van, D. W. C., De, K. H., Ima, H., Skidmore, A. K., Van, L. F., de Boer, W. F., et al. (2011). Scale of nutrient patchiness mediates resource partitioning between trees and grasses in a semi-arid savanna. *J. Ecol.* 99, 1124–1133. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2745.2011.01832.x
- Wacker, L., Baudois, O., Eichenberger-Glinz, S., and Schmid, B. (2008). Environmental heterogeneity increases complementarity in experimental grassland communities. *Basic Appl. Ecol.* 9, 467–474. doi: 10.1016/j.baae.2007. 08.003
- Wang, T., Hu, J., Miao, L., Yu, D., and Liu, C. (2016). The invasive stoloniferous clonal plant *Alternanthera philoxeroides* outperforms its co-occurring non-invasive functional counterparts in heterogeneous soil environments – invasion implications. *Sci. Rep.* 6:38036. doi: 10.1038/srep 38036
- Wersal, R. M., and Madsen, J. D. (2011). Comparative effects of water level variations on growth characteristics of *Myriophyllum aquaticum*. Weed Res. 51, 386–393. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2011.00854.x
- Wijesinghe, D. K., and Hutchings, M. J. (1997). The effects of spatial scale of environmental heterogeneity on the growth of a clonal plant: an experimental study with *Glechoma hederacea*. J. Ecol. 85, 17–28. doi: 10.2307/296 0624
- Wijesinghe, D. K., John, E. A., Beurskens, S., and Hutchings, M. J. (2001). Root system size and precision in nutrient foraging: responses to spatial pattern of nutrient supply in six herbaceous species. *J. Ecol.* 89, 972–983. doi: 10.1046/j. 0022-0477.2001.00618.x

- Xiao, K., Yu, D., Wang, J., and Xiong, W. (2006). Clonal plasticity of Vallisneria spiralis in response to substrate heterogeneity. J. Freshw. Ecol. 21, 31–38. doi: 10.1080/02705060.2006.9664093
- Xie, Y., Deng, W., and Wang, J. (2007). Growth and root distribution of *Vallisneria* natans in heterogeneous sediment environments. Aquat. Bot. 86, 9–13. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2006.08.002
- Xue, W., Huang, L., and Yu, F. H. (2016). Spatial heterogeneity in soil particle size: does it affect the yield of plant communities with different species richness? *J. Plant Ecol.* 9:rtv082. doi: 10.1093/jpe/rtv082
- You, W. H., Fan, S. F., Yu, D., Xie, D., and Liu, C. H. (2014). An invasive clonal plant benefits from clonal integration more than a co-occurring native plant in nutrient-patchy and competitive environments. *PLoS One* 9:e97246. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097246
- You, W. H., Yu, D., Liu, C. H., Xie, D., and Xiong, W. (2013). Clonal integration facilitates invasiveness of the alien aquatic plant *Myriophyllum aquaticum* L. under heterogeneous water availability. *Hydrobiologia* 718:27. doi: 10.1007/ s10750-013-1596-4
- Yu, H. W., Shen, N., Guan, X., Yu, S. Q., Yu, D., and Liu, C. H. (2018). Influence of soil nutrient heterogeneity and competition on sprouting and ramets growth of *Alternanthera philoxeroides*. *Clean Soil Air Water* 47:1800182. doi: 10.1002/ clen.201800182
- Yu, H. W., Shen, N., Yu, D., and Liu, C. H. (2019). Clonal integration increases growth performance and expansion of *Eichhornia crassipes* in littoral zones: a simulation study. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 159, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot. 2018.12.008
- Zhang, L. L., and He, W. M. (2009). Consequences of ramets helping ramets: no damage and increased nutrient use efficiency in nurse ramets of *Glechoma longituba*. *Flora* 204, 182–188. doi: 10.1016/j.flora.2008.02.001
- Zhou, J., Dong, B. C., Alpert, P., Li, H. L., Zhang, M. X., Lei, G. C., et al. (2012). Effects of soil nutrient heterogeneity on intraspecific competition in the invasive, clonal plant *Alternanthera philoxeroides*. *Ann. Bot.* 109, 813–818. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcr314

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shen, Yu, Yu, Yu and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Global Change Sharpens the Double-Edged Sword Effect of Aquatic Alien Plants in China and Beyond

Hao Wu¹ and Jianqing Ding^{2*}

¹ College of Life Sciences, Xinyang Normal University, Xinyang, China, ² School of Life Sciences, Henan University, Kaifeng, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andreas Hussner, Förderverein Feldberg – Uckermärkische Seenlandschaft e.V., Germany

Reviewed by:

Julie Coetzee, Rhodes University, South Africa Sabine Hilt, IGB Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Germany

> *Correspondence: Jianqing Ding jding@henu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 13 December 2018 Accepted: 29 May 2019 Published: 12 June 2019

Citation:

Wu H and Ding J (2019) Global Change Sharpens the Double-Edged Sword Effect of Aquatic Alien Plants in China and Beyond. Front. Plant Sci. 10:787. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00787 Many alien aquatic plants are deliberately introduced because they have economic, ornamental, or environmental values; however, they may also negatively affect aquatic ecosystems, by blocking rivers, restricting aquatic animals and plants by decreasing dissolved oxygen, and reducing native biodiversity. These positive and/or negative ecological effects may be enhanced under global change. Here, we examine the impacts of global change on aquatic alien plant introduction and/or invasions by reviewing their introduction pathways, distributions, and ecological effects. We focus on how climate change, aquatic environmental pollution, and China's rapid economic growth in recent decades affect their uses and invasiveness in China. Among 55 species of alien aquatic plants in China, 10 species are invasive, such as Eichhornia crassipes, Alternanthera philoxeroides, and Pistia stratiotes. Most of these invaders were intentionally introduced and dispersed across the country but are now widely distributed and invasive. Under climate warming, many species have expanded their distributions to areas where it was originally too cold for their survival. Thus, these species are (and will be) considered to be beneficial plants in aquaculture and for the restoration of aquatic ecosystems (for water purification) across larger areas. However, for potential invasive species, climate warming is (and will be) increasing their invasion risk in more areas. In addition, nitrogen deposition and phosphorus inputs may also alter the status of some alien species. Furthermore, climate warming has shifted the interactions between alien aquatic plants and herbivores, thus impacting their future spreads. Under climate change, more precipitation in North China and more frequent flooding in South China will increase the uncertainties of ecological effects of alien aguatic plants in these regions. We also predict that, under the continuing booming economy in China, more and more alien aquatic plants will be used for aquatic landscaping and water purification. In conclusion, our study indicates that both human activities under rapid economic growth and climate change can either increase the potential uses of alien aquatic plants or make the aquatic invaders worse in China and other areas in the world. These findings are critical for future risk assessment of aquatic plant introduction and aquatic ecosystem restoration.

Keywords: alien aquatic plants, biological invasions, aquatic ecosystem, global change, China

INTRODUCTION

Global change includes climate change, nitrogen deposition, changes in land-use patterns, and biological invasions (Lin et al., 2010; Pyšek et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2013). Global change may accelerate the spread of alien plants, alter the species composition of plant communities, and affect the physiological and/or ecological traits of alien plants in aquatic ecosystems (Maki and Galatowitsch, 2004; Hastwell et al., 2008; Sorte et al., 2013; Henriksen et al., 2018). For instance, with rapidly growing international trades, many aquatic alien plants from around the world have been intentionally or unintentionally introduced into China (Ding et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2016), and some of them have become invaders for many reasons, such as the lack of co-evolved natural enemies (Lu et al., 2013; You et al., 2014). More seriously, biological invasions, as a major component of global change, have caused significant ecological and economic impacts on aquatic ecosystems, together with the impacts of other factors, such as global warming, eutrophication, and flooding (Hastwell et al., 2008; Collinge et al., 2011; Thouvenot et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2015).

Aquatic plants, as an ecological group closely dependent on water, have multiple ecotypes, including emergent, floatingleaved, submersed, and free-floating forms, totaling more than 2600 species of aquatic plants belonging to 88 families in the world (Chambers et al., 2008; Li, 2014). Although aquatic plants only account for approximately 2% of the 350,000 angiosperm species, they play key roles in the functioning of aquatic ecosystems (Carpenter and Lodge, 1986; Jeppesen et al., 1998; Hilt et al., 2017). Due to the growing ornamental, horticultural, and aquacultural trades and/or unintentional transport, many aquatic plants have been introduced into new continents or countries from their native range and have become alien species (Ding et al., 2008; Hussner, 2012). Unlike the immobile roots of their terrestrial congeners, aquatic alien plants usually have relatively weaker root systems, and some of them are free-floating macrophytes; thus, the fluctuating water further provides suitable conditions for the dispersal and diffusion of these alien diaspores, especially during flooding (Li, 2014).

Aquatic alien plants may have significant double-edged sword effects with respect to ecology. On the one hand, they provide numerous ecosystem services, including ornamental, landscaping, ecological restoration, food, forage, and green manure uses (Hussner, 2012; Wang et al., 2016). For example, many aquatic alien species of Nymphaeaceae and Alismataceae are introduced into China from America and Europe for use as ornamental or aquarium plants, such as Victoria regia and Echinodorus amazonicus (Chen et al., 2012). On the other hand, aquatic invasive plants have been shown to cause more serious impacts on their habitats than their terrestrial counterparts (Vila et al., 2009). In freshwater ecosystems especially, once aquatic alien plants successfully become invaders, they hinder river runoff, cause oxygen deficiency, reduce water quality and native biodiversity, and even disturb food web structures (Hussner, 2012; Hussner et al., 2017; Kennedy and El-Sabaawi, 2017; Liu D.S. et al., 2017). Relative to their native accompanying species, many aquatic invaders are opportunistic species that could quickly capitalize on increased resources, thus their growth and reproduction may be enhanced by elevated temperature and precipitation (Blumenthal, 2006; Sorte et al., 2013), which could ultimately alter their positive or negative ecological effects under rapid global change in the future. Therefore, examining the ecological effects of aquatic alien plants under global change is crucial for utilizing biological resources, predicting and preventing aquatic invasions, and protecting native biodiversity in freshwater ecosystems; however, such work has rarely been reported.

Here, we focus on how climate change, aquatic environmental pollution, and China's rapid economic growth in recent decades affect alien aquatic plant uses and invasiveness. China has been experiencing a booming economy and has greatly increased international trades in the past 40 years, which dramatically facilitates aquatic alien plant establishment across this country (Ding et al., 2008; Weber and Li, 2008; Wu et al., 2010). Additionally, there are many types of freshwater bodies (lakes, rivers, estuaries, ponds, etc.) in China, further benefiting the spread and diffusion of aquatic alien plants (Wang et al., 2016). For example, the water hyacinth, Eichhornia crassipes, a free-floating aquatic macrophyte native to South America, was initially introduced into China for its ornament value (Qin et al., 2016a), and it also has water purifying properties in many large freshwater bodies of China (Wang et al., 2012, 2013; Liu et al., 2015). However, due to the booming economy and industrial development of China, high amounts of nutrients have been largely deposited into freshwater, accelerating eutrophication (Ding et al., 2008) and facilitating E. crassipes growth, which has made this plant the most important aquatic invasive plant in South China (Ding et al., 2006; You et al., 2014). Furthermore, the increasing global ornamental trades and developed hydrographic networks of China have also accelerated E. crassipes invasion and dispersal (Gao and Li, 2004; Liu D.S. et al., 2017). As one of the world's worst aquatic weeds, E. crassipes has widely invaded into the rest of the world besides China, e.g., in Southeast Asia, Southeastern United States, Central America, and Central and Western Africa, causing serious damages to environment, biodiversity, economy, and human health in invaded regions (Ding et al., 2006; Villamagna and Murphy, 2010).

China is a geographically vast country, spanning 50 degrees of latitude and covering five climatic zones (Wang et al., 2016); thus, with climate change, high latitudinal regions of North China have experienced a larger temperature rise in the last 60 years, and this warming process will continue (Yang et al., 2018). In addition, the precipitation of high latitudes in North China will also increase in the future (Gao et al., 2015). These climate changes may accelerate the distribution of aquatic alien plants into higher latitudes in China. For example, the alligator weed Alternanthera philoxeroides, one of China's major aquatic invaders native to South America that was introduced as a fodder species in the 1930s, has now expanded 2° of its northern boundary (from 34.7°N to 36.8°N) along latitudinal gradients in the last decade (Lu et al., 2015). Warming could expand the range of both A. philoxeroides and its natural enemy Agasicles hygrophila, an insect introduced for its biological control, shifting their interactions, and likely facilitating its invasiveness (Lu et al., 2013, 2015; Wu et al., 2017a). Together, under rapid global change, aquatic ecosystems would suffer a greater threat from biological invasions (Wu and Ding, 2014), and the double-edged sword of the ecological effects of aquatic alien plants may be further sharpened.

Here, we review the impacts of global change on aquatic alien plants and focus on the geographic origins and introduction pathway of these plants in China. We hypothesize that (1) global change has significant impacts on the double-edged sword effects of aquatic alien plants across the world and (2) specifically, the negative ecological effects of China's aquatic alien plants will be aggravated by global change.

AQUATIC ALIEN PLANTS IN CHINA

In conjunction with previous related studies, we define aquatic alien plants as plant species that were introduced from their origins into new countries or regions due to intentional or inadvertent human involvement; the life cycles of these plant species are almost completely dependent on the water, or these plants are submerged for at least one part of their life history (Cook, 1990; Pyšek et al., 2004; Hussner, 2012; Li, 2014; Wang et al., 2016). By contrast, aquatic invasive plants are species among aquatic alien plants that "cause, or have the potential to cause, harm to the environment, economies, or human health" (GISP, 2003). We only study aquatic alien plants that occur in freshwater habitats and exclude species varieties by artificially breeding.

In total, 55 aquatic alien plant species belonging to 20 families and 29 genera were recorded in freshwater ecosystems in China (Supplementary Table 1). Nymphaeaceae had the highest species number of aquatic alien plants (11 spp.), followed by Alismataceae with 10 species and Gramineae with 7 species, while the other 11 families only possessed 1 alien plant species. According to our survey, 55 aquatic alien plant species were intentionally introduced into China through human involvement, and the original purposes were to use them for ornamental, aquatic landscaping, water purification, and forage purposes. However, 10 species among them (nearly 18%) later became invaders, i.e., Cabomba caroliniana, Spartina alterniflora, Hydrocotyle vulgaris, Azolla filiculoides, A. philoxeroides, Myriophyllum aquaticum, E. crassipes, Pistia stratiotes, Brachiaria brizantha, and Brachiaria mutica. Among these, five species were introduced from South America, three species were introduced from North America, and two species were introduced from Africa (Figure 1). One of the worst invaders, A. philoxeroides, has invaded 18 provinces spanning a large latitudinal gradient, followed by E. crassipes, which has invaded 16 provinces (Figure 2). S. alterniflora, P. stratiotes, and M. aquaticum also have wide distributions and occur in more than nine provinces. Compared with inland provinces, there are more diverse aquatic invasive plants in the coastal provinces of China, such as Fujian, Guangdong, Guangxi, Zhejiang, and Jiangsu provinces. Moreover, the richness of aquatic invasive plant species in China increases toward further east and south (Figure 2). This pattern is consistent with

the latitudinal diversity gradient (LDG) rule which states that global biodiversity usually declines from tropics to the poles (Fischer, 1960), as the solar radiation and precipitation decrease with increasing latitudes (Lu et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2016). Thus, the low average annual temperature in higher latitude would also be unfavorable for the growth and reproduction of China's aquatic invasive plants, most of which are native to the tropics with a long history of adaptation to higher temperatures.

POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE IMPACTS OF GLOBAL CHANGE ON AQUATIC ALIEN PLANTS

Aquatic alien plants have caused significant double-edged sword effects on the freshwater ecosystems. They may threaten human health by providing habitats for mosquitoes (O'Meara et al., 2003; Chandra et al., 2006). They also hamper recreational activities and disrupt agricultural production, causing great economic losses (Oreska and Aldridge, 2010; Rumlerova et al., 2016; Keller et al., 2018; Tanveer et al., 2018). Alien aquatic plants often compete for space, nutrients, and sediment fertilities with native macrophytes, thus hindering their reestablishment and decreasing diversity (Michelan et al., 2018; Silveira et al., 2018). Some of them aggravate water loss in invaded habitats through extensive transpiration (Fraser et al., 2016); accelerating water pollution by increasing sedimentary organic matter (Cuassolo et al., 2016; Bertrin et al., 2017); and reducing oxygen diffusion across the water-air interface (Chamier et al., 2012), etc.

Alien aquatic plants could also increase regional or local aquatic plant species richness (Gołdyn, 2010; Bolpagni and Piotti, 2015). As ecosystem engineers, they could be used for water purification by reducing water turbidity, decreasing sediment nutrient loading, and intensifying seasonal fluctuations of oxygen and carbon for keeping the balance of benthic nutrients in freshwater ecosystems (Thomaz et al., 2015; Bai and Shang, 2017; Ribaudo et al., 2018). They may also provide shelters for aquatic macroinvertebrates (Rocha-Ramírez et al., 2014) and increase pollinator visitants for native aquatic plants (Stiers et al., 2014), etc.

In this study, to examine the impacts of rapid global change on both of the negative and positive effects of aquatic alien plants, we searched the literatures (article or review) from the ISI Web of Science database, mostly published during 1998–2018s, using the following search terms: ("warming" or "temperature" or "climate warming" or "global warming"), ("eutrophication" or "nitrogen" or "phosphorus"), ("flood" or "precipitation" or "rainfall"), ("trade" or "global trade" or "economic globalization") combined with ("aquatic alien plant" or "alien aquatic plant" or "aquatic exotic plant" or "exotic aquatic plant"). We carefully selected the articles that clearly reported the positive or negative impacts of global change on ecological effects of aquatic alien plants and excluded studies that addressed unrelated topics. In total, we collected data from 102 case studies about the impacts of global change on aquatic alien plants at a global



FIGURE 1 | Geographical origins of 10 major aquatic invasive plants in China. Data are from the announcements of "*Inventory of Invasive Species in China* (first–fourth volumes)" which were enacted by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of China & Chinese Academy of Sciences (2003, 2010, 2014, 2016) (http://www.mee.gov.cn/) and some published literatures (Ding et al., 2008; Yan et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2016). Latin names of species code in this figure are Cabomba caroliniana (1), Spartina alterniflora (2), Hydrocotyle vulgaris (3), Azolla filiculoides (4), Alternanthera philoxeroides (5), Myriophyllum aquaticum (6), Eichhornia crassipes (7), Pistia stratiotes (8), Brachiaria brizantha (9), and Brachiaria mutica (10).



FIGURE 2 | Interprovincial distributions of China's 10 major aquatic invasive plants. Data are from the Chinese books including "*The Chinese Aquatic Plants*" (Chen et al., 2012), "*The Checklist of the Invasive Plants*" (Ma, 2013), "*Inventory Invasive Alien Species in China*" (Xu and Qiang, 2007), and "*Illustrations of Alien Invasive Plants in China*" (Yan et al., 2016); Chinese databases including "Chinese Virtual Herbarium" (http://www.cvh.ac.cn/), "Flora Reipublicae Popularis Sinicae" (the online version, http://frps.eflora.cn/), and "National Specimen Information Infrastructure of China" (http://mnh.scu.edu.cn/); and some published literatures (Ren et al., 2004; Ding et al., 2008; Zhang and Meng, 2013; Yan et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2016).

scale (see **Supplementary Table 2**, the reference list). We found that, most of studies on climatic warming, eutrophication and



elevated rainfall reported negative impacts and a few addressed positive impacts, while studies for global trade only dealt with the negative impacts, i.e., ecological effects of aquatic alien plants (**Figure 3**).

One of the positive impacts of climatic warming on aquatic alien plants is water purification through an increase in the inhibition by certain aquatic alien plants of harmful algae, and through improving aquatic landscaping, as a result of increasing in adaptability of alien ornamental plants to aquatic environments. The negative impacts of warming include the reduction in native species diversity through increased interspecific competition, accelerated water pollution through increased alien plant litter decay rates, and aggravated aquatic alien plant invasions through an increase in their biomass and overwintering (**Figure 4**). Some aquatic invaders such



as *P. stratiotes* and *E. crassipes* are floating plants and overwinter with floating vegetative tissues; the warmer water temperature could prevent the leaves and roots from being killed by frost in the winter, and their overwintering vegetative biomass respond quickly to the elevated temperatures, thus climate change will enhance their invasion and increase their negative impacts (Santos et al., 2011; Hussner et al., 2014; You et al., 2014).

Eutrophication increases the applicability of aquatic alien plants for water purification and can decrease the relative competitive ability of certain aquatic invasive plants compared with their native accompanying plants (Qin et al., 2016b; Xu et al., 2017). However, eutrophication strongly benefits the reproduction, clonal spread, compensatory growth, metabolic enzyme activity, and nutrient assimilation of many aquatic invasive plants around the word, which would further aggravate their invasiveness (Coetzee et al., 2011; Li and Wang, 2011; You et al., 2014).

Elevated rainfall was reported to reduce the salinity and increase the water level of Lake Naivasha in Kenya, which was favorable for the survival and establishment of several exotics such as *Cyperus papyrus* and *Potamogeton distinctus*, improved the native biodiversity (Lamb et al., 2003). However, the flooding caused by elevated rainfall accelerates the downstream movement of seedlings or propagules of alien plants and may wash away many small native hydrophytes, resulting in a decrease in the resistance of freshwater ecosystems to invasion (Holmes et al., 2008; Hofstra et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2017b). Extreme hydrological events also increase the landscape connectivity of water bodies in aquatic ecosystems, increasing external nutrient inputs in freshwater discharged from agricultural areas and sewage effluents and thus accelerating aquatic invasions (Espinar et al., 2015; Anufriieva and Shadrin, 2017).

Global trade (particularly aquarium and ornamental trade) has been identified as the major pathway for aquatic alien plant introductions, and the rapid spread of propagules and/or seedlings of nonindigenous aquatic plants that caused by trade may accelerate their invasions worldwide (Ding et al., 2008; June-Wells et al., 2012; Oele et al., 2015). High numbers of potential aquatic invaders have been massively introduced into many countries for sale through global trade without strict legal regulations (Thum et al., 2012). Global trade also facilitates mutualistic invasion; for instance, the invasive Physa acuta was carried into Thailand and Laos in the introduction process of many alien aquatic ornamental/invasive plants (Ng et al., 2018). Furthermore, with the rapid development of global online trade, alien aquatic ornamental plants can be bought online easily and cheaply through the unregulated market, and some of them are invaders, such as the notorious E. crassipes (Brundu et al., 2013). In general, the negative impacts of global change on aquatic alien plants are much greater than its positive impacts at a global scale.

WARMING IS EXPANDING THE DISTRIBUTIONS OF AQUATIC ALIEN PLANTS ACROSS CHINA

The Earth's climate has warmed by nearly 1.0°C over the past 100 years, and it is predicted that the average temperature will continue to increase by 3°C at the end of the 21st century, however, it could breach 1.5°C between 2030 and 2052 if climate warming continues at its current rate (IPCC, 2018; Tollefson, 2018). In China, the average temperature has increased by approximately 0.4°C per decade in the last 40 years, and the high latitudinal regions in North China will have a greater temperature increase under global warming (Walther et al., 2002; Ding et al., 2007). Increasing water temperature has caused profound impacts on the establishment, growth, phenology, and distribution of aquatic plant species in freshwater ecosystems, especially alien species, because aquatic alien plants usually have more active responses to climatic warming compared with native co-occurring plants (Sorte et al., 2013; Hussner, 2014; You et al., 2014). Thus, warming may increase the risk of aquatic alien plants transforming into invaders, such as the alien Thalia dealbata in China (Chen and Ding, 2011), and accelerate aquatic invasive plants spreading to more new regions (especially higher latitudes), such as the invasive A. filiculoides in Spain, P. stratiotes in Germany, and Egeria densa in the United States; the invasiveness and overwintering of these invaders were greatly promoted by warming (Santos et al., 2011; Hussner et al., 2014; Espinar et al., 2015).

In China, climate warming has also increased the net photosynthetic rate and morphological plasticity of invasive A. philoxeroides (Lu et al., 2013; Chu et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017), as well as accelerated its spread to higher latitudes of North China. Warming also increased enemy release from the bio-control beetle A. hygrophila (Figure 5), because A. philoxeroides tolerated cold better than its natural enemy A. hygrophila and expanded more fast to the higher latitudes, while A. hygrophila failed to overwinter in the low temperature of Northern China, thus, geographical gap between A. philoxeroides and A. hygrophila would be shifted to higher latitudes under warming, further benefiting plant invasion (Lu et al., 2013). However, warming could also affect the biotic interactions among A. hygrophila, A. philoxeroides, and its native congener A. sessilis in China, as warming significantly increased the plant performances (e.g., aboveground biomass, flower, and seed numbers, etc.) of A. sessilis relative to the cooccurring invader in the presence of A. hygrophila, and the beetle abundance on A. philoxeroides was higher than that on A. sessilis under elevated temperature, thus relatively increased the biotic resistance of native A. sessilis to A. philoxeroides invasion (Lu et al., 2016).

Warming significantly increases the growth of *E. crassipes*, which is one of the major aquatic invaders in China (You et al., 2014). Consistent with findings in other countries (Hussner, 2014; Espinar et al., 2015; Vojtkó et al., 2017), invasion by *P. stratiotes*, *A. filiculoides*, and *C. caroliniana* in China would also be continuously aggravated by climatic warming. According to the latest survey, *C. caroliniana* has

expanded its northern distribution boundary to the 40°N region of Beijing City, i.e., at higher latitudes (Zhang and Meng, 2013). Warming could also improve the adaption of some aquatic alien plants used in landscaping (such as Nymphaea rubra) and thus increase the species diversity of aquatic vegetation (Hussner and Lösch, 2005; Vojtkó et al., 2017). Warming could even weaken the spread of certain aquatic invasive plants, such as Elodea canadensis in Polish lakes, as warming strengthened the thermal stratification of water columns and thus might reduce the nutrient cycles between deeper waters and surface, which would weaken the nutrient supply to E. canadensis (Kolada and Kutyła, 2016; Vasconcelos et al., 2019). Furthermore, the asymmetry of global warming between day and night may further exacerbate the invasion of aquatic alien plants and cause considerable detrimental impacts (Harvey, 1995; Walther et al., 2002; Chu et al., 2014). For example, the submerged plant species Myriophyllum spicatum, which is native to Europe, Asia, and has invaded to North America, has prolonged its growing season under climate warming, thus the increasing abundance in freshwater ecosystems significantly increased its biomass and carbon stock (Velthuis et al., 2018). In China, many aquatic invaders were introduced from the tropics with higher thermal tolerance,



FIGURE 5 | Dynamic distributions of aquatic invasive *A. philoxeroides* and its biocontrol beetle *Agasicles hygrophila* in China under global warming. In 1995, the potential northern boundaries of *A. philoxeroides* and *A. hygrophila* were predicted to be at 31.5°N (as the shadowing shows) and 27°N, respectively. In 2001, the northern boundaries of *A. philoxeroides* and *A. hygrophila* were found at 32°N and 35°N, respectively. In 2013, the northern boundary of *A. hygrophila* was still limited at 32°N (as the yellow dots show); however, *A. philoxeroides* had expanded to approximately 37°N (as the green dots show). Data were from related literatures (Julien et al., 1995; Ma, 2001; Lu et al., 2013).

and they are distributed in large geographical ranges of China (**Figures 1**, **2**), warming may increase their invasion risk at high latitudes in the future.

EUTROPHICATION PROMOTES THE APPLICABILITY AND INVASION RISKS OF ALIEN HYDROPHYTES

Water eutrophication is the consequence of human activities caused by depositing high levels of organic compounds and/or nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus) into freshwater ecosystems (Carpenter et al., 1998; Yu et al., 2018). In China, a large amount of domestic and industrial wastewater is discharged without treatment, which seriously intensifies eutrophication (Ding et al., 2008; Le et al., 2010). At present, more than 70% of the major lakes in China have undergone severe eutrophication (Jin et al., 2005; Yu et al., 2018). For these reasons, there is increased demand for certain aquatic alien plant for water purification in China, such as E. crassipes, P. stratiotes, M. aquaticum, A. philoxeroides, T. dealbata, S. alterniflora, which all have excellent phytoremediation properties, with a high nutrient removal ability and allelopathic inhibition of harmful algae (Zuo et al., 2012; Qin et al., 2016a); consequently, water transparency and the control of cyanobacterial blooms could increase.

On the other hand, the growth rates, photosynthetic capacity, and phenotypic plasticity of aquatic alien plants usually increase more intensively than those of native hydrophytes in nutrient-rich waters (Riis et al., 2010; Yu et al., 2018), and most aquatic alien plant species become successful invaders. In China, eutrophication increases biomass accumulation, asexual reproduction, compensatory growth, and photosynthetic leaf areas of A. philoxeroides (Shen et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2010; Zuo et al., 2012; Ding et al., 2014); promotes the growth rate, clonal propagation, nitrate reductase, and glutamine synthetase activities of E. crassipes (Li et al., 2008, Li and Wang, 2011); and increases the biomass, shoot length, and nutrient uptake of M. aquaticum (You et al., 2013; Liu S.B. et al., 2017), which intensify the interspecific competition of these three aquatic invaders with respect to native plants. In addition, interactions between warming and eutrophication have been shown to significantly improve the overwintering ability of E. crassipes in China (You et al., 2014). Excessive growth of aquatic invasive plants in nutrientrich waters may exacerbate the deposition of their dead matter and reduce the dissolved oxygen in invaded habitats. Indeed, more than a hundred rivers with eutrophication have been blocked by E. crassipes and/or A. philoxeroides in southern China over the last 30 years (Ding et al., 2008). Similarly, eutrophication in other countries also severely accelerates aquatic plant invasions, such as E. canadensis in New Zealand and Glyceria maxima in Australia (Loo et al., 2009; Riis et al., 2010). Moreover, the annual bulk deposition of nitrogen in China has increased by 8 kg per hectare in the last 30 years (Liu et al., 2013); excessive nitrogen flowing into waters would aggravate the eutrophication of

freshwater ecosystems and thus further accelerate China's aquatic plant invasions.

INCREASING RAINFALL ACCELERATES THE SPREAD OF AQUATIC ALIEN PLANTS IN CHINA

With ongoing climate change, extreme global climatic events become more frequent, such as floods, and China is under a high risk of heavy rainfall (Piao et al., 2010; Diez et al., 2012). For instance, summer precipitation has significantly increased in southern China since the 1960s, which readily causes severe flooding (especially in the Yangtze River basin) (Piao et al., 2010), while the frequency of moderate rain has increased in the high latitudes of northern China, and extreme rainfall may increase over most of China in the future (Gao et al., 2015). This elevated rainfall improves the adaptation and survival of aquatic alien ornamental/landscape plants in arid regions of northern China; however, this would thus promote the transport of alien plant propagules across China, particularly those of free-floating species (such as E. crassipes, P. stratiotes, and A. filiculoides), as well as provide more suitable aquatic environments for the spread and establishment of aquatic invasive plants at high latitudes. It has been reported that some aquatic plant invasions (e.g., A. philoxeroides and M. aquaticum) in China are significantly correlated with precipitation, as rainfall increases their biomass or species coverage (You et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2017b). For instance, elevated rainfall increased peroxidase and superoxide dismutase activities, species coverage, and new leaf numbers of A. philoxeroides, while water level fluctuation increases A. philoxeroides shoot length but reduces intraspecific competition (Yu, 2011; Chen et al., 2016). Elevated rainfall/water level fluctuations can also increase clonal integration, the number of branches, and the stolon length of the invasive species M. aquaticum (You et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2016), facilitating its invasion in China. Flash flooding due to elevated rainfall also reduces the biotic resistance of native aquatic plants, aggravates eutrophication through fertilizer runoff, and improves the connectivity of waters, increasing the invasion of freshwater ecosystems by aquatic alien plants (Collinge et al., 2011; Espinar et al., 2015; Anufriieva and Shadrin, 2017). In Florida, elevated rainfall increases the water content in the leaf axils of aquatic alien plants, which improves habitats for the growth of mosquitoes and thus exacerbates potential harms caused to human health (O'Meara et al., 2003). In addition, large-scale hydraulic projects, such as China's South-to-North Water Diversion Project (SNWD), may provide an express channel for the spread of aquatic invasive plants, especially during flooding (Liu D.S. et al., 2017), and elevated rainfall could even interact with climatic warming to accelerate the spreading of aquatic invaders (Espinar et al., 2015). Together, these findings indicate that rainfall will increase the uncertainties of the ecological effects of alien aquatic plants.

BOOMING GLOBAL TRADE AGGRAVATES CHINA'S ONGOING AQUATIC INVASIONS

Since China implemented the landmark "reform and opening" policy in 1978, its gross volume of import and export trade increased rapidly. After China joined the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 2001, it has become the second largest importing country in the world, such that the total value of China's imports and exports increased from approximately RMB 35.5 billion to RMB 27,800 billion over the period 1978-2017, which is a 782-fold increase, and its trading partners expanded from 40 to 231 countries/regions (National Bureau of Statistics of China [NBSC], 2017). Under global change, such phenomenal growth in the international trade of China also aggravated aquatic plant invasions (Ding et al., 2008; Weber and Li, 2008). Global trade effectively promotes the distribution and spread of many of these species, through horticultural, ornamental, and aquarium trades; the dumping of ballast water and the burgeoning unregulated Internet trades; and many aquatic alien ornamental plants that come from international trades usually have higher growth rates, cold tolerance, and dispersal ability (Pemberton and Liu, 2009; Martin and Coetzee, 2011; Azan et al., 2015). For example, the invasive species E. crassipes and C. caroliniana were introduced into China through global ornamental and aquarium trades without risk assessment and have subsequently severely invaded and threatened native plant diversity in Southern China (He et al., 2011; You et al., 2014). Other aquatic alien plants, such as T. dealbata and E. densa, which also have great potential invasiveness, are still imported into China through international trading (Chen and Ding, 2011). Recently, China started another huge international trade project, "The Belt and Road (B&R)," in 2013. Under this project, the total value of China's imports and exports from the B&R reaches RMB 3.32 billion in 5 years, with a growth rate that is 1.4% higher than that of the national average level (National Bureau of Statistics of China [NBSC], 2017). These growing global trades may thus continuously increase the invasion risk of aquatic alien plants in China.

CONCLUSION

Our study shows that alien aquatic plants have caused both positive and negative ecological effects on freshwater ecosystems and global change, such as climate warming, eutrophication, elevated rainfall, and global trade could increase or decrease those effects. In China, eutrophication increases the demands for aquatic alien plants for use in water purification and

REFERENCES

Anufriieva, E. V., and Shadrin, N. V. (2017). Extreme hydrological events destabilize aquatic ecosystems and open doors for alien species. *Quat. Int.* 475, 11–15. doi: 10.1016/j.quaint.2017. 12.006 landscaping, while climate warming may improve the adaption of aquatic alien ornamental plants and even increase the biotic resistance of native plants to aquatic invaders. However, warming, eutrophication, and elevated rainfall could increase the invasiveness of many aquatic invasive plants, and booming global trade may accelerate the dispersal of aquatic invaders across this country. In brief, global change is sharpening the doubleedged sword effect of China's aquatic alien plants, increasing the utilization of aquatic alien plant resources, and aggravating their invasion risk.

Our study also indicates that human activities under rapid economic development and climate change can either accelerate aquatic alien plants establishment or the spread of invaders. It is necessary to intensify the risk assessment before introduction and prediction of the potential distributions of invading species. Our findings may assist in predicting aquatic plant invasions and the rational utilization of aquatic plant resources, as well as provide important implications for native plant biodiversity protection under rapid global change.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JD conceptualized the overall structure. HW collected and analyzed all the data. HW and JD wrote the manuscript and approved this final version of the manuscript to be published.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Key Research and Development Program (2017YFC1200100), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31800460), and the Nanhu Scholars Program for Young Scholars of Xinyang Normal University (XYNU).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Springer Nature Author Services for language editing and appreciate the editor and two reviewers' constructive comments which improved the earlier versions of this manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2019.00787/ full#supplementary-material

- Azan, S., Bardecki, M., and Laursen, A. E. (2015). Invasive aquatic plants in the aquarium and ornamental pond industries: a risk assessment for southern Ontario (Canada). Weed Res. 55, 249–259. doi: 10.1111/wre.12135
- Bai, X., and Shang, L. X. (2017). Impact of an alien invasive plant Amaranthus retroflexus on wetland sediment properties under two growth stages. J. Freshw. Ecol. 32, 581–589. doi: 10.1080/02705060.2017.1361477

- Bertrin, V., Boutry, S., Jan, G., Ducasse, G., Grigoletto, F., and Ribaudo, C. (2017). Effects of wind-induced sediment resuspension on distribution and morphological traits of aquatic weeds in shallow lakes. J. Limnol. 76, 84–96. doi: 10.4081/jlimnol.2017.1678
- Blumenthal, D. (2006). Interactions between resource availability and enemy release in plant invasion. *Ecol. Lett.* 9, 887–895. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006. 00934.x
- Bolpagni, R., and Piotti, A. (2015). Hydro-hygrophilous vegetation diversity and distribution patterns in riverine wetlands in an agricultural landscape: a case study from the Oglio River (Po Plain, Northern Italy). *Phytocoenologia* 45, 69–84. doi: 10.1127/0340-269X/2014/0044
- Brundu, G., Azzella, M. M., Blasi, C., Camarda, I., Iberite, M., and Celesti-Grapow, L. (2013). The silent invasion of Eichhornia crassipes (Mart.) Solms. in Italy. *Plant Biosyst.* 147, 1120–1127. doi: 10.1080/11263504.2013.86 1536
- Carpenter, S. R., Caraco, N. F., Correll, D. L., Howarth, R. W., Sharpley, A. N., and Smith, V. H. (1998). Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. *Ecol. Appl.* 8, 559–568. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761
- Carpenter, S. R., and Lodge, D. M. (1986). Effects of submerged macrophytes on ecosystem processes. *Aquat. Bot.* 16, 341–370. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(86) 90031-8
- Chambers, P. A., Lacoul, P., Murphy, K. J., and Thomaz, S. M. (2008). Global diversity of aquatic macrophytes in freshwater. *Hydrobiologia* 595, 9–26. doi: 10.1007/s10750-007-9154-6
- Chamier, J., Schachtschneider, K., le Maitre, D. C., Ashton, P. J., and van Wilgen, B. W. (2012). Impacts of invasive alien plants on water quality, with particular emphasis on South Africa. *Water SA* 38, 345–356. doi: 10.4314/wsa.v38i2.19
- Chandra, G., Ghosh, A., Biswas, D., and Chatterjee, S. N. (2006). Host plant preference of Mansonia mosquitoes. J. Aquat. Plant Manage. 44, 142–144. doi: 10.1007/s00436-008-0914-7
- Chen, S., and Ding, J. Q. (2011). Risk assessment and spread potential of alien wetland plant species *Thalia dealbata* in China. *Plant Sci. J.* 6, 675–682. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1142.2011.60675
- Chen, X. W., Yu, D., and Liu, C. H. (2016). Effect of water level fluctuation frequency on Alternanthera philoxeroides, Myriophyllum aquaticum and Ludwigia adscendens in autumn. Chin. J. Plant Ecol. 40, 493–501. doi: 10.17521/ cjpe.2015.0174
- Chen, Y. D., Ma, X. T., Du, Y. F., Feng, M., and Li, M. (2012). *The Chinese Aquatic Plants*. Zhengzhou: Henan Science and Technology Press.
- Chu, Y. M., Yang, J., Li, J. J., and Peng, P. H. (2014). Three warming scenarios differentially affect the morphological plasticity of an invasive herb *Alternanthera philoxeroides. Acta Ecol. Sin.* 34, 1411–1417.
- Coetzee, J. A., Hill, M. P., Byrne, M. J., and Bownes, A. (2011). A review of the biological control programmes on Eichhornia crassipes (C.Mart.) Solms (Pontederiaceae), Salvinia molesta D. S. Mitch. (Salviniaceae), Pistia stratiotes L. (Araceae), Myriophyllum aquaticum (Vell.) Verdc. (Haloragaceae) and Azolla filiculoides Lam. (Azollaceae) in South Africa. Afr. Entomol. 19, 451–468. doi: 10.4001/003.019.0202
- Collinge, S. K., Ray, C., and Gerhardt, F. (2011). Long-term dynamics of biotic and abiotic resistance to exotic species invasion in restored vernal pool plant communities. *Ecol. Appl.* 21, 2105–2118. doi: 10.1890/10-1094.1

Cook, C. D. K. (1990). Aquatic Plant Book. The Hague: SPB Academic Publishing.

- Cuassolo, F., Navarro, M. B., Beatriz, E., and Modenutti, B. (2016). Effect of light on particulate and dissolved organic matter production of native and exotic macrophyte species in Patagonia. *Hydrobiologia* 766, 29–42. doi: 10.1007/ s10750-015-2434-7
- Diez, J. M., Antonio, C. M. D., Dukes, J. S., Grosholz, E. D., Olden, J. D., Sorte, C. J. B., et al. (2012). Will extreme climatic events facilitate biological invasions? *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 10, 249–257. doi: 10.1890/110137
- Ding, J. Q., Mack, R. N., Lu, P., Ren, M. X., and Huang, H. W. (2008). China's booming economy is sparking and accelerating biological invasions. *BioScience* 58, 317–324. doi: 10.1641/B580407
- Ding, J. Q., Reardon, R., Wu, Y., Zheng, H., and Fu, W. D. (2006). Biological control of invasive plants through collaboration between China and the United States of America: a perspective. *Biol. Invasions* 8, 1439–1450. doi: 10.1007/s10530-005-5833-2
- Ding, W. J., Zhang, H. Y., Zhang, F. J., Wang, L. J., and Cui, S. B. (2014). Morphology of the invasive amphiphyte Alternanthera philoxeroides under

different water levels and nitrogen concentrations. *Acta Biol. Cracov. Bot.* 56/2, 136–147. doi: 10.2478/abcsb-2014-0028

- Ding, Y. H., Ren, G. Y., Zhao, Z. C., Xie, Y., Luo, Y., Li, Q. P., et al. (2007). Detection, causes and projection of climate change over China: an overview of recent progress. Adv. Atmos. Sci. 24, 954–971. doi: 10.1007/s00376-007-0954-4
- Espinar, J. L., Díaz-Delgado, R., Bravo-Utrera, M. A., and Vilà, M. (2015). Linking Azolla filiculoides invasion to increased winter temperatures in the Doñana marshland (SW Spain). Aquat. Invasions 10, 17–24. doi: 10.3391/ai.2015. 10.1.02
- Fischer, A. G. (1960). Latitudinal variations in organic diversity. *Evolution* 14, 64–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.1960.tb03057.x
- Fraser, G. C. G., Hill, M. P., and Martin, J. A. (2016). Economic evaluation of water loss saving due to the biological control of water hyacinth at New Year's Dam, eastern cape province, South Africa. *Afr. J. Aquat. Sci.* 41, 1–8. doi: 10.2989/16085914.2016.1151765
- Gao, J. Q., Yang, X. G., Dong, Z. Y., and Li, K. N. (2015). Precipitation resource changed characteristics in arid and humid regions in Northern China with climate changes. *Trans. Chin. Soc. Agric. Eng.* 31, 99–110. doi: 10.11975/j.issn. 1002-6819.2015.12.014
- Gao, L., and Li, B. (2004). The study of a specious invasive plant, water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes): achievements and challenges. *Chin. J. Plant. Ecol.* 28, 735–752. doi: 10.17521/cjpe.2004.0097
- GISP (2003). *The IAS Problem. The Global Invasive Species Programme*. Available at: http://www.gisp.org/about/IAS.asp (accessed May 10, 2019).
- Gołdyn, H. (2010). Changes in plant species diversity of aquatic ecosystems in the agricultural landscape in West Poland in the last 30 years. *Biodivers. Conserv.* 19, 61–80. doi: 10.1007/s10531-009-9702-7

Harvey. (1995). Warm days, hot nights. Nature 377, 15-16. doi: 10.1038/377015a0

- Hastwell, G. T., Daniel, A. J., and Vivian-Smith, G. (2008). Predicting invasiveness in exotic species: do subtropical native and invasive exotic aquatic plants differ in their growth responses to macronutrients? *Divers. Distrib.* 14, 243–251. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4642.2007.00367.x
- He, J. M., Huang, C., Wan, F. H., and Guo, J. Y. (2011). Invasion and distribution of cabomba caroliniana in wetlands of jiangsu, China. *Chin. J. Appl. Environ. Biol.* 17, 186–190. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1145.2011.00186
- Henriksen, J. W., Lim, D. S., Lu, X. M., Ding, J. Q., and Siemann, E. (2018). Strong effects of hydrologic environment and weak effects of elevated CO2 on the invasive weed Alternanthera philoxeroides and the biocontrol beetle Agasicles hygrophila. Arthropod Plant. Int. 12, 691–700. doi: 10.1007/s11829-018-9614-0
- Hilt, S., Brothers, S., Jeppesen, E., Veraart, A., and Kosten, S. (2017). Translating regime shifts in shallow lakes into changes in ecosystem functions and services. *BioScience* 67, 928–936. doi: 10.1093/biosci/bix106
- Hofstra, D., Champion, P., and Clayton, J. (2010). Predicting invasive success of Hydrilla verticillata (L.f.) Royle in flowing water. *Hydrobiologia* 656, 213–219. doi: 10.1007/s10750-010-0445-y
- Holmes, P. M., Esler, K. J., Richardson, D. M., and Witkowski, E. T. F. (2008). Guidelines for improved management of riparian zones invaded by alien plants in South Africa. S. Afr. J. Bot. 74, 538–552. doi: 10.1016/j.sajb.2008.01.182
- Hussner, A. (2012). Alien aquatic plant species in European countries. *Weed Res.* 52, 297–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2012.00926.x
- Hussner, A. (2014). Long-term macrophyte mapping documents a continuously shift from native to non-native aquatic plant dominance in the thermally abnormal River Erft (North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany). *Limnologica* 48, 39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.limno.2014.05.003
- Hussner, A., Heidbuechel, P., and Heiligtag, S. (2014). Vegetative overwintering and viable seed production explain the establishment of invasive Pistia stratiotes in the thermally abnormal Erft River (North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany). *Aquat. Bot.* 119, 28–32. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2014.06.011
- Hussner, A., and Lösch, R. (2005). Alien aquatic plants in a thermally abnormal river and their assembly to neophyte-dominated macrophyte stands (River Erft, Northrhine-Westphalia). *Limnologica* 35, 18–30. doi: 10.1016/j.limno.2005. 01.001
- Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M. J. J. M., Bakker, E. S., Grutters, B. M. C., Haury, J., et al. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: a review. *Aquat. Bot.* 136, 112–137. doi: 10.1016/j. aquabot.2016.08.002
- IPCC (2018). IPCC Special Report: Global Warming of 1.5 °C. Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

- Jeppesen, E., Søndergaard, M., Søndergaard, M., and Christoffersen, K. (eds) (1998). The structuring role of submerged macrophytes in lakes. *Ecol. Stud.* 131, 361–368. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-0695-8
- Jiang, L. Z., Wang, D., Liu, S. N., Pan, R., Shen, F., and Zhou, J. (2010). Effect of light and nitrogen on morphological traits and biomass allocation of an invasive weed Alternanthera philoxeroides(Mart.) Griseb. Acta Hydrol. Sin. 34, 101–107. doi: 10.3724/sp.j.1035.2010.00101
- Jin, X., Xu, Q., and Huang, C. (2005). Current status and future tendency of lake eutrophication in China. Sci. Chin. Ser. C 48, 948–954. doi: 10.1360/062005-286
- Julien, M. H., Skarratt, B., and Maywald, G. F. (1995). Potential geographical distribution of alligator weed and its biological control by *Agasicles hygrophila*. *J. Aquat. Plant. Manage.* 33, 55–60.
- June-Wells, M., Vossbrinck, C. R., Gibbons, J., and Bugbee, G. (2012). The aquarium trade: a potential risk for nonnative plant introductions in Connecticut, USA. *Lake Reserv. Manage.* 28, 200–205. doi: 10.1080/07438141. 2012.693575
- Keller, R. P., Masoodi, A., and Shackleton, R. T. (2018). The impact of invasive aquatic plants on ecosystem services and human well-being in Wular Lake, India. *Reg. Environ. Change* 18, 847–857. doi: 10.1007/s10113-017-1232-3
- Kennedy, K. T. M., and El-Sabaawi, R. W. (2017). A global meta-analysis of exotic versus native leaf decay in stream ecosystems. *Freshw. Biol.* 62, 977–989. doi: 10.1111/fwb.12918
- Kolada, A., and Kutyła, S. (2016). Elodea canadensis (Michx.) in Polish lakes: a non-aggressive addition to native flora. *Biol. Invasions* 18, 3251–3264. doi: 10.1007/s10530-016-1212-4
- Lamb, H., Darbyshire, I., and Verschuren, D. (2003). Vegetation response to rainfall variation and human impact in central Kenya during the past 1100 years. *Holocene* 13, 285–292. doi: 10.1191/0959683603hl618rr
- Le, C., Zha, Y., Li, Y., Sun, D., Lu, H., and Yin, B. (2010). Eutrophication of lake waters in China: cost, causes, and control. *Environ. Manage.* 45, 662–668. doi: 10.1007/s00267-010-9440-3
- Li, W. (2014). Environmental opportunities and constraints in the reproduction and dispersal of aquatic plants. *Aquat. Bot.* 118, 62–70. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot. 2014.07.008
- Li, W. G., Gong, H. M., and Chang, T. J. (2008). Effects of nitrogen form on growth and physiological responses of an aquatic plant *Eichhornia crassipes*. J. Agro Environ. Sci. 27, 1545–1549.
- Li, W. G., and Wang, J. B. (2011). Influence of light and nitrate assimilation on the growth strategy in clonal weed Eichhornia crassipes. *Aquat. Ecol.* 45, 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s10452-010-9318-8
- Lin, D. L., Xia, J. Y., and Wan, S. Q. (2010). Climate warming and biomass accumulation of terrestrial plants: a meta-analysis. *New Phytol.* 188, 187–198. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03347.x
- Liu, D. S., Wang, R., Gordon, D. R., Sun, X., Chen, L., and Wang, Y. (2017). Predicting plant invasions following China's water diversion project. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 51, 1450–1457. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.6b05577
- Liu, S. B., Ran, B., Zeng, G. J., Li, B. Z., Zhu, H. M., Li, F., et al. (2017). Physiological characteristics and nitrogen and phosphorus uptake of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* under high ammonium conditions. *Environ. Sci.* 38, 3731–3737. doi: 10.13227/j.hjkx.201701019
- Liu, G. F., Bao, X. M., Wu, T. T., Han, S. Q., Xiao, M., Yan, S. H., et al. (2015). Purification of water in Zhushan Bay of Taihu lake with water hyacinth ecological engineering. *J. Agro Environ. Sci.* 34, 352–360. doi: 10.11654/jaes. 2015.02.020
- Liu, X. J., Zhang, Y., Han, W. X., Tang, A. H., Shen, J. L., Cui, Z. L., et al. (2013). Enhanced nitrogen deposition over China. *Nature* 494, 459–462. doi: 10.1038/ nature11917
- Loo, S. E., Mac Nally, R., O'Dowd, D. J., Thomson, J. R., and Lake, P. S. (2009). Multiple scale analysis of factors influencing the distribution of an invasive aquatic grass. *Biol. Invasions* 11, 1903–1912. doi: 10.1007/s10530-008-9368-1
- Lu, X. M., Siemann, E., He, M. Y., Wei, H., Shao, X., and Ding, J. Q. (2015). Climate warming increases biological control agent impact on a non-target species. *Ecol. Lett.* 18, 48–56. doi: 10.1111/ele.12391
- Lu, X. M., Siemann, E., He, M. Y., Wei, H., Shao, X., and Ding, J. Q. (2016). Warming benefits a native species competing with an invasive congener in the presence of a biocontrol beetle. *New Phytol.* 211, 1371–1381. doi: 10.1111/nph. 13976
- Lu, X. M., Siemann, E., Shao, X., Wei, H., and Ding, J. Q. (2013). Climate warming affects biological invasions by shifting interactions of plants and herbivores. *Glob. Change Biol.* 19, 2339–2347. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12244

- Ma, J. S. (2013). The Checklist of the Invasive Plants. Beijing: Higher Education Press.
- Ma, R. Y. (2001). Ecological Adaptation for the Introduced Biocontrol Agent, Agasicles Hygropghila, for Alligator Weed, Alternanthera Philoxeroides, in China. Ph.D. thesis, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Beijing.
- Maki, K., and Galatowitsch, S. (2004). Movement of invasive aquatic plants into Minnesota (USA) through horticultural trade. *Biol. Conserv.* 118, 389–396. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2003.09.015
- Martin, G. D., and Coetzee, J. A. (2011). Pet stores, aquarists and the internet trade as modes of introduction and spread of invasive macrophytes in South Africa. *Water SA* 37, 371–380. doi: 10.4314/wsa.v37i3.68488
- Michelan, T. S., Thomaz, S. M., Bando, F. M., and Bini, L. M. (2018). Competitive effects hinder the recolonization of native species in environments densely occupied by one invasive exotic species. *Front. Plant. Sci.* 9:1261. doi: 10.3389/ fpls.2018.01261
- Ministry of Ecology and Environment of China & Chinese Academy of Sciences (2003, 2010, 2014, 2016). *Inventory of Invasive Species in China (First-Fourth Volumes)*. Available at: http://www.mee.gov.cn/
- National Bureau of Statistics of China [NBSC] (2017). *China Statistical Yearbook 2017*. Beijing: China Statistics Press.
- Ng, T. H., Limpanont, Y., Chusongsang, Y., Chusongsang, P., and Panha, S. (2018). Correcting misidentifications and first confirmation of the globally-invasive *Physa acuta* Draparnaud, 1805 (Gastropoda: Physidae) in Thailand and Laos. *BioInvasions Rec.* 7, 15–19. doi: 10.3391/bir.2018. 7.1.03
- Oele, D. L., Wagner, K. I., Mikulyuk, A., Seeley-Schreck, C., and Hauxwell, J. A. (2015). Effecting compliance with invasive species regulations through outreach and education of live plant retailers. *Biol. Invasions* 17, 2707–2716. doi: 10.1007/ s10530-015-0907-2
- O'Meara, G. F., Cutwa, M. M., and Evans, L. F. (2003). Bromeliad-inhabiting mosquitoes in south Florida: native and exotic plants differ in species composition. J. Vector Ecol. 28, 37–46.
- Oreska, M. P. J., and Aldridge, D. C. (2010). Estimating the financial costs of freshwater invasive species in Great Britain: a standardized approach to invasive species costing. *Biol. Invasions* 13, 305–319. doi: 10.1007/s10530-010-9807-7
- Pemberton, R. W., and Liu, H. (2009). Marketing time predicts naturalization of horticultural plants. *Ecology* 90, 69–80. doi: 10.2307/27650949
- Piao, S. L., Ciais, P., Huang, Y., Shen, Z. H., Peng, S. S., Li, J. S., et al. (2010). The impacts of climate change on water resources and agriculture in China. *Nature* 467, 43–51. doi: 10.1038/nature09364
- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Hulme, P. E., Kühn, I., Wild, J., Arianoutsou, M., et al. (2010). Disentangling the role of environmental and human pressures on biological invasions across Europe. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 12157–12162. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1002314107
- Pyšek, P., Richardson, D. M., Rejmanek, M., Webster, G. L., Williamson, M., and Kirschner, J. (2004). Alien plants in checklists and floras: towards better communication between taxonomists and ecologists. *Taxon* 53, 131–143. doi: 10.2307/4135498
- Qin, H. J., Zhang, Z. Y., Liu, H. Q., Li, D. H., Wen, X. Z., Zhang, Y. Y., et al. (2016a). Fenced cultivation of water hyacinth for cyanobacterial bloom control. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. R.* 23, 17742–17752. doi: 10.1007/s11356-016-6799-6
- Qin, H. J., Zhang, Z. Y., Liu, M. H., Liu, H. Q., Wang, Y., Wen, X. Z., et al. (2016b). Site test of phytoremediation of an open pond contaminated with domestic sewage using water hyacinth and water lettuce. *Ecol. Eng.* 95, 753–762. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2016.07.022
- Ren, M. X., Zhang, Q. G., and Zhang, D. Y. (2004). Geographical variation in the breeding systems of an invasive plant, Eichhornia crassipes, within china. *Chin. J. Plant. Ecol.* 28, 753–760. doi: 10.17521/cjpe.2004.0098
- Ribaudo, C., Tison-Rosebery, J., Buquet, D., Jan, G., Jamoneau, A., Abril, G., et al. (2018). Invasive aquatic plants as ecosystem engineers in an Oligo-Mesotrophic shallow lake. *Front. Plant. Sci.* 9:1781. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01781
- Riis, T., Lambertini, C., Olesen, B., Clayton, J. S., Brix, H., and Sorrell, B. K. (2010). Invasion strategies in clonal aquatic plants: are phenotypic differences caused by phenotypic plasticity or local adaptation? *Ann. Bot. London* 106, 813–822. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcq176
- Rocha-Ramírez, A., Robles-Valderrama, E., and Ramírez-Flores, E. (2014). Invasive alien species water hyacinth Eichhornia crassipes as abode for macroinvertebrates in hypertrophic Ramsar Site, Lake Xochimilco, Mexico. J. Environ. Biol. 35, 1071–1080.

- Rumlerova, Z., Vila, M., Pergl, J., Nentwig, W., and Pyšek, P. (2016). Scoring environmental and socioeconomic impacts of alien plants invasive in Europe. *Biol. Invasions* 18, 3697–3711. doi: 10.1007/s10530-016-1259-2
- Santos, M., Anderson, J. L. W., and Ustin, S. L. (2011). Effects of invasive species on plant communities: an example using submersed aquatic plants at the regional scale. *Biol. Invasions* 13, 443–457. doi: 10.1007/s10530-010-9840-6
- Shen, R. L., Guan, B. H., Cai, Y., An, S. Q., Jiang, J. H., and Dong, L. (2007). High sediment phosphorus concentration enhanced invasiveness of *Alternanthera philoxeroides. Chin. J. Plant Ecol.* 31, 665–672. doi: 10.17521/cjpe.2007.0086
- Silveira, M. J., Alves, D. C., and Thomaz, S. M. (2018). Effects of the density of the invasive macrophyte Hydrilla verticillata and root competition on growth of one native macrophyte in different sediment fertilities. *Ecol. Res.* 33, 927–934. doi: 10.1007/s11284-018-1602-4
- Sorte, C. J. B., Ibanez, I., Blumenthal, D. M., Molinari, N. A., Miller, L. P., Grosholz, E. D., et al. (2013). Poised to prosper? A cross-system comparison of climate change effects on native and non-native species performance. *Ecol. Lett.* 16, 261–270. doi: 10.1111/ele.12017
- Stiers, I., Coussement, K., and Triest, L. (2014). The invasive aquatic plant Ludwigia grandiflora affects pollinator visitants to a native plant at high abundances. *Aquat. Invasions* 9, 357–367. doi: 10.3391/ai.2014.9.3.10
- Tanveer, A., Ali, H. H., Manalil, S., Raza, A., and Chauhan, B. S. (2018). Ecobiology and management of alligator weed [(*Alternanthera philoxeroides*) Mart. *Griseb*.]: a Review. Wetlands 38, 1067–1079. doi: 10.1007/s13157-018-1062-1
- Thomaz, S. M., Mormul, R. P., and Michelan, T. S. (2015). Propagule pressure, invasibility of freshwater ecosystems by macrophytes and their ecological impacts: a review of tropical freshwater ecosystems. *Hydrobiologia* 746, 39–59. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-2044-9
- Thouvenot, L., Haury, J., and Thiebaut, G. (2013). A success story: water primroses, aquatic plant pests. *Aquat. Conserv.* 23, 790–803. doi: 10.1002/aqc.2387
- Thum, R. A., Mercer, A. T., and Wcisel, D. J. (2012). Loopholes in the regulation of invasive species: genetic identifications identify mislabeling of prohibited aquarium plants. *Biol. Invasions* 14, 929–937. doi: 10.1007/s10530-011-0130-8
- Tollefson, J. (2018). IPCC says limiting global warming to 1.5 °C will require drastic action. *Nature* 562, 172–173. doi: 10.1038/d41586-018-06876-2
- Vasconcelos, F. R., Diehl1, S., Rodríguez, P., Hedström, P., Karlsson, J., and Byström, P. (2019). Bottom-up and top-down effects of browning and warming on shallow lake food webs. *Glob. Change Biol.* 25, 504–521. doi: 10.1111/gcb. 14521
- Velthuis, M., Kosten, S., Aben, R., Kazanjian, G., Hilt, S., Peeters, E. T. H. M., et al. (2018). Warming enhances sedimentation and decomposition of organic carbon in shallow macrophyte-dominated systems with zero net effect on carbon burial. *Glob. Change Biol.* 24, 5231–5242. doi: 10.1111/gcb.14387
- Vila, M., Basnou, C., Pysek, P., Josefsson, M., Genovesi, P., Gollasch, S., et al. (2009). How well do we understood the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 8:83. doi: 10.1890/080083
- Villamagna, A. M., and Murphy, B. R. (2010). Ecological and socio-economic impacts of invasive water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes): a review. *Freshw. Biol.* 55, 282–298. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02294.x
- Vojtkó, A. E., Mesterházy, A., Süveges, K., Valkó, O., and Lukács, B. A. (2017). Changes in sediment seed-bank composition of invaded macrophyte communities in a thermal river. *Freshw. Biol.* 62, 1024–1035. doi: 10.1111/fwb. 12922
- Walther, G. R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J. C., et al. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature* 416, 389–395. doi: 10.1038/416389a
- Wang, H., Wang, Q., Bowler, P. A., and Xiong, W. (2016). Invasive aquatic plants in China. Aquat. Invasions 11, 1–9. doi: 10.3391/ai.2016.11.1.01
- Wang, Q., Tang, Y., Xie, T., and Wang, H. (2017). Distinctive responses of photosynthetic characteristics to warming of invasive Alternanthera philoxeroides and native Sambucus chinensis. Acta Ecol. Sin. 37, 770–777.
- Wang, Z., Zhang, Z. Y., Zhang, J. Q., Zhang, Y. Y., Liu, H. Q., and Yan, S. H. (2012). Large-scale utilization of water hyacinth for nutrient removal in Lake Dianchi in China: the effects on the water quality, macrozoobenthos and zooplankton. *Chemosphere* 89, 1255–1261. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.08.001
- Wang, Z., Zhang, Z. Y., Zhang, Y. Y., Zhang, J. Q., Yan, S. H., and Guo, J. Y. (2013). Nitrogen removal from Lake Caohai, a typical ultra-eutrophic lake in

China with large scale confined growth of Eichhornia crassipes. *Chemosphere* 92, 177–183. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.03.014

- Weber, E., and Li, B. (2008). Plant invasions in China: what is to be expected in the wake of economic development? *BioScience* 58, 437–444. doi: 10.1641/b580511
- Wu, H., Carrillo, J., and Ding, J. Q. (2016). Invasion by alligator weed, *Alternanthera philoxeroides*, is associated with decreased species diversity across the latitudinal gradient in China. *J. Plant Ecol.* 9, 311–319. doi: 10.1093/jpe/ rtv060
- Wu, H., and Ding, J. Q. (2014). Recent progress in invasion ecology. *Chin. Sci. Bull.* 59, 438–448. doi: 10.1360/972013-450
- Wu, H., Carrillo, J., and Ding, J. Q. (2017a). Species diversity and environmental determinants of aquatic and terrestrial communities invaded by *Alternanthera philoxeroides. Sci. Total. Environ.* 581–582, 666–675. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2016.12.177
- Wu, H., Ismail, M., and Ding, J. Q. (2017b). Global warming increases the interspecific competitiveness of the invasive plant alligator weed, *Alternanthera philoxeroides. Sci. Total Environ.* 575, 1415–1422. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016. 09.226
- Wu, S. H., Sun, H. T., Teng, Y. C., Rejmánek, M., Chaw, S. M., Yang, T. Y. A., et al. (2010). Patterns of plant invasions in China: taxonomic, biogeographic, climatic approaches and anthropogenic effects. *Biol. Invasions* 12, 2179–2206. doi: 10.1007/s10530-009-9620-3
- Xu, H. G., and Qiang, S. (2007). Inventory Invasive Alien Species in China. Beijing: Environmental Science Press.
- Xu, X., Yang, L., Huang, X. L., Li, Z. Q., and Yu, D. (2017). Water brownification may not promote invasions of submerged non-native macrophytes. *Hydrobiologia* 817, 215–225. doi: 10.1007/s10750-017-3387-9
- Yan, J., Yan, X. L., and Ma, J. S. (2016). Illustrations of Alien Invasive Plants in China. Shanghai: Shanghai Science and Technology Press.
- Yan, X. L., Liu, Q. R., Shou, H. Y., Zeng, X. F., Zhang, Y., Chen, L., et al. (2014). The categorization and analysis on the geographic distribution patterns of Chinese alien invasive plants. *Biodivers. Sci.* 22, 667–676. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1003.2014. 14069
- Yang, Y., Wu, Z. F., He, H. S., Du, H. B., Wang, L., Guo, X. Y., et al. (2018). Differences of the changes in soil temperature of cold and mid-temperate zones, Northeast China. *Theor. Appl. Climatol.* 134, 633–643. doi: 10.1007/s00704-017-2297-0
- You, W. H., Yu, D., Liu, C. H., Xie, D., and Xiong, W. (2013). Clonal integration facilitates invasiveness of the alien aquatic plant *Myriophyllum aquaticum* L. Under heterogeneous water availability. *Hydrobiologia* 718, 27–39. doi: 10.1007/ s10750-013-1596-4
- You, W. H., Yu, D., Xie, D., Yu, L. F., Xiong, W., and Han, C. M. (2014). Responses of the invasive aquatic plant water hyacinth to altered nutrient levels under experimental warming in China. *Aquat. Bot.* 119, 51–56. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot. 2014.06.004
- Yu, G. L. (2011). Effects of waterlogging on intraspecific interactions of the clonal herb Alternanthera philoxeroides. Chin. J. Plant Ecol. 35, 973–980. doi: 10.3724/ SP.J.1258.2011.00973
- Yu, H., Wang, L., Liu, C., and Fan, S. (2018). Coverage of native plants is key factor influencing the invasibility of freshwater ecosystems by exotic plants in China. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9:250. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.00250
- Zhang, J. L., and Meng, S. Y. (2013). Cabomba caroliniana A. Gray found in Beijing water areas. *Chin. Weed Sci.* 31, 45–46. doi: 10.19588/j.issn.1003-935x.2013. 02.014
- Zuo, S. P., Ma, Y. Q., and Shinobu, I. (2012). Differences in ecological and allelopathic traits among *Alternanthera philoxeroides* populations. *Weed Biol. Manag.* 12, 123–130. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-6664.2012.00443.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Wu and Ding. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mutual Facilitation Among Invading Nuttall's Waterweed and Quagga Mussels

Benjamin Wegner^{1,2}, Anna Lena Kronsbein¹, Mikael Gillefalk^{1,2}, Klaus van de Weyer³, Jan Köhler¹, Elisabeth Funke¹, Michael T. Monaghan¹ and Sabine Hilt^{1*}

¹Department of Ecosystem Research, Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries (IGB), Berlin, Germany, ²Faculty VI: Planning, Building and Environment, Institute for Ecology, Technical University Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³Lanaplan GbR, Nettetal, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Institute for the Electromagnetic Detection of the Environment (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

Agnieszka Karolina Kolada, Institute of Environmental Protection (IOS), Poland Marco Bartoli, University of Parma, Italy

> *Correspondence: Sabine Hilt hilt@igb-berlin.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 21 December 2018 Accepted: 29 May 2019 Published: 26 June 2019

Citation:

Wegner B, Kronsbein AL, Gillefalk M, van de Weyer K, Köhler J, Funke E, Monaghan MT and Hilt S (2019) Mutual Facilitation Among Invading Nuttall's Waterweed and Quagga Mussels. Front. Plant Sci. 10:789. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00789 Nuttall's waterweed (Elodea nuttallii) is the most abundant invasive aquatic plant species in several European countries. *Elodea* populations often follow a boom-bust cycle, but the causes and consequences of this dynamics are yet unknown. We hypothesize that both boom and bust periods can be affected by dreissenid mussel invasions. While mutual facilitations between these invaders could explain their rapid parallel expansion, subsequent competition for space might occur. To test this hypothesis, we use data on temporal changes in the water quality and the abundance of E. nuttallii and the quagga mussel Dreissena rostriformis bugensis in a temperate shallow lake. Lake Müggelsee (Germany) was turbid and devoid of submerged macrophytes for 20 years (1970-1989), but re-colonization with macrophytes started in 1990 upon reductions in nutrient loading. We mapped macrophyte abundance from 1999 and mussel abundance from 2011 onwards. E. nuttallii was first detected in 2011, spread rapidly, and was the most abundant macrophyte species by 2017. Native macrophyte species were not replaced, but spread more slowly, resulting in an overall increase in macrophyte coverage to 25% of the lake surface. The increased abundance of E. nuttallii was paralleled by increasing water clarity and decreasing total phosphorus concentrations in the water. These changes were attributed to a rapid invasion by guagga mussels in 2012. In 2017, they covered about one-third of the lake area, with mean abundances of 3,600 mussels m⁻², filtering up to twice the lake's volume every day. The increasing light availability in deeper littoral areas supported the rapid spread of waterweed, while in turn waterweed provided surface for mussel colonization. Quantities of dreissenid mussels and E. nuttallii measured at 24 locations were significantly correlated in 2016, and yearly means of E. nuttallii quantities increased with increasing mean dreissenid mussel quantities between 2011 and 2018. In 2018, both E. nuttallii and dreissenid abundances declined. These data imply that invasive waterweed and guagga mussels initially facilitated their establishment, supporting the invasional meltdown hypothesis, while subsequently competition for space may have occurred. Such temporal changes in invasive species interaction might contribute to the boom-bust dynamics that have been observed in *Elodea* populations.

Keywords: macrophyte, lake, invasional meltdown hypothesis, competition, invasive species

61

INTRODUCTION

Positive interactions can play a decisive role in shaping communities and regulating ecosystem structure and function (Halpern et al., 2007; Brooker et al., 2008; Soliveres et al., 2015). Based on the widespread occurrence of positive interactions between non-native species, Simberloff and Von Holle (1999) developed the "invasional meltdown hypothesis (IMH)" suggesting that non-indigenous species can facilitate one another's invasion in various ways, increasing the likelihood of survival and/or of ecological impact, and possibly the magnitude of impact. A review of invasions in the Great Lakes by Ricciardi (2001) indeed showed that direct positive (mutualistic and commensal) interactions among introduced species were more common than negative interactions. Recently, Braga et al. (2018) used the hierarchy-of-hypotheses approach to differentiate key aspects of the IMH. While the majority of studies supported the IMH, studies at the community or ecosystem level were rare, especially for cases where two non-native species interact and both species are affected. There are also only few studies on indirect positive interactions, as these are often difficult to detect and measure, and thus often neglected (White et al., 2006).

Here, we present an observational field study on the rapid invasion of two non-indigenous species and their potential direct and indirect interactions during this process in a temperate polymictic freshwater lake. Similar to many other freshwater bodies, Lake Müggelsee (Germany) had almost completely lost its submerged macrophytes due to eutrophication during the last century. Following significant reductions in nutrient loading, macrophytes slowly started re-colonizing the lake, but deeper littoral areas still remained sparsely covered or devoid of macrophytes (Hilt et al., 2013, 2018). During the last decade, two major invaders entered the lake, Nuttall's waterweed (*Elodea nuttallii*, **Figure 1B**) and the quagga mussel (*Dreissena rostriformis bugensis*, **Figure 1D**), and were both first detected around 2011/12. We hypothesize that mutual facilitation among these invaders could explain their rapid parallel expansion.

E. nuttallii, native in Northern America, was introduced into Europe in 1939. It spread rapidly and became the most abundant non-indigenous aquatic plant species in several countries, owing to its ability to easily colonize new areas by fragments (Wolff, 1980; Hussner, 2012). It is also a common pioneer species colonizing lakes after restoration measures such as biomanipulation of the fish community (Hilt et al., 2018). Excessive growth can cause severe nuisance for fishery and tourism in lakes (Hilt et al., 2006; Zehnsdorf et al., 2015) and can decrease biodiversity by out-competing less robust native macrophyte species and by releasing allelochemicals (Barrat-Segretain, 2005; Kelly and Hawes, 2005; Erhard and Gross, 2006). Elodea species often follow a boom-bust dynamic (Simberloff and Gibbons, 2004; Strayer et al., 2017); however, the causes and consequences of these dynamics are yet unknown. In principle, E. nuttallii could facilitate an invasion of D. r. bugensis directly by providing surface for attachment of mussels and indirectly by oxygen production. Survival of quagga mussels is strongly reduced at low oxygen concentrations (De Ventura et al., 2016). While native macrophytes also provide surface and oxygen, invasive macrophytes are often faster in colonizing newly available habitats after disturbances (Chytry et al., 2008) and *E. nuttallii* is expected to spread fast into deeper littoral areas that have begun to receive sufficient light for macrophyte growth after a quagga mussel invasion. Invasive macrophytes have also been found to specifically facilitate the establishment of invasive bivalves (Michelan et al., 2014), but the mechanisms remain unknown. In contrast, dense macrophytes can have negative effects on phytoplankton abundance (Scheffer et al., 1993) and thus may restrict food availability for mussels (Reusch and Williams, 1999).

D. r. bugensis, native in the Ponto-Caspian region, was first detected in Western Europe in 2004 (Paulus et al., 2014). It is one of the world's most problematic biological invaders and has been shown to affect the biogeochemistry, flora, and fauna of lakes and rivers across North America and Eurasia. It can shift aquatic food webs and energy flow from pelagic-profundal to benthic-littoral energy pathways (Higgins and Vander Zanden, 2010). *D. r. bugensis* could indirectly facilitate the invasion of *E. nuttallii* by increasing the light availability at the littoral of lakes due to its high filtration capacity. Direct effects of dreissenid mussels on submerged macrophytes through nutrient relocation into littoral areas seem possible, but appeared to be less important than the positive effects associated with increased light penetration (Zhu et al., 2007).

We tested the hypothesis of mutual facilitation between these two non-native species using data from Lake Müggelsee on the coverage and quantity of submerged macrophytes from 1999–2018 and of *E. nuttallii* and *D. r. bugensis* during their establishment from 2011–2018, and water quality parameters such as water transparency, concentrations of total phosphorus (TP) and chlorophyll *a*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Lake Müggelsee

Lake Müggelsee is the largest lake in Berlin (Germany, 52°26', $13^{\circ}39'$, Figure 1A). It has a surface area of ~7.4 km², a volume of 36,560,000 m³, a water retention time of around 100 days (Gillefalk et al., 2018), and a catchment area of 7,000 km². It is a shallow, polymictic lake with a mean depth of 4.9 m and maximum depth of about 8 m (Hilt et al., 2013) with extensive shallow areas at the northeastern, eastern, and southeastern shores. In 1970, the lake had almost completely lost its submerged macrophytes as a result of eutrophication. The external loading of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) to Lake Müggelsee decreased significantly between the late 1970s and 2016. Total N (TN) loads decreased from 140 \pm 38 g TN m⁻² a⁻¹ in the 1980s to 30 ± 11 g TN m⁻² a⁻¹ in the decade 2007–2016. Total P (TP) loads decreased from 6 \pm 1 to 2 \pm 0.4 g TP $m^{-2}~a^{-1}$ in the same period (Shatwell and Köhler, 2019). Macrophytes started re-colonizing the lake from 1990 onwards along with reductions in external nutrient loading. Re-colonization, however, was slow and the macrophyte community was dominated by a few species,



mainly sago pondweed [Stuckenia pectinata (L.) Börner] for about 20 years (Hilt et al., 2013, 2018).

From 1978 onwards, water samples have been taken and Secchi disk transparency in the water column recorded weekly (summer) or biweekly (winter). Volumetrically weighted integrated samples were taken from 21 subsamples from five different points on the lake since 1987 and concentrations of total phosphorus (TP) and chlorophyll *a* (chl *a*) have been determined [for details see Shatwell and Köhler (2019)]. We have used data for the last 20 years (1999–2018).

Submerged Macrophytes

We used two different approaches for macrophyte mapping: (1) a transect-based mapping which allowed us to follow the detailed development of species, their abundances in different depth zones, and maximum colonization depth (MCD) between 1999 and 2018, and (2) an entire lake mapping of the abundance of macrophytes and maximum colonization depth (MCD) of macrophytes to estimate the total lake coverage in 1999 and 2017.

Transect data are available for 8 years, and macrophytes were always mapped in June or early July. In 2006, 2011, and 2014–2018, submerged macrophytes were mapped at eight transects covering the diversity of habitats in the lake (in 2006 only 5 of those) according to the PHYLIB method developed for the implementation of the EU Water Framework Directive in Germany (Schaumburg et al., 2004). In addition, data of a detailed mapping in 1999 (Körner, 2001) were transformed into the PHYLIB method for the eight selected transects, which

was possible due to the low abundance and low MCD. In 1999 and 2006, mappings were performed using wading and aquascopes because MCD (determined by aquascopes and extensive raking of deeper areas from a boat) were low, while scuba diving has been used since 2011.

Maximum colonization depths were recorded for each transect, and abundances were estimated in up to four depth zones (0-1, 1-2, 2-4, and 4-6 m) based on a five-degree scale (1: very rare; 2: rare; 3: common; 4: frequent; and 5: abundant).To obtain at macrophyte quantities, abundance data were exponentiated with 3 to reflect the three-dimensional development of macrophytes (Schaumburg et al., 2004).

Entire lake mappings of macrophytes were performed in 1999 by wading with an aquascope and GPS (for details see Körner, 2001) and in 2017 by using an underwater camera (see Van de Weyer et al., 2007).

Abundance and Quantities of Dreissenid Mussels

Data on dreissenid mussel abundance are only available since 2011. We also used two different approaches for dreissenid mussel mapping: (1) a transect-based mapping which followed their abundances in different depth zones (same as for macrophytes, see section "Submerged Macrophytes") in 2011 and 2015–2018, and (2) an entire lake mapping of the dreissenid mussel abundance and their maximum colonization depth, used to estimate the total lake coverage and to calculate filtration activities in 2017 (see section "Determination of Filtration Rates by Dreissenids"). For the transect-based

mapping, two approaches were applied. In 2011, 24 sediment samples were taken at different water depths using a Van Veen grab (sampling 600 cm²) and mussels were counted at eight transects in parallel to the macrophyte mapping. In 2015-2018, the abundance of dreissenid mussels was recorded by scuba divers in parallel to macrophyte mapping at eight transects using four abundance classes: 0: no dreissenids, 1: up to 33% sediment coverage, 2: 33-66%, and 3: 66-100% sediment coverage. To transform mussel numbers from 2011 into these abundance classes, divers collected dreissenid mussels at 13 locations with different depths and abundance classes at three transects from an area of 170 cm² in 2017. A significant linear regression between mussel numbers and abundance class (y = 10,680x, $R^2 = 0.52$, p = 0.003; Figure 2) allowed us to calculate threshold levels for the transformation of mussel numbers in 2011 into abundance classes (0: no mussels, 1: 1-10,680 dreissenid mussels m⁻², 2: 10,681-21,360 dreissenid mussels m^{-2} , 3: >21,361 dreissenid mussels m^{-2}). Mean quantities were calculated by averaging (square-root) dreissenid abundances measured at the respective transects in different depths inside of each depth class.

Determination of Dreissenid Species and Densities

To determine densities and species distributions of dreissenids, 40 samples were taken from different water depths at 13 transects (3–5 samples per transect) and along the northern shore littoral between October 2017 and January 2018 using an Ekman-Binge sediment sampler (Hydro-Bios[®]) with a sample area of 225 cm². Locations with dreissenid coverages of 66–100% were selected to take sediment samples at water depth intervals of 1 m (±0.5 m). Five locations with dense dreissenid coverage on rock fill or shallow sandy parts were sampled with a shovel. Samples were sieved (0.5 mm) and stored in 1 L wide neck plastic containers at 5°C until further treatment (maximum 20 days). Samples were separated into living and dead *D. r. bugensis* and *Dreissena polymorpha*, respectively, based



on morphological identification and each fraction was counted. Living individuals were measured and assigned to size-classes of <1.0, 1.0-2.0, and >2.0 cm.

Genetic Verification of Differentiation Between Dreissenid Species

Species determination of dreissenids based on morphological characteristics has been proven difficult or inconsistent due to habitat-specific growth patterns (May and Marsden, 1992; Beggel et al., 2015). Beggel et al. (2015) suggested applying molecular methods to differentiate between D. r. bugensis and D. polymorpha, and we therefore sequenced the standard mitochondrial DNA Cytochrome c oxidase I (cox1) barcode sequence to verify our morphological identifications (Marescaux and Van Doninck, 2013). Total genomic DNA was extracted from 42 Dreissena individuals sampled in 2017 of one eastern, one western, and one southwestern location in depths of 2.20, 2.30, and 2.50 m, respectively, using the Dneasy Blood and Tissue kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's guidelines. A 658-bp fragment of cox1 was amplified following Marescaux and Van Doninck (2013) with the following modifications. Amplifications were performed in a total volume of 25 µl (with 1 µl of DNA, 1× mi-Taq only reaction buffer (green cap; Metabion, Planegg/ Steinkirchen, Germany), 200 µM of dNTPs (Metabion), 0.4 µM of each primer, and 1 U of mi-Taq only DNA polymerase (Metabion). PCR cycling conditions were 95°C for 4 min, 30 cycles of 95°C for 45 s, 49°C for 45 s and 72°C for 45 s, and 72°C for 10 min. Sanger sequencing in both directions of COI fragments was performed by LGC Genomics GmbH (Berlin, Germany). Sequences were merged and quality-trimmed using Geneious 10.0.6 (Biomatters ApS, Aarhus, Denmark) and then sequences were used as queries in searches of the NCBI nucleotide database using the blastn alorithm¹.

Comparison with NCBI database indicated that our morphological identification was correct in each case. There were >100 bp changes between the two species, and no differences among individuals sampled from Lake Müggelsee. Our *D. r. bugensis* haplotype matched that of individuals from the Meuse River in eastern France, and the *D. polymorpha* haplotype was an exact match to individuals sampled from Poland and North America (New York, Ontario).

Determination of Filtration Rates by Dreissenids

In November 2017, dreissenid coverage of the sediments was mapped in the entire lake using an underwater camera mounted on a motorboat. A SELVAG® OC-1 outdoor surveillance camera attached to an 8-m long monitor microphone TS cable was directed toward the lake bottom. The analogue camera image was converted to a digital signal using a USB-audio and video converter and displayed on a

¹https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi

computer screen. Dreissenid mussel sediment coverages were assessed while looking at the live camera image and assigned to the four coverage classes (see section "Abundance and Quantities of Dreissenid Mussels") simultaneously with coordinates, water depth, date, and time. To map areas deeper than 5 m, where visibility was usually lower, the boat was anchored at depth-intervals of 0.5 m to enable a steady image of the lake bottom.

We subdivided the whole lake into six radial sub-areas (in terms of cardinal directions) while ensuring that a minimum of four samples (see section "Determination of dreissenid species and densities") was located in each sub-area. Median population densities of dreissenids were determined for each sub-area. Population densities were transformed (square-root) to achieve normal distribution, and the effect of sub-area on population densities was analyzed *via* one-way ANOVA. A subsequent *post-hoc* unequal n Tukey's HSD-test was used to determine significant differences among sub-areas regarding the mussels' median population densities. Sub-areas with representative median population densities were then intersected with the coverage classes of dreissenids to yield dreissenid abundance for each lake-sub-area.

Since samples were generally retrieved from locations with dreissenid sediment coverages of 3 (66-100%), population densities of sub-areas with sediment coverages of 2 (33-66%) were multiplied with the correction factor 0.6 and those of sediment coverages classes 1 (1-33%) with factor 0.3. By this means, dreissenid abundances per lake-area were calculated and ultimately summated to a whole-lake abundance of each species, as well as both species combined. For the calculation of the filtration capacity of all dreissenids, we used filtration rates (FR) determined for D. polymorpha in Reeders et al. (1989) in two Dutch shallow lakes (Jisselmeer and Markermeer). Reeders and Bij de Vaate (1990) found that the effect of season and temperature only set a wide limit to the filtration activity, but water temperature below 5°C significantly decreased FR. Hence, FR were adjusted by duration (weeks) of water temperature of Lake Müggelsee with values >5°C (79%) and \leq 5°C (21%) in 2017. Summed, seasonally adjusted FR were multiplied by median total abundance of both dreissenid species combined. To arrive at the fraction of lake water volume filtered per day, the product of total filtration per day was divided by the water volume of Lake Müggelsee. Mei et al. (2016) legitimized the application of FR reported for zebra mussels to quagga mussels.

Statistics

We tested for significant correlations between the quantities of *E. nuttallii* and native macrophytes measured at 24 sites over 6 years (n = 144) using Spearman correlations. We also tested for significant correlations between the quantity of *E. nuttallii* and native macrophytes in the depth zone 2–4 m with MCD of macrophytes.

Relationships between the quantities of dreissenids and *E. nuttallii* or native macrophytes were investigated with Spearman correlations using the data available for eight transects and

three depth zones (n = 24) separately for each of the years 2011 and 2015–18. Additionally, we tested for significant relationships between the yearly mean quantities of dreissenid mussels and *E. nuttallii* or native macrophytes for the period 2011–18 (n = 5) by best fit non-linear regressions as well as between dreissenid mussels and Secchi disc transparency in winter (October to March) and spring (April to June) by linear regressions. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 19.

RESULTS

Submerged Macrophytes

Total coverage of submerged macrophytes in Lake Müggelsee increased from 5% in 1999 to 25% in 2017 (Figures 1A,C). The six most abundant submerged macrophytes in Lake Müggelsee during its re-colonization were the native species S. pectinata, Potamogeton perfoliatus, Najas major, Fontinalis antipyretica, Ceratophyllum demersum, and (from 2011) the invasive E. nuttallii. Until 2006, only S. pectinata, P. perfoliatus, and N. major were present in significant quantities and hardly any macrophytes were found in depth zones below 2 m (Figures 3A-C). High mean quantities were only reached by S. pectinata in the shallowest depth zone (0-1 m). E. nuttallii was first discovered with low quantities at two transects at the south-eastern shore in depth zones 1-2 and 2-4 m in 2011. Subsequently, it spread to the entire lake and was present at all eight transects in 2017. Its quantity per site increased between 2011 and 2017 along with that of other native macrophyte species, and their quantities at the investigated sites were significantly positively correlated (Spearman correlation, R = 0.445, p < 0.001, n = 144). The number of native macrophyte species per site also increased during this period and was positively correlated to the quantities of native macrophytes and *E. nuttallii* (Spearman correlations, R = 0.691, p < 0.001; R = 0.504, p < 0.001, respectively, n = 144). In 2017, E. nuttallii became the most abundant macrophyte species in Lake Müggelsee, while S. pectinata used to dominate the macrophyte community before 2017 (Figures 3A-C). Highest mean quantities of E. nuttallii were observed in depth zones 1-2 and 2-4 m (Figures 3B,C). In 2018, mean E. nuttallii quantities significantly declined as compared to 2017 (Figures 3A-C, Wilcoxon test, p = 0.05). Mean quantities of most native submerged macrophytes increased, in particular that of N. major in depth zones 0-1 and 1-2 m, of C. demersum in depth zones 1-2 and 2-4 m and of F. antipyretica in depth zone 2-4 m (Figures 3A-C). Mean maximum colonization depth (MCD) of macrophytes at eight transects increased from 0.9 ± 0.2 m in 1999 to 3.6 ± 0.3 m in 2018 (Figure 4A). Quantities of both, E. nuttallii and native macrophytes in the depth zone 2-4 m, were positively correlated with MCD (Spearman correlations, R = 0.463, p = 0.001; R = 0.441, p = 0.002, respectively, n = 48).

Dreissenid Mussels

In 2017, dreissenid mussels covered about one third of the sediment surface of Lake Müggelsee. Grab samples taken in



2017 were composed of 97.3% *D. r. bugensis* and 2.7% *D. polymorpha.* A larger proportion of *D. polymorpha* (11.0% of all dreissenids) was only found in nearshore samples taken from rock fill and sand with high contents of stones. Maximum colonization depth was on average 5.3 m (**Figure 1C**). Population densities of dreissenids varied between 1,600 and 46,000 mussels m⁻², with a median of 12,800 mussels⁻². Weighted by the share of coverage classes, whole-lake density was 3,600 dreissenid mussel sm⁻² (**Table 1**). The effect of lake-sub-area on dreissenid mussel densities was significant ($F_{5,34} = 4.56$, p = 0.003). Two main sub-areas were considered by merging (1) N, NE, and E sub-areas into one (~42% of whole lake-area) with a median density of ~10,000 mussels m⁻² (abundance ~8.6 × 10⁹) and (2) SE/S, SW/W, and NW sub-areas (58% of whole lake-

area) with median densities of ~20,000 mussels m^{-2} (abundance ~19.6 × 10⁹). The total abundance of *D. r. bugensis* of ~28.2 × 10⁹ resulted in the clearance of filtered lake water about 1.9 times per day.

In 2011, dreissenid mussels comprised only *D. polymorpha* and 50% of the investigated 24 locations (three depth zones at each of the eight transects) did not have any dreissenid mussels. Abundance class 3 did not occur and abundance class 2 was only measured in depth zone 2–4 m at three transects. From 2015 (no data are available for the period 2012–14) onwards, much higher mean quantities were observed in all depth zones and highest values were reached in the depth zone 2–4 m (**Figure 3D**). In 2018, mean dreissenid quantities dropped as compared to 2017 (**Figure 3D**, Wilcoxon test,



D. r. bugensis (dash-dot).

p = 0.05). When separately testing data of each year, a significant positive correlation was found between quantities of dreissenids and *E. nuttallii* in 2016 (Spearman correlation, R = 0.47, p = 0.02, n = 24), while quantities of native macrophytes did not show significant correlations with quantities of dreissenids. Using yearly means of all 24 locations, a significant correlation (non-linear regression: $y = 0.06x^{3.2}$, $R^2 = 0.96$, p = 0.004) was found between quantities of dreissenids and *E. nuttallii* (Figure 5A).

Lake Water Quality

Secchi disk transparency in Lake Müggelsee showed low interannual variability and were only slightly higher in winter than in summer between 1999 and 2010. A significant increase in winter Secchi disk transparency was observed between 2010 and 2012, the period when *E. nuttallii* and *D. r. bugensis* colonized the lake. Mean summer Secchi disk transparency only increased significantly between 2013 and 2014 (**Figure 4B**). A significant linear regression was found between yearly mean quantities of dreissenids and mean Secchi disk transparency in April–June for the period 2011–18 (**Figure 5B**, linear regression: y = 0.43x + 0.89, $R^2 = 0.8$, p = 0.04). Concentrations of Chl *a* (**Figure 4C**) and TP (**Figure 4D**) decreased in parallel with increased Secchi disk transparency (**Figure 4B**).

DISCUSSION

Our results provide empirical evidence for IMH during the initial establishment of two important aquatic invaders and

TABLE 1 Comparison of population densities of quagga mussels
(Dreissena r. bugensis) in different lakes.

Lake	Investigated depths (m)	Mean quagga mussel density (n m ⁻²)	Reference
Szczecin Lagoon (PL)	3.8–8.5	4,000 ± 355	Woźniczka et al., 2016
Lake Mead (USA)	2-112	747 ± 398	Wittmann et al., 2010
Lake Müggelsee (DE)	0.7-5.6	3,600 ± 1,200	This study
Lake Eem (NL)	2.1	2,300	Noordhuis et al., 2016
Lake Simcoe (CA)	2–20	334 ± 65	Ginn et al., 2018
	>20	39 ± 21	
Lake Ontario (CA)	5–20	$9,400 \pm 7,200$	Wilson et al., 2006
Lake Huron (USA)	46-73	72-811	French et al., 2009
Lake Michigan (USA)	20-45	$6,900 \pm 4,500$	Nalepa 2010
Lake Erie (USA)	0->24	380 ± 40	Karatayev et al., 2014



suggest a subsequent change of the invader-invader-interaction into competition for space. We observed a significant correlation between quantities of dreissenids and *E. nuttallii* at the site level in 2016 and a significant non-linear regression between yearly means (2011–2018) of quantities of dreissenids and E. nuttallii at the whole-lake level, indicating a mutual facilitation between the establishment of quagga mussels (97% of dreissenids in 2017) and the waterweed in a temperate freshwater lake during the first 4-6 years of their invasion. Mussel filtration induced an increase in water clarity, supporting macrophyte colonization in deeper littoral zones, while macrophytes provided substrate for the attachment of young mussels and produced oxygen which may help to prevent hypoxia during summer months. We propose that the invasive E. nuttallii was able to rapidly and efficiently make use of the newly available habitat in deeper littoral areas once light availability increased compared to native macrophytes. This is due to its ability to spread by fragments, its rapid growth rates, survival into winter months, and compensation of losses by herbivory through branching. This can give E. nuttallii a temporal advantage over native macrophytes. About 5 years after starting the invasion, E. nuttallii dominated the submerged macrophytes, covering 25% and quagga mussels colonizing 33% of the lake's sediment surface. In 2018, quantities of both dreissenids and E. nuttallii decreased, suggesting a competition for space in the lake which could be a reason for the boom-bust dynamics the latter species is known for. The spread of native macrophytes can re-inforce this process.

Invasion of Waterweed and Quagga Mussels and Mutual Facilitation

Nuttall's waterweed invaded Lake Müggelsee at some point between 2006, when it was not present, and 2011, when it was detected for the first time at two transects at the southeastern shore. This location suggests that E. nuttallii entered the lake via River Spree. The establishment in the lake took about 5 years until 2016 and 2017, when E. nuttallii was found at 6 and 8 out of 8 transects, respectively. Native macrophyte quantities increased at a slower pace, which confirms findings of Kelly et al. (2015) in Irish lakes, but contrasts laboratory experiments that show E. nuttallii can outcompete other submerged species (Barrat-Segretain, 2005). Despite a parallel increase in native macrophyte abundance, E. nuttallii was initially faster in colonizing the new habitat in deeper littoral areas after increased light availability than native macrophytes. We assume that this was due to a combination of traits such as rapid spread by fragments (Hussner, 2012), rapid growth rates, being wintergreen and growth at low temperature (Kunii, 1981) and compensating biomass losses by herbivory through branching (He et al., 2019). In addition, E. nuttallii can take up phosphorus (P) via shoots and roots (Angelstein and Schubert, 2008) and thus can directly make use of the P translocated by quagga mussels from pelagic to littoral areas ("benthic shunt", Hecky et al., 2004). However, P was not a limiting factor for macrophyte growth in Müggelsee, as this would require much lower P concentrations in the water (Gross, 2009).

E. nuttallii invaded the lake when Secchi disk transparency was still rather low in summer and winter, while maximum colonization depths of macrophytes were already deeper than 3 m, but total macrophyte quantities in the depth zone 2–4 m were still lower than in shallower parts of the lake. From

winter 2013/14 onwards, winter water clarity suddenly was about twice higher than before and from 2014 onwards, water clarity was also higher in summer. Quagga mussel invasion (see below) is assumed to be responsible for this effect. E. nuttallii has been observed to grow even at 4°C, shoot elongation starts in spring at about 10°C (Kunii, 1981) and green shoots have been found washed ashore at Lake Müggelsee in December 2017 (S.H., personal observation). Thus, it could probably take most advantage of the higher light availability in winter and spring and increase its abundance into deeper water before most other competing native species also spread into this depth zone. The native species F. antipyretica is also wintergreen (Maberly, 1985) and its strong increase in quantity in the depth zone 2-4 m suggests that this species also gained from higher water clarity in winter. However, due to its lower growth rate as compared to Elodea (Sand-Jensen and Madsen, 1991), the invasive E. nuttallii at least temporarily dominated the submerged vegetation of Lake Müggelsee in 2017.

Existing knowledge on mechanisms of invasions of aquatic plant communities is still limited (Fleming and Dibble, 2015). However, several examples also suggest a link between the spread of invasive macrophytes and *D. polymorpha* induced turbidity reductions in lakes (Skubinna et al., 1995; MacIsaac, 1996; Zhu et al., 2006). Because quagga mussels can colonize all regions of a lake, and form larger populations, they may filter larger water volumes and may thus have even greater effects on macrophyte abundance than *D. polymorpha*, which are restricted to shallower portions of lakes (Karatayev et al., 2015). In the Dutch Lake Eem, the establishment of quagga mussels was also paralleled by an increased macrophyte abundance, but only by native species (Noordhuis et al., 2016).

Quagga mussels in Lake Müggelsee constituted 97% of the total *Dreissena* population in 2017, indicating that their invasion started around 2012 based on a spread model for *D. r. bugensis* in Western Europe by Heiler et al. (2013). The lake has been invaded by the congener *D. polymorpha* decades earlier. This species, however, was limited to littoral areas with hard substrates (Karatayev et al., 2015). In contrast, *D. r. bugensis* can also colonize soft sediments (Karatayev et al., 2015) and thus could reach a mean maximum colonization depth of 5.3 m and a total coverage of about a third of Lake Müggelsee's sediment in 2017, but similarly high values have also been found in other lakes (**Table 1**). Filtration capacities in Müggelsee were comparable to those found in Dutch shallow lakes (Noordhuis et al., 2016) and Lake Erie (Vanderploeg et al., 2002).

Although not directly measured, *E. nuttallii* were supposed to have supported quagga mussel invasion by provision of surface for attachment. A number of studies indicate that macrophytes provide a suitable substrate for dreissenid mussel attachment. Körner et al. (2002) found *D. polymorpha* being the most abundant invertebrates on submerged macrophytes in Lake Müggelsee. Musko and Bako (2005) reported that *D. polymorpha* represented 2–85% of all animals on submerged macrophytes and their density ranged between 9 and 2,000 individuals g⁻¹ macrophyte dry mass. Although studies on

quagga mussel abundance on macrophytes are lacking, we assume that macrophytes support zebra and quagga mussel attachment in a similar way. Diggins et al. (2004) reported submerged macrophytes as a refuge for zebra mussels during quagga mussel invasion in the North American Great lakes.

E. nuttallii (together with the native macrophytes) may also have supported quagga mussels by oxygen production. Low oxygen concentrations (De Ventura et al., 2016) limit the survival of dreissenids and regular annual hypoxia (oxygen concentrations below 2 mg L⁻¹) excluded dreissenids (Karatayev et al., 2018a). Assuming an average increase in E. nuttallii biomass in June by about 100 g dry weight m⁻² in dense stands (Cook and Urmi-König, 1985) and a carbon content of 33% dry weight (Velthuis et al., 2017), the additional oxygen production amounts to about 20 mg L⁻¹ in a 4 m water column in 30 days. In comparison, phytoplankton would produce about 4 mg O₂ L⁻¹ (means of net production in 2011–2017, Köhler, unpublished data). Available studies show that macrophyte biomass can be the most influential environmental factor on the fluctuation of dissolved oxygen concentrations in the bottom water of lakes (Haga et al., 2006; Vilas et al., 2017). While aquatic plants are usually thought of as providing oxygen to aquatic environments, they can also engineer extremely low values (Caraco et al., 2006). Vilas et al. (2017) report on the development of night-time anoxic conditions close to the sediments when macrophytes occupied at least 50% of the water column and induced stratification.

Competition for Space

Karatayev et al. (2015) suggested that quagga mussels provide additional space and food for many invertebrates in the littoral zone, and thus have overall positive impacts on the benthic community by increasing diversity, density, and biomass of invertebrates. In the profundal zone, however, guagga mussels compete for space and food resources with most of native invertebrates decreasing their overall diversity, density, and biomass. The decline in quantities of dreissenids and waterweed in Müggelsee in 2018 suggests that there can be competition for space among quagga mussels and macrophytes also in the littoral zone. According to Nalepa (2010), D. r. bugensis usually has a more even distribution and rarely forms large druses on soft sediments of the profundal. In Lake Müggelsee, dense carpets of quagga mussels were observed between 2 and 4 m (Figure 1D). These mussel carpets are assumed to prevent an attachment of E. nuttallii shoots to the sediments by roots. Vice versa, dense stands of E. nuttallii (Figure 1B) or native macrophytes could prevent a successful establishment and survival of quagga mussels due to particle retention (Vermaat et al., 2000) and allelopathic inhibition of phytoplankton (Erhard and Gross, 2006) resulting in insufficient food availability for quagga mussels. Indeed, low phytoplankton abundances (Figure 4C) might have affected the growth, recruitment and survival of quagga mussels in Müggelsee. Declining dreissenid recruitment and growth has been found following declines in food availability in the hypolimnion of Lake Erie (Karatayev et al., 2018b), so it would be worth following size-frequency distributions in the future.

Higgins (2014), however, did not find evidence for diminished effects of dreissenids on ecosystems within two decades after their establishment in US waters.

We conclude that our observational study indicates a mutual facilitation between E. nuttallii and guagga mussels during the first years of their invasion, which subsequently turns into a competition for space. Observational approaches are re-emerging in ecology and have demonstrated their capability in testing hypotheses by correlating variables, comparing observed patterns to output from existing models and exploiting natural experiments (Sagarin and Pauchard, 2010). Ideally, they would be combined with experimental manipulations to isolate fine-scale ecological mechanisms. In our study, a full understanding of the interactions between dense dreissenid populations and macrophyte stands in lakes requires further detailed analyses, in particular on fluxes and mass balances of dissolved inorganic carbon and oxygen. For E. nuttallii, several other potential invasion mechanisms have been suggested, including enemy release, novel weapons/allelopathy, phenotypic plasticity, fluctuating resources, and opportunity windows (Fleming and Dibble, 2015 and references therein). In the case of Lake Müggelsee, none of these seems to be more likely than invasional meltdown.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH conceived the presented idea and wrote the manuscript together with BW. BW conducted the dreissenid mapping in 2017 and

REFERENCES

- Angelstein, S., and Schubert, H. (2008). Elodea nuttallii: uptake, translocation and release of phosphorus. Aquat. Biol. 3, 209–216. doi: 10.3354/ab00080
- Barrat-Segretain, M. H. (2005). Competition between invasive and indigenous species: impact of spatial pattern and developmental stage. *Plant Ecol.* 180, 153–160. doi: 10.1007/s11258-004-7374-7
- Beggel, S., Cerwenka, A. F., Brandner, J., and Geist, J. (2015). Shell morphological versus genetic identification of quagga mussel (*Dreissena bugensis*) and zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*). Aquat. Invasions 10, 93–99. doi: 10.3391/ ai.2015.10.1.09
- Braga, R. R., Gómez-Aparicio, L., Heger, T., Vitule, J. R. S., and Jeschke, J. M. (2018). Structuring evidence for invasional meltdown: broad support but with biases and gaps. *Biol. Invasions* 20, 923–936. doi: 10.1007/s10530-017-1582-2
- Brooker, R. W., Maestre, F. T., Callaway, R. M., Lortie, C. L., Cavieres, L. A., Kunstler, G., et al. (2008). Facilitation in plant communities: the past, the present, and the future. J. Ecol. 96, 18–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2007.01295.x
- Caraco, N., Cole, J., Findlay, S., and Wigand, C. (2006). Vascular plants as engineers of oxygen in aquatic systems. *Bioscience* 56, 219–225. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2006)056[0219:VPAEOO]2.0.CO;2
- Chytry, M., Maskell, L. C., Pino, J., Pysek, P., Vila, M., Font, X., et al. (2008). Habitat invasions by alien plants: a quantitative comparison among Mediterranean, subcontinental and oceanic regions of Europe. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 448–458. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01398.x
- Cook, C. D. K., and Urmi-König, K. (1985). A revision of the genus *Elodea* (Hydrocharitaceae). Aquat. Bot. 21, 111–156. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(85)90084-1
- De Ventura, L., Sarpe, D., Kopp, K., and Jokela, J. (2016). Variability in phenotypic tolerance to low oxygen in invasive populations of quagga and zebra mussels. *Aquat. Invasions* 11, 267–276. doi: 10.3391/ai.2016.11.3.05
- Diggins, T. P., Weimer, M., Stewart, K. M., Baier, R. E., Meyer, A. E., Forsberg, R. F., et al. (2004). Epiphytic refugium: are two species of invading freshwater

KvdW the macrophyte and dreissenid mapping. JK provided lake and phytoplankton data. EF and MM performed molecular analyses. AK and MG provided background information on the lake and supported statistical analyses. All authors contributed to discussions and the writing of different parts of the text.

FUNDING

AK and MG were supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG, grant no. GRK 2032/1). Senate of Berlin provided financial support for macrophyte and mussel mapping. Data on mussels in 2011 were retrieved from the BMBF project NITROLIMIT.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all technicians of IGB Berlin responsible for the long-term measuring program in Lake Müggelsee, in particular Thomas Hintze and Jürgen Schreiber. Sebastian Meis and Simon Asmus are thanked for their assistance during macrophyte and mussel mapping. Martin Pusch, Jonathan Jeschke, Dave Strayer and Gabriel Singer provided helpful discussions and comments. We also thank Antje Köhler (Senate of Berlin) and Jaqueline Rücker (BTU Cottbus) for providing data on mussel abundance in 2011. The publication of this article was funded by the Open Access Fund of the Leibniz-Association.

bivalves partitioning spatial resources? *Biol. Invasions* 6, 83–88. doi: 10.1023/B: BINV.0000010124.00582.d3

- Erhard, D., and Gross, E. M. (2006). Allelopathic activity of *Elodea canadensis* and *Elodea nuttallii* against epiphytes and phytoplankton. *Aquat. Bot.* 85, 203–211. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2006.04.002
- Fleming, J. P., and Dibble, E. D. (2015). Ecological mechanisms of invasion success in aquatic macrophytes. *Hydrobiologia* 746, 23–37. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-2026-y
- French, J. R. P., Schaeffer, J. S., Roseman, E. F., Kiley, C. S., and Fouilleroux, A. (2009). Abundance and distribution of benthic macroinvertebrates in offshore soft sediments in Western Lake Huron, 2001–2007. J. Great Lakes Res. 35, 120–127. doi: 10.1016/j.jglr.2008.11.006
- Gillefalk, M., Massmann, G., Nützmann, G., and Hilt, S. (2018). Potential impacts of induced bank filtration on surface water quality: a conceptual framework for future research. *Water* 10:1240. doi: 10.3390/w10091240
- Ginn, B. K., Bolton, R., Coulombe, D., Fleischaker, T., and Yerex, G. (2018). Quantifying a shift in benthic dominance from zebra (*Dreissena polymorpha*) to quagga (*Dreissena rostriformis bugensis*) mussels in a large, inland lake. J. Great Lakes Res. 44, 271–282. doi: 10.1016/j.jglr.2017.12.003
- Gross, E. (2009). Impact of reoligotrophication in Lake Constance on nutrient content and defensive phenolic compounds in Eurasian watermilfoil. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 30, 897–899. doi: 10.1080/03680770.2009.11902266
- Haga, H., Ashiya, M., Ohtsuka, T., Matsuda, M., Tuji, A., Baba, K., et al. (2006). Relationship between dissolved oxygen concentration of bottom water and macrophyte biomass in the southern basin of Lake Biwa, Japan. *Jap. J. Limnol.* 67, 23–27. doi: 10.3739/rikusui.67.23
- Halpern, B. S., Silliman, B. R., Olden, J. D., Bruno, J. P., and Bertness, M. D. (2007). Incorporating positive interactions in aquatic restoration and conservation. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 5, 153–160. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[153:IPIIAR] 2.0.CO;2
- He, L., Bakker, E. S., Alirangues Nunez, M. M., and Hilt, S. (2019). Combined effects of shading and clipping on the invasive alien macrophyte *Elodea nuttallii*. Aquat. Bot. 154, 24–27. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2018.11.014

- Hecky, R. E., Smith, R. E., Barton, D. R., Guildford, S. J., Taylor, W. D., Charlton, M. N., et al. (2004). The nearshore phosphorus shunt: a consequence of ecosystem engineering by dreissenids in the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 61, 1285–1293. doi: 10.1139/f04-065
- Heiler, K. C. M., Bij de Vaate, A., Ekschmitt, K., Von Oheimb, P. V., Albrecht, C., and Wilke, T. (2013). Reconstruction of the early invasion history of the quagga mussel (*Dreissena rostriformis bugensis*) in Western Europe. *Aquat. Invasions* 8, 53–57. doi: 10.3391/ai.2013.8.1.06
- Higgins, S. N. (2014). "Meta-analysis of dreissenid effects on freshwater ecosystems" in *Quagga and Zebra. Mussels biology, impacts and control.* eds. T. F. Nalepa, and D. W. Schloesser (Boca Raton: CRC Press), 487–494.
- Higgins, S. N., and Vander Zanden, M. J. (2010). What a difference a species makes: a meta-analysis of dreissenid mussel impacts on freshwater ecosystems. *Ecol. Monogr.* 80, 179–196. doi: 10.1890/09-1249.1
- Hilt, S., Adrian, R., Köhler, J., Monaghan, M. T., and Sayer, C. (2013). Clear, crashing, turbid and back – long-term changes of macrophyte assemblages in a shallow lake. *Freshw. Biol.* 58, 2027–2036. doi: 10.1111/fwb.12188
- Hilt, S., Alirangues Nunez, M. M., Bakker, E. S., Blindow, I., Davidson, T., Gillefalk, M., et al. (2018). Response of submerged macrophytes to external and internal restoration measures of temperate shallow lakes. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9:194. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.00194
- Hilt, S., Gross, E. M., Hupfer, M., Morscheid, H., M\u00e4hlmann, J., Melzer, A., et al. (2006). Restoration of submerged vegetation in shallow eutrophic lakes – guideline and state of the art in Germany. *Limnologica* 36, 155–171. doi: 10.1016/j.limno.2006.06.001
- Hussner, A. (2012). Alien aquatic plant species in European countries. Weed Res. 52, 297–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2012.00926.x
- Karatayev, A. Y., Burlakova, L. E., Mehler, K., Bocaniov, S. A., Collingsworth, P. D., Warren, G., et al. (2018a). Biomonitoring using invasive species in a large Lake: *Dreissena* distribution maps hypoxic zones. *J. Great Lakes Res.* 44, 639–649. doi: 10.1016/j.jglr.2017.08.001
- Karatayev, A. Y., Burlakova, L. E., and Padilla, D. K. (2015). Zebra versus quagga mussels: a review of their spread, population dynamics, and ecosystem impacts. *Hydrobiologia* 746, 97–112. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-1901-x
- Karatayev, A. Y., Burlakova, L. E., Pennuto, C., Ciborowski, J., Karatayev, V. A., Juette, P., et al. (2014). Twenty five years of changes in *Dreissena* spp. populations in Lake Erie. *J. Great Lakes Res.* 40, 550–559. doi: 10.1016/j. jglr.2014.04.010
- Karatayev, A. Y., Karatayev, V. A., Burlakova, L. E., Rowe, M. D., Mehler, K., and Clapsadl, M. D. (2018b). Food depletion regulates the demography of invasive dreissenid mussels in a stratified lake. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 63, 2065–2079. doi: 10.1002/lno.10924
- Kelly, R., Harrod, C., Maggs, C. A., and Reid, N. (2015). Effects of *Elodea nuttallii* on temperate freshwater plants, microalgae and invertebrates: small differences between invaded and uninvaded areas. *Biol. Invasions* 17, 2123–2138. doi: 10.1007/s10530-015-0865-8
- Kelly, D. J., and Hawes, I. (2005). Effects of invasive macrophytes on littoralzone productivity and foodweb dynamics in a New Zealand high-country lake. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 25, 300–320. doi: 10.1899/03-097.1
- Körner, S. (2001). Development of submerged macrophytes in shallow Lake Müggelsee (Berlin, Germany) before and after its switch to the phytoplanktondominated state. Arch. Hydrobiol. 152, 395–409. doi: 10.1127/archivhydrobiol/152/2001/395
- Körner, S., Schreiber, S., and Walz, N. (2002). Herbivory on macrophytes who's to blame? Verh. Verein. Intern. Limnol. 28, 967–970. doi: 10.1080/03680770. 2001.11901860
- Kunii, H. (1981). Characteristics of the winter growth of detached Elodea nuttallii (Planch.) St. John Japan. Aquat. Bot. 11, 57–66. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(81)90046-2
- Maberly, S. C. (1985). Photosynthesis by Fontinalis antipyretica. New Phytol. 100, 141–155. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.1985.tb02766.x
- MacIsaac, H. J. (1996). Potential abiotic and biotic impacts of zebra mussels on the inland waters of North America. Am. Zool. 36, 287–299. doi: 10.1093/ icb/36.3.287
- Marescaux, J., and Van Doninck, K. (2013). Using DNA barcoding to differentiate invasive Dreissena species (Mollusca, Bivalvia). Zookeys 365, 235–244. doi: 10.3897/zookeys.365.5905
- May, B., and Marsden, J. E. (1992). Genetic identification and implications of another invasive species of dreissenid mussel in the great lakes. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 49, 1501–1506. doi: 10.1139/f92-166

- Mei, X., Zhang, X., Kassam, S. S., and Rudstam, L. G. (2016). Will the displacement of zebra mussels by quagga mussels increase water clarity in shallow lakes during summer? Results from a mesocosm experiment. *PLoS One* 11:e0168494. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168494
- Michelan, T. S., Silveira, M. J., Petsch, D., Pinha, G. D., and Thomaz, S. M. (2014). The invasive aquatic macrophyte *Hydrilla verticillata* facilitates the establishment of the invasive mussel *Limnoperna fortunei* in Neotropical reservoirs. *J. Limnol.* 73, 1–11. doi: 10.4081/jlimnol.2014.909
- Musko, I. B., and Bako, B. (2005). The density and biomass of Dreissena polymorpha living on submerged macrophytes in Lake Balaton (Hungary). Arch. Hydrobiol. 162, 229–251. doi: 10.1127/0003-9136/2005/0162-0229
- Nalepa, T. F. (2010). An overview of the spread, distribution, and ecological impacts of the quagga mussel, *Dreissena rostriformis bugensis*, with possible implications to the Colorado River system. Proceedings, Colorado River Basin Science and Resource Management Symposium. Coming Together, Coordination of Science and Restoration Activities for the Colorado River Ecosystem, Scottsdale, AZ, November 18–20, 2008. US Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report, 2010–5135.
- Noordhuis, R., Van Zuidam, B. G., Peeters, E. T. H. M., and Van Geest, G. J. (2016). Further improvements in water quality of the Dutch Borderlakes: two types of clear states at different nutrient levels. *Aquat. Ecol.* 50, 521–539. doi: 10.1007/s10452-015-9521-8
- Paulus, M., Teubner, D., Hochkirch, A., and Veith, M. (2014). Journey into the past: using cryogenically stored samples to reconstruct the invasion history of the quagga mussel (*Dreissena rostriformis*) in German river systems. *Biol. Invasions* 16, 2591–2597. doi: 10.1007/s10530-014-0689-y
- Reeders, H. H., and Bij de Vaate, A. (1990). Zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*): a new perspective for water quality management. *Hydrobiologia* 200, 437–450.
- Reeders, H. H., Bij de Vaate, A., and Slim, F. J. (1989). The filtration rate of Dreissena polymorpha (Bivalvia) in three Dutch lakes with reference to biological water quality management. Freshw. Biol. 22, 133–141. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2427.1989.tb01088.x
- Reusch, T. B. H., and Williams, S. L. (1999). Macrophyte canopy structure and the success of an invasive marine bivalve. *Oikos* 84, 398–416. doi: 10.2307/3546420
- Ricciardi, A. (2001). Facilitative interactions among aquatic invaders: is an "invasional meltdown" occurring in the Great Lakes? *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 58, 2513–2525. doi: 10.1139/f01-178
- Sagarin, R., and Pauchard, A. (2010). Observational approaches in ecology open new ground in a changing world. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 8, 379–386. doi: 10.1890/090001
- Sand-Jensen, K., and Madsen, T. V. (1991). Minimum light requirements of submerged freshwater macrophytes in laboratory growth experiments. *J. Ecol.* 69, 749–764.
- Schaumburg, J., Schranz, C., Hofmann, G., Stelzer, D., Schneider, S., and Schmedtje, U. (2004). Macrophytes and phytobenthos as indicators of ecological status in Germna lakes: a contribution to the implementation of the water framework directive. *Limnologica* 34, 302–314. doi: 10.1016/S0075-9511(04)80003-3
- Scheffer, M., Hosper, S. H., Meijer, M. L., and Jeppesen, E. (1993). Alternative equilibria in shallow lakes. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 8, 275–279. doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(93)90254-M
- Shatwell, T., and Köhler, J. (2019). Decreased nitrogen loading controls summer cyanobacterial blooms without promoting nitrogen-fixing taxa: long-term response of a shallow lake. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 64, 166–178. doi: 10.1002/ lno.11002
- Simberloff, D., and Gibbons, L. (2004). Now you see them, now you don't! population crashes of established introduced species. *Biol. Invasions* 6, 161–172. doi: 10.1023/B:BINV.0000022133.49752.46
- Simberloff, D., and Von Holle, B. (1999). Positive interactions of nonindigenous species: invasional meltdown? *Biol. Invasions* 1, 21–32. doi: 10.1023/A: 1010086329619
- Skubinna, J. P., Coon, T. G., and Batterson, T. R. (1995). Increased abundance and depth of submersed macrophytes in response to decreased turbidity in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 21, 476–488. doi: 10.1016/ S0380-1330(95)71060-7
- Soliveres, S., Smit, C., and Maestre, F. T. (2015). Moving forward on facilitation research: response to changing environments and effects on the diversity, functioning and evolution of plant communities. *Biol. Rev.* 90, 297–313. doi: 10.1111/brv.12110
- Strayer, D., D'Antonio, C., Essl, F., Fowler, M. S., Geist, J., Hilt, S., et al. (2017). Boom-bust dynamics in biological invasions: definitions, causes, detection, and description. *Ecol. Lett.* 20, 1337–1350. doi: 10.1111/ele.12822
- Van de Weyer, K., Nienhaus, I., Tigges, P., Hussner, A., and Hamann, U. (2007). Eine einfache und kosteneffiziente Methode zur flächenhaften Erfassung von submersen Pflanzenbeständen in Seen. Wasser und Abfall 6, 20–22.
- Vanderploeg, H. A., Nalepa, T. F., Jude, D. J., Mills, E. L., Holeck, K. T., Liebig, J. R., et al. (2002). Dispersal and emerging ecological impacts of Ponto-Caspian species in the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 59, 1209–1228. doi: 10.1139/f02-087
- Velthuis, M., Van Deelen, E., Van Donk, E., Zhang, P., and Bakker, E. (2017). Impact of temperature and nutrients on carbon: nutrient tissue stoichiometry of submerged aquatic plants: an experiment and meta-analysis. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:655. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.00655
- Vermaat, J. E., Santamaria, L., and Roos, P. J. (2000). Water flow across and sediment trapping in submerged macrophyte beds of contrasting growth form. Arch. Hydrobiol. 148, 549–562. doi: 10.1127/archiv-hydrobiol/148/2000/549
- Vilas, M. P., Marti, C. L., Adams, M. P., Oldham, C. E., and Hipsey, M. R. (2017). Invasive macrophytes control the spatial and temporal patterns of temperature and dissolved oxygen in a shallow lake: a proposed feedback mechanism of macrophyte loss. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:2097. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.02097
- White, E. M., Wilson, J. C., and Clarke, A. R. (2006). Biotic indirect effects: a neglected concept in invasion biology. *Divers. Distrib.* 12, 443–455. doi: 10.1111/j.1366-9516.2006.00265.x
- Wilson, K. A., Howell, E. T., and Jackson, D. A. (2006). Replacement of Zebra Mussels by Quagga Mussels in the Canadian Nearshore of Lake Ontario: the importance of substrate, round goby abundance, and upwelling frequency. J. Great Lakes Res. 32, 11–28. doi: 10.3394/0380-1330(2006)32[11:ROZMBQ]2.0.CO;2
- Wittmann, M. E., Chandra, S., Caires, A., Denton, M., Rosen, M. R., Wong, W. H., et al. (2010). Early invasion population structure of quagga mussel and associated

benthic invertebrate community composition on soft sediment in a large reservoir. *Lake Reserv. Manage.* 26, 316–327. doi: 10.1080/07438141.2010.519855

- Wolff, P. (1980). Die Hydrilleae (Hydrocharitaceae) in Europa. Göttinger Floristische Rundbriefe 14, 33–56.
- Woźniczka, A., Wawrzyniak-Wydrowska, B., Radziejewska, T., and Skrzypacz, A. (2016). The quagga mussel (*Dreissena rostriformis bugensis* Andrusov, 1897) – another Ponto-Caspian dreissenid bivalve in the southern Baltic catchment: the first record from the Szczecin lagoon. *Oceanologia* 58, 154–159. doi: 10.1016/j.oceano.2015.12.002
- Zehnsdorf, A., Hussner, A., Eismann, F., Rönicke, H., and Melzer, A. (2015). Management options of invasive *Elodea nuttallii* and *Elodea canadensis*. *Limnologica* 51, 110-117. doi: 10.1016/j.limno.2014.12.010
- Zhu, B., Fitzgerald, D. G., Mayer, C. M., Rudstam, L. G., and Mills, E. L. (2006). Alteration of ecosystem function by zebra mussels in Oneida Lake: impacts on submerged macrophytes. *Ecosystems* 9, 1017–1028. doi: 10.1007/ s10021-005-0049-y
- Zhu, B., Mayer, C. M., Heckathorn, S. A., and Rudstam, L. G. (2007). Can dreissenid attachment and biodeposition affect submerged macrophyte growth? *J. Aquat. Plant Manag.* 45, 71–76.

Conflict of Interest Statement: KvdW is affiliated to the company lanaplan GbR. All other authors declare no competing interests.

Copyright © 2019 Wegner, Kronsbein, Gillefalk, van de Weyer, Köhler, Funke, Monaghan and Hilt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Allelopathic Effects of Native Versus Invasive Plants on One Major Invader

Gabrielle Thiébaut*, Michèle Tarayre and Héctor Rodríguez-Pérez

ECOBIO, UMR 6553 CNRS, Université de Rennes 1, Rennes, France

Allelopathy is defined as the effects (stimulatory and inhibitory) of a plant on the development of neighboring plants through the release of secondary compounds. Autoallelophaty is the beneficial or harmful effect of a plant species on itself. The allelopathic potential belonging to a native species could induce a biotic resistance against invasive plants, whereas allelochemicals released by exotic species could favor the establishment of invasive species (invasional meltdown). The aim of our study was to examine the potential allelopathic effect of four plant species on the target species Ludwigia hexapetala using two experiments. In the first experiment, we tested the allelopathic effect of root and leaf leachates of the two congeneric exotic species Ludwigia hexapetala and Ludwigia peploides on L. hexapetala, while in the second experiment, we studied the allelopathic effect of root and leaf leachates of a sympatric exotic species Myriophyllum aquaticum and of one native species Mentha aquatica on L. hexapetala. We measured the stem length to calculate the relative growth rate and four physiological traits (nitrogen balance index and flavonol, chorophyll, anthocyanin indices) of the target plants on a weekly basis. At the end of the experiment, we determined the aboveground and belowground biomass. We also counted the number of lateral branches and measured their lengths. We found that the root leachates of L. peploides and of Myriophyllum aquaticum had stimulated the synthesis of flavonols of L. hexapetala. Leaf leachate of L. hexapetala also stimulated its own flavonol synthesis. Also, the root leachate of L. peploides had stimulated the total biomass and length of lateral branches of L. hexapetala, whereas the production of lateral branches had been stimulated by root leachates of both Ludwigia species and by leaf leachate of Myriophyllum aquaticum. The autoallelopathy of L. hexapetala could explain its invasiveness. Both leachates produced by Mentha aquatica had no effect on the physiological and morphological traits of the invasive L. hexapetala and indicated no biotic resistance in the recipient community. The two invasive plant species Myriophyllum aquaticum and L. peploides could favor the establishment of L. hexapetala. These results suggested an "invasional meltdown."

Keywords: plant-plant interactions, invasive species, Ludwigia hexapetala, Ludwigia peploides, Myriophyllum aquaticum, Mentha aquatica

INTRODUCTION

Many aquatic plant species have been introduced to other continents either accidentally or voluntary for ornamental purposes for example. An invasive species is one that spreads outside their natural range and may impact the native diversity and overall structure and function of ecosystems. Invasive species often establish monospecific patches in their

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Institute for the Electromagnetic Detection of the Environment (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

Berenice Schneider, National Institute of Limnology (INALI), Argentina Pedro Ramírez García, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico Malgorzata Strzalek, University of Natural Sciences and Humanities of Siedlce, Poland

*Correspondence:

Gabrielle Thiébaut gabrielle.thiebaut@univ-rennes1.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 01 March 2019 Accepted: 13 June 2019 Published: 02 July 2019

Citation:

Thiébaut G, Tarayre M and Rodríguez-Pérez H (2019) Allelopathic Effects of Native Versus Invasive Plants on One Major Invader. Front. Plant Sci. 10:854. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00854

73

introduced ranges but coexist with neighbors in their native habitat (Ridenour and Callaway, 2001). Many studies suggest that allelopathy may contribute to the ability of exotic species to form dense stands in invaded ecosystems (Hierro and Callaway, 2003). Allelopathy, defined as the chemical interactions between plants or plants and microorganisms, could have either positive or negative effects on the performance of neighbors (Rice, 1984). Apart from affecting the establishment of coexisting species, allelopathic species can also affect their own establishment and self-regeneration. When the target plant is also the donor, the phenomenon is called autoallelopathy, which is a type of intraspecific interaction. Few studies showed a positive effect of autoallelopathy on the growth of the plant itself (Zhu et al., 2015; Bardon et al., 2017). The suspicion that allelochemicals, released by a root or leaf, may interfere with neighbors has been the subject of different theories on biological invasions such as the "novel weapon hypothesis" (NWH, Callaway and Aschehoug, 2000; Callaway and Ridenour, 2004) or the "Biotic Resistance" hypothesis (Elton, 1958). However, many ecosystems often contain combinations of exotic species. These communities of invaders could be driven by facilitation or mutualistic interactions between exotic species, according to the theory of "invasional meltdown" (Simberloff and Von Holle, 1999). An invasional meltdown is defined by the interactions which leads one invasive species to favor the invasion of one or more other exotic species. Moreover, plants that have co-evolved with a species with an allelopathic ability may be less susceptible to allelochemicals, while newly exposed species may exhibit less resistance (theory NWH, Callaway and Aschehoug, 2000). Consequently, allelochemicals released by native plants could also affect the growth of invasive species and would, thus, constitute a biotic resistance against plant invasion (Christina et al., 2015).

However, some exotic species may limit the establishment of other exotic species. Indeed, exotic species that have not co-evolved with the invasive one could be sensitive to allelochemichals (Callaway and Aschehoug, 2000), whereas sympatric species could be favored by secondary compounds released by the donor species (Ehlers and Thompson, 2004). Moreover, the secondary metabolite composition of plants is phylogenetically determined (Grutters et al., 2017) and two close species may produce similar chemical compounds. Consequently, two conspecific species are less susceptible to allelochemicals released by their own individuals and by those of the other species. The allelopathic effects of native plants on exotic plants and on the interactions between conspecific and heterospecific invasive plants have rarely been studied.

This paper is focused on a major invader in wetlands, the water primrose *Ludwigia hexapetala* (Hook. and Arn.) (syn. *L. grandiflora* subsp. *hexapetala*). Native to South America, this species was introduced into France in 1830 and spread initially within the Mediterranean region of France and later into Europe (Thouvenot et al., 2013). The water primrose has been listed on the European List of Invasive Exotic Species

since July 2016. The rapid and extensive development of Ludwigia spp. populations can block waterways, irrigation ditches, and canals; impact human activities (navigation, hunting, fishing, irrigation, and drainage); reduce biodiversity (Stiers et al., 2011); and degrade water quality (Thouvenot et al., 2013). L. hexapetala is a perennial aquatic plant which forms very dense mats. It grows horizontally in water (or mud) and can break the water surface. It is mainly aquatic, but is also able to colonize terrestrial habitats such as riverbanks and wet meadows (Thouvenot et al., 2013). The terrestrial form of L. hexapetala has recently invaded wet meadows along the Atlantic Coast of France leading to the depreciation of the fodder value of meadows, resulting in the abandonment of pasture (Billet et al., 2018). In a previous study, we established that L. hexapatala stimulated its own germination and could promote its own population persistence (Santonja et al., 2018). L. hexapetala produces allelochemicals (Dandelot et al., 2008; Santonja et al., 2018; Thiébaut et al., 2018) and these substances could be implicated in the outcome of the interactions between the water primrose and the surrounding species, be they native or exotic.

The aim of our study was to test whether individuals of L. hexapetala would modulate their morphological and physiological traits after exposure to the leachate of different species. The morphological traits were related to plants' ability to grow, to regenerate, and to colonize new habitats. The physiological traits were indicative of plant's allocation of resources to growth or to defenses, the plant's ability to photosynthesize, and an indicator of an exposure to stress. In other words, we investigated the autoallelopathy of L. hexapetala and whether a native species and two sympatric species have the ability to promote or to inhibit the establishment of the water primrose through allelopathy. The first hypothesis was that the leachate of the congeneric plant *Ludwigia peploides* (Kunth) Raven ssp. montevidensis (Spreng.) Raven have no negative effect on the performance of L. hexapetala, because these two species have a common historic exposure to the allelochemicals (theory NWH) and that the leachates of L. hexapetala promote the growth of itself. The second hypothesis was that the putative allelochemicals released by the native species Mentha aquatica L. have a negative effect on the growth of the invasive species L. hexapetala (Biotic Resistance Hypothesis), whereas the putative secondary compounds produced by the sympatric species Myriophyllum aquaticum (Vell.) Verdc have a positive effect on L. hexapetala (invasional meltdown theory).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Donor Species

Native to South America, *L. peploides* (primrose-willow) was imported into France around 1830 from the South East as an ornamental plant (Dutartre, 2004). It is now a widespread species and has been listed on the European List of Invasive Exotic Species since July 2016. *L. peploides* often forms monospecific stands and outcompetes other aquatic species

(Dutartre, 2004). It is a creeping emergent macrophyte. It can root in the substrate and send out long prostrates or ascending stems that freely root and branch at nodes and often create dense mats. Dandelot et al. (2008) showed that *L. peploides* possess an allelopathic activity that induces a seedling chlorosis, a decrease in germination and an increase in mortality for watercress *Nasturtium officinalis* R. Br.

Originating in South America, the creeping emergent Parrot's Feather Myriophyllum aquaticum was introduced into Europe, more specifically, into France, in the 1880s (Sheppard et al., 2006). It was imported for use in aquaria and garden ponds but escaped into the wild. The European Union has banned the sale and planting or keeping of this plant, even in isolated ponds. Regulations are met for Myriophyllum aquaticum. The plant's stems may float out over the surface to form dense stands, from which the emergent shoots rise, making impenetrable mats (Hussner, 2009). Once introduced into a new region, the plants easily spread downstream mainly in the form of vegetative fragments. It is often found in eutrophic waters (small water bodies, irrigation channel networks, and small streams). This species has demonstrated a potential inhibitory effect on neighboring plants (Elakovich and Wooten, 1989). Saito et al. (1989) showed a significant inhibitory activity on growth of the blue-green algae Microcystis aeruginosa f. aeruginosa (strain number NIES-44) and Anabaena flos-aquae f. flos-aquae (NIES-73).

Mentha aquatica is a perennial plant from the northern temperate regions of Europe. It has a creeping rhizome with submerged leaves and the erect stems possess aerial leaves. *Mentha aquatica* is typically associated with permanently wet habitats adjacent to open water, often partially or wholly submerged. The invasive *L. hexapetala* and the native *Mentha aquatica* can co-occur in the wild in European aquatic ecosystems. The watermint *Mentha aquatica* is recognized as having an allelopathic effect (Santonja et al., 2018).

Experimental Design

Two experiments were conducted with the target species *L. hexapetala.* In the experiment 1, the two donor species were the two congeneric species *L. hexapetala* and *L. peploides*, whereas in the experiment 2, the donor species were *Myriophyllum aquaticum* and *Mentha aquatica.* In the experiment 1, the aim was also to test the potential autoallelopathy of *L. hexapetala* on its growth.

Experiment 1

In mid-May 2018, 50 shoots of *L. hexapetala* were collected from Apigné pond (01°44′25.2″W, 48°05′41.4″N). For each shoot, an apical shoot (hereafter called individual), without buds or lateral stems, was cut to a length of 8 cm. In the laboratory, the individuals were washed to remove invertebrates, algae, and debris. They were acclimatized for 2 weeks in deionized tap water at room temperature (19°C). They float free in deionized water. The individuals produced roots during this acclimatization period. After these 2 weeks, each individual was planted in a pot (7 cm in diameter and 8 cm in height), containing 50% fertile agricultural soil (NPK = 14:10:18 kg/m³, pH = 6) and 50% of sand.

Leaves and roots of *L. hexapetala* and of *L. peploides* were selected in the spring of 2018 from the Apigné pond in Brittany for *L. hexapetala* and the Brière Marshland $(02^{\circ}26'41''W, 47^{\circ}32'63''N)$ for *L. peploides*. Only, the small, round, floating leaves (i.e., those in contact with water) were collected. The leaves were detached from the stems, washed to remove benthic invertebrates and filamentous algae, and stored in the dark at 4°C. Leaf and root leachates of *L. hexapetala* and *L. peploides* were separately prepared by soaking 10 g of fresh leaves and 10 g of fresh roots (equivalent dry weight) in 1,000 ml of deionized water for 12 h in darkness. These 1% aqueous solutions were then filtered through a filter paper (Whatman #1). The leaf and root leachates were then stored at 4°C for 24 h prior to the experiment.

At the start of the experiment, each individual of the target species *L. hexapetala* was watered either with 15 ml of deionized water for the control (C) or with 15 ml of a leaf/root leachate (1%) of the donor species, either *L. peploides* or *L. hexapetala.* Target individuals were watered with leaf or root leachate only once at the beginning of the experiment. Each treatment and the control had 10 replicates. Pots were randomly positioned in a growth chamber (Photon Flux Density 100 μ mols⁻¹ m², 14 h light/10 h dark cycle) at 21°C for 28 days. The bottom of the pots was kept in tap water (*ca.* 1–2 cm depth). Individuals of the target species *L. hexapetala* were watered with deionized water to maintain by to keep the substrate wet, once each week for 4 weeks.

Measurement of Morphological and Physiological Traits

We used a functional trait approach to study the responses of individuals of L. hexapetala after an exposure to root and leaf leachates. We measured both physiological and morphological traits. Four physiological traits were measured simultaneously in vivo using a non-destructive measurement device called the Dualex Scientific+[™] sensor. This is a handheld leaf-clip sensor (Cerovic et al., 2012; Bürling et al., 2013) that measures flavonols (Flav.), anthocyanin (Anth.), and chlorophyll (Chl.) indices and calculates the nitrogen balance index (NBI). The NBI is more of an indicator of C/N allocation changes due to N deficiency (from 0 to 100) than a measure of leaf nitrogen content per se. The Chl. index related to the chlorophyll content (between 0 and 150) is an indicator of the photosynthetic yield. The Flav. index related to the flavonol content or to phenolics accumulation is an indicator of the defense mechanisms against pathogens and herbivores. The Anth. index related to anthocyanin is an indicator of an exposure to stress (shading conditions, nutrient deficiencies, temperature stress etc.). The measurements of physiological traits were taken from two apical leaves per individual of L. hexapetala per pot. We repeated these physiological measurements on five individuals (i.e., 10 measurements per week).

Five morphological traits were measured. We counted lateral branches and measured their length (Barrat-Segretain et al.,

1998). Based on the number of roots, we evaluated plant ability to colonize. To obtain a proxy of the apical growth, we measured stem length and then calculated the relative growth rate (RGR; d - 1) according to Hunt (1990):

$$RGR stem = (\ln L2 - \ln L1) / (T2 - T1)$$

where L1 and L2 represent total shoot length, at the beginning (T1) and end of the experiment (T2), respectively.

At the end of the experiment, the main shoot length and the lateral shoot length were measured, the lateral branches were counted, and the roots and shoots were harvested. The above and belowground vegetative parts of the plants were dried separately at 65°C for 72 h and weighed. The ratio of belowground to aboveground mass was calculated.

Experiment 2

Leaves and roots of the two donor species *Mentha aquatica* and *Myriophyllum aquaticum* were collected once more in mid-June of 2018 from two different ponds in Apigné in Brittany, France. We also collected 50 individuals of the target species *L. hexapetala*. At these sampling sites, the two donor and the target species did not co-occur. The leaf and root leachates of each species (*Mentha aquatica, Myriophyllum aquaticum*) were prepared according to the protocol followed in Experiment 1. The same experimental design was applied and the same morphological and physiological traits were measured as in Experiment 1. The duration of this experiment was 3 weeks.

Data Analysis

Longitudinal data in both experiments, RGR, and the physiological parameters NBI, chlorophyll, flavonols, and anthocyanin were analyzed on the basis of repeated measures. Whenever data met parametric test assumptions, a linear mixed model with a split-plot design for repeated measures was applied, including each plant as a random factor; otherwise data were analyzed by means of non-parametric testing (Naguchi et al., 2012). We double checked that data met the parametric test assumptions graphically and by means of the Shapiro-Wilk and (residuals normality) test Breusch-Pagan test (homoscedasticity test). A type III ANOVA model was used to test hypothesis in parametric repeated measures analyses to RGR data in both experiments and NBI, chlorophyll, and flavonols in Experiment 2. Whenever the interaction between treatment effect and sampling time was significant, a post hoc pairwise comparison was performed among treatments for each sampling period individually. We used t-test comparisons for parametric datasets and Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test for non-parametric datasets; in both cases, p's were subsequently corrected by means of Benjamini-Hochberg False Discovery Rate test for multiple comparisons with a 10% acceptance level (Benjamini and Yekutieli, 2001).

The effects of the leachate source upon total mass and root/ stem mass ratio were tested with a one-way ANOVA test, the model II, owing to an imbalance among the number of plants in the treatments in the two experiments. The root/stem mass ratio was in each occasion transformed with logit transformation to improve normality and homoscedasticity of residuals. Total biomass log transformation was needed only for the *L. hexapetala* dataset in the first experiment. In both experiments, the effects of the leachate origin upon the number of branches, including plants without branches in the datasets, were analyzed with a generalized linear model following a Poisson error distribution. The effect of the leachate origin upon the total length of branches was tested with a one-way ANOVA, type II, excluding from the analyzed dataset the plants without branches. All analyses were performed with R software (R Core Team, 2016).

RESULTS

Effects of Root and Leaf Leachates of *L. hexapetala* and of *L. peploides* on *L. hexapetala* (Experiment 1)

The interaction of two factors (time and leachate origin) was significant for the synthesis of flavonols in leaves of *L. hexapetala* after 3 and 4 weeks, respectively (p = 0.01, **Figure 1E**, **Table 1**). The root leachate of *L. peploides* and the leaf leachate of *L. hexapetala* significantly stimulated the synthesis of flavonols of *L. hexapetala* after 3 and 4 weeks, respectively. There was no significant effect of both leaf and root leachates of both *L. hexapetala* and *L. peploides* on the NBI, chlorophyll, and anthocyanin indices (**Figures 1A–D, Table 1**).

There was no effect of the leaf and root leachates of *L. hexapetala* and *L. peploides* on the RGR of *L. hexapetala* (**Table 1**). All the morphological traits were significantly influenced by the type of leachate (**Table 2**). The total biomass of *L. hexapetala* was stimulated by the root leachate of *L. peploides* (F = 4.80; p = 0.003, **Figure 2A**). The ratio below/ aboveground mass was not significantly affected by the leachates (**Figure 2B**). The number of branches of *L. hexapetala* was stimulated both by the root leachate of *L. hexapetala* (Chi = 36.93; p < 0.0001) and *L. peploides* (Chi = 32.97; p < 0.0001, **Figure 2C**). The lengths of lateral shoots of *L. hexapetala* were longer after exposure to the root leachate of *L. peploides* (F = 4.69; p = 0.003, **Figure 2D**). There was no effect of leaf leachates of both *Ludwigia* species on the morphological traits of *L. hexapetala* (**Figure 2**).

The root leachate of *L. hexapetala* did not affect its own physiological traits, apical growth, biomass, and branching (**Figure 2**).

Effects of Root and Leaf Leachates of *Mentha aquatica* and *Myriophyllum aquaticum* on *L. hexapetala* (Experiment 2)

The interaction of two factors (time and leachate origin) was significant for NBI and the chlorophyll content in *L. hexapetala* at the beginning of the experiment (**Figure 1F, Table 1**). The individuals watered with deionized



FIGURE 1 | Mean values plus standard error of longitudinal data from experiments 1 and 2. (A–E) show the effects of root and leaf leachates of *L. hexapetala* and *L. peploides* plants upon *L. hexapetala* plants, and (F–J) show the effects of root and leaf leachates of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* and *Mentha aquatica* upon *L. hexapetala* plants. RGR refers to relative growth rate assessed between two consecutive sampling times. In (A–E), solid black circles = control values, white rotated squares = *L. hexapetala* leaf leachate (LLh), solid black rotated squares = *L. hexapetala* leaf leachate (LLh), solid black rotated squares = *L. peploides* leaf leachate (LLp), white inverted triangles = *L. hexapetala* root leachate (RLh), solid black triangles = *Mentha aquatica* leaf leachate (LMe), solid black triangles = *Myriophyllum aquaticum* leaf leachate (LMy), white squares = *Mentha aquatica* root leachate (RMe), solid black square = *Myriophyllum aquaticum* root leachate (RMy). Letters set the significance of pairwise comparisons (significance threshold of 0.05).

water (control) were characterized during the first week by a lower RGR and NBI than the individuals watered by root or leaf leachates of *Mentha aquatica* or *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (Figures 1F,G, Table 1). The chlorophyll content in control was higher than that in the individuals exposed to root leachates of *Mentha aquatica* during the first week of the experiment (Figures 1H,J). There was no effect of root and leaf leachates of *M* aquatica and *Myriophyllum* aquaticum on the anthocyanin synthesis of *L*. hexapetala (Figure 1I, Table 1). The interaction of two factors (time and leachate origin) was significant for the synthesis of flavonols of *L*. hexapetala (p = 0.0001, Figure 1J, Table 1). After 3 weeks,

TABLE 1 | Effects of leaf/root leachates on physiological traits of *L. hexapetala* (experiment 1: leachates of *L. peploides* or *L. hexapetala*; experiment 2: leachates of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* or *Mentha aquatica*).

Physiological traits		Experiment 1			Experiment 2		
		Statistic	df	p	Statistic	df	p
	Treatment	4.93	4	0.4	13.30	4	0.009
RGR	Time	2.46	1	0.1	21.16	1	<0.0001
	Treatment × Time	2.40	4	0.7	11.60	4	0.02
	Treatment	0.16	3.08	0.9	18.49	4	<0.0001
NBI	Time	0.92	2.41	<0.0001	0.05	1	0.8
	Treatment × Time	1.89	6.40	0.07	11.48	4	0.02
	Treatment	2.44	3.37	0.06	5.86	4	0.003
Chl	Time	10.49	2.61	<0.0001	23.48	1	<0.0001
	Treatment × Time	0.74	6.86	0.6	9.68	4	0.05
	Treatment	4.16	3.40	0.004	42.11	4	<0.0001
Flav	Time	7.35	1.96	0.007	18.75	1	<0.0001
	Treatment × Time	2.92	5.47	0.01	23.22	4	0.0001
	Treatment	1.36	2.93	0.3	1.77	3.62	0.1
Anth	Time	6.25	2.47	0.0008	18.39	1.63	<0.0001
	Treatment × Time	1.44	6.52	0.2	1.70	5.31	0.1

Longitudinal data analysis results based on repeated measures analysis. RGR, relative growth rate; NBI, nitrogen balance index; ChI, chlorophyll index; Flav, flavonol index; Anth, anthocyanin index. Significant p's at 5% significance level are in bold.

TABLE 2 | Effects of leaf/root leachates on morphological traits of *L. hexapetala* observed at the end of the experiment (experiment 1: leachates of *L. peploides* or *L. hexapetala*; experiment 2: leachates of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* or *Mentha aquatica*).

Morphological traits	Experiment 1			Experiment 2		
	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	df	р
Total biomass	4.05	4	0.003	0.84	4	0.5
Below/aboveground mass ratio	4.15	4	0.006	2.04	4	0.1
Lateral branches length	3.47	4	0.02	1.63	4	0.2
Number of branches	36.93	4	<0.0001	14.30	4	0.006

Significant p's at 5% significance level are in bold.

root leachate of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* stimulated the synthesis of flavonols in *L. hexapetala* (Figure 1J).

There was no effect of leaf and root leachates of *Mentha aquatica* on the morphological and physiological traits of the target species (**Figures 2E-H, Table 2**). There was effect of leaf and root leachates of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* on the total dry biomass, on ratio below/aboveground mass and on the length of branches (**Figures 2E,F,H, Table 2**). The number of branches of *L. hexapetala* was stimulated by the leaf leachate of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (**Figure 2G**).

DISCUSSION

Allelopathic Effects of Leaf and Root Leachates of *L. peploides* and of *L. hexapetala* on the Traits of *L. hexapetala* (Experiment 1)

The leachates of *L. peploides* and of *L. hexapetala* affected the physiological and morphological traits of *L. hexapetala*. Leachates from leaves of *L. hexapetala* and from roots of *L. peploides* stimulated the flavonol synthesis of *L. hexapetala*.

The increase of flavonols content in the epidermis of L. hexapetala is a surrogate of leaf dry mass per area. The epidermis of the leaves of all plants contains flavonoids that protect against UV-B radiation (280-320 nm). These compounds absorb light in the UV-B range but allow visible light to pass through uninterrupted for photosynthesis and consequently enhanced photosynthesis. Flavonoids act as signal molecules to take preventive measures against attack and were consequently implied in the mechanisms of defenses (Samanta et al., 2011). They increased in L. hexapetala, whereas no apical growth (RGR) was established. The allocation of energy to defense versus growth ("The dilemma of plant," Herms and Mattson, 1992) is particularly important for the invasive plant persistence in field. Harms et al. (2017) reported strong herbivory damage in L. hexapetala in spring. However, despite the diverse assemblage of herbivores and fungi associated with L. hexapetala, damage was relatively low and the plant continues to persist as an invasive species (Harms et al., 2017). The root leachates of both Ludwigia spp. increasing the synthesis of flavonols contributed to the resistance of L. hexapetala to herbivores. This represents an efficient strategy for L. hexapetala.





The ability of both *Ludwigia* spp. to release allelochemicals by roots into the soil may increase nutrient availability (Bardon et al., 2017; Thiébaut et al., 2018) and consequently stimulate the branching of *L. hexapetala*. More specifically, the lateral growth (number and length of lateral branches) and the total biomass of *L. hexapetala* were enhanced in the presence of the root leachate of *L. peploides*. The stimulation of branching and biomass increased the vigor, the regeneration, and the colonization abilities of *L. hexapetala*. These positive effects of root leachate of *L. peploides* could be considered as facilitation interactions and "invasional meltdown." Though rare, literature data established

that facilitation among congeneric plants does occur and is referred to as "intraspecific" facilitation (Loayza et al., 2017). The strong allelopathic potential of two *Ludwigia* species leads to think that water-soluble compounds released from these plants play a significant role in the successful invasion of these aquatic macrophytes. A similar result was reported with two invasive aquatic plants of *Alternanthera* species (Abbas et al., 2016). Our first hypothesis on facilitation effect of congeneric species *L. peploides* on the growth of *L. hexapetala* was validated.

We also found a positive autoallelopathy of *L. hexapetala* leachates on the flavonols synthesis and on the production of

lateral shoots. These results are congruent with a previous work in which leaf leachates of L. hexapetala have been reported to stimulate seed germination of itself (Santonja et al., 2018). Similarly, Zhu et al. (2015) showed that root extracts of Ailanthus altissima stimulated seed germination, elongation of radicle extension, and elongation of seedlings of itself. Few examples of positive effects of autoallelopathy on plant's growth were reported (Zhu et al., 2015; Bardon et al., 2017) and on their implication to the ecosystem functioning. For example, Bardon et al. (2017) showed that Fallopia spp. complex (Asian knotweeds) produce high quantities of procyanidins that they were not considered to be self-toxic. The release of procyanidins by Fallopia spp. themselves induced a higher biomass allocation below ground and increases the lateral root production in Fallopia spp. and could also inhibit denitrification, thus improving nitrogen availability in nutrient-poor soils (Bardon et al., 2017). Thus, autoallelopathy of L. hexapatala could promote plant spread by increasing its competitive ability. Our first hypothesis on a positive effect of autoallelopathy of L. hexapetala on itself was validated.

Plant species may have developed resistance against allelochemicals from plants in the same habitat by co-evolution (Reigosa et al., 1999). Resistant species co-occurring with the donor plant could even benefit from the production of allelochemicals by the plant (Hilt et al., 2006). Many secondary metabolites, despite playing a primary role in defending the plant against pathogens or herbivores, can be considered to play secondary roles in plant-plant interactions, by which they nevertheless enhance the competitive potential of the plant (Reigosa et al., 1999). The putative allelochemicals released by the roots of L. peploides could directly favor the lateral growth of L. hexapetala or could also indirectly affect its development by modifying the chemical and physical properties of the soil and by regulating the soil microbial community (Walker et al., 2003) and by favoring the nutrient availability or altering pH (Blum et al., 1993). However, we have no evidence that the positive effect of root leachate of L. peploides on L. hexapetala traits results from a common past history and from co-evolution (it is possible that the two Ludwigia species introduced in France did not co-occur in their native range). Our study paved the way for future research about the allelopathic effects of L. peploides on L. hexapetala in both native and introduced ranges.

Effects of Root and Leaf Leachates of Mentha aquatica and of Myriophyllum aquaticum on L. hexapetala (Experiment 2)

No effect of root leachates was observed on the morphological traits of *L. hexapetala*. Parrot's Feather *Myriophyllum aquaticum* has the same biological type with both aquatic and terrestrial forms as *L. hexapetala* and share the same niche. We suspected that to limit niche overlapping of both species, allelochemicals released by roots of *Myriophyllum aquaticum* do not affect the nutrient availability of soil and consequently they do not favor the nutrient acquisition and biomass of *L. hexapetala*.

However, our results showed that the root leachate of Myriophyllum aquaticum had a positive effect on the flavonols in the leaves of L. hexapetala. Flavonoids are phenolic compounds that may be employed by plants as visual and olfactory attractants. Indeed, the leaf leachate of Myriophyllum aquaticum slightly stimulated the production of the lateral branches of L. hexapetala. The production of secondary metabolites by plants is determined by the genetic characteristics of the species producing them. Allelopathic plants may involve genetic changes within nearby growing plants. It may suggest that genotypes that are sensitive to allopathic chemicals have been removed from the gene pool, due to the continuous selection pressure of selective allelopathic chemicals, especially phenolic acids released by aquatic plants (Abbas et al., 2014). The two invasive species Myriophyllum aquaticum and L. hexapetala can coexist in field in their introduced range. The release of allelochemicals is also determined by the environmental conditions in which the plants are found (Reigosa et al., 2013). Variables such as temperature, humidity, and light intensity, added to the effects of the biota and the physicochemical structure of the soil, can affect not only the production of metabolites but also the chemical structure and degree of activity of substances released into the environment. Our hypothesis of "invasional meltdown" between the two sympatric species was validated.

In contrast, the hypothesis about a negative effect of the watermint *Mentha aquatica* leachates on the traits of *L. hexapetala* was invalidated. No effect of *Mentha aquatica* leachate on the *L. hexapetala* traits could be explained by the season and by the nature of the secondary compounds. Furthermore, the absence of effect of the watermint leachates could be due to the degradation of the allelochemicals after a short time. Secondary compounds can be degraded after they have been released into the soil; the half-life of allelochemicals varies from a few hours to a few months (Cheng and Cheng, 2015). This is mainly associated with the allelochemical concentration, soil type, and soil microbial population (Cheng and Cheng, 2015). Further studies are required to determine the concentration of these compounds in *L. hexapetala* soil and the stability of those compounds in the soil.

CONCLUSIONS

The leachates of *L. hexapetala* favored its own synthesis of flavonols and its branching. This autoallelopathy could partly explain the water primrose invasiveness. The two invasive species *L. peploides* and *Myriophyllum aquaticum* stimulated the flavonols synthesis and the branching of the water primrose. These results suggested an "invasional meltdown." Stimulation of the lateral growth and defense mechanisms by sympatric invasive species mediated by allelochemicals could potentially favor the persistence of *L. hexapetala* populations in invaded communities. The native *Mentha aquatica* leachate had no impact on the performance of the invasive *L. hexapetala*, showing no "biotic resistance." These preliminary results must

be taken carefully, while invasive plant growth was also determined by the interference between plants of the same or different species in the field. Deepening the understanding on plant-plant interactions has important implications for the management and the restoration of ecosystems that are both resistant and resilient to invasive species.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, T., Tanveer, A., Khaliq, A., and Safdar, M. E. (2016). Comparative allelopathic potential of native and invasive weeds in rice ecosystems. *Pak. J. Weed Sci. Res.* 22, 269–283.
- Abbas, T., Tanveer, A., Khaliq, A., Safdar, M. E., and Nadeem, M. A. (2014). Allelopathic effects of aquatic weeds on germination and seedling growth of wheat. *Herbologia* 14, 11–25. doi: 10.5644/Herb.14.2.02
- Bardon, C., Poly, F., Haichar, F. Z., Le Roux, X., Simon, L., Meiffren, G., et al. (2017). Biological denitrification inhibition (BDI) with procyanidins induces modification of root traits, growth and N status in *Fallopia x bohemica*. Soil Biol. Biochem. 107, 41–49. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.12.009
- Barrat-Segretain, M. H., Bornette, G., and Hering-Vilas-Bôas, A. (1998). Comparative abilities of vegetative regeneration among aquatic plants growing in disturbed habitats. *Aquat. Bot.* 60, 201–211. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3770(97)00091-0
- Benjamini, Y., and Yekutieli, D. (2001). The control of the false discovery rate in multiple testing under dependency. Ann. Stat. 29, 1165–1188. doi: 10.2307/2674075
- Billet, K., Genitoni, J., Bozec, M., Renault, D., and Barloy, D. (2018). Aquatic and terrestrial morphotypes of the aquatic invasive plant, *Ludwigia grandiflora*, show distinct morphological and metabolomic responses. *Ecol. Evol.* 8, 2568–2579. doi: 10.1002/ece3.3848
- Blum, U., Gerig, T. M., Worsham, A. D., and King, L. D. (1993). Modification of allelopathic effects of p-coumaric acid on morning-glory seedling biomass by glucose, methionine, and nitrate. J. Chem. Ecol. 19, 2791–2811.
- Bürling, K., Cerovic, Z. G., Cornic, G., Ducruet, J.-M., Noga, G., and Hunsche, M. (2013). Fluorescence-based sensing of drought-induced stress in the vegetative phase of four contrasting wheat genotypes. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 89, 51–59. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2013.01.003
- Callaway, R. M., and Aschehoug, E. T. (2000). Invasive plants versus their new and old neighbors: a mechanism for exotic invasion. *Science* 290, 521–523. doi: 10.1126/science.290.5491.521
- Callaway, R. M., and Ridenour, W. M. (2004). Novel weapons: invasive success and the evolution of increased competitive ability. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 2, 436–443. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2004)002[0436:NWISAT]2.0.CO;2
- Cerovic, Z. G., Masdoumier, G., Ghozlen, N. B., and Latouche, G. (2012). A new optical leaf-clip meter for simultaneous non-destructive assessment of leaf chlorophyll and epidermal flavonoids. *Physiol. Plant.* 146, 251–260. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2012.01639.x
- Cheng, F., and Cheng, Z. (2015). Research progress on the use of plant allelopathy in agriculture and the physiological and ecological mechanisms of allelopathy. *Front. Plant Sci.* 6:1020. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.01020
- Christina, M., Rouifed, S., Puijalon, S., Vallier, F., Meiffren, G., Bellvert, F., et al. (2015). Allelopathic effect of a native species on a major plant invader in Europe. *Sci. Nat.* 102:12. doi: 10.1007/s00114-015-1263-x
- Dandelot, S., Robles, C., Pech, N., Cazaubon, A., and Verlaque, R. (2008). Allelopathic potential of two invasive alien *Ludwigia* spp. *Aquat. Bot.* 88, 311–316. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2007.12.004
- Dutartre, A. (2004). "Ludwigia peploides (Kunth.) P.H. Raven Ludwigia grandiflora (Michaux) Greuter & Burdet. Les jussies" in Plantes invasives en France

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GT and MT designed the experiment and conducted them. HR-P analyzed the data. GT wrote the manuscript with contributions from all the authors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to express their gratitude to Guillaume Glises for his assistance during laboratory experiments and field samples collection.

(Patrimoines naturels, 62). ed. S. Muller (Paris: Museum national d'Histoire naturelle), 76–81.

- Ehlers, B. K., and Thompson, J. (2004). Do co-occurring plant species adapt to one another? The response of *Bromus erectus* to the presence of different *Thymus vulgaris* chemotypes. *Oecologia* 141, 511–518. doi: 10.1007/ s00442-004-1663-7
- Elakovich, S. D., and Wooten, J. W. (1989). Allelopathic potential of sixteen aquatic and wetland plants. *Toxicology* 17, 129–182.
- Elton, C. S. (1958). *The ecology of invasions by animals and plants*. (London: Chapman and Hall, University of Chicago Press).
- Grutters, B., Saccomanno, B., Gross, E. M., Van de Waal, D. B., van Donk, E., and Bakker, E. S. (2017). Growth strategy, phylogeny and stoichiometry determine the allelopathic potential of native and non-native plants. *Oikos* 126, 1770–1779. doi: 10.1111/oik.03956
- Harms, N. E., Shearer, J. F., and Grodowitz, M. J. (2017). Folivory and disease occurrence on *Ludwigia hexapetala* in Guntersville Reservoir, Alabama. J. Aquat. Plant Manage. 55, 19–25.
- Herms, D. A., and Mattson, W. J. (1992). The dilemma of plants: to grow or defend. Q. Rev. Biol. 67, 283–335. doi: 10.1086/417659
- Hierro, J. L., and Callaway, R. M. (2003). Allelopathy and exotic plant invasion. *Plant Soil* 256, 29–39. doi: 10.1023/A:1026208327014
- Hilt, S., Ghobrial, M. G. N., and Gross, E. M. (2006). In situ allelopathic potential of *Myriophyllum verticillatum* (Haloragaceae) against selected phytoplankton species. *J. Phycol.* 42, 1189–1198. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8817. 2006.00286.x
- Hunt, R. (1990). *Basic growth analysis*. (London, UK: Unwin, Hyman, Boston, Sydney and Wellington).
- Hussner, A. (2009). Growth and photosynthesis of four invasive aquatic plant species in Europe. Weed Res. 49, 506–515. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2009.00721.x
- Loayza, A. P., Herrera-Madariaga, M. A., Carvajal, D. E., García-Guzmán, P., and Squeo, F. A. (2017). Conspecific plants are better 'nurses' than rocks: consistent results revealing intraspecific facilitation as a process that promotes establishment in a hyper-arid environment. *AoB Plants* 9:plx056. doi: 10.1093/ aobpla/plx056
- Naguchi, K., Gel, Y. R., Brunner, E., and Konietschke, F. (2012). nparLD: An R software for the nonparametric analysis of longitudinal data in factorial experiments. J. Stat. Softw. 50, 1–23. doi: 10.18637/jss.v050.i12
- R Core Team (2016). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at: https:// www.R-project.org/
- Reigosa, M., Gomes, A. S., Ferreira, A. G., and Borghetti, F. (2013). Allelopathic research in Brazil. Acta Bot. Bras. 27, 629–646. doi: 10.1590/ S0102-33062013000400001
- Reigosa, M. J., Sanchez-Moreiras, A., and Gonzalez, L. (1999). Ecophysiological approach in allelopathy. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 18, 577-608.
- Rice, E. L. (1984). Allelopathy. 2nd Edn. (New York: Academic Press).
- Ridenour, W. M., and Callaway, R. M. (2001). The relative importance of allelopathy in interference: the effects of an invader on a native bunchgrass. *Oecologia* 126, 444–450. doi: 10.1007/s004420000533

- Saito, K., Matsumoto, M., Sekine, T., Murakoshi, I., Morisaki, N., and Iwasaki, S. (1989). Inhibitory substances from *Myriophyllum. J. Nat. Prod.* 52, 1221–1226. doi: 10.1021/np50066a004
- Samanta, A., Das, G., and Das, S. K. (2011). Roles of flavonoids in plants. Int. J. Pharma Biosci. Technol. 6, 12–35.
- Santonja, M., Le Rouzic, B., and Thiébaut, G. (2018). Seasonal dependence and functional implications of macrophyte-phytoplankton allelopathic interactions. *Freshw. Biol.* 63, 1161–1172. doi: 10.1111/fwb.13124
- Sheppard, A. W., Shaw, R. H., and Sforza, R. (2006). Top 20 environmental weeds for classical biological control in Europe review of opportunities, regulations and other barriers to adoption. *Weed Res.* 46, 93–117. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2006.00497.x
- Simberloff, D., and Von Holle, B. (1999). Positive interactions of nonindigenous species: invasional meltdown? Biol. Invasions 1, 21-32.
- Stiers, I., Crohain, N., Josens, G., and Triest, L. (2011). Impact of three aquatic invasive species on native plants and macroinvertebrates in temperate ponds. *Biol. Invasions* 13, 2715–2726. doi: 10.1007/s10530-011-9942-9
- Thiébaut, G., Thouvenot, L., and Rodriguez-Perez, H. (2018). Allelopathic effects of the invasive *L. hexapetala* on growth of three macrophytes species. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01835

- Thouvenot, L., Haury, J., and Thiebaut, G. (2013). A success story: water primroses, aquatic plant pests. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshwat. Ecosyst. 23, 790–803. doi: 10.1002/aqc.2387
- Walker, T. S., Bais, H. P., Grotewold, E., and Vivanco, J. M. (2003). Root exudation and rhizosphere biology. *Plant Physiol.* 132, 44–51. doi: 10.1104/ pp.102.019661
- Zhu, M., Liu, C., Deng, M., and Du, K. (2015). Allelopathy of aqueous extracts obtained from roots of *Ailanthus altissima. Jour. For. Env.* 03.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Thiébaut, Tarayre and Rodríguez-Pérez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Modeling Top-Down and Bottom-Up Drivers of a Regime Shift in Invasive Aquatic Plant Stable States

Emily F. Strange^{1*†}, Pietro Landi², Jaclyn M. Hill^{1†} and Julie A. Coetzee³

¹ Centre for Biological Control, Department of Zoology and Entomology, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, South Africa, ² Theoretical Ecology Group, Department of Mathematical Sciences, Stellenbosch University, Matieland, South Africa, ³ Centre for Biological Control, Department of Botany, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, South Africa

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Institute for Electromagnetic Sensing of the Environment (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

Vikki L. Rodgers, Babson College, United States Cristina Ribaudo, École Nationale Supérieure en Environnement, Géoressources et Ingénierie du Développement Durable (ENSEGID), France

*Correspondence: Emily F. Strange e.f.strange@cml.leidenuniv.nl

[†]Present address:

Emily F. Strange, Institute of Environmental Sciences, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands Jaclyn M. Hill, Maurice Lamontagne Institute, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Mont-Joli, QC, Canada

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 28 February 2019 Accepted: 21 June 2019 Published: 10 July 2019

Citation:

Strange EF, Landi P, Hill JM and Coetzee JA (2019) Modeling Top-Down and Bottom-Up Drivers of a Regime Shift in Invasive Aquatic Plant Stable States. Front. Plant Sci. 10:889. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00889 The evidence for alternate stable states characterized by dominance of either floating or submerged plant dominance is well established. Inspired by an existing model and controlled experiments, we conceptually describe a dynamic that we have observed in the field using a simple model, the aim of which was to investigate key interactions of the shift between invasive floating and invasive submerged plant dominance, driven by the rapid decomposition of floating plants as a consequence of herbivory by biological control agents. This study showed that the rate of switch between floating and submerged invasive plant dominance, and the point in time at which the switch occurs, is dependent on the nutrient status of the water and the density of biological control agents on floating plant populations. Therefore, top-down invasive plant biological control efforts using natural enemies can affect systems on a wider scale than the intended agent - plant level, and can be significantly altered by bottom-up changes to the system, i.e., nutrient loading. The implications of this are essential for understanding the multiple roles invasive plants and their control have upon ecosystem dynamics. The results emphasize the importance of multi-trophic considerations for future invasive plant management and offer evidence for new pathways of invasion. The model outputs support the conclusion that, after the shift and in the absence of effective intervention, a submerged invasive stable state will persist.

Keywords: floating macrophytes, submerged macrophytes, invasion, biological control, resilience

INTRODUCTION

Regime shifts in ecological systems can occur rapidly and suddenly, causing changes in key structures and functioning that can threaten sustainability and be difficult to reverse (Scheffer et al., 2003; MacNally et al., 2014; Rocha et al., 2015). These shifts, such as switches in lakes from clear water to algal blooms, can result from relatively small changes in environmental pressures but once a critical threshold is passed, the key mechanisms maintaining the system are disrupted or broken, altering the system trajectory toward a new regime. New feedback mechanisms then develop, allowing the new regime to become stable (Beisner et al., 2003; Scheffer and Carpenter, 2003; Folke et al., 2004; Walker and Meyers, 2004; Kinzig et al., 2006; Biggs et al., 2009).

The existence of alternate stable states with basins of attraction dominated by floating and submerged plant species is a classic example of a regime shift and is well documented in freshwater

lakes, supported experimentally, observationally, and theoretically (Scheffer et al., 2003; Folke et al., 2004; Netten et al., 2010). Scheffer et al.'s (2003) seminal paper presents a mathematical model describing the key interactions among the main variables. The model, although contextually broad, explores the asymmetry between floating and submerged plant stable states with regards to their competition for resources, where submerged plants are able to access nutrients in the sediment not available to the floating plants, but are less able to compete for light (Scheffer, 2009). The switch between states can occur rapidly, and the subsequent changes in aquatic plant community structures have trophic cascade effects, resulting in altered water, sediment, and nutrient cycling regimes (Blindow et al., 1993; Yarrow et al., 2009; Havel et al., 2015).

Invasive macrophytes, whose establishment and spread continues to be one of the leading threats to global freshwater ecosystems, significantly alter ecosystem structure and functioning whilst limiting access to vital ecosystem services (Lovell et al., 2006; Hussner et al., 2017). South Africa, in particular, has been heavily impacted by floating invasive macrophytes such as water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes Mart. Solms (Pontederiaceae) and water lettuce [Pistia stratiotes L. (Araceae)], which form dense mats on the water's surface as a result of nutrient loading, release from natural enemies, and a relatively small native macrophyte species diversity with which to compete (Coetzee et al., 2011b). These mats reduce biodiversity, limit access to potable freshwater, increase both siltation of rivers and flood risks, drown livestock and damage vital infrastructure (Janse and Van Puijenbroek, 1998; Scheffer et al., 2003; Caraco et al., 2006). Classical biological control (CBC) initiatives using host specific natural enemies have successfully reduced many of these invasions to the extent they are now regarded as being under control (Hill and Coetzee, 2017).

The past decade has seen an increase in the establishment of multiple invasive submerged plant species following the control of floating macrophytes, which is a major concern for the future safeguarding of South Africa's freshwater (Hill and Coetzee, 2017). Notorious submerged invasive species such as Myriophyllum spicatum L. (Haloragaceae), Hydrilla verticillata (L.F.) Royle (Hydrocharitaceae) and Egeria densa Planch. (Hydrocharitaceae) have successfully established far more widely than previously thought (Madeira et al., 2007; Coetzee et al., 2011b; Martin and Coetzee, 2011; Weyl and Coetzee, 2014). Globally, the biological control programs associated with floating or emergent macrophytes have been highly successful, but similar biological control of submerged plant species has proved more challenging (Schmitz and Schardt, 2015). For example, the first biological control agent against H. verticillata was released in the United States in 1988 and over a quarter of a century later, it is still considered the most problematic aquatic plant in the United States (Gu, 2006; True-Meadows et al., 2016).

Although biological control has effectively reduced populations of floating invasive plants, the effect this has on the submerged plant community structure is relatively unknown. The majority of biological control programs traditionally investigate the direct interactions between a potential agent and its target species, while plant interaction experiments focus on changes within a single trophic level (Van et al., 1999; James et al., 2006; Martin and Coetzee, 2014). However, studying the indirect effects of the agents on the competitive interactions of the target species, as well as multitrophic cascading effects of biological control, would paint a more holistic picture of the impacts they can have on a system (Harvey et al., 2010). We thus propose that, as floating invasive plants decompose due to herbivory pressure from biological control agents, nutrients, light, and space become available to submerged plants, which successfully capitalize on this new abundance of resources and proliferate (Chimney and Pietro, 2006; James et al., 2006; Shilla et al., 2006; Longhi et al., 2008). However, the relative paucity of native submerged plant species, as a result of few natural freshwater systems in the South African landscape, combined with external nutrient loading, means that invasive submerged plants are more likely to establish than native ones. Once the invasive submerged plants are established, their ability to rapidly grow and capitalize on available nutrients allows them to dominate the system (Szabo et al., 2010). In other words, the system has two basins of attraction, one dominated by floating invasive plants and the other by submerged invasive plants, where biological control induces the shift in dominance (Figure 1; Strange et al., 2018). The interactions between the three key variables of floating plants, nutrients and agents results in more favorable conditions





for invasive submerged plant communities which lock up the available nutrients in the system, sustained by continued external nutrient loading.

The proposed shift is supported by existing theories on ecosystem invasibility such as the fluctuating resource hypothesis of invasion that assumes plant communities become more susceptible to invasion following increased availability of unused resources (Davis et al., 2000). Beyond theoretical support, we have documented multiple cases in the field of the shift in dominance from floating to submerged invasive plants following successful biological control of numerous floating species across South Africa (Table 1 and Figure 2). To further support these field observations, we explored the competitive interactions and relationships between three species in controlled mesocosm experiments, each representing the potential dominant states in a South African context; the floating invasive P. stratiotes, the submerged invasive E. densa, and the confamilial, trophically analogous native Lagarosiphon major Ridl. Moss ex Wager (Hydrocharitaceae). Differences in the responses of the native and non-native submerged species to the biological control of the floating plants, using the P. stratiotes control agent, Neohydronomus affinis Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) supported the hypotheses of nutrient loading and biological control acting as key drivers between states (Strange, 2017; Strange et al., 2018).

Mathematical models of ecological systems cannot incorporate the full scope of natural processes, and compromises are made regarding spatial or temporal elements, but they are still useful for disentangling the individual mechanisms that lead to overall system changes (Bulling et al., 2006; Scheller et al., 2010; Chatzinikolaou, 2013). Subsequently, the aim of this study was to develop a qualitative, dynamic model that might offer initial theoretical support for a shift from invasive floating to invasive submerged macrophyte dominance, based on the hypothesis that nutrient loading and the application of biological control are the main drivers of species dominance.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Species

Pistia stratiotes was targeted for biological control in the 1980s with the introduction of the weevil *N. affinis* following the success of this control method in Australia (Harley et al., 1990). This species was chosen as the model invasive floating macrophyte due to the short timeframes required to achieve total control by herbivory from the agent (Coetzee et al., 2011b). Further still, a switch in states from dominance of *P. stratiotes* to submerged invasive macrophytes has been observed in a number of locations across South Africa as a result of biological control (**Figure 2** and **Table 1**). *Egeria densa* was selected as the invasive submerged species as it has been identified as the most widespread submerged aquatic invader in South Africa (Coetzee et al., 2011a; Smith et al., 2019) and has been recorded in multiple sites where floating invaders previously dominated (**Figure 2** and **Table 1**).

Model

The following equations were developed, based on Scheffer et al.'s (2003) original model, to describe the main interactions emerged from previous experiments (Strange, 2017; Strange et al., 2018) between the key variables of the proposed regime shift between floating and submerged species, driven by biological control:

$$\frac{dF}{dt} = -l_F F + a_F NF - c_F (N) F^2 - BF$$
$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -l_S S + a_S NS - c_S (N) S^2$$

TABLE 1 | Site numbers (corresponding to Figure 2), names and coordinates where a switch from floating invasive to submerged invasive plant dominance has been observed in the field following biological control of floating plant species (Coetzee, unpublished data, from Rhodes University annual aquatic weed surveys conducted from 2008 to 2015).

No.	Site name	Coordinates	Floating spp.	Control agent(s)	Submerged spp.
1	Riverlea, Ashburton	-29.676780, 30.462460	Salvinia molesta	Cyrtobagous salviniae	Egeria densa
2	Cato Ridge Golf Course, Cato Ridge	-29.754497, 30.593318	S. molesta	C. salviniae	E. densa
3	Bluff Nature Reserve, Durban	-29.938398, 30.992749	S molesta	C. salviniae	Ceratophyllum demersum
4	Vaalharts Weir, Warrenton	-28.114557, 24.927286	Eichhornia crassipes	Neochetina eichhorniae; N. bruchi	Myriophyllum spicatum
5	Nahoon River, East London	-32.964137, 27.913206	E. crassipes	N. eichhorniae; N. bruchi; Eccritotarsus catarinensis	E. densa
6	Etna Farm Dam, Gonubie	-32.924842, 27.993539	Pistia stratiotes	Neohydronomus affinis	C. demersum
7	Swartkops River, Port Elizabeth	-33.790993, 25.420586	E crassipes	N. eichhorniae; N. bruchi	E. densa
8	St Francis Marine, Cape St Frances	-34.148490, 24.815530	S. molesta	C. salviniae	E. densa
9	Breede River, Robertson	-33.823270, 19.865260	S. molesta	C. salviniae	C. demersum
10	Liesbeeck River, Cape Town	-33.93942, 18.47841	E. crassipes	N. eichhorniae; N. bruchi	E. densa
11	Mocke River, Cape Town	-34.044140, 18.474640	E. crassipes	N. eichhorniae; N. bruchi	C. demersum
12	Zandvlei, Cape Town	-34.085306, 18.461542	E. crassipes	N. eichhorniae; N. bruchi	C. demersum
13	Westlake River, Cape Town	-34.081266, 18.455327	P. stratiotes	N. affinis	C. demersum
14	Keyser's River, Cape Town	-34.066997, 18.460870	P. stratiotes	N. affinis	C. demersum
15	Kogmanskloof River, Montagu	-33.793216, 20.105881	S. molesta	C. salviniae	C. demersum



FIGURE 2 Distribution map of locations where a switch from floating invasive to submerged invasive plant dominance has been observed following biological control of the floating plant species (Coetzee, unpublished data, from Rhodes University annual aquatic weed surveys conducted from 2008 to 2015). For details of each site see **Table 1**.

where the changes over time (t) of the biomass of invasive floating plants (F) and invasive submerged plants (S) were modeled as a function of their mortality rates, l_F and l_S , modified by the rates of nutrient uptake, a_F and a_S , and their intraspecific and nutrient-dependent competitive abilities, $c_F(N)$ and $c_S(N)$. This dynamic is based on multiple studies demonstrating the impact of nutrients on intra- and interspecific competition of submerged (e.g., Martin and Coetzee, 2014; Strange, 2017; Strange et al., 2018) and floating (Njambuya et al., 2011) macrophyte populations. In the present model intraspecific competitive abilities $c_F(N)$ and $c_S(N)$ were modeled using the following equations:

$$c_F(N) = c_{F0}exp(-e_FN)$$
$$c_S(N) = c_{S0}exp(-e_SN)$$

where intraspecific competition decreases with available nutrients in the water column, e_F and e_S represent the strength of this decay, and c_{F0} and c_{S0} the maximum competition. Interspecific competition is modeled through different uptake rates (a_F and a_S) and different effect on nutrients in the water column, m_F and m_S . In fact, available nutrients in the water column N changes with floating and submerged plant biomass dynamics according the following equation:

$$N = N_0 - m_F (F - F_0) - m_S (S - S_0)$$

where N_0 , F_0 , and S_0 are, respectively, the initial nutrient availability, floating plant, and submerged plant biomass. The effect of biological control, B, was incorporated into the model for floating plants as an additional mortality rate.

The parameters for the model (**Table 2**) were qualitatively chosen using a combination of the trends observed experimentally (Strange et al., 2018) and from the literature of the original floating to submerged shift model (Scheffer et al., 2003). Model dynamics are robust to the specific values chosen. Each plant population began with the same initial biomass. Mortality rates were assumed to also be equal as there are no specific data indicating otherwise (Scheffer et al., 2003). The floating plants were given a higher value for intraspecific competition compared to the submerged plants, as reflected in the results of previous experiments due to competition for light and space (Strange, 2017). Submerged plants are very efficient in locking up nutrients from the water column thus were assigned a higher value for such effect (Barko et al., 1988;

Parameter	Description	Dimension
F	Biomass of floating invasive plant	Biomass
S	Biomass of submerged invasive plant	Biomass
N	Availability of nutrients in the water column	Mass
В	Biological control mortality rate	1/Time
e _F	Relationship of nutrients and competition (floating)	1/Mass
es	Relationship of nutrients and competition (submerged)	1/Mass
C _{F0}	Intraspecific competition (floating)	1/(Biomass Time)
C _{S0}	Intraspecific competition (submerged)	1/(Biomass Time)
l _F	Natural mortality rate (floating)	1/Time
Is	Natural mortality rate (submerged)	1/Time
a _F	Rate of nutrient uptake (floating)	1/(Mass Time)
as	Rate of nutrient uptake (submerged)	1/(Mass Time)
m _F	Effect on nutrients (floating)	Mass/Biomass
ms	Effect on nutrients (floating)	Mass/Biomass

Chen and Barko, 1988; Rattray et al., 1994; Mazzeo et al., 2003; Scheffer et al., 2003). The rate of nutrient uptake was set to be higher for floating plants than submerged as floating plants are better competitors for light, which increases plant growth and affects the size of roots, providing more surface area for nutrient uptake (DeBusk et al., 1981; Akinbile and Yusoff, 2012). In the experiments upon which the observations were made, nutrients (manipulated at different levels within the mesocosms in the form of NH_4NO_3) were determined to be a key driver (Strange et al., 2018) and the model was developed specifically to explore the interrelationship between the model species, biological control and nutrients, thus other environmental variables such as light were not directly modeled.

The model was implemented within the STELLA[®] Professional software environment (iSEE systems Inc., Version 1.0.3). STELLA models use stocks, flows and converters to produce time-series simulations. The model outputs trace the temporal changes in populations (stocks), as effected by the external pressures and parameters (converters), according to the equations which are used to describe their interactions (flows). Values were assigned to each stock (F_0 , S_0 , and N_0), which provides the initial populations, and to each converter, which provides parameter values. The flows contain the model equations describing interactions and therefore have no numeric values.

RESULTS

The simulation outputs show temporal changes in the biomass of floating and submerged plant populations, with increased biomass indicating plant dominance, as well as changes in the levels of nutrients within the water column. For the first series of simulations, the initial starting level of nutrients was set to a relative high value (**Figures 3A–C**). The first output from this simulation (**Figure 3A**), where the biological control rate of the floating plants was set to zero, shows a sharp initial increase followed by a plateau in biomass of the floating plants. Whilst the submerged plants also initially increased in biomass, the growth was slower and plateaued a short while after the point in which the floating plant population peaked. This indicates the floating plants become dominant and are able to maintain dominance in the system. The second output of this simulation (Figure 3B), where nutrients remained high but the biological control rate was increased, reveals the same overall trend of floating plant dominance, but the relationship between the two plant biomass changed. There is a longer initial period of increased nutrients in the system (a product of the biological control of the floating plants and subsequent senescent plant material), and the submerged plant population demonstrates a much sharper increase before leveling off. The final output of this simulation (Figure 3C) shows a complete switch between the plant populations; as the biological control slows the growth of the floating population and increases the levels of nutrients in the system, there is an initial phase of coexistence between the plant populations. Eventually a point is reached, where the floating plants are completely limited by the biological control, and the submerged plant population is able to grow to a point that surpasses the floating plant biomass and maintain dominance.

The second series of model simulations (Figures 3D-F) shows outputs for systems, where the initial level of nutrients in the system was set to a lower initial value. The three outputs were once again set to a sequential increase in the extra mortality by biological control agents on the floating plants. The results show the same overall relationship between the floating and submerged plant populations, with a switch in dominance once a critical level of biological control agents has been crossed. However, there are some differences in the interactions. Firstly, in the reduced nutrient setting of these simulations the switch occurs less suddenly, with reduced slopes, indicating a slower rate of change for both plant populations. Secondly, the required rates of biological control that led to a subsequent shift in plant dominance were reduced in the lower nutrient setting. Lastly, there is a reduced disparity between the two plant biomasses when the biological control rates are at the lowest and highest setting compared to the high nutrients.

DISCUSSION

This model estimates, for the first time, the effects that current species-level management of floating invasive plants have upon wider community-level interactions, in a South African context, supporting the hypothesis that the switch between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance can be influenced by the biological control of floating plants. While bottom-up driven changes to plant-herbivore interactions in aquatic systems have been demonstrated in multiple cases (e.g., Coetzee and Hill, 2012; Maseko et al., 2019), the model also supports the theory that top-down pressures (that affect ecosystems on a wider scale than the intended control agent and target plant level) can be significantly altered by bottom-up changes to the system (nutrient loading).



 $c_{S0} = 0.5, e_F = e_S = 1, m_F = 0.01, m_S = 0.1.$

Reduced nutrient loading significantly increased the success of biological control of water hyacinth (*E. crassipes*) (Heard and Winterton, 2000; Coetzee and Hill, 2012); as less nutrients were available, macrophytes were not able to recover as quickly from herbivory damage (McNaughton, 1983), therefore plant mortality can be achieved at a lower density of biological control agents. This pattern was reflected in our model system outputs; the level of biological control required to alter plant dominance was reduced in scenarios where initial nutrient loading was lower. Center and Dray (2010) explored the effects of nutrient loading on the relationship between water hyacinth (*E. crassipes*) and two associated biological control agents (*Neochetina eichhorniae* Warner and Neochetina *bruchi* Hustache). Their results showed population growth for both agents was affected by plant quality; plants grown in high nutrient conditions were superior hosts for *N. bruchi* and there were significant increases in reproductive outputs of *N. bruchi*. They conclude that previously developed models aiming to simulate biological control of *E. crassipes* fell short because bottom-up drivers were underestimated and overlooked. Our study supports this viewpoint and both underline how wider understanding of multi-trophic dynamics, explored using theoretical models can be applied to the practical aspects of invasive species control. Center and Dray (2010) present experimental data to develop a conceptual model to can aid future integrated invasive plant management strategies; as models become more accessible to a wider range of practitioners through more user-friendly interfaces, their role in applied decision making will inevitably become more prominent (Plagányi, 2007; García-Llorente et al., 2008; McCallum, 2008; Chatzinikolaou, 2013). Rightfully, there remain reservations regarding the application of modeling outputs to real life scenarios, such as over simplification of complex systems which highlight the importance of controlled and field-based experiments to describe the finer mechanisms of system changes and increase model validity.

Schroder et al. (2005), in reviewing the direct evidence for alternate stable states, concluded that future research in the field should focus primarily on the specific mechanisms behind switches in ecological states. Manipulation experiments may be bound by spatial and temporal constraints, but small-scale experiments can be crucial to help explain large-scale patterns, and can be a powerful way to show that a system has alternate attractors (Scheffer and Carpenter, 2003; Benton et al., 2007). Although Schroder et al. (2005) report a bias in the literature toward laboratory experiments, there is a paucity in multi-trophic experiments within the field of invasive plant research overall (Harvey et al., 2010; Villamagna and Murphy, 2010; Schultz and Dibble, 2012), yet they are essential for understanding internal ecosystem processes and they have been labeled as an overlooked asset in the exploration of regime shifts (Chase, 2003; Anderson et al., 2009). The validity of evidence claiming to support the existence of multiple stable states has been the subject of increased scrutiny and debate (Schroder et al., 2005; MacNally et al., 2014; Capon et al., 2015). Capon et al. (2015) argue that empirical field-based studies are severely lacking and report common false associations between theoretical constructs with results that do not support them. In agreement with this review, we recognize that whilst the model we present is neither predictive nor quantitative, it offers insight into the multitrophic consequences of invasive species control and the interplay between bottom-up and top-down drivers of ecosystem change. It is now crucial to identify whether or not the switch between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance, instigated by biological control, is occurring in the field. If so, future studies are crucial to determine whether the management of these systems can be executed in a way that might reduce the likelihood of this shift, whilst increasing system resilience; and whether increasing native submerged plant populations prior to floating macrophyte removal could curb invasive submerged plant establishment. Restoration studies, where community assemblies are purposefully altered by selecting native species determined by resource-use traits to occupy vulnerable systems, have been shown to increase resistance of a community to successful invasion (Funk et al., 2008), and following the results of this study, indicate that this should be a priority to managers of invaded aquatic systems.

The efforts of this study aimed to bring together the theoretical concepts of alternative stable states and community change with the practical and applied domain of invasive species management and control. As with all models there are limitations that must be taken into consideration when drawing conclusions. The model is not quantitative and as such cannot be used as a predictive or diagnostic tool (and indeed this was not the intention). Future experiments could be used to develop and further parameterize the model by including more variables we know to be important in plant community structure such as light, water chemistry and presence of decomposers. The original experiments upon which the model was based used only the species described in this manuscript and exploring the same competitive dynamics between other plant species (of differing growth forms, families, etc.) would be both valid and interesting. The model was developed to offer initial theoretical support, along with field and laboratory-based observations, to the proposed multi-trophic consequences of floating invasive species control. In light of this the results presented do have the potential to better inform management of South Africa's freshwater systems and highlight the benefit of continuing multitrophic considerations for future invasive plant management worldwide, as well as opening up a multitude of possibilities for research into the mechanisms of submerged plant invasions and resilience of native macrophyte communities in South Africa, and further afield. Based on the findings presented in this manuscript, we recommend further investigations to increase understanding of the multi-trophic consequences of invasive species control and removal. Further, and more specifically to aquatic macrophyte invasions, we recommend a more holistic approach to the management of floating invasive plants including commitment to nutrient amelioration and post-control community restoration.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES conducted the experimental studies whose results were used for the simulation models. PL and ES developed and refined the models. JH and JC conceptualized and supervised the work, and commented on and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was funded through the Department of Environmental Affairs, Natural Resource Management Program's Working for Water program. Further funding for this work was provided by the South African Research Chairs Initiative of the Department of Science and Technology and the National Research Foundation of South Africa (Grant Nos. 89967, 109244, and 109683).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Prof. Cang Hui of Stellenbosch University for his support and advice, and to Dr. Armand Kok for his mapping skills. Thanks are also extended to the two reviewers for their constructive comments and helpful insights.

REFERENCES

- Akinbile, C. O., and Yusoff, M. S. (2012). Assessing water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) and lettuce (*Pistia stratiotes*) effectiveness in aquaculture wastewater treatment. *Int. J. Phytoremediat.* 14, 201–211. doi: 10.1080/15226514.2011. 587482
- Anderson, T., Carstensen, J., Hernandez-Garcia, E., and Duarte, C. M. (2009). Ecological thresholds and regime shifts: approaches to identification. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 24, 49–57. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2008.07.014
- Barko, J. W., Smart, R. M., McFarland, D. G., and Chen, R. L. (1988). Interrelationships between the growth of *Hydrilla verticillata* (Lf.) Royle and sediment nutrient availability. *Aquat. Bot.* 32, 205–216. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(88)90116-7
- Beisner, B. E., Haydon, D. T., and Cuddington, K. (2003). Alternative stable states in ecology. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 376–382.
- Benton, T. G., Solan, M., Travis, J. M., and Sait, S. M. (2007). Microcosm experiments can inform global ecological problems. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 22, 516–521. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.08.003
- Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., and Brock, W. A. (2009). Turning back from the brink: detecting an impending regime shift in time to avert it. *PNAS* 106, 826–831. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0811729106
- Blindow, I., Andersson, G., Hargeby, A., and Johansson, S. (1993). Longterm pattern of alternative stable states in two shallow eutrophic lakes. *Freshwater Biol.* 30, 159–167. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.1993.tb 00796.x
- Bulling, M. T., White, P. C., Raffaelli, D., and Pierce, G. J. (2006). Using model systems to address the biodiversity–ecosystem functioning process. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 311, 295–309. doi: 10.3354/meps311295
- Capon, S. J., Lynch, A. J. J., Bond, N., Chessman, B. C., Davis, J., Davidson, N., et al. (2015). Regime shifts, thresholds and multiple stable states in freshwater ecosystems; a critical appraisal of the evidence. *Sci. Total Environ.* 534, 122–130. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.02.045
- Caraco, N., Cole, J., Findlay, S., and Wigand, C. (2006). Vascular plants as engineers of oxygen in aquatic systems. *BioScience* 56, 219–225.
- Center, T. D., and Dray, F. A. (2010). Bottom-up control of water hyacinth weevil populations: do the plants regulate the insects? *J. Appl. Ecol.* 47, 329–337. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01769.x
- Chase, J. M. (2003). Experimental evidence for alternative stable equilibria in a benthic pond food web. *Ecol. Lett.* 6, 733–741. doi: 10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003. 00482.x
- Chatzinikolaou, E. (2013). Use and limitations of ecological models. *Transit. Water Bull.* 6, 34–41.
- Chen, R. L., and Barko, J. W. (1988). Effects of freshwater macrophytes on sediment chemistry. J. Freshwater Ecol. 4, 279–289. doi: 10.1080/02705060.1988.9665177
- Chimney, M. J., and Pietro, K. C. (2006). Decomposition of macrophyte litter in a subtropical constructed wetland in south Florida (USA). *Ecol. Eng.* 27, 301–321. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2006.05.016
- Coetzee, J., and Hill, M. P. (2012). The role of eutrophication in the biological control of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes*, in South Africa. *BioControl* 57, 247–261. doi: 10.1007/s10526-011-9426-y
- Coetzee, J. A., Bownes, A., and Martin, G. (2011a). Prospects for the biological control of submerged macrophytes in South Africa. *Afr. Entomol.* 19, 469–487. doi: 10.4001/003.019.0203
- Coetzee, J. A., Hill, M. P., Byrne, M. J., and Bownes, A. (2011b). A review of the biological control programmes on *Eichhornia crassipes* (C.Mart.) Solms (Pontederiaceae), *Salvinia molesta* D.S.Mitch. (Salviniaceae), *Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae), *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (Vell.) Verdc. (Haloragaceae) and *Azolla filiculoides* Lam. (Azollaceae) in South Africa. *Afr. Entomol.* 19, 451–468. . doi: 10.4001/003.019.0202
- Davis, A. M., Grime, P., and Thompson, K. (2000). Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invisibility. *J. Ecol.* 88, 528–534. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2745.2000.00473.x
- DeBusk, T. A., Ryther, J. H., Hanisak, M. D., and Williams, L. D. (1981). Effects of seasonality and plant density on the productivity of some freshwater macrophytes. *Aquat. Bot.* 10, 133–142. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(81)90016-4
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Elmqvist, T., Gunderson, L., et al. (2004). Regime shifts, resilience and biodiversity in ecological management. *Ann. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Systemat.* 35, 557–581.

- Funk, J. L., Cleland, E. E., Suding, K. N., and Zavaleta, E. S. (2008). Restoration through reassembly: plant traits and invasion resistance. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 23, 695–703. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2008.07.013
- García-Llorente, M., Martín-López, B., González, J. A., Alcorlo, P., and Montes, C. (2008). Social perceptions of the impacts and benefits of invasive alien species: implications for management. *Biol. Conserv.* 141, 2969–2983. doi: 10.1016/j. biocon.2008.09.003
- Gu, B. (2006). Environmental conditions and phosphorus removal in Florida lakes and wetlands inhabited by *Hydrilla verticillata* (Royle): implications for invasive species management. *Biol. Inv.* 8, 1569–1578. doi: 10.1007/s10530-005-5851-0
- Harley, K. L. S., Kassulke, R. C., Sands, D. P. A., and Day, M. D. (1990). Biological control of water lettuce, *Pistia stratiotes* [Araceae] by *Neohydronomus affinis* [Coleoptera: Curculionidae]. *Entomophaga* 35, 363–374. doi: 10.1007/ bf02375260
- Harvey, J. A., Bukovinszky, T., and van der Putten, W. H. (2010). Interactions between invasive plants and insect herbivores: a plea for a multitrophic perspective. *Biol. Conserv.* 143, 2251–2259. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2010.03.004
- Havel, J. E., Kovalenko, K. E., Thomaz, S. M., Amalfitano, S., and Kats, L. B. (2015). Aquatic invasive species: challenges for the future. *Hydrobiologia* 750, 147–170. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-2166-0
- Heard, T. A., and Winterton, S. L. (2000). Interactions between nutrient status and weevil herbivory in the biological control of water hyacinth. J. Appl. Ecol. 37, 117–127. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2664.2000.00480.x
- Hill, M. P., and Coetzee, J. (2017). The biological control of aquatic weeds in South Africa: current status and future challenges. *Bothalia* 47, 1–12.
- Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M. J. J. M., Bakker, E. S., Grutters, B. M. C., Haury, J., et al. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: a review. *Aquat. Bot.* 136, 112–137. doi: 10.1016/j. aquabot.2016.08.002
- James, C. S., Eaton, J. W., and Hardwick, K. (2006). Responses of three invasive aquatic macrophytes to nutrient enrichment do not explain their observed field displacements. Aquat. Bot. 84, 347–353. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2006.01.002
- Janse, J. H., and Van Puijenbroek, P. J. T. M. (1998). Effects of eutrophication in drainage ditches. *Environ. Pollut.* 102, 547–552. doi: 10.1007/s00128-017-2 231-2
- Kinzig, A. P., Ryan, P. A., Etienne, M., Allison, H. E., Elmqvist, T., and Walker, B. H. (2006). Resilience and regime shifts: assessing cascading effects. *Ecol. Soc.* 11:20.
- Longhi, D., Bartoli, M., and Viaroli, P. (2008). Decomposition of four macrophytes in wetland sediments: organic matter and nutrient decay and associated benthic processes. *Aquat. Bot.* 89, 303–310. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2008.03.004
- Lovell, S. J., Stone, S. F., and Fernandez, L. (2006). The economic impacts of aquatic invasive species: a review of the literature. *Agric. Resour. Econ. Rev.* 35, 195–208. doi: 10.1017/s1068280500010157
- MacNally, R., Albano, C., and Fleishman, E. (2014). A scrutiny of the evidence for pressure-induced state shifts in estuarine and nearshore ecosystems. *Aust. Ecol.* 39, 898–906. doi: 10.1111/aec.12162
- Madeira, P. T., Coetzee, J. A., Center, T. D., White, E. E., and Tipping, P. W. (2007). The origin of *Hydrilla verticillata* recently discovered at a South African dam. *Aquat. Bot.* 87, 176–180. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2007.0 4.008
- Martin, G. D., and Coetzee, J. A. (2011). Pet stores, aquarists and the internet trade as modes of introduction and spread of invasive macrophytes in South Africa. *Water SA* 37, 371–380.
- Martin, G. D., and Coetzee, J. A. (2014). Competition between two aquatic macrophytes, *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridley) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae) and *Myriophyllum spicatum* Linnaeus (Haloragaceae) as influenced by substrate sediment and nutrients. *Aquat. Bot.* 114, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2013. 11.001
- Maseko, Z., Coetzee, J. A., and Hill, M. P. (2019). Effect of shade and eutrophication on the biological control of *Salvinia molesta* (Salviniaceae) by the weevil *Cyrtobagous salviniae* (Coleoptera: Erirhinidae). *Austr. Entomol.* doi: 10.1111/ aen.12370 [Epub ahead of print].
- Mazzeo, N., Rodríguez-Gallego, L., Kruk, C., Meerhoff, M., Gorga, J., Lacerot, G., et al. (2003). Effects of *Egeria densa* Planch. beds on a shallow lake without piscivorous fish. *Hydrobiologia* 506, 591–602. doi: 10.1023/b:hydr.0000008571. 40893.77

- McCallum, H. (2008). *Population Parameters: Estimation for Ecological Models*, Vol. 3. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- McNaughton, S. J. (1983). Compensatory plant growth as a response to herbivory. *Oikos* 1, 329–336.
- Netten, J. J. C., Arts, G. H. P., Gylstra, R., Van Nes, E. H., Scheffer, M., and Roijackers, R. M. M. (2010). Effect of temperature and nutrients on the competition between free-floating *Salvinia natans* and submerged *Elodea nuttallii* in mesocosms. *Fund. Appl. Limnol.* 177, 125–132. doi: 10.1127/1863-9135/2010/0177-0125
- Njambuya, J., Stiers, I., and Triest, L. (2011). Competition between *Lemna minuta* and *Lemna minor* at different nutrient concentrations. *Aquat. Bot.* 94, 158–164. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2011.02.001
- Plagányi, ÉE. (2007). Models for an Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries (No. 477). Rome: Food & Agriculture Org.
- Rattray, M. R., Howard-Williams, C., and Brown, J. M. A. (1994). Rates of early growth of propagules of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Myriophyllum triphyllum* in lakes of differing trophic status. N. Z. J. Mar. Fresh. 28, 235–241. doi: 10.1080/ 00288330.1994.9516611
- Rocha, J. C., Peterson, G. D., and Biggs, R. (2015). Regime shifts in the Anthropocene: drivers, risks, and resilience. *PLoS One* 10:e0134639. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0134639
- Scheffer, M. (2009). "Alternative stable states and regime shifts in ecosystems," in *The Princeton Guide to Ecology*, eds S. A. Levin, R. S. Carpenter, H. C. J. Godfray, A. P. Kinzig, M. Loreau, J. B. Losos, et al. (Princeton: Princeton University Press), 359–406.
- Scheffer, M., and Carpenter, S. R. (2003). Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 18, 648–656. doi: 10.1016/j. tree.2003.09.002
- Scheffer, M., Szabó, S., Gragnani, A., van Nes, E. H., Rinaldi, S., Kautsky, N., et al. (2003). Floating plant dominance as a stable state. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 4040–4045. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0737918100
- Scheller, R. M., Sturtevant, B. R., Gustafson, E. J., Ward, B. C., and Mladenoff, D. J. (2010). Increasing the reliability of ecological models using modern software engineering techniques. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 8:253–260. doi: 10.1890/ 080141
- Schmitz, D. C., and Schardt, J. (2015). Successful invasive plant management in Florida. *Aquatics* 37, 4–7.
- Schroder, A., Persson, L., and De Roos, A. M. (2005). Direct experimental evidence for alternative stable states: a review. *Oikos* 110, 3–19. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299. 2005.13962.x
- Schultz, R., and Dibble, E. (2012). Effects of invasive macrophytes on freshwater fish and macroinvertebrate communities: the role of invasive plant traits. *Hydrobiologia* 684, 1–14. doi: 10.1007/s10750-011-0978-8

- Shilla, D., Asaeda, T., Fujino, T., and Sanderson, B. (2006). Decomposition of dominant submerged macrophytes: implications for nutrient release in Myall Lake, NSW Australia. *Wetl. Ecol. Manag.* 14, 427–433. doi: 10.1007/s11273-006-6294-9
- Smith, R., Mangan, R., and Coetzee, J. A. (2019). Risk assessment to interpret the physiological host range of *Hydrellia egeriae*, a biocontrol agent for *Egeria densa*. *BioControl* (in press).
- Strange, E. F. (2017). Evidence for a Biological Control-Induced Regime Shift Between Floating and Submerged Invasive Plant Dominance in South Africa. Ph.D. thesis, Rhodes University, Grahamstown.
- Strange, E. F., Hill, J. M., and Coetzee, J. A. (2018). Evidence for a new regime shift between floating and submerged invasive plant dominance in South Africa. *Hydrobiologia* 817, 349–362. doi: 10.1007/s10750-018-3506-2
- Szabo, S., Scheffer, M., Roijackers, R., Waluto, B., Braun, M., Nagy, P. T., et al. (2010). Strong growth limitation of a floating plant (*Lemna gibba*) by the submerged macrophyte (*Elodea nuttallii*) under laboratory conditions. *Freshwater Biol.* 55, 681–690. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02308.x
- True-Meadows, S., Haug, E. J., and Richardson, R. J. (2016). Monoecious hydrilla— A review of the literature. *J. Aquat. Plant Manag.* 54, 1–11.
- Van, T. K., Wheeler, G. S., and Center, T. D. (1999). Competition between Hydrilla verticillata and Vallisneria americana as influenced by soil fertility. Aquat. Bot. 62, 225–233. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3770(98)00100-4
- Villamagna, A. M., and Murphy, B. R. (2010). Ecological and socio-economic impacts of invasive water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*): a review. *Freshwater Biol.* 55, 282–298. doi: 10.3109/07388551.2015.1132406
- Walker, B., and Meyers, J. A. (2004). Thresholds in ecological and social–ecological systems: a developing database. *Ecol. Soc.* 9:3.
- Weyl, P. S., and Coetzee, J. A. (2014). The invasion status of *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. in southern Africa. *Manag. Biol. Inv.* 5, 31–37. doi: 10.3391/mbi.2014.5.1.03
- Yarrow, M., Marín, V. H., Finlayson, M., Tironi, A., Delgado, L. E., and Fischer, F. (2009). The ecology of *Egeria densa* planchon (Liliopsida: Alismatales): a wetland ecosystem engineer. *Rev. Chil. Hist. Nat.* 82, 299–313.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Strange, Landi, Hill and Coetzee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Ecophysiological Response of Two Invasive Submerged Plants to Light and Nitrogen

Sándor Szabó¹, Edwin T. H. M. Peeters², Gábor Borics³, Szilvia Veres⁴, Péter Tamás Nagy⁵ and Balázs András Lukács^{6*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rossano Bolpagni, Institute for the Electromagnetic Detection of the Environment (IREA), Italy

Reviewed by:

Georgios Liakopoulos, Agricultural University of Athens, Greece Bishal Tamang, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

*Correspondence:

Balázs András Lukács lukacs.balazs@okologia.mta.hu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 05 September 2019 Accepted: 12 December 2019 Published: 07 February 2020

Citation:

Szabó S, Peeters ETHM, Borics G, Veres S, Nagy PT and Lukács BA (2020) The Ecophysiological Response of Two Invasive Submerged Plants to Light and Nitrogen. Front. Plant Sci. 10:1747. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.01747 ¹ Department of Biology, University of Nyíregyháza, Nyíregyháza, Hungary, ² Aquatic Ecology and Water Quality Group, Wageningen University, Wageningen, Netherlands, ³ Department of Tisza River Research, Danube Research Institute, MTA Centre for Ecological Research, Debrecen, Hungary, ⁴ Department of Agricultural Botany, Crop Physiology and Biotechnology, Institute of Crop Sciences, University of Debrecen, Debrecen, Hungary, ⁵ Institute of Water and Environmental Management, University of Debrecen, Debrecen, Hungary, ⁶ Wetland Ecology Research Group, Danube Research Institute, MTA Centre for Ecological Research, Debrecen, Hungary

Two submerged *Elodea* species have small differences in their ecophysiological responses when exposed to individual environmental factors. However, field observations showed that under eutrophic conditions with low light availability, Elodea canadensis could be displaced by Elodea nuttallii. Here we investigated the combined effect of environmental factors on the ecophysiological response of the two species in order to explain the differences in their invasion successes. We cultivated the plants in aquaria containing five different nitrogen (N) concentrations and incubated at five different light intensities. For both species increasing nitrogen concentrations resulted in increased relative growth rate, chlorophyll concentration, and actual photochemical efficiency of photosystem II (Φ_{PSII}), however, they produced less roots. Lowering light intensity resulted in a lower relative growth rate, root production, and nutrient removal. In contrast, chlorophyll concentration in the leaves, and Φ_{PSII} increased. The main difference between the two *Elodea* species was that the light compensation point (I_c) and weight loss in the dark were significantly higher and photochemical efficiency and chlorophyll concentration were significantly lower for *E. canadensis* than for *E. nuttallii*, indicating that the latter can survive under much more shady and hypertrophic conditions. The change in nitrogen concentration of the media and in tissue concentration of the plants indicated that E. nuttallii has a higher nitrogen removal capacity. The ecophysiological differences between the two species can be an explanation for invasion success of E. nuttallii over *E. canadensis* and thus may explain why the latter is replaced by the first.

Keywords: Elodea, growth rate, interaction, nutrient removal, photochemical efficiency

INTRODUCTION

Light and nutrient availability are key factors governing the distribution and growth of submerged macrophytes in aquatic ecosystems (Chambers, 1987; Chambers and Kalff, 1987; Best et al., 2001). Eutrophication changes the availability of nutrients and light for submerged macrophytes and this might be beneficial for some macrophytes but harmful to others (Cao et al., 2011). Rooted submerged plants grow under relatively low light conditions at the start of the growing season, and their growth is accelerated when temperature rises. Due to their apical elongation, they grow towards the water surface and become exposed to higher light levels which is favorable for photon capture (Kuni, 1982). The relative competitive advantage of submerged macrophytes depends on their capacity to take up nutrients and to capture light (Szabó et al., 2010). The sooner a species reaches the higher light level, the better this species can shade out and finally displace others (Barrat-Segretain, 2005), and this is especially important in eutrophic and turbid waters. Light availability for submerged plants is not only influenced by shading of neighboring plants but also by the presence of freefloating vegetation (Scheffer et al., 2003; Morris et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2013; van Gerven et al., 2015). Floating algal bed, planktonic and periphytic algae can additionally reduce inherently poor light conditions under the water and lead to the decline of aquatic vegetation (Phillips et al., 1978; Hillebrand, 1983). Ultimately, plants that have a lower light compensation point or have a higher shade tolerance are expected to be better survivors in turbid water or under the shade of floating macrophytes. Consequently, eutrophication opens the window of opportunity for submerged macrophytes that have those traits (James et al., 1999). Frequently, species with those traits invade new regions where they are more competitive than native species (Vilà and Weiner, 2004; Espinar et al., 2015).

An interesting case is the introduction of congeneric exotic water plant species like Elodea canadensis and Elodea nuttallii. Both species are native to North America and were introduced to Europe. *E. canadensis* arrived to the British Isles in the middle of the 19th century. After the first records of E. nuttallii in 1966, this new invader spread rapidly all over England and displaced E. canadensis even at sites where the latter was well-established (Lund, 1979; Simpson, 1984; Simpson, 1990). This displacement was relatively rapid, taking place over a period of years, and is consistent with displacements elsewhere in Western Europe (Barrat-Segretain, 2001). From 1870 onwards E. canadensis was also present in Central European waters while E. nuttallii arrived in the beginning of the 21th century in Central European waters i.e. Slovakia (Ot'ahel'ová and Valachovič, 2002), Hungary (Sipos et al., 2003; Király et al., 2007), Croatia, (Grudnik and Germ, 2013; Grudnik et al., 2014; Kočic et al., 2014) and it was questionable whether E. canadensis would be displaced.

Several authors suggested that the displacement of *E. canadensis* by *E. nuttallii* was due to differences in their ecophysiological responses to environmental variables. However, observed differences in their ecophysiological responses like growth rate along a single gradient of temperature (Kuni, 1982; Kuni, 1984), nitrogen and

phosphorus accumulation (Robach et al., 1995; James et al., 2006), photosynthesis and respiration (James et al., 1999), allelopathic activity against algae (Erhard and Gross, 2006; Lürling et al., 2006) all seemed too slight to induce such a displacement. Also, the tiny differences in life-history traits like fragment regeneration, colonization, and palatability seem also not plausible to explain the observed displacement of E. canadensis by E. nuttallii (Barrat-Segretain et al., 2002; James et al., 2006). Interestingly, Barrat-Segretain (2005) concluded from an experiment that E. nuttallii seemed to be the better competitor of the two for light. Furthermore, data from The Netherlands and Central European waters suggested that the replacement of E. canadensis by E. nuttallii was especially pronounced in ditches in agricultural areas, where total nitrogen input was much higher (Knoben and Peeters, 1997; Király et al., 2007; Grudnik et al., 2014). A recent study showed that light and nitrogen jointly triggered the development of those phenotypic characteristics that makes E. nuttallii a more successful invader in eutrophic waters than E. canadensis (Szabó et al., 2019). These two factors (light availability and nitrogen) are strongly related to eutrophication. The responses to these factors separately have been well documented (light: Sand-Jensen and Madsen, 1991; Madsen and Sand-Jensen, 1994; Angelstein and Schubert, 2009; nutrients: Barrat-Segretain, 2004; James et al., 2006), but their combined impact has been investigated only on the phenotypic characteristics (Szabó et al., 2019).

In this study we go further. We hypothesize that small ecophysiological differences between the two *Elodea* species become more pronounced under increasing nitrogen concentrations and decreasing light conditions and this may contribute to the invasion success of *E. nuttallii*. The present study aims to evaluate this hypothesis by investigating the combined effects of light and nitrogen on the ecophysiological responses of the two *Elodea* species in an indoor experiment. Since both *Elodea* species may strongly modify light conditions if they are grown in co-cultures (Barrat-Segretain and Elger, 2004; Barrat-Segretain, 2005), both species were cultivated separately in order to exclude these effects.

METHODS

Plant Collection, Preincubation

E. nuttallii shoots were collected from the Eastern Principal Channel, (N 47.860911°, E 21.382270°) and *E. canadensis* from the River Bodrog (N 48.172491°, E 21.363358°) Hungary. The selected apical shoots were preincubated for 18 days under experimental conditions. Shoots were set in five plastic boxes containing 20-L culture medium (Barko and Smart, 1985). The supply of phosphorus was ensured by adding K₂HPO₄ to the final concentration to 0.2 mg P L⁻¹ and supply of micronutrients by adding TROPICA Supplier micronutrient solution. Final concentration of the solutions for nitrogen varied from oligotrophic (0.05 mg L⁻¹), mesotrophic (0.25 mg L⁻¹), eutrophic (0.5 mg L⁻¹), and hypertrophic (2.5 and 5 mg L⁻¹)

among the treatments by adding NH_4NO_3 stock solution to the medium (Szabó et al., 2019). The culture medium was renewed every second day. The length of the shoots was reduced to 65 mm after preincubation. Subsamples of three initial shoots of each species from each nitrogen concentration was measured for fresh and dry weight (W_0).

Laboratory Experiment

Elodea plants (three shoots) were set on a plastic grid and placed in 2-L aquaria containing the culture media described above. All aquaria were put into a controlled temperature (23–25°C) water bath with renewing of the medium every second day. For both *Elodea* species, the five different N treatments were incubated in a 16:8 h L/D regime at five different light intensities varying from complete dark to well-illuminated conditions: 0, 10, 28, 80, and 180 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR photon flux density (Szabó et al., 2019). Illumination was carried out by 400 W metal halogen lamps and by using plastic gauze above the aquaria. Each treatment was replicated four times meaning that 200 aquaria were used. The plants were harvested after 12 days of incubation.

Relative Growth Rate

Six leaves were taken from each shoot (18 leaves per aquarium) and divided into two portions. One portion was used for fresh weight and chlorophyll determination, the other for dry weight determination (W_{leave}). For a single measurement per aquarium, dry weight of the three shoots and their roots of each aquarium were measured. Samples were dried at 65°C for 2 days. The root-shoot ratios were expressed on a dry-weight basis. The relative growth rate (RGR) of the plants was calculated as RGR = $(\ln W_t - \ln W_0)/t$, where W_0 represents the initial and W_t the final dry weight (in g) of the three plants in each aquarium and t is the growing time in days. The light compensation point for growth I_c (µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) was estimated according to Sand-Jensen and Madsen (1991). Weight loss in the dark (RGR_d, 10⁻³ day⁻¹) was measured for plants incubated in the dark for 12 days (0 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) compared to initial weight (W_0).

Photochemical Efficiency

The actual photochemical efficiency of photosystem II (Φ_{PSII}) was measured by means of chlorophyll fluorescence with MINI-PAM fluorometer (Walz, Germany). The measurement on the plants was carried out using the middle part of the apical shoots from each aquarium as described by Snel et al. (1998). The shoots were placed in a 25 ml glass tube and faced to the common end of the optical fiber of the fluorometer. The actual photochemical efficiency of photosystem II was calculated as $\Delta F/F_{m'} = (F_{m'} - F_{m'})$ $F_{\rm s})/F_{\rm m}'$ with $F_{\rm m}'$ the maximal fluorescence and $F_{\rm s}$ is the steadystate fluorescence of the illuminated shoots (Genty et al., 1989). Steady-state fluorescence (F_s) was achieved after exposure to actinic light for 10 min. Maximum-fluorescence under steadystate conditions $(F_{\rm m}')$ was determined by applying pulses of the saturating light when the actinic light was on (Marwood et al., 2001). The duration of the saturating light pulses was 500 ms and the pulses were given every 60 s. The average of three chlorophyll fluorescence measurements represented the photochemical efficiency of the plants in each aquarium.

Chlorophyll Concentration

For a single measurement per aquarium, chlorophyll of the nine leaves from each aquarium was extracted in a test tube containing 6 ml 95% ethanol for 24 h at 4°C in the dark. Total chlorophyll concentrations were measured by spectrophotometry (T80+ Spectrometer, PG Instruments Limited, UK) and were calculated according to Lichtentaler (1987). Leaf chlorophyll concentrations were expressed on a dry-weight basis of the leaves (W_{leave}).

Elemental Composition

Samples were taken from the water at the end of the experiment. We first recorded pH and thereafter samples were filtered (mesh size 0.45 μ m) and analyzed for NO₃⁻–N, NO₂⁻–N, NH₄⁺–N (Technicon Auto Analyzer). At the end of the experiment nitrogen and carbon concentration of the dried plants had been grown at 10–180 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity (160 samples) was analyzed by dry combustion using a Vario Max Cube elemental analyzer (Elementar GMBH, Germany).

Statistical Analysis

Normality of the variables was checked by the Kolmogorov– Smirnov test. RGR, chlorophyll concentration of the leaves, root–shoot ratio and nitrogen concentration of the plants were all normally distributed (P > 0.05). Data of actual photochemical efficiency of photosystem II and C/N ratio were log-transformed for normality. A general linear model was used to test the significance of the factors (light, nitrogen, species identity) and their interactions on the variables. Residuals were checked for normality and homogeneity of variances was evaluated by Levene's test. Tukey post-hoc tests were used to evaluate which treatments differed from each other. Pairwise comparisons were used to test the variables for significant differences between species where the mean difference (MD) + standard error were indicated. All analyses were done using SPSS 16.0 software.

RESULTS

Relative Growth Rate

Species identity, nitrogen concentration, light intensity, and their interactions significantly influenced the RGR (Table 1). The RGR of both Elodea species increased with increasing light intensity and with increasing N concentration (Figure 1). Furthermore, pairwise comparisons showed that the differences between the species were statistically significant (Table 1). Growth seemed to be saturated above 80 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for *E*. nuttallii at all N concentrations except for the lowest one, and in contrast, light stimulated the growth of E. canadensis up to the highest light intensity (180 $\mu mol~m^{-2}~s^{-1}).$ The RGR measured at the highest light intensity was significantly higher for E. canadensis than for E. nuttallii (MD 0.025 ± 0.002 Pairwise comparisons P < 0.001). However, under low light levels (0–10 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) *E. nuttallii* showed a significantly higher growth rate than E. canadensis (MD 0.012 ± 0.002 Pairwise comparisons P < 0.001). Weight loss in the dark differed significantly (pairwise **TABLE 1** | Analysis of variance of the relative growth rate (RGR), actual photosynthetic efficiency of PSII, chlorophyll concentration (Chl cc), root–shoot ratio of *Elodea (E. canadensis, E. nuttallii)* cultures grown in aquaria under different nitrogen concentrations in the water combined with different light intensities.

Source/Trait	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
RGR				
Species	1	0.00	7.91	0.01
Light	4	0.10	1,739.81	<0.01
Nitrogen	4	0.01	112.24	<0.01
Light * Species	4	0.00	57.06	<0.01
Nitrogen * Species	4	0.00	4.72	<0.01
Light * Nitrogen	16	0.00	8.94	<0.01
Error	150	0.00		
Photosynthetic efficiency				
Species	1	0.01	32.21	<0.01
Light	4	0.86	1,903.57	<0.01
Nitrogen	4	0.06	134.30	<0.01
Light × Species	4	0.03	70.56	<0.01
Nitrogen × Species	4	0.00	9.44	<0.01
Light × Nitrogen	16	0.01	17.82	<0.01
Error	150	0.00		
Chl cc				
Species	1	1,975.04	544.42	<0.01
Light	4	892.66	246.06	<0.01
Nitrogen	4	2,112.38	582.28	<0.01
Light × Species	4	49.04	13.52	<0.01
Nitrogen × Species	4	77.45	21.35	<0.01
Light × Nitrogen	16	54.07	14.90	<0.01
Error	150	3.63		
Root-shoot ratio				
Species	1	0.02	144.82	<0.01
Light	4	0.12	841.85	<0.01
Nitrogen	4	0.02	161.74	<0.01
Light × Species	4	0.00	18.45	<0.01
Nitrogen × Species	4	0.00	15.86	<0.01
Light × Nitrogen	16	0.00	33.89	<0.01
Error	150	0.00		

comparisons P < 0.001) between the two *Elodea* species and was higher for *E. canadensis* than for *E. nuttallii* (MD 0.015 ± 0.002). The increase of N concentration from 2.5 to 5 mg L⁻¹ did not cause differences in the growth rate of either species (**Figure 1**).

The light compensation point (I_c) decreased sharply with increasing N concentration and was significantly higher (MD 5.500 ± 2.131 pairwise comparisons, P = 0.033) for *E. canadensis* than for *E. nuttallii* (Figure 2).

Photochemical Efficiency

Light intensity, nitrogen concentration, and their interactions had a significant impact on the actual photochemical efficiency of photosystem II (Φ_{PSII}) (**Table 1**). Both *Elodea* species showed the highest Φ_{PSII} at low and medium light levels (**Figure 3**, 0–28 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) and the lowest Φ_{PSII} at the highest light level within each nitrogen concentration. Actual photochemical efficiency of photosystem II increased significantly at lower light intensities (P < 0.001) and at higher nitrogen



FIGURE 2 | Light compensation point (*l*_c) of *E. canadensis* and *E. nuttallii* cultures grown at different nitrogen concentrations. *l*_c values were estimated according to Sand-Jensen and Madsen (1991).





concentrations (P = 0.022). Photochemical efficiency differed significantly (pairwise comparisons P < 0.001) between the two *Elodea* species and was higher for *E. nuttallii* than for *E. canadensis* (MD 0.017 ± 0.003). Under low light levels (0–10 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹), the difference for Φ_{PSII} between the two *Elodea* species was even higher (MD 0.063 ± 0.003) (**Figure 3**).

Total Chlorophyll Concentration

Species identity, nitrogen concentration, light intensity, and their interactions significantly influenced total chlorophyll concentrations of the leaves (**Table 1**). Chlorophyll concentration was significantly higher (pairwise comparisons, P < 0.001) in *E. nuttallii* than in *E. canadensis* (MD 6.28 ± 0.27). According to the Tukey test, both species demonstrated that increasing light intensity resulted in significantly (P < 0.001) lower chlorophyll concentrations, but this was also depending on the N concentration (**Figure 4**). Increasing the light intensity, *E. canadensis* showed a much stronger drop in chlorophyll concentration than *E. nuttallii*. Lowering the nitrogen concentration significantly (P < 0.001) reduced chlorophyll concentration (**Table 1**) in both species (**Figure 4**).

Root–Shoot Ratio

Species identity, light intensity, and the statistical interaction between light intensity and N concentrations had a significant effect on root-shoot ratios (**Table 1**). Root–shoot ratios were the highest (0.17–0.22) at lower nitrogen concentrations (0.25–0.5 mg N L⁻¹) and higher light intensities for both species (**Figure 5**). *E. canadensis* had significantly higher (pairwise comparisons, P < 0.001) root–shoot ratio than *E. nuttallii* (MD 0.021 ± 0.002). The difference in root–shoot ratios was even higher (MD 0.046 ± 0.006, P < 0.001) under the highest light level (180 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹).

Chemical Composition of the Plants

Nitrogen concentration of the water, light intensity, and their interactions significantly influenced carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio) of the plants (**Supplementary Table 1**). C/N ratio of both *Elodea* species decreased with increasing N concentration and with decreasing light intensity (**Figure 6**). At the highest light intensity, tissue N concentration (mg N g⁻¹) was significantly higher for *E. nuttallii* than for *E. canadensis* (MD 6.043 ± 0.342, pairwise comparisons P < 0.001) (**Figure 7**).



FIGURE 4 | Chlorophyll concentration (μ g mg⁻¹) in the leaves of *E. canadensis* (A) and *E. nuttallii* (B) cultures grown at different nitrogen concentrations and light levels, (mean \pm SD, n = 4).



FIGURE 5 | Root-shoot ratio of Elodea canadensis (A) and E. nuttallii (B) cultures grown at different nitrogen concentrations and light levels, (mean ± SD, n = 4).



FIGURE 6 | Carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N ratio) of *E. canadensis* (A) and *E. nuttallii* (B) cultures grown at different nitrogen concentrations and light levels (mean ± SD, n = 4).

Chemical Composition of Water

Total nitrogen removal by the two examined *Elodea* species (expressed by a drop in total nitrogen concentration of the water) decreased with decreasing light intensities. The final N concentration was significantly lower with *E. nuttallii* than with *E. canadensis* (pairwise comparison P < 0.001; MD 0.451 \pm 0.021) when initial concentration was higher than 0.25 mg N L⁻¹. Under the highest light intensity and the highest initial nitrogen level (5 mg L⁻¹), the difference in the final nitrogen concentration between the two species was even higher (pairwise comparison P < 0.001; MD 2.558 \pm 0.057) (**Figure 8**). At the highest light intensity, *E. nuttallii* increased the pH more markedly (10.41) than *E. canadensis* (9.74). We found the highest at the highest light level. The pH decreased drastically at reduced light intensities.

DISCUSSION

Interactive Effects of Light and Nitrogen

Interactive effects of various factors on plant growth have previously been observed more often for light and inorganic carbon, and for nitrogen and inorganic carbon (Madsen and Sand-Jensen, 1994; Madsen et al., 1998), light and temperature (Barko et al., 1982), light and nitrogen (Szabó et al., 2019), temperature and phosphorus (Peeters et al., 2013), and nitrogen and phosphorus (Cao et al., 2011; Li et al., 2016). In this study, light and nitrogen both affected the performance of the two *Elodea* species. Interactive effects of light and nitrogen were also obvious: increase in light stimulated growth twice as much under high nitrogen concentrations (2.5 and 5 mg L^{-1}) than at lower N levels (0.05 mg L^{-1}). Therefore, the same growth rate can be obtained under different conditions: reduced



FIGURE 7 | Plant tissue nitrogen concentration of *Elodea* species grown at different nitrogen concentrations at the highest light intensity (180 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) (mean \pm SD, n = 4).



SD, *n* = 4).

light conditions but with more nitrogen gave similar yields as lower nitrogen and more light.

Light Compensation Point, Weight Loss in the Dark

The light compensation (I_c) point of *E. canadensis* grown under optimal nitrogen supply in the present study closely approximates the results of Madsen and Sand-Jensen (1994) who kept the plants under an optimal carbon supply. They also found a sharp increase in the light compensation point under lowered inorganic carbon supply as with nitrogen levels in the present study. *E. canadensis* had a much higher light compensation point (I_c) than *E. nuttallii*. This indicates that the latter species may survive better under more shaded conditions, such as turbid water, periphytic algae, or below a dense mat of floating plants (Angelstein and Schubert, 2009; van Gerven et al., 2015). Weight loss in the dark of *E. canadensis* was approximately two times higher than recorded by Madsen and Sand-Jensen (1994), which can be explained by dark respiration being lower at low temperatures. Interestingly, *E. nuttallii* showed lower weight loss in the dark than *E. canadensis*, and this might be an important indication that *E. nuttallii* can tolerate darkness for a longer period.

Change in Chlorophyll Concentration

Since nitrogen is a crucial component of chlorophyll, it is not surprising that the total chlorophyll concentration of both *Elodea* species was strongly affected by the availability of nitrogen. Therefore, our results are in line with the findings of many authors (Szabó et al., 2005; Szabó et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010). In general, *E. nuttallii* had a higher chlorophyll concentration than *E. canadensis* and plants showed a peak in chlorophyll under rather low light conditions (10–28 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) as was also found by Madsen and Sand-Jensen (1994). In complete darkness, however, both species lost some chlorophyll content since they did not receive sufficient energy to sustain chlorophyll synthesis and maintaining the photosynthetic apparatus for a long period is uneconomical (Raven, 1984).

Change in Photosynthetic Efficiency

The actual photosynthetic efficiency of both Elodea species was slightly decreased under low nitrogen supply which is in line with the studies of Cruz et al. (2003) and Huang et al. (2004) and indicates that nitrogen deficiency causes damage to PSII reaction centers (Verhoeven et al., 1997; Lu et al., 2001). Furthermore, nitrogen is essential for protein synthesis in order to sustain or rebuild the photosynthetic apparatus (Evans, 1989). Under low light levels (0–10 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) parallel to the RGR results, E. nuttallii showed marginally but significantly higher actual photosynthetic efficiency than E. canadensis. Higher Φ_{PSII} efficiency of E. nuttallii can be taken as a characteristic related to shade tolerance only in combination with the lower lc which the primary factor here. Remarkably, after twelve days of incubation in total darkness, both Elodea species still showed significant photosynthetic activity indicating that if oxygen is not limited, they can tolerate dark conditions for extended periods.

Morphological and Ecophysiological Strategies

Both *Elodea* species showed a high ability to acclimate to various light and nutrient levels, and they shared many similarities in their ecophysiological and morphological responses (**Figure 9**). Under high nitrogen levels the plants seem to invest more energy in photon capture than in nutrient uptake as evidenced by the reduced root-shoot ratio (James et al., 2006), light compensation point, increased chlorophyll concentration and photochemical efficiency which is in line with the studies of Li et al. (2016) and Gautam et al. (2016). An alternative explanation could be that



plants invest less in root biomass since less below-ground biomass is necessary for nutrient uptake in N rich water (Madsen and Cedergreen, 2002). At low light levels, similarly as high nitrogen levels, the plants also redirected resources towards a more efficient photon capture rather than nutrient uptake as proved by the increase in the chlorophyll concentration in the leaves together with a higher actual photochemical efficiency of PSII, increased shoot elongation per unit biomass and reduced allocation to root formation and reduced nutrient removal (**Figure 9**). At low light levels, *E. nuttallii* the stronger invader showed drop in branching.

Increase in chlorophyll concentration with lowering light is well in line with the results of Angelstein and Schubert (2009). In our study, both morphological (root–shoot ratio) and ecophysiological (actual photochemical efficiency of PSII, chlorophyll concentration) changes were similar to those observed in response to decreased light intensities caused by shading from floating vegetation which has been found in other submerged macrophytes (Janes et al., 1996; Forchhammer, 1999; Lu et al., 2013).

Displacement Mechanisms

Our laboratory study showed that *E. canadensis* had a slightly higher growth rate than *E. nuttallii*, supporting the view that both species responded similarly to changing light and N-levels. The directions of the differences were always similar; however the magnitude was different (**Supplementary Table 2**). The replacement of *E. canadensis* by *E. nuttallii* indicates that there must be differences between both species. From our laboratory experiment we are not able to infer the competitive abilities of the two *Elodea* since we had no mixed cultures (McCreary, 1991). However, it is evident that in a competition experiment, the competition itself may mask relevant mechanisms but also small differences between the two species. The data of tissue N concentration and the decrease in nitrogen concentration in the water indicated that under higher light intensity E. nuttallii has much stronger nitrogen removal capacity than E. canadensis (Figure 8, Supplementary Table 2). This trait may especially advantageous in waters with suboptimal nitrogen concentration. Furthermore, E. nuttallii exhibited less reduction in biomass and showed lower light compensation point than E. canadensis and seemed thus more shade tolerant (Supplementary Table 2). In hypertrophic ditches and ponds, thick layers of floating algal mat reduce light conditions (Hillebrand, 1983) in spring whereas in summer floating vegetation may cause dense shade on submerged plants reducing their growth (Scheffer et al., 2003; van, Zuidam and Peeters, 2013; van Gerven et al., 2015). In addition, at high trophic levels E. nuttallii has much less periphytic algal biomass than E. canadensis (James et al., 2006) thus the new invader may have an even greater advantage for light capture.

Our former results pointed out that *E. canadensis* tends to produce dense canopy with numerous branches even under low nitrogen and light levels. Thus, *E. canadensis* shows less apical growth that might be a disadvantage in the competition for light with *E. nuttallii*. On the contrary, *E. nuttallii* invests much more on apical shoot elongation and thereby gain a better position for light capture (Szabó et al., 2019) (**Figure 9, Supplementary Table 2**). Under low light levels, *E. nuttallii* is able to elongate much faster due to its higher elongation and lower branching degree abilities and lower light compensation point (**Figure 9**). Thus, the shoots of *E. nuttallii* are able to achieve optimal light conditions sooner. Near to the water surface under high trophic level, they can form a dense canopy (Kuni, 1984) due to their increased branching degree, resulting in a strong shading for other submerged plants (**Figure 9**). Therefore, under hypertrophic conditions stands of *E. nuttallii* may develop sooner than that of *E. canadensis* and the stronger invader can sustain its stable dominance not only against other submerged plants but against algae and floating vegetation as well (Szabó et al., 2010).

Field observations showed that the replacements of *E.* canadensis by *E. nuttallii* occurred under hypertrophic conditions with nitrogen concentrations above 2 mg L⁻¹ (Knoben and Peeters, 1997; van Zuidam and Peeters, 2013; Kočic et al., 2014). Actually, in this study, the niche for light requirement of *E. nuttallii* was narrower than that of *E.* canadensis. Therefore, our results partly contradict the idea of Higgins and Richardson (2014) who concluded that stronger invaders have broader physiological niches. However, this kind of adaptation to achieve fitness and invasiveness was more optimal under shaded conditions. These ecophysiological differences between the two species provide insights that could improve the understanding of the mechanisms of invasion processes under varying light and nutrient levels (**Supplementary Table 2, Figure 9**).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Angelstein, S., and Schubert, H. (2009). Light acclimatisation of *Elodea nuttallii* grown under ambient DIC conditions. *Plant Ecol.* 202, 91–101. doi: 10.1007/ s11258-008-9500-4
- Barko, J. W., and Smart, R. M. (1985). Laboratory culture of submerged freshwater macrophytes on natural sediments. *Aquat. Bot.* 21, 251–263. doi: 10.1016/ 0304-3770(85)90053-1
- Barko, J. W., Hardin, D. G., and Matthews, M. S. (1982). Growth and morphology of submerged freshwater macrophytes in relation to light and temperature. *Can. J. Bot.* 60, 877–887. doi: 10.1139/b82-113
- Barrat-Segretain, M.-H., and Elger, A. (2004). Experiments on growth interactions between two invasive macrophyte species. J. Veg. Sci. 15, 109–114. doi: 10.1111/ j.1654-1103.2004.tb02243.x
- Barrat-Segretain, M.-H., Elger, A., Sagnes, P., and Puijalon, S. (2002). Comparison of three life-history traits of invasibe *Elodea canadensis* Michx and *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) H. St. John. Aquat. Bot. 74, 299–313. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3770(02)00106-7
- Barrat-Segretain, M.-H. (2001). Invasive species in the Rhône River floodplain (France): replacement of *Elodea canadensis* Michaux by *E. nuttallii* St. John in two former river channels. *Arch. Hydrobiol.* 152, 237–251.
- Barrat-Segretain, M.-H. (2004). Growth of *Elodea canadensis* and *Elodea nuttallii* in monocultures and mixture under different light and nutrient conditions. *Arch. Hydrobiol.* 161, 133–144. doi: 10.1127/0003-9136/2004/0161-0133
- Barrat-Segretain, M.-H. (2005). Competition between invasive and indigenous species: impact of spatial pattern and developmental stage. *Plant Ecol.* 180, 153–160. doi: 10.1007/s11258-004-7374-7
- Best, E. P. H., Buzzelli, C. P., Bartell, S. M., Wetzel, R. L., Boyd, W. A., Doyle, R. D., et al. (2001). Modeling submerged macrophyte growth in relation to underwater light climate: modeling approaches and application potential. *Hydrobiologia* 444, 43–70. doi: 10.1023/A:1017564632427

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SS designed and performed the experiments. PN analyzed the chemical composition of the plants. SS, EP, and BL analyzed the data. SS, BL, GB, SV, and EP wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by GINOP grant (2.3.2-15-2016-00019) and OTKA grants (FK127939 and KH129520). BL was supported by the Bolyai János Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences and by the New National Excellence Program of the Ministry of Innovation and Technology (UNKP-19-4-DE-193).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Ferenc Mónus for his help in statistics. This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed any of the authors.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2019. 01747/full#supplementary-material

- Cao, T., Ni, L., Xie, P., Xu, J., and Zhang, M. (2011). Effects of moderate ammonium enrichment on three submerged macrophytes under contrasting light availability. *Freshw. Biol.* 56, 1620–1629. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02601.x
- Chambers, P. A., and Kalff, J. (1987). Light and nutrients in the control of aquatic plant community structure. I. In situ experiments. J Ecol. 75, 611–619. doi: 10.2307/2260193
- Chambers, P. A. (1987). Light and nutrients in the control of aquatic plant community structure. II. In situ observation. J. Ecol. 75, 621–628. doi: 10.2307/ 2260194
- Cruz, J. L., Mosquim, P. R., Pelacani, C. R., Araújo, W. L., and DaMatta, F. M. (2003). Photosynthesis impairment in cassava leaves in response to nitrogen deficiency. *Plant Soil.* 257, 417–423. doi: 10.1023/A:1027353305250
- Erhard, D., and Gross, E. M. (2006). Allelopathic activity of *Elodea canadensis* and *Elodea nuttallii* against epiphytes and phytoplankton. *Aquat. Bot.* 85, 203–211. doi: 10.1016/j.aguabot.2006.04.002
- Espinar, J. L., Díaz-Delgado, R., Bravo-Utrera, M. A., and Vilà, M. (2015). Linking Azolla filiculoides invasion to increased winter temperatures in the Doñana marshland (SW Spain). Aquat. Invasions 10, 17–24. doi: 10.3391/ ai.2015.10.1.02
- Evans, J. R. (1989). Photosynthesis and nitrogen relationships in leaves of C3 plants. *Oecologia* 78, 9–19. doi: 10.1007/BF00377192
- Forchhammer, N. C. (1999). Production potential of aquatic plants in systems mixing floating and submerged macrophythes. *Freshw. Biol.* 41, 183–191.doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2427.1999.00390.x
- Gautam, P., Lal, B., Tripathi, R., Shahid, M., Baig, M. J., Raja, R., et al. (2016). Role of silica and nitrogen interaction in submergence tolerance of rice. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 125, 98–109. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2016.02.008
- Genty, B., Briantais, J.-M., and Baker, N. R. (1989). The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of

chlorophyll fluorescence. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 990, 87-92. doi: 10.1016/ S0304-4165(89)80016-9

- Grudnik, Z. M., and Germ, M. (2013). Spatial pattern of native species *Myriophyllum spicatum* and invasive alien species *Elodea nuttallii* after introduction of the later one into the Drava River (Slovenia). *Biologia* 68, 202–209. doi: 10.2478/s11756-013-0006-8
- Grudnik, Z. M., Jelenko, I., and Germ, M. (2014). Influence of abiotic factors on invasive behaviour of alien species *Elodea nuttallii* in the Drava River (Slovenia). Ann. Limnol-Int. J. Limn. 50, 1–8. doi: 10.1051/limn/2013065
- Higgins, S. I., and Richardson, D. M. (2014). Invasive plants have broader physiological niches. P. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA. 111, 10610–10614. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1406075111
- Hillebrand, H. (1983). "Development and dynamics of floating clusters of flamentous algae," in *Periphyton of Freshwater Ecosystems*. Ed. R. G. Wetzel (The Hague: Dr. W Junk Publishers).
- Huang, Z. A., Jiang, D. A., Yang, Y., Sun, J. W., and Jin, S. H. (2004). Effects of nitrogen deficiency on gas exchange, chlorophyll fluorescence, and antioxidant enzymes in leaves of rice plants. *Photosynthetica* 42, 357–367. doi: 10.1023/B: PHOT.0000046153.08935.4c
- James, C. S., Eaton, J. W., and Hardwick, K. (1999). Competition between three submerged macrophytes, *Elodea canadensis* Michx. *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) St John and *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss. *Hydrobiologia* 415, 35–40. doi: 10.1023/A:1003802205092
- James, C. S., Eaton, J. W., and Hardwick, K. (2006). Responses of three invasive aquatic macrophytes to nutrient enrichment do not explain their observed field displacements. *Aquat. Bot.* 84, 347–353. doi: 10.1016/ j.aquabot.2006.01.002
- Janes, R. A., Eaton, J. W., and Hardwick, K. (1996). The effects of floating mats of Azolla filiculoides Lam. and Lemna minuta Kunth on the growth of submerged macrophytes. Hydrobiologia 340, 23–26. doi: 10.1007/978-94-011-5782-7_5
- Király, G., Steták, D., and Bányász, Á. (2007). Spread of invasive macrophythes in Hungary. *Neobiota* 7, 123–130.
- Knoben, R. A. E., and Peeters, E. T. H. M. (1997). Eco-atlas van waterorganismen. STOWA publication no. 97-38.
- Kočic, A., Horvatic, J., and Jelaska, D. (2014). Distribution and morphological variations of invasive macrophytes *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) H. St. John and *Elodea canadensis* Michx in Croatia. Acta Bot. Croat. 73, 437–446. doi: 10.2478/botcro-2014-0011
- Kuni, H. (1982). The critical water temperature for active growth of *Elodea* nuttallii (Planch.) St. John. Japanese J. Ecol. 32, 111–112. doi: 10.18960/ seitai.32.1_111
- Kuni, H. (1984). Seasonal growth and profile structure development of *Elodea* nuttallii (Planch.) St. John. In pond Ojaka-Ike, Japan. Aquat. Bot. 18, 239–247. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(84)90065-2
- Lürling, M., van Geest, G., and Scheffer, M. (2006). Importance of nutrient competition and allelopathic effects in suppression of the green alga *Scenedesmus obliquus* by the macrophytes *Chara*, *Elodea* and *Myriophyllm*. *Hydrobiologia* 556, 209–220. doi: 10.1007/s10750-005-1168-3
- Li, J., Guo, Q., Zhang, J., Korpelainen., H., and Li, C. (2016). Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus supply on growth and physiological traits of two Larix species. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 230, 206–215. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2016. 06.006
- Lichtentaler, K. H. (1987). Chlorophylls and carotenoids: pigments of photosynthetic biomembranes. *Method. Enzymol.* 148, 350-382. doi: 10.1016/0076-6879(87)48036-1
- Lu, C., Zhang, J., Zhang, Q., Li, L., and Kuang, T. (2001). Modification of photosystem II photochemistry in nitrogen deficient maize and wheat plants. *J. Plant Physiol.* 158, 1423–1430. doi: 10.1078/0176-1617-00501
- Lu, J., Wang, Z., Xing, W., and Liu, G. (2013). Effects of substrate and shading on the growth of two submerged macrophytes. *Hydrobiologia* 700, 157–167. doi: 10.1007/s10750-012-1227-5

Lund, J. W. G. (1979). The mystery of Elodea Michx. Watsonia 12, 388.

Madsen, T. V., and Cedergreen, N. (2002). Sources of nutrients to rooted submerged macrophytes growing in a nutrient-rich stream. *Freshw. Biol.* 47, 283–291. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2427.2002.00802.x

- Madsen, T. V., and Sand-Jensen, K. (1994). The interactive effects of light and inorganic carbon on aquatic plant growth. *Plant Cell. Environ.* 17, 955–962. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.1994.tb00324.x
- Madsen, T. V., Halm, P., and Johansen, J. (1998). Effects of inorganic carbon supply on the nitrogen requirement of two submerged macrophytes, *Elodea* canadensis and Callitriche cophocarpa. Aquat. Bot. 62, 95–106. doi: 10.1016/ S0304-3770(98)00087-4
- Marwood, C. A., Solomon, K. R., and Greenberg, B. M. (2001). Chlorophyll fluorescence as a bioindicator of effects on growth in aquatic macrophythes from mixtures of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20, 890–898. doi: 10.1002/etc.5620200425
- McCreary, N. J. (1991). Competition as a mechanism of submerged macrophyte community structure. Aquat. Bot. 41, 177–193. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(91)90043-5
- Morris, K., Harrison, K. A., Bailey, C. P. E., and Boon, P. I. (2004). Domain shifts in the aquatic vegetation of shallow urban lakes: the relative roles of low light and anoxia in the catastrophic loss of the submerged angiosperm *Vallisneria americana*. *Mar. Freshwater. Res.* 55, 749–758. doi: 10.1071/MF03193
- Ot'ahel'ová, H., and Valachovič, M. (2002). Effects of the Gabčíkovo hydroelectricstation on aquatic vegetation of the Danube river (Slovakia). *Preslia* 74, 323–331.
- Peeters, E. T. H. M., Van Zuidam, J. P., Van Zuidam, B. G., Van Nes, E. H., Kosten, S., Heuts, P. G. M., et al. (2013). Changing weather conditions and floating plants in temperate drainage ditches. J. Appl. Ecol. 50, 585–593. doi: 10.1111/ 1365-2664.12066
- Phillips, G. L., Eminson, D., and Moss., B. (1978). A mechanism to account for macrophyte decline in progressively eutrophicated freshwaters. Aquat. Bot. 4, 103–126. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(78)90012-8
- Raven, J. A. (1984). *Energetics and transport in aquatic plants* (New York: Alan R. Liss).
- Robach, F., Thiébaut, G., and Tremolières, M. (1995). Phosphorus sources for aquatic macrophytes in runing waters: water or sediment? Acta Bot. Gallica 142, 719–731. doi: 10.1080/12538078.1995.10515296
- Sand-Jensen, K., and Madsen, T. V. (1991). Minimum light requirements of submerged freshwater macrophytes in laboratory growth experiments. J. Ecol. 79, 749–764. doi: 10.2307/2260665
- Scheffer, M., Szabó, S., Gragnani, A., Van Nes, E. H., Rinaldi, S., Kautsky, N., et al. (2003). Floating plant dominance as a stable state. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 100, 4040–4045. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0737918100
- Simpson, D. A. (1984). A short history of the introduction and spread of *Elodea* Michx in the British Isles. *Watsonia* 15, 1–9. doi: 10.1.1.666.1032&rep= rep1&type=pdf
- Simpson, D. A. (1990). Displacement of *Elodea canadensis* Michx by *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) H. St John in the British Isles. *Watsonia* 18, 173–177. doi: 10.1.1.666.1032&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Sipos, V. K., Kohler, A., Köder, M., and Janauer, G. (2003). Macrophyte vegetation of Danube canals in Kiskunság (Hungary). Arch. Hydobiol. Suppl. Large Rivers 14, 143–166. doi: 10.1127/lr/14/2003/143
- Snel, J. F. H., Vos, J. H., Gylstra, R., and Brock, T. C. M. (1998). Inhibition of photosystem II (PSII) electron transport as a convenient endpoint to assess stress of the herbicide linuron on freshwater plants. *Aquat. Ecol.* 32, 113–123. doi: 10.1023/A:1009971930626
- Szabó, S., Roijackers, R. M. M., Scheffer, M., and Borics, G. (2005). The strength of limiting factors for duckweed during algal competition. *Arch. Hydobiol.* 164, 127–140. doi: 10.1127/0003-9136/2005/0164-0127
- Szabó, S., Scheffer, M., Roijackers, R., Waluto, B., Braun, M., Nagy, P., et al. (2010). Strong growth limitation of a floating plant (*Lemna gibba*) by submerged macrophyte (*Elodea nuttallii*) under laboratory conditions. *Freshw. Biol.* 55, 681–690. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02308.x
- Szabó, S., Peeters, E. T. H. M., Várbíró, G., Borics, G., and Lukács, B. A. (2019). Phenotypic plasticity as a clue for the invasion success of the submerged aquatic plant *Elodea nuttallii. Plant Biol.* 21, 54–63. doi: 10.1111/plb.12918
- van Gerven, L. P. A., de Klein, J. J. M., Gerla, D. J., Kooi, B. W., Kuiper, J. J., and Mooij, W. M. (2015). Competition for light and nutrients in layered communities of aquatic plants. *Am. Nat.* 186, 72–83. doi: 10.1086/681620
- van, Zuidam, J. P., and Peeters, E. T. H. M. (2013). Occurrence of macrophyte monocultures in drainage ditches relates to phosphorus in both sediment and water. *SpringerPlus* 2, 564. doi: 10.1186/2193-1801-2-564

- Verhoeven, A. S., Demmig-Adams, B. I. I., and Adams., W. W. (1997). Enhanced employment of the xanthophyll cycle and thermal energy dissipation in spinach exposed to high light and N stress. *Plant Physiol.* 113, 817–824. doi: 10.1104/pp.113.3.817
- Vilà, M., and Weiner, J. (2004). Are invasive plants species better competitors than native plant species? - evidence from pair-wise experiments. *Oikos* 105, 229– 238. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12682.x
- Zhao, X., Mao, Z., and Xu, J. (2010). Gas exchange, chlorophyll and growth responses of *Betula platyphylla* seedlings to elevated CO₂ and nitrogen. *Int. J. Biol.* 2, 143–149. doi: 10.1.1.669.7631&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Szabó, Peeters, Borics, Veres, Nagy and Lukács. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Evaluation of Habitat Preferences of Invasive Macrophyte Egeria densa in Different Channel Slopes Using Hydrogen Peroxide as an Indicator

Takashi Asaeda^{1,2,3,4*}, M. D. H. Jayasanka Senavirathna⁴ and Lekkala Vamsi Krishna⁴

¹ Hydro Technology Institute, Tokyo, Japan, ² Institute for Studies of the Global Environment, Sophia University, Tokyo, Japan,
 ³ Research and Development Center, Nippon Koei, Tsukuba, Japan, ⁴ Department of Environmental Science, Saitama University, Saitama, Japan

Egeria densa is an often-found invasive species in Japan, which has spread widely in the past two decades in rivers where no macrophytes had previously been found. As a result, these ecosystems have now become dominated by E. densa. The habitat preference for E. densa colony formation was investigated using the tissue concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂: a reactive oxygen species) under varying conditions in rivers and laboratory conditions. The empirical equations that can describe the macrophyte tissue H_2O_2 formation under various velocity and light conditions were produced. The H₂O₂ concentrations of dark-adapted plants are proportional to the flow velocity, and the surplus H₂O₂ concentration in the light-exposed condition corresponded to the photosystems produced H_2O_2 . When the H_2O_2 concentration exceeds 16 μ mol/gFW, plant tissue starts to deteriorate, and biomass declines, indicating the critical values required for long-term survival of the plant. The empirically obtained relationships between flow velocity or light intensity and the analysis of H_2O_2 concentration for different slopes and depths of channels found that the H_2O_2 value exceeds the critical H_2O_2 concentration in channels with above 1/100 at around 0.6 m depth. This agrees with the observed results where colonies were not found in channels with slopes exceeding 1/100, and biomass concentration was the largest at depths of 0.6 to 0.8 m. H₂O₂ concentration is quite applicable to understanding the macrophyte condition in various kinds of macrophyte management.

Keywords: invasive species, environmental stress, oxidative stress, river vegetation, empirical equations

INTRODUCTION

The mid-streams of large Japanese rivers were characterized as gravel beds during the post-World War II era. Fine sediment beds were extremely limited. Thus, the ecosystems of gravel beds, characterized by rich hyporheic flows and biota, such as insect larvae and salmonid fish, were maintained for long periods (Hauer et al., 2016). Except for some emergent species, *Phragmites japonica* (Asaeda et al., 2009), almost no submerged macrophyte colonies existed in the main streams of major rivers (Kadono, 2004). Since then, dams and weirs have been frequently constructed and most of the waterways have been regulated. Therefore, almost all the gravel

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giuseppe Brundu, University of Sassari, Italy

Reviewed by:

Emily Frances Strange, Leiden University, Netherlands Elisa Soana, University of Ferrara, Italy

*Correspondence: Takashi Asaeda asaeda@mail.saitama-u.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 24 July 2019 Accepted: 23 March 2020 Published: 30 April 2020

Citation:

Asaeda T, Senavirathna MDHJ and Vamsi Krishna L (2020) Evaluation of Habitat Preferences of Invasive Macrophyte Egeria densa in Different Channel Slopes Using Hydrogen Peroxide as an Indicator. Front. Plant Sci. 11:422. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2020.00422

103

particles introduced upstream are trapped before entering the midstream, thus the supply of gravel to the midstream and downstream is completely curtailed. In addition, gravel was mined for use as construction materials from the 1960s to 1970s. The amount of gravel, therefore, substantially reduced in the midstream, compared to that of previous years (Asaeda and Sanjaya, 2017). In contrast, fine sediment inflows continued from the mid to downstream catchments. They were transported and settled, filling interstices on downstream gravel beds. Thus, the midstream beds are now partially covered with fine sediments that bury stones.

In the past two decades, invasive macrophyte Egeria densa began to form colonies in many rivers (Ministry of Lands Infrastructure Transportation and Tourism in Japan [MLIT], 2016). It often covers extensive areas of the channel bed and completely changes the ecosystem there (Collier et al., 1999; Yarrow et al., 2009). Financially, this causes substantial losses to inland fisheries, particularly in the yield of Ayu fish (Plecoglossus altivelis altivelis), a grazer of benthic algae (Asaeda et al., 2018). E. densa was cultivated in aquariums in the early 19th century, but it was disposed into natural freshwater bodies and became naturalized in the 1940s. However, it had not spread into rivers as they were gravelly in those days and were not in a suitable condition to support submerged macrophytes, however, it has been found in some lakes of western Japan since the 1970s (Kadono, 2004). Besides Japan, E. densa, spread widely in other continents (Champion and Tanner, 2000; Santos et al., 2011). It affected stream ecosystems extremely, retarding flow velocity, increasing sedimentation (Collier et al., 1999), and exile of native species (Santos et al., 2011; Gillard et al., 2017). Therefore, though the effects were particularly eminent in Japanese gravel rivers, the invasion of *E. densa* is a worldwide problem.

As several changes occur simultaneously in natural rivers, it is not easy to elucidate the primary reason that prevented earlier macrophyte colonization or their increase today. The habitat preferences of macrophytes are normally evaluated by monitoring their growth rate or biomass (Barko et al., 1991; Riis et al., 2012; O'Hare et al., 2018). However, there are various potentially influential factors in the natural environment and each factor changes from time to time during the period of the macrophytes' growth. The existing conditions are, thus, considered to be a result of the integrated environmental conditions experienced previously, and the casual observation that is mainly practiced in vegetation management is not necessarily appropriate for evaluating their habitat preference.

In natural water, macrophytes are subjected to environmental stresses, such as flow velocity, high solar radiation, excessive high or low temperature, etc. In cell organelles, then, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated based on the intensity of the stresses, photosynthesis and metabolic activities (Zaman and Asaeda, 2013; Asaeda and Rashid, 2017; Parveen et al., 2017a). A part of these ROS is scavenged relatively quickly by antioxidant activities, and the homogeneity of ROS in tissues is maintained by a balance between the ROS and the antioxidants. However, under excessive stress, this balance collapses as oxidative stress surpasses the antioxidant capacity of the plant. The existence of ROS in plant tissues leads to oxidative stress, and when critical levels are exceeded, the plants tend to deteriorate (Sharma et al., 2012; Choudhury et al., 2017). The most common ROS is hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), which is generated by the superoxide dismutase by in the superoxide (Asada, 2006; Sharma et al., 2012). The H_2O_2 concentration is relatively stable and can be easily analyzed chemically (Satterfield and Bonnell, 1995; Zhou et al., 2006). The amount of tissue H_2O_2 concentration, therefore, has potential for use as an indicator to monitor the instantaneous environmental stress intensity on macrophytes (Asaeda et al., 2018).

During the daytime, the total amount of H_2O_2 generated in plant tissues is, therefore, primarily the sum of the H_2O_2 generated in response to environmental stress, photosynthesis, and other nonstress metabolic products. This process can be generalized as the following simple equation:

$$H_{2}O_{2(Total)} = H_{2}O_{2(Photosynthesis)}$$

+
$$H_{2}O_{2(Metabolic byproduct and respiration)}$$

+
$$\sum H_{2}O_{2(Environmental stress)}$$
(1)

Although there are some interactions between the different environmental stressors and opposing trends in some combinations of stressors (Rivero et al., 2014), the share of H_2O_2 concentration of stresses is separated from metabolic, respiration, and photosynthesis produced H_2O_2 (Mittler, 2002). However, the plant oxidative stress is determined by cumulative H_2O_2 content present in the cells regardless of the source.

Several types of stressors are acting on submerged macrophytes in natural rivers. In the relatively steep non-polluted rivers, the major stressors include the mechanical stress introduced by high current velocity/turbulence, solar radiation, and temperature (Yarrow et al., 2009; Riis et al., 2012). As these are based on different physical quantities, it is difficult to compare the magnitude of each stressor on the submerged macrophytes. However, it is possible to differentiate photosynthesis produced H_2O_2 from the total accumulated H_2O_2 by dark adapting the plants (Asaeda et al., 2018). In addition, when other stresses are eliminated under controlled conditions in the laboratory, it is possible to quantify each type of stress by the produced H_2O_2 .

Considering the facts that, it can be hypothesized that (1) there is a relationship between induced H_2O_2 concentration in *E. densa* and the intensity of each stress given by the habitat metrics, such as water velocity, temperature, and the solar radiation of the habitat. (2) *E. densa* growth reduced and is deteriorated in the condition in which H_2O_2 concentration exceeds a threshold value. (3) The habitat metric condition for *E. densa*, therefore, remains to be a H_2O_2 concentration less than the threshold value. Then, the habitat preference and adaptability of *E. densa* is studied in terms of H_2O_2 formation under varying riverine conditions and the controlled conditions in the laboratory, focusing on obtaining empirical relationships of factors on the tissue H_2O_2 contents.

As the tissue presence of H_2O_2 can be used to evaluate the plant condition, and the plant H_2O_2 content can be evaluated in a short period, it has the potential to be adopted in macrophyte monitoring practices. In the present study, we focused the H_2O_2 production of *E. densa* over various field and laboratory conditions. However, the methodology is widely applicable for various types of macrophyte managements, such as the identification of the optimum condition in the endangered species' restoration, or in the extermination of alien species.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Field Observations

Several rivers that are highly colonized by *E. densa* were selected from the species distribution records in Japan (Ministry of Lands Infrastructure Transportation and Tourism in Japan [MLIT], 2016). In 2016 and 2017, observations were conducted in rivers for location data of *E. densa* colonization. Sampling activities were conducted on fine days (days with clear sky and no rain expected) in different seasons from Eno (Go), Saba and Hii Rivers, including their tributaries (**Table 1**). In each river, the surveys reached approximately 20 to 50 km from the upstream to the downstream area, and five to ten sites where more than one third of the bed was covered with pure *E. densa* colonies were selected for the study, including the most upstream colony in the main channel.

At each sampling site, there were several E. densa patches, and each patch was composed of several plants. Thus, more than five samples were collected from overlying shoots of different plants of a same patch in light-exposed (under natural conditions) and dark-adapted conditions to differentiate photosynthesis generated H₂O₂ from environmental factors and metabolism induced H₂O₂ of tissues. The dark exposure treatment was performed by placing a black plastic sheet $(3 \text{ m} \times 3 \text{ m})$ floating over the E. densa colonies for 30 min. The 30 min pre-dark period was determined from laboratory experiments, which were conducted to determine the optimum pre-darkness duration. The plastic sheets were tied to fixed metal poles that were inserted in the riverbed, allowing the sheets to float on the water surface without causing mechanical disturbances to the macrophytes or altering the water flow. The PAR intensity under the sheet was found to be zero. The light-exposed samples were collected adjacent to the darkness treated samples. The collected samples were put in resealable plastic bags and quickly stored in a cool box containing dry ice until they were transferred to the laboratory to be stored at -80° C. Biomass was obtained from a 50 cm \times 50 cm quadrant of each sampling point.

At each sampling point, the water velocity was measured with an ultrasonic velocimeter and recorded for more than 1 min (Tokyo Keisoku Co. Ltd., Japan), at 20% (reference velocity) and 80% (depth of the colony) of the total water depth. Turbulence velocity component was calculated as a root mean square deviation from the mean velocity, from the velocity record. Photosynthetically active radiation intensity (PAR intensity) in the water was measured with a portable quantum flux meter (Apogee, MQ-200, United States) at 10 cm depth intervals.

On October 23, 2018, the lateral configuration of a channel was investigated to derive the effect of the *E. densa* colony on the environment, including the distributions of depth, sand

depositions thickness, *E. densa* biomass, particle size, and the *E. densa* burying condition in trapped sediments at a point 45 km upstream from the river mouth of the Yahagi River. During the summers of 2016, 2017, and 2018, surveys were conducted from the upstream to the downstream areas in other rivers where the existence of *E. densa* was recorded, then the locations and the depth of the rivers were recorded and the channel slope was obtained from a topographic map [Geographical Survey Institute of Japan, the (Gsi), 2018].

Laboratory Experiments

The pre-darkness period in the field observation was investigated as follows. The apical cuttings with an average length of 10 cm were obtained from the stock culture and planted in two tanks $(50 \text{ cm} \times 35 \text{ cm} \times 35 \text{ cm})$ with thoroughly washed commercial river sand (90% of <0.2 mm particle size; washed using tap water several times until all organic materials are washed away and finally, washed using distilled water to further remove nutrients). In each tank, twenty E. densa cuttings were planted and maintained in a temperature-controlled room maintained at a constant 23 \pm 3°C temperature. Each tank was exposed to approximately 100 µmol/m²/s PAR with a 12 h/12 h light and dark period. Nutrients were supplied via a 5% Hoagland nutrient solution. After a two-month acclimatization period, one of the two tanks was covered entirely by a black plastic sheet, providing darkness. E. densa tissues from different samples were collected at 10 min intervals for 2 h and then collected at 6, 12, and 24 h. Light-exposed samples were collected, simultaneously. To avoid the stress of cutting, the tissues were collected from fresh tips during each sampling activity. The experiment was conducted in triplicates with different samples. The H₂O₂ concentrations of tissues were then analyzed. The H₂O₂ concentration of *E. densa* gradually declined with the dark duration, taking the lowest value at 30 min, then slightly increasing later for all cases. Therefore, in the field experiment, 30 min of darkness was adopted for the darkadapted samples.

The effect of temperature on H2O2 generation was investigated, using four tanks similar to those in the previous experiments. After an acclimatization period of 2 months, the temperature regimes of the tanks were set to 10, 15, 25, and 30°C, respectively, using an aquarium water temperature controlling system (Aquarium cooler ZC-100α, Zensui Corporation, Japan). Light intensities, 220, 320 and 680 µmol/m²/s were obtained with the combination of several LED lamps. Then, a 5 m long flume equipped with a straightening plate at the upstream end was used to check the velocity effect. The central part was lightened with 200 µmol/m²/s of PAR intensity by a LED lamp. The velocity was adjusted at 23 cm/s to maintain the low turbulence intensity condition, less than 2 cm/s of turbulence velocity, following Asaeda et al. (2018), and the normal flow velocity of the E. densa habitat (Champion and Tanner, 2000). The temperature conditions were maintained for 7 days, and plants were sampled for the chemical analyses. The experiment was conducted in triplicates with different samples for each condition.

TABLE 1	River channel	data where I	arge colonies	of E. densa	were found.

	River or tributary	Distance from the river mouth or conjunction (km)	Channel bed slope	Maximum channel depth at normal water level (cm)	Approximate depth of <i>E. densa</i> colony (cm)
1	Yahagi River	45.2	1/800	120	30–100
2	Yoshii River	83.5	1/200	50	40–50
3	Asahi River, Nakatsui River Tributary	14.6	1/270	50	40–50
4	Ashida River	79.1	1/210	40	40
5	Ashida River, Takaya River Tributary	0.5	1/1800	40	30–40
6	AshidaRver, Mitsugi River Tributary	9.3	1/220	50	40–50
7	Eno (Gono) River, Mainstream ^a	89.3	1/400	130	50-100
8	Eno (Gono) River, Tajibi River Tributary ^a	0.5	1/120	80	40-80
9	Eno (Gono) River, downstream of Haji Dam ^a	92.5	1/250	60	30–60
10	Eno River, upstream of Haji Dam	160.8	1/280	50	30–50
11	Eno (Gono) River, Saijo River tributary	5.6	1/320	40	30–40
12	Eno (Gono) River, Joge River Tributary	40.5	1/150	40	30–40
13	Ohta River, Misasa River Tributary	3.1	1/400	70	50-70
14	Hii River, Small Tributary	5.0	1/400	50	30–50
15	Takatsu River	57.3	1/160	50	50
16	Takatsu River, Tsuwano River Tributary	18.3	1/180	40	40
17	Saba River, Shimaji River Tributary ^b	10.8	1/190	110	50-110

^a Sampling was conducted on May 24 and 25, 2016; September 16, 2016; April 18, 2017; and June 11–13, 2017. ^b Sampling was conducted on May 25 and 26, 2016; June 17, 2016; September 17, 2016; April 18, 2017; June 13–15, 2017; and August 7–9, 2018. ^c Sampling was conducted on October 11, 2016.

Chemical and Biomass Analyses

The tissue H_2O_2 was estimated colorimetrically using spectrophotometry (Asaeda et al., 2018). Plant chemicals were extracted into ice-cold phosphate buffers (50 µmol/L, pH 6.0) by crushing approximately 100 mg of the plant in the presence of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP). The extractions were centrifuged at 5000 g for 15 min at 4°C. The enzyme extraction of 750 µL was then mixed with 2.5 mL of 0.1% titanium sulfate in 20% (v/v) H₂SO₄, and the mixture was centrifuged at 2500 g for 15 min at 20°C. The optical absorption at a wavelength of 410 nm was measured using spectrophotometry (UV-1200, UV-Visible Spectrophotometer, Shimadzu, Japan), and the H₂O₂ concentrations (µmol/gFW) were estimated using a standard curve.

The dry weight of biomass was estimated by oven drying the collected biomass samples at 70°C for 72 h or until the weight became stable. The dried biomass was weighed and expressed in units of gDW/m^2 .

Statistical Comparison

The linear or power law (for solar radiation intensity) correlation between parameters was tested by Pearson's correlation analysis and the statistical significance between observations were tested with Student's *t*-test. The statistical comparisons of field data were performed to obtain the relationship between the H_2O_2 content and the external factors (such as velocity, turbulence velocity, light intensity, biomass, and depth), and the relationship between the factors (turbulence and mean flow). For H_2O_2 concentration and velocity or temperature relationship, statistical comparisons were performed for the different study sites and/or sampling time groups, which have different temperatures and solar radiations, to obtain the interaction between stresses and the H_2O_2 concentration. The gradient of the regression line was obtained for the whole set of data in the relation between each stress component and H_2O_2 concentration. Then, for each study site and sampling time groups, statistical analysis was conducted to check the significance of the regression. For the relationship between H_2O_2 concentration and light intensity, the power law regression of the excessive H_2O_2 concentration of the light exposed samples and dark-adapted samples was conducted to obtain the light intensity at zero H_2O_2 concentration. Then the data scattering was compared with the standard deviation.

All the statistical tests were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 25. The regression lines and equations were obtained using the inbuilt regression function feature of Microsoft Excel 2016.

RESULTS

The relationship between H_2O_2 concentration and water temperature, obtained from both laboratory experiments (PARs were 220, 320, and 680 μ mol/m²/s with 0 cm/s of velocity; 200 μ mol/m²/s of PAR and 23 cm/s of flow velocity), and dark-adapted condition of the field observation (PAR = 0 μ mol/m²/s) is shown in the **Figure 1**. The recorded temperatures of field studies ranged between 10 and 25°C depending on the sampling seasons and rivers, and the fluctuations were observed to be 1–2°C in the same sampling condition groups. Thus, the extrapolated regressed lines of each group to zero velocity were used here (**Figure 1**). H₂O₂ concentration has a negative correlation with temperature



in the 10 to 30°C temperature range and was regressed to lines with a gradient of $-0.316 \ \mu \text{mol/gFW/degree}$, for all light intensity groups. The regression equations are shown in **Figure 1** compared to observed data (R = 0.982, P < 0.01 for 220 $\mu \text{mol/m}^2/\text{s}$ PAR; R = 0.963, P < 0.01 for field observation, 0 $\mu \text{mol/m}^2/\text{s}$ PAR). There was no overlapping among data from different groups. Thus, the effect of interaction between temperature and light intensity is sufficiently small.

Figure 2 presents the H_2O_2 contents of the field observation samples with respect to turbulence velocity. Under light exposure, the H_2O_2 contents are always higher than those in the corresponding dark-adapted samples by 5–10 μ mol/gFW. However, the scattering was greater than that in the darkadapted samples. Dark-adapted samples are composed of different temperature groups, which depend on the sampling time and rivers.

The H_2O_2 contents of dark-adapted samples were highly correlated with the turbulence velocity, with a gradient of 1.25 µmol/ [gFW (cm/s)] (R = 0.796, P < 0.01). The regression lines with the same gradient are shown in **Figure 2** for the dark-adapted samples of different sampling time and river groups, compared to observed data. For each group, the H_2O_2 contents were highly regressed to the lines (R = 0.917, 0.885, 0.964 for April, May/June and September sampling at the Eno River, respectively, 0.76 for the Hii River, and 0.84, 0.68, and 0.63, respectively, for the sampling during each season, respectively, at the Saba River for all P < 0.01). This finding indicates that the H_2O_2 concentration dependence on turbulence velocity is independent of temperature.

There is a significant positive correlation between the mean flow and turbulence velocity (R = 0.722, P < 0.01), as shown in **Figure 3**. Also, the correlation between the H₂O₂ content of dark-adapted samples with the mean velocity is also



FIGURE 2 The concentration of H₂O₂ in *E. densa* tissue as a function of turbulence velocity at 80% depth in light-exposed (L) and dark-adapted (D) conditions. The "Labo Exp" represents data from the laboratory experiment (Ellawala et al., 2011). The dashed lines indicate the linear regressed lines with the gradient of 1.25 μ mol/[gFW (cm/s)] of the dark-adapted conditions of the same colored symbols of as those of the sampling rivers and seasons, respectively. H₂O₂ is given in units of μ mol/gFW, and while the *TVel* (turbulence velocity) are in cm/s. The dates May, Sep (September), and Oct (October) represent data obtained in 2016 while Jun (June) and Apr (April) represent data of 2017. Eno, Saba, and Hii represent Eno, Saba, and Hii rivers including their tributaries, respectively.



FIGURE 3 | Relationship between the turbulence velocity and the mean flow velocity of each sampling site of different rivers. The sample collected month is represented by the month indicated in the legend. Eno, Saba, and Hii represent Eno, Saba, and Hii rivers, including their tributaries, respectively.

positive and significant (**Figure 4**, R = 0.571, P < 0.01). The relationships can be explained with linear regression equations [Eq. (2) for the 0–60 cm/s mean flow velocity range]. The line in **Figure 4** included the cases in which the turbulence intensity was particularly high because of the large gravel beds. Although these values provide slightly higher H₂O₂ concentrations compared to those at normal sites, the relatively





proportional relationship with turbulence velocity indicates that the mean flow velocity is available as a reference of the mechanical stress due to flow velocity (Asaeda et al., 2017).

$$H_2O_2 (\mu \text{mol/gFW}) = 0.072 MVel (\text{cm/s}) + 4.6$$
 (2)

The H₂O₂ concentration of the light-exposed samples fluctuated heavily, but always exceeded the value of the corresponding darkadapted samples. The excessive H₂O₂ content is light induced H₂O₂ content, postulated as a function of light intensity in Figure 5. There is a positive correlation between the light intensity and the H₂O₂ concentration, however, the increasing rate of the excessive H₂O₂ decreases with increasing light intensity. When the light intensity is lower than 40 μ mol/m²/s, the excessive H₂O₂ was nearly 0, similar to experimental results obtained by Hussner et al. (2010) and Rodrigues and Thomaz (2010). Therefore, power low regression analyses were conducted for the excessive H2O2 concentration with respect to the surplus light intensity from 40 μ mol/m²/s, as Eq. (3) in the figure (R = 0.738, P < 0.05). Although, the scattering is large, most of the data are distributed within the standard deviation from the Eq. (3) (1.57 µmol/gFW) without any systematic deviation regardless of rivers and sampling seasons, where the solar radiation intensity ranged from 40 to 600 μ mol/m²/s, and temperature from 10 to 25°C.

$$H_2O_2\left(\mu \text{mol/gFW}\right) = [Light \ Intensiy - 40]^{\frac{2}{3}}/10 \qquad (3)$$

Diurnal H₂O₂ Variation of *E. densa*

In the diurnal observation, the light intensity during the 2018 sampling was higher for the 2018 observation day (\sim 1500 µmol/m²/s at the shoot height) compared to that for the



FIGURE 5 | Photosynthesis-produced H₂O₂ concentration (Excessive H₂O₂) of *E. densa* tissue as a function of light intensity. The sample collected month is represented by the year and the month indicated in the legend. Eno, Saba, and Hii represent Eno, Saba, and Hii Rivers, including their tributaries, respectively. When the light intensity is lower than 40 µmol/m²/s, the excessive H₂O₂ concentration was 0 µmol/gFW. The regression curve in the excessive H₂O₂ concentration and the excessive light intensity from 40 µmol/m²/s condition is postulated by a rigid line, and the standard deviation is shown by the dashed line. "Light" is the light intensity at the sample depth (µmol/m²/s), and the excessive H₂O₂ concentration, H₂O₂rad" denotes the light induced H₂O₂ content. The Exp 20°C and Exp 30°C represent the excessive H₂O₂ concentration quantified in experiments under 20 and 30°C controlled temperatures.

2017 observation day (<1000 μ mol/m²/s at the shoot height). This high solar radiation intensity condition continued for several weeks before the 2018 observation day, while rainy or cloudy conditions had persisted for several weeks before the 2017 observation day. Therefore, samples from the 2018 observation were exposed to high solar radiation for several weeks, as opposed to samples from the 2017 observation (**Figure 6A**).

The diurnal variation of tissue H_2O_2 concentration followed the diurnal solar radiation intensity in 2017 and for healthy samples at 2018 S2 and S4 in 2018 (**Figure 6B**). Then, during the day, the H_2O_2 concentration rose up to nearly 16 µmol/gFW by noon and then, declined in the afternoon with the decline in solar radiation. In contrast, the values were substantially lower for the degraded samples in the 2018 observation. Then, samples at 2018 S2-2 and 2018 S3, showed less than 10 µmol/gFW of H_2O_2 concentration around noon. *E. densa* colonies remained healthy in the 2017 observation, while in the 2018 observation, shoots close to the water surface were degraded and appeared to be starting to die at S2-2 and S3.



As per Figures 7A,B, the H₂O₂ content for both the lightexposed and dark-adapted samples were negatively correlated with the biomass (R = -0.474, P < 0.01 for light-exposed and R = -0.504, P < 0.01 for dark-adapted). It was observed that there were no samples with an H2O2 content exceeding the 16 µmol/gFW range. The approximate channel slope of the river in which large colonies of E. densa were formed in the running water was between 1/120 and 1/1800. No E. densa colony was found in the further upstream reaches, with channels steeper than 1/100, unless weirs were constructed to regulate the water flow (Table 1). The stress on plants generated by the flow velocity is more intensified at deeper sites; however, a high biomass concentration was found in deeper zones in the channel rather than in the shallow zones. The biomass of the colonies was highly correlated with the depth of the water column, peaking at a depth of 80 cm, and gradually declining as the depth increased further



(Figure 8). The biomass distribution exhibited a common trend irrespective of the river or the observation site.

DISCUSSION

Environmental Stressors on E. densa

There are several types of stressors acting on submerged macrophytes in natural rivers. As these are based on different physical quantities, it is difficult to compare the magnitude of the effect of each stressor on the submerged macrophytes. The difference in H_2O_2 concentrations between the continuous light-exposed and 30 min pre-shaded samples differentiate the stress-induced H_2O_2 from photosynthesis generated H_2O_2 . Based on the outcome of the laboratory experiment, we developed a relationship between temperature and the H_2O_2 generation in plant tissues. When the fractions of H_2O_2 corresponding to photosynthesis and temperature effects were eliminated from the continuous light-exposed samples of field studies, the observed



trend of H_2O_2 was similar to the result of the oscillating grid laboratory experiment, in which the amount of H_2O_2 in macrophyte tissues was proportional to the root mean square velocity of the turbulence as is shown in **Figure 2** (Asaeda et al., 2017).

Under the zero-turbulence velocity, the tissue H₂O₂ concentration corresponds to a combination of photosynthesis, metabolic activities, and environmental stresses. The difference between light and dark treatment experiments distinguishes the amount of H₂O₂ generated by photosynthesis from the remaining stressors. Further, the variation in solar radiation intensity during the day is reflected in the H₂O₂ concentrations, which varied according to the light intensity from approximately 2 to 10 μ mol/gFW (Figure 5). There were parallel relationships between the H₂O₂ concentration and the temperature for different light intensity groups with the same velocity (Figure 1), which explains the independency of H₂O₂-temperature relationship trend from the light intensity but simultaneously elevates the trend due to excessive H_2O_2 production (Figure 5). The temperature-H₂O₂ dependency linear relationship provides the temperature generated H_2O_2 concentration, which is reportedly around $\sim 10 \ \mu mol/gFW$ in the *E. densa* habitat temperature range of 10-35°C, in the present observation and previous reports (Hanamoto and Ikushima, 1988.; Yarrow et al., 2009; Gillard et al., 2017).

 H_2O_2 concentration of dark-adapted samples had linearly increasing trends with respect to turbulence velocity, regardless of different sampling months and river groups, which differentiate the temperatures (**Figure 2**). The H_2O_2 concentration extrapolated to zero velocity had the same relationship with the temperature dependency on the H_2O_2 concentration (**Figure 1**). Thus, the increasing rate of the H_2O_2 concentration with respect to turbulence effects indicates the turbulence induced H_2O_2 .

These H_2O_2 -solar radiation and H_2O_2 -temperature relationships exhibit almost the same trends for photosynthetic rates obtained by the outdoor experiments with different temperatures and light intensities (Riis et al., 2012). Therefore, the H_2O_2 relationship with the light intensity and temperature conditions, can be considered as common trends for *E. densa*. In the practical application, H_2O_2 concentration can be applicable to determine the different types of stressors in the same manner and to compare their relative magnitudes.

Compared to the H₂O₂ induced by metabolic activities, which is $\sim 4 \,\mu$ mol/gFW given in the field experiments of darkadapted samples at zero velocity, in the relatively steep nonpolluted rivers, the major stressors include the mechanical stress introduced by high current velocity/turbulence, solar radiation, and temperature. The river water quality is relatively good, and there is no salinity in the midstream of Japanese rivers. However, in eutrophic water, organic matter accumulates at the bottom of stagnant zones, which creates an anoxic zone in the sediment layer; however, the bottom sediment anoxia contributed only \sim 5 µmol/gFW of H₂O₂ (Parveen et al., 2017a). As for the biotic stress, toxic strains of cyanobacteria, Microcystis, for instance, generate only 1.5 µmol/gFW of H2O2 (Amorin et al., 2017). Therefore, the amount of H₂O₂ generated by photosynthesis, temperature and flow velocity is relatively large compared to other stresses, and these stresses are considered as major stresses, which control its colonization.

The contribution of each stress to the total H_2O_2 of the plant can be distinguished with this method and can be adapted to determine the total level of environmental stress on macrophytes. The combination of different stresses sometimes imposes two opposing demands on the plant (Choudhury et al., 2017) or interact each other. However, the parallel relationship among the major stresses in natural rivers, namely, solar radiation, flow velocity, and water temperature and the interactive effects seems to be sufficiently small. The reason for the relatively lower interactive effects among stressors is not clear.

 H_2O_2 is generated by the surplus number of electrons. In the photosynthesis process, the surplus amount of electrons are generated on the thylakoid membrane by strong energy (Asada, 2006), while the consumption of electrons is decreased under low temperature due to the suppressed CO₂ fixation by the inactivation of Rubisco in Calvin cycle (Nishiyama and Murata, 2014), or the mechanical damage of organelles in turbulent flow (Atapaththu et al., 2015). Therefore, the sites that can cause the electron surplus is different between stresses.

Threshold Condition of *E. densa* Mortality

Egeria densa colonies of 2017 observation remained healthy, while in the 2018 observation, shoots close to the water surface were degraded and appeared to be starting to die. The intensive oxidative stress caused by high solar radiation for several days should be the reason for the degradation of 2018 colonies. The results indicate the depression of plant metabolism owing to solar radiation exceeding the tolerable levels. When the H₂O₂ concentration became higher than 16 μ mol/gFW in hypoxia and hydrogen sulfate exposure experiments for *E. densa*, plants deteriorated, and the total chlorophyll concentration and the H₂O₂ concentration substantially declined compared to other samples (Parveen et al., 2017a,b,c). Also, with the exposure of Fe,

E. densa exhibited lowest growth rate, chlorophyll content and photosystem efficiency at around 16 μ mol/gFW of H₂O₂ content and beyond the level, healthy plants did not exist (unpublished data). Same as the other observations, the 2018 observations show the H₂O₂ level of colonies peaked beyond the 16 μ mol/gFW during the daytime. Therefore, the H₂O₂ concentration of 16 μ mol/gFW can be considered as a critical value for the survival of *E. densa*, regardless of the types of stressors. Exceeding the threshold level, would lead to the deterioration of plants due to oxidative damage.

Empirical Expression of Habitat Preference and Colonizable Conditions Simulation

The H_2O_2 concentration of macrophytes can be used to explain the expected macrophyte distribution in a river. When Eq. (4) is considered, the H_2O_2 generated by each stressor can be expressed as follows:

The total H_2O_2 concentration (H_2O_2tot) at a particular temperature (*Temp*) is given by:

$$H_2O_2tot(Temp) = H_2O_2rad(Temp)$$

$$+H_2O_2vel(Temp) + H_2O_2met(Temp)$$
(4)

where H_2O_2rad is the H_2O_2 generated by solar radiation exposure, H_2O_2vel is the H_2O_2 generated by the flow velocity, and H_2O_2met is the H_2O_2 generated by metabolism.

The light intensity at a particular depth of water, *z*, can be calculated using Eq. (5) (Middelboe and Markager, 1997):

$$I = I_0 exp(-kz) \tag{5}$$

where *k* is the attenuation coefficient in water, which was 0.035 (/cm) in the observed rivers. The solar-radiation-induced H_2O_2 content has an increasing relationship with the light intensity, given by Eq. (3). Considering Eq. (3), the H_2O_2 concentration generated by the solar radiation under a particular temperature (within the temperature range 10–30°C), therefore, can be expressed as Eq. (6):

$$H_2O_2rad(Temp) = [I_0exp(-kz) - 40]^{2/3}/10$$

for $I_0 exp(-kz) \ge 40 \,\mu \text{mol/m}^2/\text{s};$

$$H_2O_2rad(Temp) = 0 \text{ for } I_0 \exp(-kz) < 40 \,\mu\text{mol/m}^2/\text{s.}$$
 (6)

Direct mechanical stress is generated by turbulence rather than the mean flow (Atapaththu et al., 2015; Asaeda and Rashid, 2017; Asaeda et al., 2017); however, there is a close relationship between these two quantities, particularly in straight uniform channels with uniform roughness. It is assumed that the mean velocity U (m/s) under the uniform flow is empirically given by Manning's law [Eq. (7)]:

$$U = \frac{1}{n} R^{2/3} S^{1/2} \tag{7}$$

where *R* is the hydraulic radius, approximately given by the depth "*H*" (m), the channel bed slope "*S*," and Manning's roughness coefficient "*n*." The effects of longitudinal configuration, vegetation, etc., are added in "*n*." Therefore, considering Eq. (2), the H₂O₂ accumulation due to velocity stress and metabolism at a particular temperature (within the temperature range 10–30°C) can be expressed as follows (Eq. 8):

$$H_2 O_2 vel(Temp) = 0.072 \frac{1}{n} H^{2/3} S^{1/2} + 4.6$$
(8)

Subsequently, the total H_2O_2 concentration within the temperature range 10–30°C can be given as follows (Eq. 9):

$$H_2O_2 (Temp) = \left[I_0 exp (-kz) - 40\right]^{2/3}$$

$$/10 + 0.072 \frac{1}{n} H^{2/3} S^{1/2} + 4.6$$
for $I_0 exp (-kz) \ge 10 \,\mu \text{mol/m}^2/\text{s};$

$$H_2O_2 (Temp) = 0.072 \frac{1}{n} H^{2/3} S^{1/2} + 4.6 \qquad (9)$$
for $I_0 exp (-kz) < 10 \,\mu \text{mol/m}^2/\text{s}.$

Figure 9 shows the simulated H_2O_2 concentration generated by using Eq. (9), for different channel slopes and depths. I_0 is assumed to be 2000 μ mol/m²/s, as the highest solar radiation experienced in the observation area on a fine day during summer and when the canopy top was assumed to be located at the 80% depth, which is the average canopy height of the observed *E. densa* colonies. Manning's roughness coefficient for the channels is approximated at 0.08. Channel slope was obtained from the





topographic map (ArcGIS, 2019, Esri, New York Street, Redlands, California). The target area was characterized by steep basins, and the difference in elevation between the channel bed and the riparian zone is nearly constant thus the riverbed gradient is nearly the same as that of the riparian zone. The simulated results of **Figure 9** are consistent with the observed data of the rivers. The H_2O_2 concentration generally declines with depth, due to declining light intensity. In the steep channel, the H_2O_2 concentration increases again with a further increase in depth as the flow velocity rises. On gentler slopes, due to the lower flow velocity, H_2O_2 concentration is lower, and there is a wider range of depths in which *E. densa* colonies potentially form. However, the shallow depths become unsuitable for colonization of *E. densa* due to the higher light intensity.

E. densa Colonization in Rivers

In rivers steeper than 1/100, the upstream to midstream areas are originally filled with gravel or boulders, and fine sediment beds are rare as they are easily flushed away during flooding. The flow velocity depends on the channel slope, depth, and roughness. Roughness is determined by the bed sediment size as well as other factors related to the channel configuration, such as longitudinal morphology and bars (Parker and Peterson, 1980). The formation of E. densa colonies poses a physical disadvantage due to the high flow velocity and high light intensity as well as the high turbulence caused by the gravel bed as long as gravel sediments are supplied. However, when the gravel supply is decreased, the gravel-to-sand transition is extended further upstream (Singer, 2008), and the sand bed area increases in the former gravel zones. Sand is transported mostly as a suspended sediment load along the channel. E. densa communities accumulate suspended sediments efficiently, as they have a complex, dense stem structure that is widely distributed over the bed with thicker stems and denser whorls compared to similar native species, Hydrilla verticillata, and common native submerged species, Elodea sp., Myriophyllum spicatum, and Potamogeton crisps (Sand-Jensen, 1998; Vermaat, et al. 2000; Statzner et al., 2006). At the same time, water intake weirs have been frequently constructed along rivers in the last 30 years (personal communication). Then, stagnant water was produced in the upstream zone. Thick E. densa colonies were developed in the upstream area of many weirs in the observation (data are not shown). With the E. densa dispersal ability via fragmentation, it spread increasingly into the downstream (Casati et al., 2000, 2002; Redekop et al., 2016). Then, the dense shoot morphology leads to the formation of many sandy patches in the former complete gravel beds of the downstream. When fine sediments are supplied, it is easier to fix roots and take nutrients from the ground than from the stony bed (Barko et al., 1991). Buried by a sediment layer, the E. densa complex shoots reinforce the sand layer, which is otherwise easily washed away by floods. Once the E. densa colonies develop, the sandy spaces increase widely on the gravel bed, accommodating more macrophytes, including other species. Subsequently, the ecosystem changes to a macrophyte-dominated ecosystem. A similar phenomenon was observed, after the occurrence of a large flood in the Yahagi river (in July 2017), sandy sediments accumulated in colonies burying E. densa up to 20 to 30 cm on a bed that was originally gravelly (Supplementary Figure 1). The *E. densa* biomass was relatively dense, up to 150–400 gDW/m², in these sites, as the accumulated sand layer was reinforced with *E. densa* stem structures. This layer was thus rigid and could not be easily flushed away during moderate floods (Supplementary Figure 2). In contrast to the original gravel bed, the sandy surface was smooth, and turbulence generation was also reduced. Further, in field observations, an accumulation of fine sediments was always found inside the *E. densa* colonies of all rivers.

CONCLUSION

The high concentrations of H₂O₂ introduced by high flow velocity and high solar radiation in summer inhibited the formation of large colonies in the gravel channel, owing to the high oxidative stress. The accumulation of H₂O₂ in E. densa showed a significant relationship for both flow velocity and solar radiation. The critical H₂O₂ concentration to maintain a healthy population of *E. densa* can be considered as 16 µmol/gFW, which corresponds to the termination of biomass accumulation. Under the strongest solar radiation on summer days, the H₂O₂ level often exceeds the critical condition, leading to the deterioration of E. densa and ultimately, the H₂O₂ concentrations decline as the plant tissues start to deteriorate. H₂O₂ concentrations of E. densa were estimated for channels with different slopes and different depths. The H₂O₂ concentration is higher than the critical value in shallow water and increases in steeper channels, exceeding the critical value at a channel slope larger than 1/100. Once colonized, E. densa accumulates sandy suspended sediment efficiently and creates a preferable environment for further colonization. The present methodology can be applied to predict the area that can be conveniently colonized by E. densa within a short time period, which has been determined based on a prolonged monitoring activity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TA conceived the study. TA and LV performed the experiments. TA and MS analyzed and interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was financially supported by a grant-in-aid from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science, Scientific Research grant numbers (15H04045 and 19H02245), development grant from River Works Technology Research and Development Program from the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transportation and Tourism, Japan, the River Fund from the River Foundation of Japan, and the Watershed Ecology Research Group organized by Water Resources Environment Center.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our deepest appreciation to the sampling team, comprising Dr. Kelum Sanjaya, Dr. Chandani Chalanika, Dr. Keerthi Atapaththu, Dr. Abner Barnuevo, Ms.

REFERENCES

- Amorin, C. A., Ulisses, C., and Moura, A. N. (2017). Biometric and physiological responses of *Egeria densa* Planch. Cultivated with toxic and non-toxic strains of *Microcystis. Aquat. Toxicol.* 191, 201–208. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2017.08.012
- Asada, K. (2006). Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. *Plant Physiol.* 141, 391–396. doi: 10.1104/pp. 106.082040
- Asaeda, T., and Rashid, M. (2017). Effects of turbulence motion on the growth and physiology of aquatic plants. *Limnologica* 62, 181–187. doi: 10.1016/j.limno. 2016.02.006
- Asaeda, T., and Sanjaya, K. (2017). The effect of the shortage of gravel sediment in midstream river channels on riparian vegetation cover. *River Res. Appl.* 33, 1107–1118. doi: 10.1002/rra.3166
- Asaeda, T., Sanjaya, K., and Kaneko, Y. (2017). Effects of mechanical stressors caused by mean flow and turbulence on aquatic plants with different morphologies. *Ecohydrology* 10:e1873. doi: 10.1002/eco.1873
- Asaeda, T., Senavirathna, M. D. H. J., Xia, L., and Barnuevo, B. (2018). Application of hydrogen peroxide as an environmental stress indicator for vegetation management. *Engineering* 4, 610–616. doi: 10.1016/j.eng.2018.09.001
- Asaeda, T., Siong, K., Kawashima, T., and Sakamoto, K. (2009). Growth of *Phragmites japonica* on a sandbar of regulated river: morphological adaptation of the plant to low water and nutrient availability in the substrate. *River Res. Appl.* 25, 874–891. doi: 10.1002/rra.1191
- Atapaththu, K., and Asaeda, T. (2015). Growth and stress responses of Nuttall's waterweed *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch) St. John to water movements. *Hydrobiologia* 747, 217–233. doi: 10.1007/s10750-014-2141-9
- Atapaththu, K., Miyagi, A., Atsuzawa, K., Kaneko, Y., Kawai-Yamada, M., and Asaeda, T. (2015). Effects of water turbulence on variations in cell ultrastructure and metabolism of amino acids in the submersed macrophyte, *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) H. St. John. *Plant Biol.* 17, 997–1004. doi: 10.1111/plb. 12346
- Barko, J. W., Gunnison, D., and Carpenter, S. R. (1991). Sediment interactions with submerged macrophyte growth and community dynamics. *Aquat. Bot.* 41, 41–65. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(91)90038-7
- Casati, P., Lara, M. V., and Andreo, C. S. (2000). Induction of a C4-like mechanism of CO₂ fixation in *Egeria densa*, a submersed aquatic species. *Plant Physiol.* 123, 1611–1622. doi: 10.1104/pp.123.4.1611
- Casati, P., Lara, M. V., and Andreo, C. S. (2002). Regulation of enzymes involved in C4 photosynthesis and the antioxidant metabolism by UV-B radiation in *Egeria densa*, a submersed aquatic species. *Photosynth. Res.* 71, 251–264.
- Champion, P. D., and Tanner, C. C. (2000). Seasonality of macrophytes and interaction with flow in a New Zealand lowland stream. *Hydrobiologia* 441, 1–12.
- Choudhury, F. K., Rivero, R. M., Blumwald, E., and Mittler, R. (2017). Reactive oxygen species, abiotic stress and stress combination. *Plant J.* 90, 856–867. doi: 10.1111/tpj.13299
- Collier, K. J., Champion, P. D., and Croker, G. F. (1999). Patch- and reach-scale dynamics of a macrophyte-invertebrate system in a New Zealand lowland stream. *Hydorobiologia* 392, 89–97.
- De Silva, H. C. C., and Asaeda, T. (2018). Stress response and tolerance of the submerged macrophyte *Elodea nuttallii*(Planch) St. John to heat stress: a comparative study of shock heat stress and gradual heat stress. *J. Plant Biosyst.- Int. J. Dealing Asp. Plant Biol.* 152, 787–794. doi: 10.1080/11263504. 2017.1338628

Gulgina Muhtar, Ms. Chihiro Takeuchi, and Ms. Liping Xia, for their efforts.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2020.00422/ full#supplementary-material

- Ellawala, K. C., Asaeda, T., and Kawamura, K. (2011). The effect of flow turbulence on plant growth and several growth regulators in *Egeria densa* Planchon. *Flora-Morphol. Distribut. Funct. Ecol. Plants* 206, 1085–1091. doi: 10.1016/j.flora. 2011.07.014
- Geographical Survey Institute of Japan, the (GSI). (2018). *The Topographic Map of Japan*. Tsukuba: Geographical Survey Institute of Japan.
- Gill, S. S., and Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 48, 909–930. doi: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2010.08.016
- Gillard, M., Thiebaut, G., Deleu, C., and Leroy, B. (2017). Present and future distribution of three aquatic plants taxa across the world: decrease in native and increase in invasive ranges. *Biol. Invasions* 19, 2159–2170. doi: 10.1007/s10530-017-1428-y
- Hanamoto, T., and Ikushima, I. (1988). Life cycle of *Egeria densa* planch., an aquatic plant naturalized in Japan. *Aquat. Bot.* 30, 389–403. doi: 10.1016/0304-3770(88)90070-8
- Hauer, F. R., Locke, H., Dreitz, V. J., Hebblewhite, M., Lowe, W. H., Muhlfeld, C. C., et al. (2016). Gravel-bed river floodplains are the ecological nexus of glaciated mountain landscape. *Sci. Adv.* 2:e1600026. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600026
- Hussner, A., Hoelken, H. P., and Jahns, P. (2010). Low light acclimated submerged freshwater plants show a pronounced sensitivity to increasing irradiances. *Aquat. Bot.* 93, 17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2010.02.003
- Kadono, Y. (2004). Alien aquatic plants naturalized in Japan: history and present status. *Global Environ. Res.* 8, 163–169.
- Middelboe, A. L., and Markager, S. (1997). Depth limits and minimum light requirements of freshwater macrophytes. *Freshw. Biol.* 37, 553–568. doi: 10. 1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00183.x
- Ministry of Lands, Infrastructure, Transportation and Tourism in Japan (2016). (2018). *River Environmental Database*. Available online at: http://mizukoku. nilim.go.jp/ksnkankyo/. (accessed October 2018). doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2427. 1997.00183.x
- Mittler, R. (2002). Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. *Trends Plant Sci.* 7, 405–410. doi: 10.1016/s1360-1385(02)02312-9
- Nishiyama, Y., and Murata, N. (2014). Revised scheme for the mechanism of photoinhibition and its application to enhance the abiotic stress tolerance of the photosynthesis machinery. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 98, 8777–8796. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-6020-0
- O'Hare, M., Baattrup-Pedersen, A., Baumgarte, I., Freeman, A., Gunn, I. D. M., Lazar, A. N., et al. (2018). Responses of aquatic plants to eutrophication in rivers: a revised conceptual model. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9:1451. doi: 10.3389/fpls. 2018.00451
- Parker, G., and Peterson, A. W. (1980). Bar resistance of gravel-bed streams. J. Hydraul. Eng. 106, 1559–1575.
- Parveen, M., Asaeda, T., and Rashid, M. D. H. (2017a). Biochemical adaptations of four submerged macrophytes under combined exposure to hypoxia and hydrogen sulphide. *PLos ONE* 12:e 0182691. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182691
- Parveen, M., Asaeda, T., and Rashid, M. D. H. (2017b). Effect of hydrogen sulfide exposure on the growth, oxidative stress and carbohydrate metabolism of *Elodea nuttallii* and *Egeria densa. Fund. Appl. Limnol.* 191:5.
- Parveen, M., Asaeda, T., and Rashid, M. D. H. (2017c). Hydrogen sulfide induced growth, photosynthesis and biochemical responses in three submerged macrophytes. *Flora* 230, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.flora.2017.03.005
- Redekop, P., Hofstra, D., and Hussner, A. (2016). Elodea Canadensis shows a higher dispersal capacity via fragmentation than *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major. Aquat. Bot.* 130, 45–49. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2016.01.004

- Riis, T., Olesen, B., Clayton, J. S., Lambertini, C., Brix, H., and Sorrell, B. K. (2012). Growth and morphology in relation to temperature and light availability during the establishment of three invasive aquatic plant species. *Aquat. Bot.* 102, 56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2012.05.002
- Rivero, R. M., Mestre, T. C., Mittler, R., Rubio, F., Garcia-Sanchez, F., and Martinez, V. (2014). The combined effect of salinity and heat reveals a specific physiological, biochemical and molecular response in tomato plants. *Plant Cell Environ.* 37, 1059–1073. doi: 10.1111/pce.12199
- Rodrigues, R. B., and Thomaz, S. M. (2010). Photosynthesis and growth responses of *Egeria densa* to Photosynthesis active radiation. *Aquat. Bot.* 92, 281–284. doi: 10.1016/j.aquabot.2010.01.009
- Sand-Jensen, K. (1998). Influence of submerged macrophytes on sediment composition and near-bed flow in lowland streams. *Freshw. Biol.* 39, 663–679. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2427.1998.00316.x
- Santos, M. J., Anderson, L. W., and Ustin, S. L. (2011). Effective invasive species on plant communities: an example using submerged aquatic plants at the regional scale. *Biol. Invasions* 13, 443–457. doi: 10.1007/s10530-010-9840-6
- Satterfield, C. N., and Bonnell, A. H. (1995). Interferences in the titanium sulfate method for hydrogen peroxide. Anal. Chem. 27, 1174–1175. doi: 10.1021/ ac60103a042
- Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., and Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J. Bot. 2012, 1–26. doi: 10.1155/2012/217037
- Singer, M. B. (2008). Downstream patterns of bed material grain size in a large, lowland alluvial river subject to low sediment supply. *Water Resour. Res.* 44:W12202. doi: 10.1029/2008WR007183

- Statzner, B., Lamouroux, N., Nikora, V., and Sagnes, P. (2006). The debate about drag and reconfiguration of freshwater macrophytes: comparing results obtained by three recently discussed approaches. *Freshw. Biol.* 51, 2173–2183. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01636.x
- Vermaat, J. E., Santamaria, L., and Roots, P. J. (2000). Water flow across and sediment trapping in submerged macrophyte beds of contrasting growth form. *Archiv. Hydrobiol.* 148, 549–562. doi: 10.1127/archiv-hydrobiol/148/2000/549
- Yarrow, M., Marin, V. H., Finlayson, M., Tironi, A., Delgado, L. E., and Fisher, F. (2009). The ecology of *Egeria densa* Planchon (Liliopsida:Alismatales): a wetland ecosystem engineer? *Rev. Chilena Historia Nat.* 82, 299–313.
- Zaman, T., and Asaeda, T. (2013). Effects of NH4–N concentrations and gradient redox level on growth and allied biochemical parameters of *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.). Flora 208, 211–219. doi: 10.1016/j.flora.2013.02.009
- Zhou, B., Wang, J., Guo, Z., Tan, H., and Zhu, X. (2006). A simple colorimetric method for determination of hydrogen peroxide in plant tissues. *Plant Growth Regulat.* 49, 113–118. doi: 10.1007/s10725-006-9000-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Asaeda, Senavirathna and Vamsi Krishna. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

